
GLADSTONE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

November 12, 2019 – 6:30 PM 
 

 
6:30 p.m. 
CALL TO ORDER  
ROLL CALL 
FLAG SALUTE  

 

PRESENTATION: Water Environmental Services (WES) Annual Report – WES Director Greg Geist 
 
AGENDA ADDITIONS OR CORRECTIONS 
 
CONSENT AGENDA:  
1. Approval of October 8, 2019 Regular Meeting Minutes 
2. Approval of September Bank Balances 
3. Budget Report for Period ending 09-30-2019 
4. Approval of September Check Register  
5. Legal Costs on Projects 
6. Department Head Monthly Reports for October 2019  
7. Resolution 1167 – Adopting City of Gladstone Representation in Updates to the Clackamas County Multi-

Jurisdictional National Hazards Mitigation Plan 
8. Resolution 1168 – Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) Affordable Housing Technical 

Assistance Grant Funds 
 

CORRESPONDENCE – none 
 
REGULAR AGENDA: 
 
9. INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (IGA) BETWEEN CLACKAMAS COUNTY AND THE 

CITY OF GLADSTONE REGARDING THE NEW GLADSTONE LIBRARY 
Consider approving the following documents: 
 

A. Library Construction and Operation Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) between Clackamas 
County and the City of Gladstone and the following Exhibits: 
 
 Exhibits 1 and 2 – Oak Lodge Library Service Area and Gladstone Library Service Area Maps 
 Exhibit 3 – Concept Option 1 
 Exhibit 4 – Intergovernmental Agreement between Clackamas County and the City of 

Gladstone, and AFSCME Council 75, Local 350-03 (Gladstone) 
 Exhibit 5 – Property Description 
  

B. Library Facilities Agreement for use of the current library building. 
 

10. CLACKAMAS COUNTY LIBRARY DISTRICT TASK FORCE 
Consider appointing two members of the community to the Clackamas County Library District Task 
Force. 
  

11. RESOLUTION 1169 – A RESOLUTION ADOPTING A REVISED MASTER FEE SCHEDULE AND 
REPEALING RESOLUTION 1163  
Consider approving Resolution 1169 – a resolution adopting a revised master fee schedule to include 
updates to utility rates and police department fees effective January 2020 and repealing Resolution 1163. 



 
12. RESOLUTION 1170 – ESTABLISHING POLICY REGARDING MEDIA IN EXECUTIVE 

SESSIONS 
Consider approving resolution 1170 establishing a policy regarding media in executive sessions. 
 

13. ORDINANCE 1497 – ADDING CHAPTER 5.55 TO THE GLADSTONE MUNICIPAL CODE (GMC), 
TITLED BUSINESS FOOD WASTE REQUIREMENTS 
Second Reading - Consider approving the second reading of Ordinance 1497 – an Ordinance adding Chapter 
5.55 to the GMC, titled Business Food Waste Requirements. 
 

BUSINESS CARRIED FORWARD –  
 

BUSINESS FROM THE AUDIENCE 
Visitors: This is an opportunity for members of the audience to bring to the Council’s attention any item not otherwise listed on the Agenda. Comments will 
be limited to three (3) minutes per person. Speakers may not yield their time to others and must fill out a speaker card available in the back of the room prior 
to making a comment. 

 
BUSINESS FROM THE COUNCIL - Council Monthly Activity Reports 
          Preliminary City Council Agenda Planning Document 
 
ADJOURN 
 
Upcoming Meeting Dates: 

 November 26th- no meeting, Thanksgiving week. 
 December 10th – Regular City Council Meeting, 6:30 pm, Gladstone City Council Chambers 

 



 
 
 
 

PRESENTATION 





W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

Water Environment Services
Gladstone

2019 Annual Report

Greg Geist
Director

Presentation - 1



W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T YW A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

WES is your clean water provider

Presentation - 2



W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

Our job is to… 
• Protect the public health and the environment
• Provide infrastructure to support economic 

development
• Educate the public on what they can do to help 

keep our watersheds healthy 

Presentation - 3



W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T YW A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

The WES Service Area

Presentation - 4



W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T YW A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

Benefits of Regionalizing Sewer and Surface Water

• Administrative efficiencies
• Regionalized operations
• System resiliency 
• Regulatory alignment and 

efficiencies
• Predictability in rates and 

long range capital planning

Presentation - 5



W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

Financial Stewardship
The 82nd 

Drive 
Pedestrian 
Bride gets 

a safety 
update$.22 

Infrastructure 
Financing and 
Reserves

$.78
Operations and 
Maintenance

WES $23.75

Oregon City $32.22
West Linn $20.76
Gladstone $10.08

WES $12.65

Presentation - 6



W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T YW A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

Regional 
Projects Map

Presentation - 7



W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

Building for the Future at Tri City Facility

The new 
1.3 million 

gallon 
anaerobic 
digester 

The Tri City Solids Handling Project

Presentation - 8



W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

Building Regional Resiliency

The 82nd 
Drive 

Pedestrian 
Bridge gets 
a seismic 
upgrade

Presentation - 9



W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T YW A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

Tri-City Good Neighbor Fund

Eligible projects include one or 
more of the following:

 Recreational improvements 
such as pathways, parks and 
trails

 Enhancement of fish and wild 
habitat and riparian areas

 Public education related to 
wastewater treatment and 
surface water management

Presentation - 10



W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T YW A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

Tri-City 
Good Neighbor 

Zone

Presentation - 11



W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

Good Neighbors in Milwaukie

Replacing 
aging 

equipment 
and 

improving 
odor control

Presentation - 12



W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

Storm Water Management: 

Protecting our water resource.

Carli Creek 
Water Quality 

Facility

Sunnyside 
Pond 

Rehabilitation

Presentation - 13



W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

Our Watershed Partners: 
Together, we are investing in healthy watersheds.

Presentation - 14



W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T YW A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

Project goals:
Update WES Rules and Standards
Develop consistent, comprehensive rules and 

standards across districts
Streamline development review and approval 

processes
WES is involving stakeholders in update 

• Summer 2018 Stakeholder Interviews
• Fall 2018 - Spring 2019 Task Force Workshops 
• Fall 2019 Stakeholder Meetings
• December 2019 Informational Forums

Drafts for public review: January 2020

Sanitary and Stormwater Rules and Standards 2019 
Update

15

Task Force Workshop 

Presentation - 15



W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T YW A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

December 5, 2019

6:00 pm – 8:00 pm
Clackamas Community College
Harmony Campus Community Room
7738 SE Harmony Rd, Milwaukie

December 10, 2019

2:00 pm – 4:00 pm
Clackamas County 
Development Services Building, Room 115 
150 Beavercreek Road, Oregon City

Informational Forums

16

Purpose:
Overview of proposed major 

policy changes
Answer questions
Get feedback on implementation

Presentation - 16



W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T YW A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

Regional Issues: Inflow and Infiltration

Presentation - 17



W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T YW A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

Regional Issues: Inflow and Infiltration Map

Presentation - 18



W A T E R  E N V I R O N M E N T  S E R V I C E S   /   C L A C K A M A S  C O U N T Y

QUESTIONS

www.clackamas.us/wes        503-742-4567       wescustomerservice@clackamas.us

Presentation - 19









1



P:\New Files\COUNCIL\2019 Minutes\CouncilMinutes.10082019.docx 
 

GLADSTONE CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES of October 8, 2019 
 
Meeting was called to order at 6:30 PM. 
 
ROLL CALL:                                                                                                                                                                    
Mayor Tammy Stempel, Councilor Ripley, Councilor Neace, Councilor Tracy, Councilor Reisner, 
Councilor Todd, Councilor Mersereau 
 
ABSENT:                                                                                                                                                                                    
None                                                                                                                                                                                            
 
STAFF:                                                                                                                                                                                
Jacque Betz, City Administrator; Tami Bannick, City Recorder; Jim Whynot, Public Works Director; Cathy 
Brucker, Interim Finance Director; Chad Jacobs, City Attorney 
 
PRESENTATION - SWEARING-IN OF POLICE LIEUTENANT AND POLICE SERGEANT:                                 
Judge Linda Beloof performed the swearing-in ceremonies for Lt. Timothy Gerkman and Sgt. James Leake.  
 
PRESENTATION – RINEARSON CREEK PROJECT:                                                                                                     
Evan Ocheltree and Gary Howard from Columbia Restoration gave a presentation regarding the Portland 
Harbor/NRDA restoration project.  It is a public/private partnership between Columbia Restoration Group 
and the City of Gladstone as well as some additional private homeowners and property owners throughout 
the area.  The project is located in Meldrum Bar Park on the Willamette River.  The project removed the 
dam, rebuilt the channel, and rebuilt the pond above it to allow fish passage and a number of species that 
were listed in the project.  The project took two seasons to complete.  They shared photos of before and 
after the project. They planted 110,000 native plants.  They will be working on the invasive plants for the 
next ten years.  There is an interpretive walk in the area.  They built some beaver “condos” and they have 
moved in on the upper end.  There are also 15 mink “condos” but they prefer living in the wood piles.  There 
are also deer, bald eagles, coyotes, and river otters in the area.                                  
 
They were able to generate 345 credits – they have the initial releases, which generated approximately 170 
credits of which they sold 100 of those to a potentially responsible party that is part of the trustee council 
that is overseeing the entire clean-up/restoration of the Portland Harbor Super Fund.  They anticipate that 
they will sell out of their initial release in the first quarter of next year.                                            
 
Ms. Betz said that they entered into an agreement with Rinearson Natural Area, LLC in 2014 and even 
though Falling Springs is no longer part of this the agreement is still in place; so once they have sold enough 
mitigation credits to cover their costs associated with the project and set up a stewardship amount the City 
is in a position to recover some of the costs they incurred as well (approximately $44,000 for some studies 
and $10,000 for legal costs).         
 
AGENDA ADDITIONS OR CORRECTIONS:                                                                                                                 
Ms. Betz said she would like to add three items under “Business Carried Forward”.  One is to clarify a City 
Committee position specifically to the Planning Commission and Library open positions.  The second is 
the City Administrator Employment Agreement.  The third is the Judge’s contract.             
                                                                         
CONSENT AGENDA:                                

1. Approval of September 10, 2019 Regular Meeting Minutes 
2. Approval of August Bank Balances 
3. Budget Report for Period ending 8-31-19 
4. Approval of August Check Register 

1 - 1



P:\New Files\COUNCIL\2019 Minutes\CouncilMinutes.10082019.docx 
 

5. Legal Costs on Projects 
6. Department Head Monthly Reports for September 2019 
7. Approval to Extend Library Director Services  
 
Councilor Tracy made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda.  Motion was seconded by Councilor 
Neace.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 
CORRESPONDENCE:                                                                                                                                                            
There was one item on the dais in regard to utility rates.  It was emailed to the Councilors earlier but Ms. 
Betz wanted to make sure it got here tonight on the record.               
 
Mayor Stempel went over the procedures for the meeting/audience participation.  She said a few words 
about the role of the City Council.  She feels it is important for everyone to understand their limitations:  
they represent the citizens of Gladstone and not their own personal agendas and beliefs.  There have been 
many times when a decision being made doesn’t align with what they would like personally, but after 
hearing the citizens’ desires they have sometimes gone a different direction.  That doesn’t mean that their 
beliefs have changed; just that they listened and acted accordingly.  There are laws and rules they have to 
use as the basis of their decisions.  They do not have the luxury of randomly making decisions, but instead 
have to be consistent and take the path that is defensible.  They appreciate everyone’s time in participating 
in this process.  Her goal is to keep the meeting respectful and engaging and she hopes everyone will help 
her do that.        
                                                                                
REGULAR AGENDA                  

 
8. RESOLUTION 1165 – SUPPORT OF A CO-SPONSORED APPLICATION WITH 

CLACKAMAS COUNTY REDESIGNATING THE NORTH URBAN CLACKAMAS 
COUNTY ENTERPRISE ZONE: 
Ms. Betz said this request is from Clackamas County for the City of Gladstone to participate in 
what’s called an Enterprise Zone, which is a tax abatement program for businesses looking to 
locate or expand in a designated area.  It is a tax abatement on local property taxes on new 
investments including building construction, improvements, machinery and equipment for a 
period of three to five years.  They have to meet some full time permanent employment 
requirements, maintain minimum employment levels during an exemption period, and enter into 
a first-source agreement with local job training providers.  She doesn’t think that Gladstone will 
benefit a lot from this but she doesn’t think it hurts Gladstone to participate with Clackamas 
County.  The County would be taking applicants through the process but the City would be part 
of those conversations.  She went over the maps that show the Enterprise Zones.  Councilor 
Reisner said there have been discussions for several years regarding Gladstone expanding into 
some of the area north/northeast of the City.  He asked how this would effect that.  Ms. Betz said 
if we wanted to annex property in the industrial area outside the City then that would potentially 
mean in the future if we wanted to re-designate an Enterprise Zone we could capture more property 
in that, but what they are approving tonight are the properties shown on the maps.  Councilor 
Tracy asked what the average wage is in the County – no one had that answer.  He asked what this 
would do for some of the businesses along McLoughlin Boulevard.  Ms. Betz said it has to be new 
capital, new construction, and can only be for manufacturers, processors, shippers, call centers, 
and traded sector businesses.   
 
Councilor Reisner made a motion to approve Resolution 1165, a Resolution supporting a Co-
Sponsored application with the Clackamas County and the City of Gladstone re-designating the 
North Urban Clackamas County Enterprise Zone.  Motion was seconded by Councilor Neace and 
Mersereau.  Motion passed unanimously.   

1 - 2



P:\New Files\COUNCIL\2019 Minutes\CouncilMinutes.10082019.docx 
 

 
9. ORDINANCE 1497 – ADDING CHAPTER 5.55 TO THE GLADSTONE MUNICIPAL 

CODE (GMC), TITLED BUSINESS FOOD WASTE REQUIREMENTS: 
Ms. Betz said the City didn’t like other government agencies mandating local jurisdictions.  They 
also had concerns about what our garbage hauler’s costs were going to be.  They filed a letter of 
extension with Metro, asking for more time to work with local businesses to better understand 
what this really means for Gladstone.  The extension was granted and gave the City until October 
to reconsider the ordinance.  They hosted an open house and invited Metro staff, Clackamas 
County staff, and businesses in Gladstone.  The biggest take away she got was that yes, there are 
approximately 22 business in Gladstone that this would effect, but most of them won’t meet the 
minimum qualifications once Clackamas County goes out and does a site assessment.  She said it 
was a very educational open house and they learned a lot about the process.  If this is not approved 
the City will not receive any more funding (approximately $17,000 in technical assistance) from 
Metro and they will still have to do this for the businesses, which means the City will have to 
figure out how to educate and promote this program.  This would mean an increase of 
approximately 20 cents to a commercial business to do this and it won’t effect the residential 
customers.                                                                                                               
 
Mayor Stempel asked a representative from B&B Leasing (garbage hauler) for their take on this 
program.  They said it has been decades since the legislature passed a law to try to reduce the 
amount of trash that is going to landfills.  Over that time recycling yard debris diversion has 
occurred.  Now food waste is another item that can be removed from what’s going into their trash 
receptacles and can be used in places other than landfills.  They said it’s just another service that 
they provide.  They have the equipment and they can do it – it is not an issue for them.                                            
 
Councilor Tracy said he is going to recuse himself on this item.  Mr. Jacobs said there is a financial 
conflict of interest under State law which would require recusal and there’s a recusal for the 
purposes of making the decision as clean as possible – this would fall under the latter category 
because Metro is a government entity so it doesn’t create a conflict of interest for him to participate 
in this.                                                                                                                                                
 
Councilor Reisner asked if the City Attorney’s office read through this ordinance – they had.  He 
asked about page 9-7, under Business Food Waste Requirements, 5.55.040, subsection 7, 
violations – he asked for clarifications on the levels.  Mr. Jacobs said he believes these would be 
civil violations (similar to a land use violation) – not criminal violations.  Councilor Reisner asked 
if this would apply to all businesses, as stated on page 9-5, 5.55.030, #1 – Mr. Jacobs said under 
5.55.020 it defines “business” (it is limited to those businesses that cook, assemble, process, serve, 
or sell food or do so as a service provider for other enterprises).  Ms. Betz said they would also 
have an opportunity to have a waiver process for certain businesses that may qualify.                                
 
Councilor Neace made a motion to accept Ordinance 1497, adding Chapter 5.55 to the Gladstone 
Municipal Code titled “Business Food Waste Requirements”.  Motion was seconded by Councilor 
Todd.   
 
Discussion:  Councilor Reisner said he doesn’t like the idea of being told what to do by Metro.  
He asked how much we have gotten from Metro over the last five years – Ms. Betz said the City 
has benefitted greatly in the past from receiving funds for the feasibility on the trolley trail 
($150,000) and the Downtown Revitalization Plan (approximately $100,000).  She doesn’t know 
if those funds would be withheld if they didn’t approve this, but she does know that losing the 
technical assistance with this program is something that City staff doesn’t have the ability to pick 
up and do.  Councilor Reisner said he feels that if businesses want to do this on their own, go for 

1 - 3



P:\New Files\COUNCIL\2019 Minutes\CouncilMinutes.10082019.docx 
 

it.  He doesn’t like government mandating something like this.  Councilor Neace agreed but for 
the first time they have people at the table and have started to establish some kind of relationship 
and having communication – she feels that is really important.  She doesn’t think this is going to 
harm us and we’ll be okay in the long run.       
 
Motion passed (5-1, Councilor Reisner with a nay vote and Councilor Tracy recused).                                            
 
Ms. Betz said there will be a second reading of this at the next meeting because it was not a 
unanimous vote.                             

 
10. RESOLUTION 1166 – DECLARING FUNDS RECEIVED AS ASSIGNED FUND 

BALANCE – GLADSTONE PUBLIC LIBRARY WITHIN THE GENERAL FUND OF 
THE CITY: 
Ms. Brucker went over the staff report.  The Gladstone Library Advisory Board was authorized 
originally through Resolution 346, then revised with Ordinance 1072 to establish and maintain a 
fund separate from the City budget for the benefit of the Gladstone Public Library.  This guidance 
originated in the late 1970’s and continued on with minimal revisions over the next forty years.  
Ordinance 1484, which was passed in January of 2018, brought consistency and compliance to the 
Advisory Board structure within the City.  The policy also eliminated all funds held separately 
from the City budget and required any monies be deposited and accounted for with City funds.  
The revisions were not communicated clearly to the Advisory Board so the funds remained 
isolated in the Library account.  The Advisory Board wanted to ensure that these funds were spent 
on the new library and requested the Library Foundation take custodial care of the balance of this 
account.  The funds were identified as to the source by the Foundation and deposited to a certificate 
of deposit with the local credit union.  These funds were always intended for improvement of the 
library.  Because these funds are legally City property the credit union has agreed to transfer 
ownership of that certificate of deposit over to the City so there will be no withdrawal penalties 
incurred.  She said that our request is to establish an account within the City general fund entitled 
“Assigned Fund Balance - Gladstone Public Library”.  This Resolution will require funds be 
administered by the City Administrator for this purpose with the advice of the Gladstone Library 
Foundation Board and the Gladstone Library Planning Task Force.  Funds may not be redirected 
for any other use except by the City Council through this same resolution process.  The funds 
would be monitored annually during the audit process and restrictions placed by the Resolution 
would need to be met.  Staff is requesting the approval of this Resolution, allowing the funds be 
restricted to future use at the Gladstone Public Library as stated and they request the annulment 
of the existing MOU entered into by the Gladstone Library Board and the Gladstone Library 
Foundation Board.  Councilor Reisner asked how they did not know this money existed.  Ms. 
Brucker said that shortly after being hired by the City she and Ms. Betz checked with the directors 
regarding any funds that were not accounted for within City funds and they were told there were 
none at that time.  Ms. Brucker clarified that if this resolution isn’t adopted the funds will still be 
turned over to the City but they won’t be restricted for Library use.  Councilor Reisner asked when 
these funds came to light.  Ms. Brucker said that several months ago one of the members of the 
Advisory Board requested an employer ID number because they wanted to move the funds into 
an account that earned more interest.  At that point the Advisory Board decided they would go 
into the MOU with the Foundation and deposit it through there.  Councilor Neace said that 
Councilor Reisner missed the Library Board meeting where they discussed these funds.  Ms. Betz 
said this is a housekeeping matter to ensure that we’re putting the funds in the correct fund balance 
so that it can be spent appropriately in the future.  Ms. Brucker said there are no bequest funds tied 
to this money – it came from various fund raising efforts.   
 

1 - 4



P:\New Files\COUNCIL\2019 Minutes\CouncilMinutes.10082019.docx 
 

Councilor Reisner made a motion to approve Resolution 1166, resolving that the City Council of 
the City of Gladstone, Oregon declare funds received as Assigned Fund Balance – Gladstone 
Public Library within the General Fund of the City.  Motion was seconded by Councilor Neace.  
Motion passed unanimously.    
                                                                     
Ms. Betz pointed out that for the record they want to recognize that the MOU has been annulled 
tonight in reflect of this Resolution.       

 
11. ORDINANCE 1498 – AMENDING TITLE 17 OF THE GLADSTONE MUNICIPAL CODE 

(GMC) PERTAINING TO TIME LIMIT EXTENSIONS OF LAND USE APPROVALS: 
Mr. Jacobs said this is an Ordinance that has come before the Council by way of recommendation 
of the Planning Commission.  It is a proposed amendment to the Development Code.  The basic 
issue is that they want to clarify when and how the City may extend certain land use approvals.  
Most of these decisions are being proposed to come to the City Administrator or their designee 
instead of the Planning Commission. Specifically the following types of approvals are:  
conditional uses, variances, adjustments, and design review.  One of the major changes is that any 
request for an extended approval needs to be done before the existing approval expires.  Since this 
is a land use decision, it’s a legislative amendment to the Land Use Code, so a public hearing is 
required.   
 
Mayor Stempel opened the public hearing.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENT:                                                                                                                                             
None. 
 
Councilor Neace made a motion to close the public hearing.  Motion was seconded by Councilor 
Tracy.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 
A member of the audience asked if they had asked for public comments. 
 
Councilor Reisner made a motion to reopen the public hearing.  Motion was seconded by 
Councilor Tracy.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: 
Clair Coy asked for clarification on approvals.  Mr. Jacobs said the decisions used to have to go 
to the Planning Commission.  The proposal is that the extensions would come to the City 
Administrator or staff.  This allows the City to grant extensions through City staff instead of the 
Planning Commission.  Ms. Coy asked if this would add substantial costs to the City.  Mr. Jacobs 
said it would conceivably be less work/cost for the City.  Ms. Betz said this would streamline the 
process.   
 
Councilor Neace made a motion to close the public hearing.  Motion was seconded by Councilor 
Tracy.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 
DISCUSSION:                                                                                                                                                        
Councilor Reisner said he likes the idea of making it clearer as to when a renewal is needed.  He 
disagrees with taking it away from the Planning Commission.  He said letting the County make 
decisions isn’t necessarily in the best interest of the City.  He feels this needs to stay with the 
Planning Commission.                                                                                                                                          
 

1 - 5



P:\New Files\COUNCIL\2019 Minutes\CouncilMinutes.10082019.docx 
 

Mayor Stempel pointed out that these are not new applications – the Planning Commission has 
already seen them and approved them.  This is only for extensions and it makes a lot of sense to 
go through staff for this.                                                                                                                               
 
Councilor Mersereau said the Planning Commission wants it to go this way.                           
Ms. Betz said that since the planning services are provided by a contractor they would not be able 
to make those decisions without input from the City Administrator.                                                   
 
Councilor Reisner asked if this was for just one more year – Mr. Jacobs said yes, the extensions 
are for one year periods – and can only be renewed for not more than one year. 
 
Councilor Neace made a motion to approve Ordinance 1498, amending Title 17 – Zoning and 
Development of the Gladstone Municipal Code (GMC).  Motion was seconded by Councilor Todd.   
 
Discussion:  Councilor Reisner asked what the process would be if they needed more than one 
year to complete the project.  Mr. Jacobs said a new application would have to be filed.   
 
Motion passed unanimously.  
 
Mayor Stempel gave a second reading of the Ordinance.   
 
Councilor Neace made a motion to approve Ordinance 1498, Exhibit A, Proposed Amendments 
to Gladstone Municipal Code (GMC), Title 17 – Zoning and Development.  Motion was seconded 
by Councilor Todd.  Motion passed unanimously.                   

 
12. DIRECTION ON UTILITY RATES FOR JANUARY 2020 IMPLEMENTATION:                           

Mr. Whynot said they are asking for direction from the Council regarding the utility rates in the 
City of Gladstone.  He said for years little to no rate increases were done, let alone any investment.  
In 2014 the City started updating its Master Plans, followed by rate studies and SDC (System 
Development Charges) updates.  In 2016 the City started informing and educating its citizens with 
open houses, work sessions, Council meetings, mailers, fact sheets, surveys, etc.  In 2017 the City 
started phasing in rate increases and to date the City has raised its utility rates over the last 2.5 
years by $14.55 or $.49/day.  The rates have gone up more than that but those are pass-throughs 
that the City does not have control of (sewer treatment/drinking water treatment rates).  The rate 
increases have put the City in a position to now properly operate and maintain its system, but it 
does not generate enough funds to do replacement or deal with the mutual agreement order we 
now have with DEQ to address the sewer system and to prevent raw sewage from overflowing 
into the Clackamas River whenever there is a heavy rain.  Three options have been proposed to 
the citizens:  a) a mandated minimum rate increase to deal with the mutual agreement order and 
get the sewer system in compliance with DEQ ($7.68/month increase), b) raise the rates based on 
what the rate studies say ($65.11/month rate increase, which would replace the City’s 
infrastructure within 20-30 years), or c) a $17.62/month rate increase which would allow the City 
to replace its infrastructure every 100 years. 
                                                                                                                                                                        
Mr. Whynot said to replace two blocks of infrastructure in the City (water/sewer/storm/street) 
costs approximately $900/lineal foot.  The City currently operates and maintains approximately 
40 miles of infrastructure (211,000 feet), which comes out to $190 million to replace.  He said 
only about $.27 of each tax dollar goes to the City of Gladstone.  He went over the results of the 
survey – basically 61% of the respondents recommended doing more than just the mandated 
minimum.           

1 - 6



P:\New Files\COUNCIL\2019 Minutes\CouncilMinutes.10082019.docx 
 

Councilor Mersereau asked when the Master Plans were completed.  Mr. Whynot said the Storm 
Water and the Water Master Plans were finished in 2014.  The Wastewater/Sewer Master Plan 
was finished in 2017.  Councilor Mersereau said that only leaves us with 25 years left to complete 
them.                                                                                                                                 
 
Councilor Tracy asked if we had pass-throughs because we had passed through or cross subsidized 
the wholesale water prices – Mr. Whynot said that is a little piece of it on the water portion.  A 
big percentage of the $14.55 rate increase was implementing a stormwater utility.  Prior to 2017 
the City did not have a stormwater utility.  $10 of that increase has gone into establishing a 
stormwater utility – it was phased in over a two-year period.  He said you can’t use water funds to 
pay for streets or sewer funds to pay for parks, etc.  Councilor Tracy said that in order to be in 
compliance with the MOU we are projecting and forecasting on the costs so we could do the 
minimum mandated and still not be in compliance and we would have to come back and find a 
funding measure to be able to actually get into compliance even though we’re at the minimum 
mandate.  Mr. Whynot agreed and said the first two years of this five-year plan is doing some 
studies to figure out where the intrusions/failures in the pipes are (Infiltration & Inflow study).  He 
said their first order of business is eliminating some of the catch basins (stormwater runoff) that 
flow directly into the sanitary sewer.  He said the MOU allows the City to fix its system.  He said 
the public outreach efforts started in 2014, before he was hired in 2015.  He again went over the 
ways they reached out to the public.  Mayor Stempel said they have copies of every single public 
comment that has been made.  She said that prior to the Master Plans being completed they just 
guessed what needed to be fixed and were putting band aids on a failing system.  Now they have 
a plan to move forward with what really needs to be fixed.  Mr. Whynot suggested that citizens 
should check out the monthly Public Works reports to see what they are working on.  He said the 
difference in utility bills for Gladstone citizens is because of different sewer treatment rates (pass 
throughs).  He said once they get direction from Council on which rate structure we want to go 
with when they implement the increase in January they plan on changing the water rate structure 
to a conservation block rate with a base meter charge.  Some bills will go up and some will go 
down.  Ms. Betz said the City has a low income assistance program and they are going to promote 
that more.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS: 
Clair Coy said she is not a supporter of the additional fees that are added to the utility bills.  She 
doesn’t feel that the town elders would be supportive either.  She doesn’t feel we are doing a good 
job of communicating with the community.  She doesn’t agree with the minimum charge per 
household on the water bills.  She is paying for water that she isn’t using.  She said it is ridiculous 
to put the whole burden of replacing this water infrastructure to be all on the homeowners.   
 
Bill Osburn said that property taxes in Gladstone are pretty much the highest anywhere.  He said 
that school enrollment is on the decline, teachers have been laid off, and the school board is talking 
about financial issues because they have less and less students.  He said that livability is one of 
the big things.  He said the City controls some of the pass-through fees.  He understands that the 
infrastructure needs work but he also understands that nothing has been done for years even though 
people have been paying that, and part of what they pay is to upgrade/keep up with that.  He 
doesn’t know what happened with the money.  He said there is a lot of distrust when people look 
to the governing body, which is the Council as a whole.  He said for years the Council mismanaged 
the money – the repairs weren’t done, the upkeep didn’t happen, and now we’re faced with this 
big repair that needs to be done and it’s not fair.  He hopes when they look at the rate they look at 
the overall livability.  He said the outreach to people is also an issue.  He doesn’t feel that 60% of 
the people want to pay a higher utility bill.  He feels that some solutions to this might be that 
allowing some people to volunteer to pay a higher rate because some people have more money 

1 - 7



P:\New Files\COUNCIL\2019 Minutes\CouncilMinutes.10082019.docx 
 

and might do that.  He suggested talking to WES about taking over the sewers.  He shared a note 
from another citizen with Ms. Betz. 
 
Kevin Johnson said the problem is that nothing has been fixed because since the late 70’s the 
Council never raised the rates – there was never money for any replacement or maintenance.  The 
amount of increases they’ve had until two years ago wouldn’t come close to just meeting inflation, 
let alone replacing or repairing anything.  He said there should be a fourth option in the $100 range 
which puts you in the same category as most of the other cities.  He said it’s not just homeowners 
who are paying the increases; it’s anybody who has a water meter in the City of Gladstone.  He 
feels that anyone who thinks that we can keep going down the road we’re on right now and not 
get this stuff fixed is foolish. 
 
Charity Powell said she understands the need for infrastructure repair.  She wonders if anything 
will be taken into account for people who are already paying at a higher rate (Oak Lodge system) 
and already have their sewer go to a location that’s already been updated and then being asked to 
fix the Gladstone problems.  
 
Mr. Whynot said the more expensive Oak Lodge Water Services customers that are paying 
Gladstone directly are paying more, but it’s a pass-through (which pays for water/sewer 
treatment).  If they go with the middle option the increase would be $14 – that’s why they went 
away from percentages and went to the actual dollar amount.  
 
Councilor Todd said she feels she can’t be a part of continuing the problem.  Gladstone livability 
is flushing your toilet, having fresh water, etc.                                                                                  
 
Councilor Mersereau said one of the other concerns, and they looked at it five years ago, is that 
it’s over $100 million to replace the infrastructure at this time and if they talk about it and let it go 
for another year it will cost more than $1 million/year to allow that.                                              
 
Mayor Stempel said they were handed a huge problem when they got in here – none of them 
realized it was as big a problem as it is.  A system that has been completely ignored for forty years.  
She said we all have to share in the cost of fixing it.  She said they are looking for solutions and if 
anyone has a better idea than raising utility rates then she’ll meet them for coffee to discuss it.                                
 
Councilor Todd read some comments that came from the survey:   

 Affordable yet still responsible to take care of our needs.   
 I would like to fix the failing infrastructure as soon as possible.   
 Let’s get this done before the costs go up even more.   
 Reasonable acceleration of costs.                                                                                                          

 
He said that one of the things that strikes him is that as he’s going through the documentation the 
word “safety” keeps popping out at him – it reminds him of another city in Michigan that was 
battling infrastructure costs/water costs.  They made a decision that came back and bit them in a 
big way.  He said he’s had conversations with citizens and they are under income stress and he 
knows that.  He said we don’t have an answer about the income stress but we have to do something 
in the City – we have to have a safe infrastructure and a livable city.  He said it’s a failed system.  
We have a dedicated City staff and he didn’t appreciate some of the comments he has seen on 
social media that were directed at City staff.  He said we need to build up enough money so that 
we can do the infrastructure change that we need – otherwise we’re going to lose the value of the 
City.                                                                                                           

1 - 8



P:\New Files\COUNCIL\2019 Minutes\CouncilMinutes.10082019.docx 
 

Mayor Stempel said that we have raised the SDC’s in the last couple of years to transfer some of 
the burden for the infrastructure onto new development.  They are looking for solutions.  Federal 
funding is not available.  Every city is in this position - the City of Sandy is raising their rates by 
97%.                                                                                                                                                            
 
There was discussion regarding putting out a bond measure.  Mayor Stempel does not feel that is 
a feasible option.  Ms. Betz said that would be another 7-8 years out.  She said we will continue 
to work on improving communications with citizens.  Mayor Stempel wanted to clarify again the 
extent of community outreach they have done – they have been talking about this literally for years 
(Council packets, meetings, open houses, etc.) but they can’t do any more if people refuse to 
engage in the process.   
 
Mayor Stempel asked for a consensus for which option the Councilors would like:  Councilor 
Ripley – B.  Councilor Neace – B.  Councilor Tracy – B.  Councilor Reisner – B.  Councilor Todd 
– B.  Councilor Mersereau – B.   
 
Ms. Betz said they will prepare the information for the Council to consider formally adopting in 
November and they will also discuss what their community outreach plans will be.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS:                                                                                                                                     
Natalie Smith said in looking at the numbers and what we need to do – she asked where the balance 
is.  Is it better to raise the utility rates or go for a bond?  Mayor Stempel clarified that we can’t go 
for a bond at this time.   

 
13. DISCUSSION OF RIGHT-OF-WAY (ROW) INFORMATION:                                                                         

Ms. Betz said this item was asked to be placed on a future agenda. They provided the Council with 
a packet of information mid-September: “Managing the Public Rights-of-Way”, which is a 
publication by the League of Oregon Cities, a staff report from 2016, and the ordinance when the 
City Council implemented the right-of-way ordinance, the management of Gladstone’s most 
valuable asset, frequently asked questions, and an ordinance that was approved to update back in 
December of 2018.  The staff report also includes highlights of the information they felt people 
need to know.                                                                                                                     
 
Ms. Brucker went over the differences between a franchise fee and the right-of-way ordinance.  
Franchise fees are negotiated separately with each one of the utilities.  All of them are a 5% fee 
that is assessed.  They are able to take those fees into the general fund and it is used for parks, 
public safety, and administrative services of the City.  They are not restricted in the use of those 
fees.  The current right-of-way (ROW) code states that once franchise fee agreements expire they 
will come in under the ROW code.  If that happens then it would be administered for only ROW 
usage.  Her recommendation at that point in time when these expire would be that we correct the 
ROW code so that there is still the ability to use these franchise fees for general fund purposes.  
When the ROW code was instituted that was for assessment of the utilities within the City that 
operate within the City – that 5% comes into the street maintenance fund and is allocated between 
streets, water/sewer/storm, for improvements within the right-of-way.  The money that is assessed 
within internally on City utility sales is not 5% above the rate – it’s just a part of the current 
water/sewer/storm rates.  They did not increase anything from that.  Mr. Whynot said this has 
brought in approximately $636,000 to the Public Works funds to help maintain the right-of-way.  
If they did not have those funds coming in they would have had to raise the utility rates an 
additional $7.72/month on average.  Ms. Brucker said they have also added telecoms to the ROW 
code.  Ms. Betz wanted to clarify that franchise fees that come into the City are for our general 
services.  If the ROW’s are rescinded we are at risk of losing approximately $636,000 for our 

1 - 9



P:\New Files\COUNCIL\2019 Minutes\CouncilMinutes.10082019.docx 
 

current infrastructure.  Public rights-of-way are a City asset and we should be managing who is in 
our assets and they should be paying for that.  It reduces the cost to the citizens because if they 
aren’t paying it we have to raise our rates in addition to help recover those revenues.  Mayor 
Stempel said we are just asking that they pay rent for utilizing City property.  Mr. Whynot said it 
helps fund Public Works to track down the utilities and make sure that when they dig up the street 
that they are backfilling it correctly, compacting it, and paving it right.  They have a permit process 
now so that they are held responsible.  He estimated that they are spending approximately 20% of 
their time (Street Fund) dealing with this type of stuff. 
 
There was discussion regarding the term “privilege tax”.  Mr. Jacobs said it’s not a tax that the 
City imposes on the user – it’s a fee for using the right-of-way that’s charged to the company.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS: 
Bill Osburn wanted to point out that they wouldn’t be losing money – it wasn’t theirs to take.  
They would instead be building trust as this tax was one that was not needed and just more ways 
to reach deeper into our pockets.  He reminded everyone how this tax was adopted.  Most meetings 
of the Council are at 6:30 – this one was at 5:30 and on a fifth Tuesday; not a normal day.  It was 
the only item on the agenda.  It seemed strange that the Council would sneak a meeting in.  Not 
surprisingly there wasn’t any public comment at that meeting.  He said the right-of-way doesn’t 
belong to you; it belongs to the residents of Gladstone.  You’re not charging the big companies 
like Comcast and PGE – you’re charging us.  This is why it’s called a pass-through tax – because 
it gets passed along to the consumers; us.  Even the City charges itself for using our own property 
and doesn’t have the integrity to put it on the bill.  The privilege tax is hidden on the water and 
sewer bill.  This doesn’t help us to trust you.  He asked them to repeal this tax as it was 
implemented simply because it could be.  He said this is the right thing to do to correct a wrong 
brought about by some who are no longer on this Council.  He hopes at the very least this will be 
put up to a vote of the people.  He also asked them to adopt a new law to put any new taxes and 
fees to a vote of the people.  He said it’s our money, it’s our City – we should have a say so.  He 
feels that giving the power back to the people on things like that is the right thing to do.   
 
Clair Coy said ditto to everything that Mr. Osburn said. 
 
Councilor Tracy said the utilities are playing the citizens against the City.  Through lobbying 
they’ve never had to absorb this cost as a cost of doing business – it’s been a pass-through.  He 
believes the ability to control the utilities and the potential damage they can do to our infrastructure 
is worth the cost.  He feels we have to protect our assets and he doesn’t have any inclination to 
change his position on that.  The rest of the Council agreed. 
 

BUSINESS CARRIED FORWARD:   
                                                                                                                                                                
Update on Library Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with Clackamas County:                                                 
Ms. Betz said they now have a facilities agreement, an agreement to transfer employees, and the overarching 
IGA.  She and City Attorney Ashley Driscoll have been negotiating and they have another meeting 
tomorrow.  They are hoping to get this to the Council by the end of this month.  There have been a lot of 
vocal concerns regarding the timeline and funding because the Gladstone Planning Task Force is getting 
information that the Council is not getting yet.  She said that Clackamas County Commissioners approved 
a $1 million contract with OPSIS to start the programming phase for master planning Gladstone 
Library/Concord-Oak Lodge Library and also NCPRD properties.  She shared copies of Exhibit A, which 
has a very detailed scope of work of all the deliverables and meetings of what is going to be happening for 
the next year.  She would like to call a special meeting on Monday, October 14th to go over this – Clackamas 
County would give a presentation.  The meeting will be held in the conference room. 

1 - 10



P:\New Files\COUNCIL\2019 Minutes\CouncilMinutes.10082019.docx 
 

City Committee Positions:                                                                                                                                            
 
Library:                                                                                                                                                                             
Ms. Betz said the way they advertised in the newsletter there was an intent to dissolve the existing Library 
Board so they were not going to fill the two vacant positions.  As of yesterday they have negotiated new 
language that is allowing the Gladstone Library to continue a year after we transfer.  She feels that changes 
how we recruit and we should go ahead and fill those positions, at least for one year.  Councilor Reisner 
feels we should always have a board even if the County is running the library because it’s here in the City 
and having a citizen’s group continuing to represent us and advise us.  Ms. Betz said that is part of the 
negotiations with the IGA – it is not a done deal.   
 
Planning Commission:                                                                                                                                                           
Ms. Betz said they are currently recruiting for three positions on the Planning Commission that would be 
starting in January of 2020.  One of those is a vacated position now.  They didn’t really advertise it to fill 
it now but they received an application that said this is to fill the vacant position.  She is asking the Council 
if they want to do a special noticing to fill the vacant position or do they want to continue to collect 
applications and those will all be appointed in January.  Mayor Stempel thought it would be ridiculous to 
do it for the month and a half remaining.  The rest of the Council agreed.           
 
City Administrator Employment Agreement & Municipal Judge’s Employment Agreement:                           
Ms. Betz said these both expire on December 31st.  There was discussion later regarding the process for the 
Judge’s contract.  This will be on the next meeting’s agenda.                                                              

                                                                                                             
BUSINESS FROM THE AUDIENCE:                                                                                                                                   
None.                                     
                                                                                                                                                      
BUSINESS FROM THE COUNCIL: 
 
Councilor Mersereau:                                                                                                                                                               
He said he has been the liaison working with the new Fire Chief and Police Chief.  He believes the direction 
is going in a positive way.  He said there is a lot of communication going out to the City – more than there 
has been in the past.  He appreciates being involved at this point. 
 
Councilor Todd:                                                                                                                                                                        
She suggests that if anybody would like to be involved and know what the Public Works Department is 
dealing with to go online and check out their monthly reports.  She loves the pictures and it shows you what 
the workers are dealing with and what they are doing to fix things.  She loves the Code Enforcement reports 
as well. 
 
Councilor Reisner:                                                                                                                                                                   
He asked if it would be possible to invite the Library Board members to the special meeting with the County 
– Ms. Betz said they could open it up to whomever they want.                                                                                                  
 
Councilor Tracy:                                                                                                                                                                       
He said last weekend he attended the League of Oregon Cities conference in Bend, along with the Mayor 
and City Administrator.  A lot of cities are dealing with a lot of the issues we are dealing with.  They tried 
to come up with creative solutions to deal with those issues.   
 
Councilor Neace:                                                                                                                                                                   
She said the Kiwanis are hosting an open house on October 29th at The Bomber at 6:00 – she invited 
everyone to come.                                                                                         

1 - 11



P:\New Files\COUNCIL\2019 Minutes\CouncilMinutes.10082019.docx 
 

Mayor Stempel:                                                                                                                                                             
She said Halloween is coming up and everyone is invited to the Halloween Spectacular on Portland Avenue 
– it’s going to be bigger and better than ever.  If anyone wants to put up a booth they have space.  If anyone 
wants to do trunk-or-treat they have space for that as well.  There will be food, a band, beer garden, fresh 
pressed cider, etc.                                                                                                                          
 
They have the committee and liaison appointments coming up.  She asked if they had attendance sheets.                              
 
There is harassment training coming up on the 15th for City employees.  Councilors can attend on a 
volunteer basis.                                                                                                                                                           
 
 
ADJOURN:                                                                                                                                                                                
 
Meeting was adjourned at 9:17 P.M.                
  
Approved by the Mayor this ________ day of ___________________________, 2019. 
 
 

                                                                 ATTEST: 
 
 

_____________________________________      ______________________________________       
Tamara Stempel, Mayor                                                     Tami Bannick, City Recorder     

1 - 12



2



Bank
July

 2019

August

 2019

September

 2019

October

 2019

November

2019

December

 2019

LGIP -City Of Gladstone #4472 11,015,342.35$       9,857,248.31$       9,487,777.94$       

LGIP - Urban Renewal Agency #4650 11,966,359.82          11,995,582.46       12,022,533.86       

Checking Accounts:

General Fund 212,487.17               68,755.50               205,791.19             

Urban Renewal 14,162.39                 14,162.43               14,162.43               

Municipal Court 28,545.29                 25,719.74               27,881.47               

Totals 23,236,897.02$       21,961,468.44$     21,758,146.89$     -$                         -$                         -$                         

Bank
January

 2020

February

2020

March

 2020

April

 2020

May

2020

June

2020

LGIP -City Of Gladstone #4472

LGIP - Urban Renewal Agency #4650

Checking Accounts:

General Fund

Urban Renewal

Municipal Court 

Totals -$                           -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         

BANK BALANCES

Month Ending Balance

2 - 1





3



11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 1 of 21

Budget Report
City of Gladstone, OR Account Summary

For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 100 - GENERAL FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL.

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 3,730,000.00 0.00 -3,730,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-309999 3,730,000.00

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL. Total: 0.000.003,730,000.00 3,730,000.00 -3,730,000.00 0.00 %

RptType: 3100 - LOCAL TAXES

CURRENT YEAR TAXES 8,609,105.00 0.00 -8,609,105.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-310010 8,609,105.00

PRIOR YEAR TAXES 300,000.00 6,671.84 -293,328.16 2.22 %6,671.84100-000-310050 300,000.00

LIBRARY DISTRICT REVENUE 743,142.00 0.00 -743,142.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-311030 743,142.00

TRANSIENT LODGING TAX 305,000.00 38,762.19 -266,237.81 12.71 %18,527.44100-000-314045 305,000.00

RptType: 3100 - LOCAL TAXES Total: 45,434.0325,199.289,957,247.00 9,957,247.00 -9,911,812.97 0.46 %

RptType: 3110 - STATE SHARED TAXES

STATE REVENUE SHARING 305,000.00 0.00 -305,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-310170 305,000.00

ALCOHOL TAX REVENUE 450,846.00 16,632.33 -434,213.67 3.69 %16,632.33100-000-311010 450,846.00

MARIJUANA TAX 99,457.00 0.00 -99,457.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-311015 99,457.00

CIGARETTE TAX REVENUE 28,155.00 2,536.86 -25,618.14 9.01 %2,536.86100-000-311020 28,155.00

RptType: 3110 - STATE SHARED TAXES Total: 19,169.1919,169.19883,458.00 883,458.00 -864,288.81 2.17 %

RptType: 3120 - RIGHT OF WAY FEES

GLADSTONE DISPOSAL FRANCHISE FEE 250,000.00 0.00 -250,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-312010 250,000.00

PGE FRANCHISE FEES 800,000.00 0.00 -800,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-312025 800,000.00

NW NATURAL GAS FRANCHISE FEE 340,000.00 0.00 -340,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-312030 340,000.00

COMCAST CABLE TV FRANCHISE FE 360,000.00 0.00 -360,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-312040 360,000.00

RIGHT OF WAY FEES-TELECOM 0.00 1,857.78 1,857.78 0.00 %0.00100-000-312050 0.00

ROW LICENSE & APP. FEES 0.00 250.00 250.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-312060 0.00

RptType: 3120 - RIGHT OF WAY FEES Total: 2,107.780.001,750,000.00 1,750,000.00 -1,747,892.22 0.12 %

RptType: 3130 - LICENSES AND PERMITS

BUSINESS LICENSE FEES 184,000.00 1,745.00 -182,255.00 0.95 %250.00100-000-313010 184,000.00

LIQUOR LICENSE RENEWALS 2,000.00 35.00 -1,965.00 1.75 %0.00100-000-313015 2,000.00

ALARM PERMITS 8,000.00 2,125.00 -5,875.00 26.56 %700.00100-000-313020 8,000.00

RptType: 3130 - LICENSES AND PERMITS Total: 3,905.00950.00194,000.00 194,000.00 -190,095.00 2.01 %

RptType: 3140 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES

RECREATION FEES 6,000.00 992.16 -5,007.84 16.54 %71.00100-000-314010 6,000.00

SENIOR CENTER BUILDING RENTAL FE… 8,500.00 2,321.25 -6,178.75 27.31 %1,816.25100-000-314015 8,500.00

PLANNING APPLICATION FEES 70,000.00 0.00 -70,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-314020 70,000.00

SOCIAL SERVICES CONTRACT 75,000.00 5,992.82 -69,007.18 7.99 %5,992.82100-000-314025 75,000.00

LIEN SEARCH FEES 12,000.00 1,260.00 -10,740.00 10.50 %300.00100-000-314030 12,000.00

ALL OTHER LIBRARY RECEIPTS 16,000.00 4,005.48 -11,994.52 25.03 %1,262.02100-000-314040 16,000.00

RptType: 3140 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES Total: 14,571.719,442.09187,500.00 187,500.00 -172,928.29 7.77 %

RptType: 3141 - SDC

PARK SDC FEES 0.00 94,111.00 94,111.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-314110 0.00

SDC Reimbursement Fee 0.00 2,033.00 2,033.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-314111 0.00

RptType: 3141 - SDC Total: 96,144.000.000.00 0.00 96,144.00 0.00 %

RptType: 3150 - GRANTS

FIRE GRANTS 331,620.00 191,620.00 -140,000.00 57.78 %191,620.00100-000-315040 140,000.00

READY TO READ/STATE AID LIBRARY 2,950.00 0.00 -2,950.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-315050 2,950.00

MARINE BOARD MAINTENANCE GRA… 0.00 5,400.00 5,400.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-315055 0.00

WES/GOOD NEIGHBOR GRANT 0.00 50,000.00 50,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-315065 0.00

RptType: 3150 - GRANTS Total: 247,020.00191,620.00142,950.00 334,570.00 -87,550.00 73.83 %

3 - 1



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 2 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

RptType: 3260 - FINES AND FORFEITURES

COURT FINES & FORFEITURES 775,000.00 69,143.31 -705,856.69 8.92 %18,103.83100-000-326010 775,000.00

RptType: 3260 - FINES AND FORFEITURES Total: 69,143.3118,103.83775,000.00 775,000.00 -705,856.69 8.92 %

RptType: 3301 - INTEREST

INTEREST 250,000.00 66,163.94 -183,836.06 26.47 %20,087.38100-000-330100 250,000.00

RptType: 3301 - INTEREST Total: 66,163.9420,087.38250,000.00 250,000.00 -183,836.06 26.47 %

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS

ALL OTHER GF RECEIPTS 70,000.00 3,849.17 -66,150.83 5.50 %384.89100-000-360000 70,000.00

FIRST RESPONDER SUPPLIES REIMB 10,000.00 0.00 -10,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-361016 10,000.00

LIBRARY FOUNDATION - FUNDED PR… 5,000.00 0.00 -5,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-361041 5,000.00

SENIOR CENTER BEQUESTS 0.00 35,668.00 35,668.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-362210 0.00

TRAM TRIPS 17,000.00 2,431.72 -14,568.28 14.30 %1,018.50100-000-362212 17,000.00

MEAL CHARGES 33,000.00 3,046.38 -29,953.62 9.23 %763.50100-000-362213 33,000.00

MEDICAID FUNDS 10,000.00 0.00 -10,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-362214 10,000.00

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS Total: 44,995.272,166.89145,000.00 145,000.00 -100,004.73 31.03 %

RptType: 3700 - OTHER

SALE OF SURPLUS EQUIP/PROPERTY 30,000.00 374.87 -29,625.13 1.25 %40.05100-000-371000 30,000.00

RptType: 3700 - OTHER Total: 374.8740.0530,000.00 30,000.00 -29,625.13 1.25 %

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 609,029.10286,778.7118,045,155.00 18,236,775.00 -17,627,745.90 3.34 %

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN

TRANSFER IN FROM STREET FUND 81,935.00 0.00 -81,935.00 0.00 %0.00100-910-399205 81,935.00

TRANSFER IN FROM POLICE LEVY 24,316.00 0.00 -24,316.00 0.00 %0.00100-910-399228 24,316.00

TRANSFER IN FROM FIRE LEVY 4,863.00 0.00 -4,863.00 0.00 %0.00100-910-399229 4,863.00

TRANSFER IN FROM URBAN RENEWAL 490,862.00 202,709.00 -288,153.00 41.30 %0.00100-910-399390 490,862.00

TRANSFER IN FROM SEWER FUND 60,748.00 0.00 -60,748.00 0.00 %0.00100-910-399730 60,748.00

TRANSFER IN FROM WATER FUND 65,903.00 0.00 -65,903.00 0.00 %0.00100-910-399740 65,903.00

TRANSFER IN FROM STORM WATER 60,748.00 0.00 -60,748.00 0.00 %0.00100-910-399750 60,748.00

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN Total: 202,709.000.00789,375.00 789,375.00 -586,666.00 25.68 %

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN Total: 202,709.000.00789,375.00 789,375.00 -586,666.00 25.68 %

Revenue Total: 811,738.10286,778.7118,834,530.00 19,026,150.00 -18,214,411.90 4.27 %

Expense

Department: 121 - ADMIN

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

CITY ADMINISTRATOR 284,124.00 34,782.00 249,342.00 12.24 %11,594.00100-121-431010 284,124.00

CITY RECRDR/HR MGR 293,480.00 34,023.00 259,457.00 11.59 %8,626.00100-121-431020 293,480.00

FINANCE DIRECTOR (.80) 202,297.00 0.00 202,297.00 0.00 %0.00100-121-431030 202,297.00

OFFICE ASSISTANT 121,764.00 14,625.00 107,139.00 12.01 %4,875.00100-121-431070 121,764.00

ACCOUNTING CLERK 204,110.00 20,135.27 183,974.73 9.86 %7,176.46100-121-431500 204,110.00

OVERTIME 2,000.00 398.70 1,601.30 19.94 %88.60100-121-450100 2,000.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 8,819.00 984.55 7,834.45 11.16 %325.97100-121-450500 8,819.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 583,090.00 51,867.24 531,222.76 8.90 %17,167.69100-121-470000 583,090.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 156,815.7649,853.721,699,684.00 1,699,684.00 1,542,868.24 9.23 %

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL SER… 134,000.00 24,492.12 109,507.88 18.28 %0.00100-121-500110 134,000.00

MUNICIPAL AUDIT CONTRACT 84,000.00 0.00 84,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-121-500120 84,000.00

LEGAL FEES 216,000.00 16,306.22 199,693.78 7.55 %3,994.32100-121-500130 216,000.00

COUNCIL ACTIVITIES 25,000.00 2,971.78 22,028.22 11.89 %133.46100-121-500490 25,000.00

OUTSIDE AGENCY REQUESTS 47,000.00 0.00 47,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-121-500491 47,000.00

COUNTY PLANNING SERVICES CONTR… 160,000.00 15,478.28 144,521.72 9.67 %0.00100-121-500492 160,000.00

COMM PROMOTIONS/BUSINESS DEV 384,650.00 12,950.81 371,699.19 3.37 %4,650.00100-121-510020 384,650.00

BANK CHARGES 7,500.00 970.70 6,529.30 12.94 %375.84100-121-520120 7,500.00

FLEET FUEL, MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 1,000.00 57.75 942.25 5.78 %20.76100-121-520320 1,000.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 38,310.00 3,570.04 34,739.96 9.32 %1,072.88100-121-520400 38,310.00

CITY NEWSLETTER 70,000.00 11,186.03 58,813.97 15.98 %3,051.68100-121-520450 70,000.00

3 - 2



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 3 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

FIRE & LIABILITY INSURANCE 200,000.00 148,427.91 51,572.09 74.21 %0.00100-121-530000 200,000.00

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 25,000.00 353.25 24,646.75 1.41 %42.75100-121-530200 25,000.00

EMPLOYEE APPRECIATION 5,000.00 1,052.42 3,947.58 21.05 %0.00100-121-540110 5,000.00

PERSONNEL RECRUITMENT 20,000.00 182.00 19,818.00 0.91 %6.00100-121-540120 20,000.00

DUES & MEMBERSHIPS 60,000.00 12,023.15 47,976.85 20.04 %768.41100-121-540200 60,000.00

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES & TRAINING 45,000.00 4,951.44 40,048.56 11.00 %2,649.41100-121-540220 45,000.00

MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-121-540230 2,000.00

PUBLICATIONS & SUBSCRIPTIONS 20,000.00 966.00 19,034.00 4.83 %0.00100-121-542000 20,000.00

TELEPHONES 30,000.00 2,726.35 27,273.65 9.09 %926.42100-121-560120 30,000.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 258,666.2517,691.931,574,460.00 1,574,460.00 1,315,793.75 16.43 %

Department: 121 - ADMIN Total: 415,482.0167,545.653,274,144.00 3,274,144.00 2,858,661.99 12.69 %

Department: 122 - INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

IT MANAGER 198,120.00 15,864.00 182,256.00 8.01 %7,932.00100-122-432010 198,120.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 79,889.00 4,280.20 75,608.80 5.36 %2,140.08100-122-470000 79,889.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 20,144.2010,072.08278,009.00 278,009.00 257,864.80 7.25 %

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL 37,360.00 8,800.00 28,560.00 23.55 %0.00100-122-500110 37,360.00

COMPUTER/TECHNOLOGY SERVICE 34,200.00 7,541.91 26,658.09 22.05 %0.00100-122-500210 34,200.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 35,112.00 2,373.98 32,738.02 6.76 %1,244.70100-122-520400 35,112.00

SMALL TOOLS, EQUIPMENT & SAFETY 540.00 314.30 225.70 58.20 %0.00100-122-540300 540.00

CELL PHONES, PAGERS & RADIOS 5,292.00 508.89 4,783.11 9.62 %32.13100-122-560110 5,292.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 19,539.081,276.83112,504.00 112,504.00 92,964.92 17.37 %

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

COMPUTER & EQUIPMENT RESERVE 27,500.00 0.00 27,500.00 0.00 %0.00100-122-661018 27,500.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 0.000.0027,500.00 27,500.00 27,500.00 0.00 %

Department: 122 - INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY Total: 39,683.2811,348.91418,013.00 418,013.00 378,329.72 9.49 %

Department: 124 - FACILITIES

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 17,294.00 2,488.11 14,805.89 14.39 %771.29100-124-437050 17,294.00

UTILITY WORKER, JOURNEY 55,223.00 7,348.11 47,874.89 13.31 %2,387.95100-124-437070 55,223.00

SEASONAL HELP 16,490.00 0.00 16,490.00 0.00 %0.00100-124-439011 16,490.00

OVERTIME 2,000.00 461.28 1,538.72 23.06 %85.65100-124-450100 2,000.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 510.00 71.78 438.22 14.07 %22.15100-124-450500 510.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 32,469.00 4,451.44 28,017.56 13.71 %1,414.67100-124-470000 32,469.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 14,820.724,681.71123,986.00 123,986.00 109,165.28 11.95 %

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL SER… 105,000.00 8,004.39 96,995.61 7.62 %2,691.10100-124-500110 105,000.00

OPERATIONS, MAINTENANCE & REPA… 105,000.00 3,310.53 101,689.47 3.15 %317.68100-124-520130 105,000.00

GENERATOR FUEL 3,200.00 0.00 3,200.00 0.00 %0.00100-124-520322 3,200.00

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES& TRAINING 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-124-540220 2,000.00

SMALL TOOLS, EQUIPMENT & SAFETY… 5,500.00 687.00 4,813.00 12.49 %687.00100-124-540300 5,500.00

UTILITIES 140,000.00 15,051.99 124,948.01 10.75 %5,115.08100-124-560100 140,000.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 27,053.918,810.86360,700.00 360,700.00 333,646.09 7.50 %

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

FACILITY IMPROVEMENTS 250,000.00 0.00 250,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-124-641000 250,000.00

BUILDING REPAIR 47,000.00 45,000.00 2,000.00 95.74 %0.00100-124-641010 47,000.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 45,000.000.00297,000.00 297,000.00 252,000.00 15.15 %

Department: 124 - FACILITIES  Total: 86,874.6313,492.57781,686.00 781,686.00 694,811.37 11.11 %

Department: 220 - COURT

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

MUNICIPAL COURT CLERK 128,445.00 15,817.71 112,627.29 12.31 %5,272.57100-220-432020 128,445.00

COURT ADMINISTRATOR 147,900.00 18,559.08 129,340.92 12.55 %5,921.00100-220-432035 147,900.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 1,479.00 67.17 1,411.83 4.54 %0.00100-220-450500 1,479.00

3 - 3



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 4 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 157,102.00 18,746.74 138,355.26 11.93 %6,132.50100-220-470000 157,102.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 53,190.7017,326.07434,926.00 434,926.00 381,735.30 12.23 %

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL SER… 1,000.00 100.00 900.00 10.00 %0.00100-220-500110 1,000.00

PROSECUTING ATTORNEY 73,800.00 6,000.00 67,800.00 8.13 %3,000.00100-220-500132 73,800.00

ATTORNEYS FOR INDIGENT CLIENTS 67,000.00 10,300.00 56,700.00 15.37 %5,100.00100-220-500134 67,000.00

MUNICIPAL COURT JUDGE 73,800.00 9,000.00 64,800.00 12.20 %6,000.00100-220-500136 73,800.00

PRO-TEM JUDGE 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-220-500137 3,000.00

JURY EXPENSES 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-220-500138 2,000.00

COURTROOM SECURITY 16,000.00 1,140.00 14,860.00 7.13 %570.00100-220-500282 16,000.00

BANK CHARGES 8,000.00 0.00 8,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-220-520120 8,000.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 27,500.00 1,581.84 25,918.16 5.75 %1,054.59100-220-520400 27,500.00

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES & TRAININGI… 4,000.00 763.76 3,236.24 19.09 %623.76100-220-540220 4,000.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 28,885.6016,348.35276,100.00 276,100.00 247,214.40 10.46 %

Department: 220 - COURT Total: 82,076.3033,674.42711,026.00 711,026.00 628,949.70 11.54 %

Department: 240 - POLICE

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

POLICE CHIEF 294,520.00 30,372.00 264,148.00 10.31 %10,124.00100-240-432110 294,520.00

POLICE LIEUTENANT 220,220.00 30,637.52 189,582.48 13.91 %13,147.52100-240-432130 220,220.00

POLICE DETECTIVE 163,009.00 39,768.38 123,240.62 24.40 %13,389.47100-240-432140 163,009.00

POLICE OFFICER 1,270,810.00 129,200.26 1,141,609.74 10.17 %34,215.07100-240-432160 1,270,810.00

POLICE SERGEANT 521,961.00 47,911.55 474,049.45 9.18 %20,335.61100-240-432170 521,961.00

PROPERTY ROOM TECHNICIAN 57,912.00 6,873.09 51,038.91 11.87 %2,059.94100-240-432182 57,912.00

POLICE RECORDS CLERK 110,324.00 13,248.00 97,076.00 12.01 %4,416.00100-240-432185 110,324.00

POLICE RESERVES 0.00 175.95 -175.95 0.00 %0.00100-240-432190 0.00

OVERTIME 260,000.00 46,762.68 213,237.32 17.99 %22,429.31100-240-450100 260,000.00

HOLIDAY PAY 22,000.00 8,318.53 13,681.47 37.81 %1,997.21100-240-450200 22,000.00

PROFICIENCY PAY 77,428.00 10,192.42 67,235.58 13.16 %3,828.62100-240-450300 77,428.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 0.00 460.10 -460.10 0.00 %155.05100-240-450500 0.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 1,614,224.00 174,315.39 1,439,908.61 10.80 %61,643.37100-240-470000 1,614,224.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 538,235.87187,741.174,612,408.00 4,612,408.00 4,074,172.13 11.67 %

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL SER… 76,440.00 36,760.74 39,679.26 48.09 %447.89100-240-500110 76,440.00

PARK  PATROL 13,860.00 2,492.50 11,367.50 17.98 %0.00100-240-500284 13,860.00

JUVENILE DIVERSION PROGRAM 9,500.00 0.00 9,500.00 0.00 %0.00100-240-510044 9,500.00

OPERATIONAL SUPPLIES AND EXPENS… 139,880.00 5,206.21 134,673.79 3.72 %344.32100-240-520100 0.00

FIREARMS/AMMUNITION 68,000.00 660.81 67,339.19 0.97 %328.81100-240-520112 68,000.00

MAINTENANCE, REPAIR & OPERATION 0.00 385.23 -385.23 0.00 %128.41100-240-520310 0.00

FLEET FUEL, MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 150,000.00 19,207.15 130,792.85 12.80 %3,341.14100-240-520320 150,000.00

RADAR MAINTENANCE REPLACEMENT 0.00 1,638.00 -1,638.00 0.00 %824.00100-240-520345 0.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 40,000.00 2,511.06 37,488.94 6.28 %366.78100-240-520400 179,880.00

EMPLOYEE APPRECIATION 12,000.00 346.80 11,653.20 2.89 %115.00100-240-540110 12,000.00

DUES & MEMBERSHIPS 20,000.00 1,427.99 18,572.01 7.14 %0.00100-240-540200 20,000.00

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES & TRAINING 64,000.00 6,052.63 57,947.37 9.46 %2,868.56100-240-540220 64,000.00

UNIFORMS AND SAFETY EQUIPMENT 40,000.00 13,893.02 26,106.98 34.73 %5,203.10100-240-540301 40,000.00

PUBLICATIONS & SUBSCRIPTIONS 8,200.00 312.99 7,887.01 3.82 %312.99100-240-542000 8,200.00

CELL PHONES, PAGERS, RADIOS 40,868.00 5,343.50 35,524.50 13.08 %1,606.09100-240-560110 40,868.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 96,238.6315,887.09682,748.00 682,748.00 586,509.37 14.10 %

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT RESERVES 220,000.00 47,120.10 172,879.90 21.42 %445.00100-240-651000 220,000.00

RADIO & COMPUTER RESERVE 5,000.00 0.00 5,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-240-661018 5,000.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 47,120.10445.00225,000.00 225,000.00 177,879.90 20.94 %

Department: 240 - POLICE Total: 681,594.60204,073.265,520,156.00 5,520,156.00 4,838,561.40 12.35 %

Department: 250 - FIRE

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

FIRE CHIEF 231,160.00 26,235.00 204,925.00 11.35 %8,745.00100-250-432210 231,160.00

3 - 4



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 5 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

FIRE MARSHAL 205,864.00 24,021.00 181,843.00 11.67 %8,007.00100-250-432220 205,864.00

FIRE CAPTAIN 489,027.00 56,557.00 432,470.00 11.57 %19,267.00100-250-432240 489,027.00

ON-CALL FIREFIGHTERS 548,000.00 54,744.12 493,255.88 9.99 %17,434.67100-250-432290 548,000.00

OVERTIME 50,000.00 7,357.02 42,642.98 14.71 %2,131.56100-250-450100 50,000.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 0.00 713.88 -713.88 0.00 %237.96100-250-450500 0.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 682,019.00 80,399.85 601,619.15 11.79 %26,047.78100-250-470000 682,019.00

LIFE & DISABILITY INSURANCE 8,000.00 213.84 7,786.16 2.67 %71.28100-250-470040 8,000.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 250,241.7181,942.252,214,070.00 2,214,070.00 1,963,828.29 11.30 %

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

MEDICAL DIRECTOR CONTRACT 29,000.00 2,970.00 26,030.00 10.24 %990.00100-250-500150 29,000.00

COMPUTER/TECHNOLOGY SERVICES 0.00 894.00 -894.00 0.00 %0.00100-250-500210 0.00

SHARE COST CCOM DISPATCH 170,000.00 22,122.28 147,877.72 13.01 %7,374.08100-250-500498 170,000.00

FIRE GRANTS 50,000.00 0.00 50,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-250-510022 50,000.00

FIRE PREVENTION & INVESTIGATION 12,000.00 0.00 12,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-250-520122 12,000.00

FIRST RESPONDER SUPPLIES 53,000.00 3,488.53 49,511.47 6.58 %672.27100-250-520124 53,000.00

SCBA & TURNOUT MAINTENANCE 0.00 20.95 -20.95 0.00 %0.00100-250-520126 0.00

BLDG MAINTENANCE & SUPPLIES 83,800.00 17,757.59 66,042.41 21.19 %12,905.89100-250-520200 83,800.00

MAINTENANCE, REPAIR & OPERATION 0.00 155.00 -155.00 0.00 %0.00100-250-520310 0.00

FLEET FUEL, MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 140,000.00 12,190.66 127,809.34 8.71 %4,651.71100-250-520320 140,000.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 5,280.00 1,011.81 4,268.19 19.16 %223.79100-250-520400 5,280.00

PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS 48,000.00 236.00 47,764.00 0.49 %236.00100-250-540130 48,000.00

DUES & MEMBERSHIPS 15,000.00 1,201.19 13,798.81 8.01 %0.00100-250-540200 15,000.00

TECH RESCUE TRAINING 15,250.00 0.00 15,250.00 0.00 %0.00100-250-540222 15,250.00

EMS TRAINING & RECERTIFICATION 15,000.00 4,610.40 10,389.60 30.74 %2,744.00100-250-540224 15,000.00

FIREFIGHTER TRAINING 62,000.00 7,783.39 54,216.61 12.55 %1,207.48100-250-540225 62,000.00

UNIFORMS AND SAFETY EQUIPMENT 30,000.00 3,194.47 26,805.53 10.65 %282.33100-250-540301 30,000.00

CELL PHONES, PAGERS, RADIOS 64,000.00 19,036.59 44,963.41 29.74 %529.99100-250-560110 64,000.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 96,672.8631,817.54792,330.00 792,330.00 695,657.14 12.20 %

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

ROUTINE EQUIP REPLACEMENT 0.00 621.61 -621.61 0.00 %237.00100-250-661010 0.00

TURN-OUTS & SCBA RESERVE 191,620.00 156,183.16 35,436.84 81.51 %0.00100-250-661012 0.00

DIVE RESCUE EQUIPMENT 0.00 1,767.18 -1,767.18 0.00 %334.18100-250-661014 0.00

FIRE APPARATUS & EQUIPMENT RESE… 466,667.00 0.00 466,667.00 0.00 %0.00100-250-661016 466,667.00

RADIO & COMPUTER RESERVE 44,394.00 0.00 44,394.00 0.00 %0.00100-250-661018 44,394.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 158,571.95571.18511,061.00 702,681.00 544,109.05 22.57 %

Department: 250 - FIRE Total: 505,486.52114,330.973,517,461.00 3,709,081.00 3,203,594.48 13.63 %

Department: 526 - PARKS

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 50,930.00 6,118.80 44,811.20 12.01 %2,039.60100-526-437049 50,930.00

PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 77,820.00 11,196.43 66,623.57 14.39 %3,470.81100-526-437050 77,820.00

PW OPERATIONS MANAGER 15,233.00 0.00 15,233.00 0.00 %0.00100-526-437051 15,233.00

PW ADMIN ASSISTANT 18,009.00 2,711.21 15,297.79 15.05 %797.87100-526-437055 18,009.00

UTILITY WORKER, JOURNEY 134,877.00 25,023.52 109,853.48 18.55 %8,238.54100-526-437070 134,877.00

UTILITY WORKER II 55,224.00 0.00 55,224.00 0.00 %0.00100-526-437071 55,224.00

SEASONAL HELP 65,000.00 12,496.71 52,503.29 19.23 %2,515.20100-526-439011 65,000.00

OVERTIME 7,000.00 1,410.67 5,589.33 20.15 %325.45100-526-450100 7,000.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 0.00 844.06 -844.06 0.00 %277.76100-526-450500 0.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 232,885.00 29,395.76 203,489.24 12.62 %9,376.93100-526-470000 232,885.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 89,197.1627,042.16656,978.00 656,978.00 567,780.84 13.58 %

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL SER… 65,000.00 950.67 64,049.33 1.46 %167.04100-526-500110 65,000.00

OPERATIONS, MAINTENANCE & REPA… 140,000.00 12,320.55 127,679.45 8.80 %4,343.07100-526-520130 140,000.00

HAZARDOUS TREE REMOVAL 60,000.00 2,632.00 57,368.00 4.39 %0.00100-526-520132 60,000.00

EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE AND SU… 0.00 19.35 -19.35 0.00 %0.00100-526-520300 0.00

FLEET FUEL, MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 42,000.00 3,619.44 38,380.56 8.62 %1,485.42100-526-520320 42,000.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 3,360.00 401.85 2,958.15 11.96 %71.65100-526-520400 3,360.00

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES & TRAINING 3,500.00 40.40 3,459.60 1.15 %0.00100-526-540220 3,500.00

3 - 5



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 6 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

SMALL TOOLS, EQUIPMENT & SAFETY… 30,000.00 1,552.14 28,447.86 5.17 %607.95100-526-540300 30,000.00

DUMPING, HAULING, GARBAGE 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-526-540400 3,000.00

UTILITIES 60,000.00 9,313.76 50,686.24 15.52 %2,963.02100-526-560100 60,000.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 30,850.169,638.15406,860.00 406,860.00 376,009.84 7.58 %

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT RESERVES 120,200.00 -2,840.25 123,040.25 -2.36 %0.00100-526-660100 120,200.00

SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS & PROJECTS 68,411.00 4,268.20 64,142.80 6.24 %1,129.00100-526-676050 68,411.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 1,427.951,129.00188,611.00 188,611.00 187,183.05 0.76 %

Department: 526 - PARKS Total: 121,475.2737,809.311,252,449.00 1,252,449.00 1,130,973.73 9.70 %

Department: 527 - RECREATION

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

FIELD MAINTENANCE CREW 32,000.00 6,184.06 25,815.94 19.33 %1,830.48100-527-435110 32,000.00

PLAYGROUND AIDES 28,000.00 10,058.68 17,941.32 35.92 %1,714.31100-527-435120 28,000.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 6,000.00 2,779.10 3,220.90 46.32 %547.96100-527-470000 6,000.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 19,021.844,092.7566,000.00 66,000.00 46,978.16 28.82 %

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

SUMMER PROGRAMS 3,000.00 1,020.13 1,979.87 34.00 %468.93100-527-510062 3,000.00

SPECIAL EVENTS 5,000.00 463.00 4,537.00 9.26 %0.00100-527-510064 5,000.00

MAINTENANCE & SUPPLIES 2,200.00 65.76 2,134.24 2.99 %0.00100-527-520136 2,200.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 1,548.89468.9310,200.00 10,200.00 8,651.11 15.19 %

Department: 527 - RECREATION Total: 20,570.734,561.6876,200.00 76,200.00 55,629.27 27.00 %

Department: 528 - SENIOR CENTER

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

SENIOR CENTER MANAGER 171,144.00 20,553.00 150,591.00 12.01 %6,851.00100-528-435210 171,144.00

TRAM DRIVER 61,914.00 7,891.17 54,022.83 12.75 %2,541.71100-528-435240 61,914.00

NUTRITION CATERER 51,595.00 8,524.87 43,070.13 16.52 %2,382.65100-528-435250 51,595.00

CENTER ASSISTANT 95,413.00 12,115.74 83,297.26 12.70 %4,027.13100-528-435280 95,413.00

BUILDING MONITOR 10,000.00 779.40 9,220.60 7.79 %200.01100-528-435295 10,000.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 3,405.00 435.47 2,969.53 12.79 %133.40100-528-450500 3,405.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 169,016.00 18,814.36 150,201.64 11.13 %6,081.65100-528-470000 169,016.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 69,114.0122,217.55562,487.00 562,487.00 493,372.99 12.29 %

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

NUTRITION PROGRAM SUPPLIES 36,000.00 2,466.97 33,533.03 6.85 %653.97100-528-510075 36,000.00

TRAM EXPENSES 12,500.00 1,919.62 10,580.38 15.36 %1,170.53100-528-520140 12,500.00

MISCELLANEOUS EQUIPMENT 7,500.00 371.90 7,128.10 4.96 %0.00100-528-520190 7,500.00

BLDG MAINTENANCE & SUPPLIES 16,000.00 1,735.36 14,264.64 10.85 %1,154.78100-528-520200 16,000.00

FLEET FUEL, MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 2,500.00 10.00 2,490.00 0.40 %10.00100-528-520320 2,500.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 11,368.00 453.83 10,914.17 3.99 %53.98100-528-520400 11,368.00

DUES & MEMBERSHIPS 2,800.00 270.00 2,530.00 9.64 %0.00100-528-540200 2,800.00

MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT 100.00 0.00 100.00 0.00 %0.00100-528-540230 100.00

TELEPHONES 7,000.00 829.38 6,170.62 11.85 %268.01100-528-560120 7,000.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 8,057.063,311.2795,768.00 95,768.00 87,710.94 8.41 %

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

BUILDING REPAIR 13,000.00 0.00 13,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-528-641010 13,000.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 0.000.0013,000.00 13,000.00 13,000.00 0.00 %

Department: 528 - SENIOR CENTER Total: 77,171.0725,528.82671,255.00 671,255.00 594,083.93 11.50 %

Department: 529 - LIBRARY

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

LIBRARY ASSISTANT II 360,000.00 61,438.02 298,561.98 17.07 %18,811.45100-529-435320 360,000.00

ON CALL LIB ASSISTANT 0.00 6,129.69 -6,129.69 0.00 %2,244.60100-529-435392 0.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 0.00 423.50 -423.50 0.00 %145.42100-529-450500 0.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 195,000.00 34,830.33 160,169.67 17.86 %10,445.10100-529-470000 195,000.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 102,821.5431,646.57555,000.00 555,000.00 452,178.46 18.53 %

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL SER… 265,900.00 0.00 265,900.00 0.00 %0.00100-529-500110 265,900.00

3 - 6



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 7 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

COMPUTER/TECHNOLOGY SERVICES 25,000.00 0.00 25,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-529-500210 25,000.00

NEW BOOKS 95,000.00 14,309.53 80,690.47 15.06 %4,883.37100-529-510081 95,000.00

ADULT/CHILDREN'S PROGRAMS 7,500.00 738.86 6,761.14 9.85 %475.00100-529-510082 7,500.00

READY TO READ GRANT 2,950.00 0.00 2,950.00 0.00 %0.00100-529-510084 2,950.00

LIB FOUNDATION FUNDED PROGRAM 5,000.00 2,487.73 2,512.27 49.75 %0.00100-529-510086 5,000.00

MARKETING 700.00 0.00 700.00 0.00 %0.00100-529-510100 700.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 6,000.00 1,088.62 4,911.38 18.14 %88.40100-529-520400 6,000.00

RENTALS AND LEASES 9,000.00 2,096.35 6,903.65 23.29 %712.22100-529-530100 9,000.00

PUBLICATIONS & SUBSCRIPTIONS 4,500.00 44.00 4,456.00 0.98 %0.00100-529-542000 4,500.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 20,765.096,158.99421,550.00 421,550.00 400,784.91 4.93 %

Department: 529 - LIBRARY Total: 123,586.6337,805.56976,550.00 976,550.00 852,963.37 12.66 %

Department: 600 - DEBT SERVICE

RptCategory: 70 - DEBT SERVICE

DEBT PRINCIPAL 320,399.00 157,709.00 162,690.00 49.22 %0.00100-600-720040 320,399.00

DEBT SERVICE - INTEREST 170,462.00 45,000.00 125,462.00 26.40 %0.00100-600-730040 170,462.00

RptCategory: 70 - DEBT SERVICE Total: 202,709.000.00490,861.00 490,861.00 288,152.00 41.30 %

Department: 600 - DEBT SERVICE Total: 202,709.000.00490,861.00 490,861.00 288,152.00 41.30 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

CONTINGENCY FUNDS 1,144,729.00 0.00 1,144,729.00 0.00 %0.00100-990-910000 1,144,729.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.001,144,729.00 1,144,729.00 1,144,729.00 0.00 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY Total: 0.000.001,144,729.00 1,144,729.00 1,144,729.00 0.00 %

Expense Total: 2,356,710.04550,171.1518,834,530.00 19,026,150.00 16,669,439.96 12.39 %

Fund: 100 - GENERAL FUND Surplus (Deficit): -1,544,971.94-263,392.440.00 0.00 -1,544,971.94 0.00 %

3 - 7



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 8 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 205 - ROAD AND STREET FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL.

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 1,750,000.00 0.00 -1,750,000.00 0.00 %0.00205-000-309999 1,750,000.00

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL. Total: 0.000.001,750,000.00 1,750,000.00 -1,750,000.00 0.00 %

RptType: 3110 - STATE SHARED TAXES

STATE HIGHWAY TAXES 1,837,123.00 216,235.40 -1,620,887.60 11.77 %82,060.00205-000-310140 1,837,123.00

RptType: 3110 - STATE SHARED TAXES Total: 216,235.4082,060.001,837,123.00 1,837,123.00 -1,620,887.60 11.77 %

RptType: 3120 - RIGHT OF WAY FEES

RIGHT OF WAY - TELECOM 436,000.00 26,463.06 -409,536.94 6.07 %0.00205-000-312050 436,000.00

RIGHT OF WAY - OTHER 450,000.00 0.00 -450,000.00 0.00 %0.00205-000-312055 450,000.00

ROW LICENSES & APP FEES 6,000.00 0.00 -6,000.00 0.00 %0.00205-000-312060 6,000.00

RptType: 3120 - RIGHT OF WAY FEES Total: 26,463.060.00892,000.00 892,000.00 -865,536.94 2.97 %

RptType: 3141 - SDC

TRANSPORTATION SDC'S 20,000.00 64,215.00 44,215.00 321.08 %0.00205-000-314075 20,000.00

SDC Reimbursement Fee 0.00 2,600.00 2,600.00 0.00 %0.00205-000-314076 0.00

RptType: 3141 - SDC Total: 66,815.000.0020,000.00 20,000.00 46,815.00 334.08 %

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS

ALL OTHER ROAD/STREET RECEIPTS 60,000.00 18,814.34 -41,185.66 31.36 %3,055.00205-000-360000 60,000.00

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS Total: 18,814.343,055.0060,000.00 60,000.00 -41,185.66 31.36 %

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 328,327.8085,115.004,559,123.00 4,559,123.00 -4,230,795.20 7.20 %

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN

TRANSFER IN FROM SEWER FUND 241,667.00 0.00 -241,667.00 0.00 %0.00205-910-399730 241,667.00

TRANSFER IN FROM WATER FUND 171,488.00 0.00 -171,488.00 0.00 %0.00205-910-399740 171,488.00

TRANSFER IN FROM STORM WATER 79,676.00 0.00 -79,676.00 0.00 %0.00205-910-399750 79,676.00

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN Total: 0.000.00492,831.00 492,831.00 -492,831.00 0.00 %

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN Total: 0.000.00492,831.00 492,831.00 -492,831.00 0.00 %

Revenue Total: 328,327.8085,115.005,051,954.00 5,051,954.00 -4,723,626.20 6.50 %

Expense

Department: 305 - ROAD AND STREET

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 50,930.00 6,118.80 44,811.20 12.01 %2,039.60205-305-437049 50,930.00

PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 77,822.00 11,196.41 66,625.59 14.39 %3,470.81205-305-437050 77,822.00

PW OPERATIONS MANAGER 34,173.00 0.00 34,173.00 0.00 %0.00205-305-437051 34,173.00

PW ADMIN ASSISTANT 38,210.00 5,466.55 32,743.45 14.31 %1,795.20205-305-437055 38,210.00

UTILITY WORKER, JOURNEY 242,705.00 31,378.09 211,326.91 12.93 %10,587.87205-305-437070 242,705.00

SEASONAL HELP 45,000.00 9,313.39 35,686.61 20.70 %2,224.98205-305-439011 45,000.00

OVERTIME 8,000.00 1,239.75 6,760.25 15.50 %120.94205-305-450100 8,000.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 2,309.00 486.30 1,822.70 21.06 %153.40205-305-450500 2,309.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 301,436.00 36,169.53 265,266.47 12.00 %11,743.84205-305-470000 301,436.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 101,368.8232,136.64800,585.00 800,585.00 699,216.18 12.66 %

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL SER… 109,200.00 5,617.48 103,582.52 5.14 %3,929.03205-305-500110 109,200.00

OPERATIONS, MAINTENANCE & REPA… 500,000.00 174,545.39 325,454.61 34.91 %13,624.59205-305-520130 500,000.00

STREET LIGHT MAINTENANCE 165,000.00 18,389.97 146,610.03 11.15 %6,131.72205-305-520172 165,000.00

TRAFFIC SIGNAL MAINTENANCE 45,000.00 1,603.05 43,396.95 3.56 %0.00205-305-520176 45,000.00

STREET SIGN MAINTENANCE 45,000.00 2,433.35 42,566.65 5.41 %2,391.25205-305-520178 45,000.00

FLEET FUEL, MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 65,000.00 7,832.94 57,167.06 12.05 %1,397.28205-305-520320 65,000.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 4,160.00 401.85 3,758.15 9.66 %71.65205-305-520400 4,160.00

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES & TRAINING 5,000.00 40.40 4,959.60 0.81 %0.00205-305-540220 5,000.00

SMALL TOOLS, EQUIPMENT & SAFETY… 45,000.00 3,848.58 41,151.42 8.55 %1,145.27205-305-540300 45,000.00

DUMPING, HAULING, GARBAGE 5,000.00 217.50 4,782.50 4.35 %0.00205-305-540400 5,000.00

3 - 8



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 9 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

UTILITIES 2,200.00 162.36 2,037.64 7.38 %54.12205-305-560100 2,200.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 215,092.8728,744.91990,560.00 990,560.00 775,467.13 21.71 %

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT RESERVES 575,000.00 0.00 575,000.00 0.00 %0.00205-305-660100 575,000.00

BIKEWAY & SIDEWALK IMPROVEMENT 72,000.00 0.00 72,000.00 0.00 %0.00205-305-675056 72,000.00

SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS & PROJECTS 1,295,659.00 0.00 1,295,659.00 0.00 %0.00205-305-676050 1,295,659.00

RESERVE FROM  SDC'S 327,535.00 0.00 327,535.00 0.00 %0.00205-305-678090 327,535.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 0.000.002,270,194.00 2,270,194.00 2,270,194.00 0.00 %

Department: 305 - ROAD AND STREET Total: 316,461.6960,881.554,061,339.00 4,061,339.00 3,744,877.31 7.79 %

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT

TRANSFER OUT TO GENERAL FUND 81,935.00 0.00 81,935.00 0.00 %0.00205-920-899100 81,935.00

TRANSFER OUT TO SEWER FUND 169,560.00 0.00 169,560.00 0.00 %0.00205-920-899730 169,560.00

TRANSFER OUT TO WATER 169,560.00 0.00 169,560.00 0.00 %0.00205-920-899740 169,560.00

TRANSFER OUT TO STORM 169,560.00 0.00 169,560.00 0.00 %0.00205-920-899750 169,560.00

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT Total: 0.000.00590,615.00 590,615.00 590,615.00 0.00 %

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT Total: 0.000.00590,615.00 590,615.00 590,615.00 0.00 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

CONTINGENCY FUNDS 400,000.00 0.00 400,000.00 0.00 %0.00205-990-910000 400,000.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.00400,000.00 400,000.00 400,000.00 0.00 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY Total: 0.000.00400,000.00 400,000.00 400,000.00 0.00 %

Expense Total: 316,461.6960,881.555,051,954.00 5,051,954.00 4,735,492.31 6.26 %

Fund: 205 - ROAD AND STREET FUND Surplus (Deficit): 11,866.1124,233.450.00 0.00 11,866.11 0.00 %

3 - 9



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 10 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 228 - POLICE LEVY FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL.

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 165,000.00 0.00 -165,000.00 0.00 %0.00228-000-309999 165,000.00

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL. Total: 0.000.00165,000.00 165,000.00 -165,000.00 0.00 %

RptType: 3100 - LOCAL TAXES

CURRENT LEVY TAX 1,311,323.00 0.00 -1,311,323.00 0.00 %0.00228-000-310020 1,311,323.00

PRIOR YEAR TAXES 48,000.00 941.86 -47,058.14 1.96 %941.86228-000-310050 48,000.00

RptType: 3100 - LOCAL TAXES Total: 941.86941.861,359,323.00 1,359,323.00 -1,358,381.14 0.07 %

RptType: 3301 - INTEREST

INTEREST 7,800.00 318.98 -7,481.02 4.09 %164.35228-000-330100 7,800.00

RptType: 3301 - INTEREST Total: 318.98164.357,800.00 7,800.00 -7,481.02 4.09 %

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 1,260.841,106.211,532,123.00 1,532,123.00 -1,530,862.16 0.08 %

Revenue Total: 1,260.841,106.211,532,123.00 1,532,123.00 -1,530,862.16 0.08 %

Expense

Department: 245 - POLICE LEVY

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

POLICE OFFICER 155,208.00 20,410.17 134,797.83 13.15 %6,743.84228-245-432160 155,208.00

SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER 155,208.00 20,397.61 134,810.39 13.14 %6,831.58228-245-432165 155,208.00

MUNICIPAL ORDINANCE SPECIALIST 127,715.00 15,339.00 112,376.00 12.01 %5,113.00228-245-432180 127,715.00

EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT 122,467.00 15,339.00 107,128.00 12.53 %5,113.00228-245-432195 122,467.00

OVERTIME 80,000.00 6,734.01 73,265.99 8.42 %-5,497.30228-245-450100 80,000.00

HOLIDAY PAY 0.00 170.74 -170.74 0.00 %0.00228-245-450200 0.00

PROFICIENCY PAY 30,385.00 3,383.39 27,001.61 11.14 %1,121.13228-245-450300 30,385.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 0.00 644.55 -644.55 0.00 %208.00228-245-450500 0.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 482,308.00 51,092.35 431,215.65 10.59 %11,716.35228-245-470000 482,308.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 133,510.8231,349.601,153,291.00 1,153,291.00 1,019,780.18 11.58 %

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

SHARE COST CCOM DISPATCH 295,000.00 47,478.72 247,521.28 16.09 %23,739.32228-245-500498 295,000.00

SRO EXPENSES 4,000.00 0.00 4,000.00 0.00 %0.00228-245-510032 4,000.00

K-9 EXPENSES 14,000.00 641.58 13,358.42 4.58 %74.67228-245-510040 14,000.00

SWAT PROGRAM 8,200.00 0.00 8,200.00 0.00 %0.00228-245-510041 8,200.00

MAINTENANCE, REPAIR & OPERATION 20,000.00 0.00 20,000.00 0.00 %0.00228-245-520310 20,000.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 48,120.3023,813.99341,200.00 341,200.00 293,079.70 14.10 %

Department: 245 - POLICE LEVY Total: 181,631.1255,163.591,494,491.00 1,494,491.00 1,312,859.88 12.15 %

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT

TRANSFER OUT TO GENERAL FUND 24,316.00 0.00 24,316.00 0.00 %0.00228-920-899100 24,316.00

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT Total: 0.000.0024,316.00 24,316.00 24,316.00 0.00 %

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT Total: 0.000.0024,316.00 24,316.00 24,316.00 0.00 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

CONTINGENCY FUNDS 13,316.00 0.00 13,316.00 0.00 %0.00228-990-910000 13,316.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.0013,316.00 13,316.00 13,316.00 0.00 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY Total: 0.000.0013,316.00 13,316.00 13,316.00 0.00 %

Expense Total: 181,631.1255,163.591,532,123.00 1,532,123.00 1,350,491.88 11.85 %

Fund: 228 - POLICE LEVY FUND Surplus (Deficit): -180,370.28-54,057.380.00 0.00 -180,370.28 0.00 %

3 - 10



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 11 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 229 - FIRE LEVY FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL.

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 451,000.00 0.00 -451,000.00 0.00 %0.00229-000-309999 451,000.00

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL. Total: 0.000.00451,000.00 451,000.00 -451,000.00 0.00 %

RptType: 3100 - LOCAL TAXES

CURRENT LEVY TAX 597,722.00 0.00 -597,722.00 0.00 %0.00229-000-310020 597,722.00

PRIOR YEAR TAXES 18,000.00 429.51 -17,570.49 2.39 %429.51229-000-310050 18,000.00

RptType: 3100 - LOCAL TAXES Total: 429.51429.51615,722.00 615,722.00 -615,292.49 0.07 %

RptType: 3301 - INTEREST

INTEREST 12,000.00 2,082.33 -9,917.67 17.35 %1,005.50229-000-330100 12,000.00

RptType: 3301 - INTEREST Total: 2,082.331,005.5012,000.00 12,000.00 -9,917.67 17.35 %

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 2,511.841,435.011,078,722.00 1,078,722.00 -1,076,210.16 0.23 %

Revenue Total: 2,511.841,435.011,078,722.00 1,078,722.00 -1,076,210.16 0.23 %

Expense

Department: 255 - FIRE LEVY

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

TRAINING CAPTAIN 160,532.00 18,956.00 141,576.00 11.81 %6,526.00229-255-432230 160,532.00

PART TIME 46,000.00 5,350.41 40,649.59 11.63 %1,776.81229-255-439010 46,000.00

SEASONAL HELP 20,000.00 8,509.09 11,490.91 42.55 %2,495.10229-255-439011 20,000.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 124,471.00 18,451.88 106,019.12 14.82 %6,184.34229-255-470000 124,471.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 51,267.3816,982.25351,003.00 351,003.00 299,735.62 14.61 %

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL SER… 20,000.00 1,500.00 18,500.00 7.50 %500.00229-255-500110 20,000.00

SCBA & TURNOUT MAINTENANCE 20,000.00 0.00 20,000.00 0.00 %0.00229-255-520126 20,000.00

EQUIPMENT TESTING & SERVICE 20,000.00 4,742.50 15,257.50 23.71 %3,647.50229-255-520365 20,000.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 10,000.00 0.00 10,000.00 0.00 %0.00229-255-520400 10,000.00

CELL PHONES, PAGERS, RADIOS 20,000.00 0.00 20,000.00 0.00 %0.00229-255-560110 20,000.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 6,242.504,147.5090,000.00 90,000.00 83,757.50 6.94 %

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

TRAINING FACILITY 0.00 548.49 -548.49 0.00 %0.00229-255-641030 0.00

FIRE, EMS & EXTRICATION EQUIPME… 77,000.00 1,017.84 75,982.16 1.32 %0.00229-255-660120 77,000.00

ROUTINE EQUIP REPLACEMENT 50,000.00 0.00 50,000.00 0.00 %0.00229-255-661010 50,000.00

TURN-OUTS & SCBA RESERVE 55,000.00 0.00 55,000.00 0.00 %0.00229-255-661012 55,000.00

TECH RESCUE EQUIPMENT 25,000.00 0.00 25,000.00 0.00 %0.00229-255-661014 25,000.00

FIRE APPARATUS & EQUIPMENT RESE… 325,000.00 0.00 325,000.00 0.00 %0.00229-255-661016 325,000.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 1,566.330.00532,000.00 532,000.00 530,433.67 0.29 %

Department: 255 - FIRE LEVY Total: 59,076.2121,129.75973,003.00 973,003.00 913,926.79 6.07 %

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT

TRANSFER OUT TO  GENERAL FUND 4,863.00 0.00 4,863.00 0.00 %0.00229-920-899100 4,863.00

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT Total: 0.000.004,863.00 4,863.00 4,863.00 0.00 %

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT Total: 0.000.004,863.00 4,863.00 4,863.00 0.00 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

CONTINGENCY FUNDS 100,856.00 0.00 100,856.00 0.00 %0.00229-990-910000 100,856.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.00100,856.00 100,856.00 100,856.00 0.00 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY Total: 0.000.00100,856.00 100,856.00 100,856.00 0.00 %

Expense Total: 59,076.2121,129.751,078,722.00 1,078,722.00 1,019,645.79 5.48 %

Fund: 229 - FIRE LEVY FUND Surplus (Deficit): -56,564.37-19,694.740.00 0.00 -56,564.37 0.00 %

3 - 11



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 12 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 307 - CIVIC BUILDINGS CAPITAL FUND (NEW)

Revenue

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN

TRANSFER IN FROM URBAN RENEWAL 12,766,000.00 0.00 -12,766,000.00 0.00 %0.00307-910-399390 12,766,000.00

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN Total: 0.000.0012,766,000.00 12,766,000.00 -12,766,000.00 0.00 %

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN Total: 0.000.0012,766,000.00 12,766,000.00 -12,766,000.00 0.00 %

Revenue Total: 0.000.0012,766,000.00 12,766,000.00 -12,766,000.00 0.00 %

Expense

Department: 307 - CIVIC CENTER PROJECT

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

PROJECT MGMT-OWNERS REP 122,677.00 19,622.40 103,054.60 16.00 %8,981.90307-307-620320 0.00

OTHER PROF. SERVICES 25.00 1,776.98 -1,751.98 7,107.92 %1,675.73307-307-620325 0.00

PROJECT LEGAL COSTS 3,828.00 2,444.00 1,384.00 63.85 %352.50307-307-620330 0.00

FINANCE CONSULTING 20,000.00 0.00 20,000.00 0.00 %0.00307-307-620360 0.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 23,843.3811,010.130.00 146,530.00 122,686.62 16.27 %

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

CONSTRUCTION - PHASE 1 9,717.00 0.00 9,717.00 0.00 %0.00307-307-620100 0.00

CONSTRUCTION - PHASE 2 10,011,612.00 1,748,892.00 8,262,720.00 17.47 %968,304.00307-307-620110 12,766,000.00

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS 12,020.00 0.00 12,020.00 0.00 %0.00307-307-620323 0.00

TESTING & SPECIAL INSP. 39,904.00 12,113.92 27,790.08 30.36 %1,578.15307-307-620340 0.00

LAND ACQUISITION/SITE PREP 957.00 2,150.00 -1,193.00 224.66 %2,150.00307-307-620365 0.00

ADD ALTERNATES 212,162.00 0.00 212,162.00 0.00 %0.00307-307-620370 0.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 1,763,155.92972,032.1512,766,000.00 10,286,372.00 8,523,216.08 17.14 %

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

PROJECT CONTINGENCY 149,000.00 0.00 149,000.00 0.00 %0.00307-307-620390 0.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.000.00 149,000.00 149,000.00 0.00 %

Department: 307 - CIVIC CENTER PROJECT Total: 1,786,999.30983,042.2812,766,000.00 10,581,902.00 8,794,902.70 16.89 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

CONTINGENCY FUNDS (Rollover Bala… 2,184,098.00 0.00 2,184,098.00 0.00 %0.00307-990-910000 0.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.000.00 2,184,098.00 2,184,098.00 0.00 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY Total: 0.000.000.00 2,184,098.00 2,184,098.00 0.00 %

Expense Total: 1,786,999.30983,042.2812,766,000.00 12,766,000.00 10,979,000.70 14.00 %

Fund: 307 - CIVIC BUILDINGS CAPITAL FUND (NEW) Surplus (Deficit): -1,786,999.30-983,042.280.00 0.00 -1,786,999.30 0.00 %

3 - 12



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 13 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 390 - URBAN RENEWAL FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL.

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 14,756,000.00 0.00 -14,756,000.00 0.00 %0.00390-000-309999 14,756,000.00

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL. Total: 0.000.0014,756,000.00 14,756,000.00 -14,756,000.00 0.00 %

RptType: 3100 - LOCAL TAXES

CURRENT YEAR TAXES 1,870,000.00 0.00 -1,870,000.00 0.00 %0.00390-000-310010 1,870,000.00

PRIOR YEAR TAXES 20,000.00 1,486.13 -18,513.87 7.43 %1,486.13390-000-310050 20,000.00

RptType: 3100 - LOCAL TAXES Total: 1,486.131,486.131,890,000.00 1,890,000.00 -1,888,513.87 0.08 %

RptType: 3301 - INTEREST

INTEREST 20,000.00 81,366.81 61,366.81 406.83 %25,465.27390-000-330100 20,000.00

RptType: 3301 - INTEREST Total: 81,366.8125,465.2720,000.00 20,000.00 61,366.81 406.83 %

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 82,852.9426,951.4016,666,000.00 16,666,000.00 -16,583,147.06 0.50 %

Revenue Total: 82,852.9426,951.4016,666,000.00 16,666,000.00 -16,583,147.06 0.50 %

Expense

Department: 410 - URBAN RENEWAL

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL SER… 4,000.00 0.00 4,000.00 0.00 %0.00390-410-500110 4,000.00

MUNICIPAL AUDIT CONTRACT 15,000.00 0.00 15,000.00 0.00 %0.00390-410-500120 15,000.00

FIRE & LIABILITY INSURANCE 30,000.00 15,000.00 15,000.00 50.00 %0.00390-410-530000 30,000.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 15,000.000.0049,000.00 49,000.00 34,000.00 30.61 %

RptCategory: 70 - DEBT SERVICE

DEBT SERVICE PRINCIPAL 876,366.00 431,573.00 444,793.00 49.25 %0.00390-410-730030 876,366.00

DEBT SERVICE - INTEREST 201,234.00 56,810.00 144,424.00 28.23 %0.00390-410-730040 201,234.00

RptCategory: 70 - DEBT SERVICE Total: 488,383.000.001,077,600.00 1,077,600.00 589,217.00 45.32 %

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT

TRANSFER OUT TO GENERAL FUND 490,861.00 202,709.00 288,152.00 41.30 %0.00390-410-899100 490,861.00

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT Total: 202,709.000.00490,861.00 490,861.00 288,152.00 41.30 %

Department: 410 - URBAN RENEWAL Total: 706,092.000.001,617,461.00 1,617,461.00 911,369.00 43.65 %

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT

TRANSFER OUT TO CIVIC BUILDINGS … 12,766,000.00 0.00 12,766,000.00 0.00 %0.00390-920-899307 12,766,000.00

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT Total: 0.000.0012,766,000.00 12,766,000.00 12,766,000.00 0.00 %

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT Total: 0.000.0012,766,000.00 12,766,000.00 12,766,000.00 0.00 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

CONTINGENCY FUNDS 2,282,539.00 0.00 2,282,539.00 0.00 %0.00390-990-910000 2,282,539.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.002,282,539.00 2,282,539.00 2,282,539.00 0.00 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY Total: 0.000.002,282,539.00 2,282,539.00 2,282,539.00 0.00 %

Expense Total: 706,092.000.0016,666,000.00 16,666,000.00 15,959,908.00 4.24 %

Fund: 390 - URBAN RENEWAL FUND Surplus (Deficit): -623,239.0626,951.400.00 0.00 -623,239.06 0.00 %

3 - 13



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 14 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 730 - SEWER FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL.

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 936,000.00 0.00 -936,000.00 0.00 %0.00730-000-309999 936,000.00

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL. Total: 0.000.00936,000.00 936,000.00 -936,000.00 0.00 %

RptType: 3140 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES

OAK LODGE SANITARY 1,349,749.00 159,334.87 -1,190,414.13 11.80 %53,111.90730-000-314050 1,349,749.00

TRI-CITY SERVICE DISTRICT 3,473,582.00 479,770.58 -2,993,811.42 13.81 %160,566.52730-000-314055 3,473,582.00

CONNECTION FEES 10,000.00 0.00 -10,000.00 0.00 %0.00730-000-314080 10,000.00

RptType: 3140 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES Total: 639,105.45213,678.424,833,331.00 4,833,331.00 -4,194,225.55 13.22 %

RptType: 3141 - SDC

SEWER SDCS 15,000.00 49,890.00 34,890.00 332.60 %0.00730-000-314110 15,000.00

SDC Reimbursement Fee 0.00 2,619.00 2,619.00 0.00 %0.00730-000-314111 0.00

RptType: 3141 - SDC Total: 52,509.000.0015,000.00 15,000.00 37,509.00 350.06 %

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS

ALL OTHER SEWER RECEIPTS 2,000.00 10,599.34 8,599.34 529.97 %0.00730-000-360000 2,000.00

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS Total: 10,599.340.002,000.00 2,000.00 8,599.34 529.97 %

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 702,213.79213,678.425,786,331.00 5,786,331.00 -5,084,117.21 12.14 %

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN

TRANSFER IN FROM ROAD & STREET … 169,560.00 0.00 -169,560.00 0.00 %0.00730-910-399205 169,560.00

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN Total: 0.000.00169,560.00 169,560.00 -169,560.00 0.00 %

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN Total: 0.000.00169,560.00 169,560.00 -169,560.00 0.00 %

Revenue Total: 702,213.79213,678.425,955,891.00 5,955,891.00 -5,253,677.21 11.79 %

Expense

Department: 703 - SEWER

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

ACCOUNTING CLERK 27,611.00 3,159.00 24,452.00 11.44 %1,053.00730-703-431500 27,611.00

PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 50,930.00 6,118.80 44,811.20 12.01 %2,039.60730-703-437049 50,930.00

PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 59,895.00 8,392.56 51,502.44 14.01 %2,770.33730-703-437050 59,895.00

PW OPERATIONS MANAGER 34,173.00 0.00 34,173.00 0.00 %0.00730-703-437051 34,173.00

PW ADMIN ASSISTANT 40,520.00 5,466.55 35,053.45 13.49 %1,795.20730-703-437055 40,520.00

UTILITY WORKER, JOURNEY 143,225.00 22,807.13 120,417.87 15.92 %7,337.50730-703-437070 143,225.00

UTILITY WORKER II 25,272.00 0.00 25,272.00 0.00 %0.00730-703-437071 25,272.00

SEASONAL HELP 35,000.00 3,460.80 31,539.20 9.89 %0.00730-703-439011 35,000.00

OVERTIME 10,000.00 1,062.55 8,937.45 10.63 %224.44730-703-450100 10,000.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 0.00 585.97 -585.97 0.00 %192.61730-703-450500 0.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 249,431.00 25,973.04 223,457.96 10.41 %8,363.41730-703-470000 249,431.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 77,026.4023,776.09676,057.00 676,057.00 599,030.60 11.39 %

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL SER… 110,000.00 4,760.15 105,239.85 4.33 %2,114.42730-703-500110 110,000.00

SDC PASS THROUGH TO TCSD 15,000.00 0.00 15,000.00 0.00 %0.00730-703-500452 15,000.00

OAK LODGE SANITARY DISTRICT 1,068,513.00 85,032.80 983,480.20 7.96 %0.00730-703-500456 1,068,513.00

TRI-CITY SERVICE DISTRICT 2,583,000.00 303,008.04 2,279,991.96 11.73 %101,010.92730-703-500458 2,583,000.00

BANK CHARGES 0.00 3,896.34 -3,896.34 0.00 %2,239.00730-703-520120 0.00

OPERATIONS, MAINTENANCE & REPA… 105,000.00 939.25 104,060.75 0.89 %291.50730-703-520130 105,000.00

EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE AND SU… 0.00 19.35 -19.35 0.00 %0.00730-703-520300 0.00

FLEET FUEL, MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 55,000.00 3,375.75 51,624.25 6.14 %1,749.97730-703-520320 55,000.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 4,160.00 1,086.93 3,073.07 26.13 %298.02730-703-520400 4,160.00

UTILITY BILLS & POSTAGE 16,000.00 2,002.61 13,997.39 12.52 %616.85730-703-520430 16,000.00

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES & TRAINING 7,500.00 239.40 7,260.60 3.19 %199.00730-703-540220 7,500.00

SMALL TOOLS, EQUIPMENT & SAFETY… 21,000.00 4,858.10 16,141.90 23.13 %606.29730-703-540300 21,000.00

DUMPING, HAULING, GARBAGE 5,000.00 217.50 4,782.50 4.35 %0.00730-703-540400 5,000.00

3 - 14



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 15 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

UTILITIES 3,200.00 319.27 2,880.73 9.98 %107.67730-703-560100 3,200.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 409,755.49109,233.643,993,373.00 3,993,373.00 3,583,617.51 10.26 %

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT RESERVES 662,000.00 0.00 662,000.00 0.00 %0.00730-703-660100 662,000.00

SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS & PROJECTS 38,046.00 0.00 38,046.00 0.00 %0.00730-703-676050 38,046.00

RESERVE FROM SDC'S 249,000.00 0.00 249,000.00 0.00 %0.00730-703-678090 249,000.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 0.000.00949,046.00 949,046.00 949,046.00 0.00 %

Department: 703 - SEWER Total: 486,781.89133,009.735,618,476.00 5,618,476.00 5,131,694.11 8.66 %

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT

TRANSFER OUT TO GENERAL FUND 60,748.00 0.00 60,748.00 0.00 %0.00730-920-899100 60,748.00

TRANSFER OUT TO ROAD & STREET F… 241,667.00 0.00 241,667.00 0.00 %0.00730-920-899205 241,667.00

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT Total: 0.000.00302,415.00 302,415.00 302,415.00 0.00 %

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT Total: 0.000.00302,415.00 302,415.00 302,415.00 0.00 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

CONTINGENCY FUNDS 35,000.00 0.00 35,000.00 0.00 %0.00730-990-910000 35,000.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.0035,000.00 35,000.00 35,000.00 0.00 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY Total: 0.000.0035,000.00 35,000.00 35,000.00 0.00 %

Expense Total: 486,781.89133,009.735,955,891.00 5,955,891.00 5,469,109.11 8.17 %

Fund: 730 - SEWER FUND Surplus (Deficit): 215,431.9080,668.690.00 0.00 215,431.90 0.00 %

3 - 15



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 16 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 740 - WATER FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL.

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 2,009,000.00 0.00 -2,009,000.00 0.00 %0.00740-000-309999 2,009,000.00

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL. Total: 0.000.002,009,000.00 2,009,000.00 -2,009,000.00 0.00 %

RptType: 3140 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES

WATER SERVICE REVENUE 3,419,750.00 587,653.43 -2,832,096.57 17.18 %190,055.94740-000-314060 3,419,750.00

WATER SERVICE CONNECTIONS 10,000.00 3,450.00 -6,550.00 34.50 %0.00740-000-314080 10,000.00

RptType: 3140 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES Total: 591,103.43190,055.943,429,750.00 3,429,750.00 -2,838,646.57 17.23 %

RptType: 3141 - SDC

WATER SDC'S 10,000.00 30,662.48 20,662.48 306.62 %0.00740-000-314110 10,000.00

SDC Reimbursement Fee 0.00 2,619.64 2,619.64 0.00 %0.00740-000-314111 0.00

RptType: 3141 - SDC Total: 33,282.120.0010,000.00 10,000.00 23,282.12 332.82 %

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS

ALL OTHER WATER RECEIPTS 20,000.00 10,289.32 -9,710.68 51.45 %0.00740-000-360000 20,000.00

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS Total: 10,289.320.0020,000.00 20,000.00 -9,710.68 51.45 %

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 634,674.87190,055.945,468,750.00 5,468,750.00 -4,834,075.13 11.61 %

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN

TRANSFER IN FROM ROAD & STREET … 169,560.00 0.00 -169,560.00 0.00 %0.00740-910-399205 169,560.00

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN Total: 0.000.00169,560.00 169,560.00 -169,560.00 0.00 %

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN Total: 0.000.00169,560.00 169,560.00 -169,560.00 0.00 %

Revenue Total: 634,674.87190,055.945,638,310.00 5,638,310.00 -5,003,635.13 11.26 %

Expense

Department: 704 - WATER

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

ACCOUNTING CLERK 33,133.00 3,790.80 29,342.20 11.44 %1,263.60740-704-431500 33,133.00

PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 50,930.00 6,118.80 44,811.20 12.01 %2,039.60740-704-437049 50,930.00

PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 61,712.00 8,725.66 52,986.34 14.14 %2,828.77740-704-437050 61,712.00

PW OPERATIONS MANAGER 34,172.00 0.00 34,172.00 0.00 %0.00740-704-437051 34,172.00

PW ADMIN ASSISTANT 40,520.00 5,466.55 35,053.45 13.49 %1,795.20740-704-437055 40,520.00

UTILITY WORKER, JOURNEY 239,422.00 36,966.19 202,455.81 15.44 %11,768.62740-704-437070 239,422.00

UTILITY WORKER II 25,272.00 0.00 25,272.00 0.00 %0.00740-704-437071 25,272.00

SEASONAL HELP 35,000.00 0.00 35,000.00 0.00 %0.00740-704-439011 35,000.00

OVERTIME 15,000.00 1,384.03 13,615.97 9.23 %203.06740-704-450100 15,000.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 0.00 611.38 -611.38 0.00 %192.73740-704-450500 0.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 324,712.00 34,941.10 289,770.90 10.76 %11,300.87740-704-470000 324,712.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 98,004.5131,392.45859,873.00 859,873.00 761,868.49 11.40 %

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL SER… 135,000.00 16,799.44 118,200.56 12.44 %3,023.21740-704-500110 135,000.00

METER READING CONTRACT 50,000.00 6,396.54 43,603.46 12.79 %2,132.18740-704-500240 50,000.00

WHOLESALE WATER 1,304,000.00 112,402.31 1,191,597.69 8.62 %57,647.12740-704-500425 1,304,000.00

BANK CHARGES 13,000.00 3,441.35 9,558.65 26.47 %2,064.01740-704-520120 13,000.00

OPERATIONS, MAINTENANCE & REPA… 310,000.00 51,580.97 258,419.03 16.64 %19,928.23740-704-520130 310,000.00

LABORATORY WATER TESTS 20,000.00 3,049.00 16,951.00 15.25 %198.00740-704-520162 20,000.00

FIRE HYDRANT MAINTENANCE & REP… 30,000.00 0.00 30,000.00 0.00 %0.00740-704-520165 30,000.00

EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE AND SU… 0.00 15.45 -15.45 0.00 %0.00740-704-520300 0.00

FLEET FUEL, MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 45,000.00 4,461.95 40,538.05 9.92 %1,428.09740-704-520320 45,000.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 4,660.00 529.54 4,130.46 11.36 %154.20740-704-520400 4,660.00

UTILITY BILLS & POSTAGE 12,000.00 1,982.60 10,017.40 16.52 %616.85740-704-520430 12,000.00

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES & TRAINING 10,500.00 142.90 10,357.10 1.36 %0.00740-704-540220 10,500.00

SMALL TOOLS, EQUIPMENT & SAFETY… 22,000.00 3,995.92 18,004.08 18.16 %588.96740-704-540300 22,000.00

DUMPING, HAULING, GARBAGE 10,000.00 667.50 9,332.50 6.68 %450.00740-704-540400 10,000.00

3 - 16



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 17 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

UTILITIES 40,000.00 4,689.28 35,310.72 11.72 %1,486.84740-704-560100 40,000.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 210,154.7589,717.692,006,160.00 2,006,160.00 1,796,005.25 10.48 %

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT RESERVES 200,000.00 0.00 200,000.00 0.00 %0.00740-704-660100 200,000.00

SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS & PROJECTS 1,103,762.00 0.00 1,103,762.00 0.00 %0.00740-704-676050 1,103,762.00

RESERVE FROM SDC'S 474,000.00 0.00 474,000.00 0.00 %0.00740-704-678090 474,000.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 0.000.001,777,762.00 1,777,762.00 1,777,762.00 0.00 %

RptCategory: 70 - DEBT SERVICE

2005 BONDED DEBT/PRINCIPAL 317,000.00 155,000.00 162,000.00 48.90 %0.00740-704-720040 317,000.00

2005 BONDED DEBT/INTEREST 40,124.00 11,583.00 28,541.00 28.87 %0.00740-704-730040 40,124.00

RptCategory: 70 - DEBT SERVICE Total: 166,583.000.00357,124.00 357,124.00 190,541.00 46.65 %

Department: 704 - WATER Total: 474,742.26121,110.145,000,919.00 5,000,919.00 4,526,176.74 9.49 %

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT

TRANSFER OUT TO GENERAL FUND 65,903.00 0.00 65,903.00 0.00 %0.00740-920-899100 65,903.00

TRANSFER OUT TO ROAD & STREET F… 171,488.00 0.00 171,488.00 0.00 %0.00740-920-899205 171,488.00

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT Total: 0.000.00237,391.00 237,391.00 237,391.00 0.00 %

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT Total: 0.000.00237,391.00 237,391.00 237,391.00 0.00 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

CONTINGENCY FUNDS 400,000.00 0.00 400,000.00 0.00 %0.00740-990-910000 400,000.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.00400,000.00 400,000.00 400,000.00 0.00 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY Total: 0.000.00400,000.00 400,000.00 400,000.00 0.00 %

Expense Total: 474,742.26121,110.145,638,310.00 5,638,310.00 5,163,567.74 8.42 %

Fund: 740 - WATER FUND Surplus (Deficit): 159,932.6168,945.800.00 0.00 159,932.61 0.00 %

3 - 17



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 18 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 750 - STORM WATER FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL.

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 265,000.00 0.00 -265,000.00 0.00 %0.00750-000-309999 265,000.00

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL. Total: 0.000.00265,000.00 265,000.00 -265,000.00 0.00 %

RptType: 3140 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES

STORM REVENUE 1,593,530.00 173,714.51 -1,419,815.49 10.90 %57,969.47750-000-314060 1,593,530.00

RptType: 3140 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES Total: 173,714.5157,969.471,593,530.00 1,593,530.00 -1,419,815.49 10.90 %

RptType: 3141 - SDC

STORMWATER SDC'S 10,000.00 39,061.37 29,061.37 390.61 %0.00750-000-314110 10,000.00

SDC Reimbursement Fee 0.00 4,123.00 4,123.00 0.00 %0.00750-000-314111 0.00

RptType: 3141 - SDC Total: 43,184.370.0010,000.00 10,000.00 33,184.37 431.84 %

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS

ALL OTHER STORM FUND RESOURCES 0.00 10,289.34 10,289.34 0.00 %0.00750-000-360000 0.00

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS Total: 10,289.340.000.00 0.00 10,289.34 0.00 %

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 227,188.2257,969.471,868,530.00 1,868,530.00 -1,641,341.78 12.16 %

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN

TRANSFER IN FROM ROAD & STREET … 169,560.00 0.00 -169,560.00 0.00 %0.00750-910-399205 169,560.00

RptType: 3990 - TRANSFERS IN Total: 0.000.00169,560.00 169,560.00 -169,560.00 0.00 %

Department: 910 - TRANSFER IN Total: 0.000.00169,560.00 169,560.00 -169,560.00 0.00 %

Revenue Total: 227,188.2257,969.472,038,090.00 2,038,090.00 -1,810,901.78 11.15 %

Expense

Department: 705 - PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES

ACCOUNTING CLERK 27,195.00 3,159.00 24,036.00 11.62 %1,053.00750-705-431500 27,195.00

PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 50,930.00 6,118.80 44,811.20 12.01 %2,039.60750-705-437049 50,930.00

PUBLIC WORKS SUPERVISOR 59,897.00 8,237.27 51,659.73 13.75 %2,770.32750-705-437050 59,897.00

PW OPERATIONS MANAGER 34,172.00 0.00 34,172.00 0.00 %0.00750-705-437051 34,172.00

PW ADMIN ASSISTANT 40,519.00 5,466.49 35,052.51 13.49 %1,795.16750-705-437055 40,519.00

UTILITY WORKER, JOURNEY 110,447.00 8,141.34 102,305.66 7.37 %3,855.00750-705-437070 110,447.00

SEASONAL HELP 35,000.00 8,095.96 26,904.04 23.13 %2,663.63750-705-439011 35,000.00

OVERTIME 4,000.00 281.71 3,718.29 7.04 %61.65750-705-450100 4,000.00

CAREER RECOGNITION PAY 0.00 79.45 -79.45 0.00 %26.48750-705-450500 0.00

ASSOCIATED PAYROLL COSTS 200,629.00 13,058.30 187,570.70 6.51 %4,502.28750-705-470000 200,629.00

RptCategory: 40 - PERSONNEL SERVICES Total: 52,638.3218,767.12562,789.00 562,789.00 510,150.68 9.35 %

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CONTRACTUAL & PROFESSIONAL SER… 110,000.00 5,655.63 104,344.37 5.14 %2,111.80750-705-500110 110,000.00

BANK CHARGES 0.00 3,896.76 -3,896.76 0.00 %2,239.42750-705-520120 0.00

OPERATIONS, MAINTENANCE & REPA… 65,000.00 1,248.98 63,751.02 1.92 %580.99750-705-520130 65,000.00

FLEET FUEL, MAINTENANCE & REPAIR 22,000.00 1,774.82 20,225.18 8.07 %945.56750-705-520320 22,000.00

OFFICE SUPPLIES & EQUIPMENT 5,160.00 530.98 4,629.02 10.29 %155.77750-705-520400 5,160.00

UTILITY BILLS & POSTAGE 15,800.00 1,983.21 13,816.79 12.55 %617.04750-705-520430 15,800.00

TRAVEL, CONFERENCES & TRAINING 5,500.00 239.40 5,260.60 4.35 %199.00750-705-540220 5,500.00

SMALL TOOLS, EQUIPMENT & SAFETY… 11,500.00 3,235.61 8,264.39 28.14 %582.82750-705-540300 11,500.00

DUMPING, HAULING, GARBAGE 3,000.00 217.50 2,782.50 7.25 %0.00750-705-540400 3,000.00

UTILITIES 1,000.00 162.36 837.64 16.24 %54.12750-705-560100 1,000.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 18,945.257,486.52238,960.00 238,960.00 220,014.75 7.93 %

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT RESERVES 100,000.00 0.00 100,000.00 0.00 %0.00750-705-660100 100,000.00

SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS & PROJECTS 895,917.00 0.00 895,917.00 0.00 %0.00750-705-676050 895,917.00

RptCategory: 60 - CAPITAL OUTLAY Total: 0.000.00995,917.00 995,917.00 995,917.00 0.00 %

Department: 705 - PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR Total: 71,583.5726,253.641,797,666.00 1,797,666.00 1,726,082.43 3.98 %

3 - 18



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 19 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT

TRANSFER OUT TO GENERAL FUND 60,748.00 0.00 60,748.00 0.00 %0.00750-920-899100 60,748.00

TRANSFER OUT TO ROAD & STREET F… 79,676.00 0.00 79,676.00 0.00 %0.00750-920-899205 79,676.00

RptCategory: 89 - TRANSFERS OUT Total: 0.000.00140,424.00 140,424.00 140,424.00 0.00 %

Department: 920 - TRANSFER OUT Total: 0.000.00140,424.00 140,424.00 140,424.00 0.00 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

CONTINGENCY FUNDS 100,000.00 0.00 100,000.00 0.00 %0.00750-990-910000 100,000.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.00100,000.00 100,000.00 100,000.00 0.00 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY Total: 0.000.00100,000.00 100,000.00 100,000.00 0.00 %

Expense Total: 71,583.5726,253.642,038,090.00 2,038,090.00 1,966,506.43 3.51 %

Fund: 750 - STORM WATER FUND Surplus (Deficit): 155,604.6531,715.830.00 0.00 155,604.65 0.00 %

3 - 19



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 20 of 21

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Used
Current

Total Budget
Period

Activity
Original

Total Budget

Fund: 801 - MUNICIPAL COURT TRUST FUND

Revenue

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL.

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 40,000.00 0.00 -40,000.00 0.00 %0.00801-000-309999 40,000.00

RptType: 3000 - BEG FUND BAL. Total: 0.000.0040,000.00 40,000.00 -40,000.00 0.00 %

RptType: 3260 - FINES AND FORFEITURES

CITY OF GLADSTONE FINES/FEES 700,000.00 61,756.18 -638,243.82 8.82 %22,098.89801-000-326020 700,000.00

CLACKAMAS COUNTY FINES/FEES 26,000.00 1,815.06 -24,184.94 6.98 %528.55801-000-326030 26,000.00

STATE OF OREGON FINES/FEES 88,000.00 8,143.17 -79,856.83 9.25 %2,908.00801-000-326040 88,000.00

RESTITUTION 6,000.00 0.00 -6,000.00 0.00 %0.00801-000-326050 6,000.00

BOND 5,000.00 -1,986.72 -6,986.72 39.73 %-3,030.15801-000-326060 5,000.00

RptType: 3260 - FINES AND FORFEITURES Total: 69,727.6922,505.29825,000.00 825,000.00 -755,272.31 8.45 %

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS

ALL OTHER COURT FEES 0.00 198.43 198.43 0.00 %37.26801-000-360000 0.00

RptType: 3600 - MISCELLANEOUS Total: 198.4337.260.00 0.00 198.43 0.00 %

Department: 000 - UNDESIGNATED / NON DEPARTMENTAL Total: 69,926.1222,542.55865,000.00 865,000.00 -795,073.88 8.08 %

Revenue Total: 69,926.1222,542.55865,000.00 865,000.00 -795,073.88 8.08 %

Expense

Department: 220 - COURT

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES

CITY OF GLADSTONE FINES & FEES 690,000.00 64,994.29 625,005.71 9.42 %17,307.83801-220-500500 690,000.00

CLACKAMAS COUNTY FINES & FEES 22,000.00 1,922.97 20,077.03 8.74 %449.42801-220-500510 22,000.00

STATE OF OREGON FINES & FEES 88,000.00 9,358.26 78,641.74 10.63 %2,344.96801-220-500520 88,000.00

RESTITUTION 6,000.00 0.00 6,000.00 0.00 %0.00801-220-500530 6,000.00

BOND - COURT 5,000.00 0.00 5,000.00 0.00 %0.00801-220-500540 5,000.00

ALL OTHER FEES & FINES 0.00 222.80 -222.80 0.00 %130.19801-220-500550 0.00

RptCategory: 50 - MATERIAL AND SERVICES Total: 76,498.3220,232.40811,000.00 811,000.00 734,501.68 9.43 %

Department: 220 - COURT Total: 76,498.3220,232.40811,000.00 811,000.00 734,501.68 9.43 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER

CONTINGENCY FUNDS 54,000.00 0.00 54,000.00 0.00 %0.00801-990-910000 54,000.00

RptCategory: 90 - OTHER Total: 0.000.0054,000.00 54,000.00 54,000.00 0.00 %

Department: 990 - CONTINGENCY Total: 0.000.0054,000.00 54,000.00 54,000.00 0.00 %

Expense Total: 76,498.3220,232.40865,000.00 865,000.00 788,501.68 8.84 %

Fund: 801 - MUNICIPAL COURT TRUST FUND Surplus (Deficit): -6,572.202,310.150.00 0.00 -6,572.20 0.00 %

Report Surplus (Deficit): -1,085,361.52 -3,655,881.880.00 0.00 -3,655,881.88 0.00 %

3 - 20



Budget Report For Fiscal: 2019-2020 Period Ending: 09/30/2019

11/5/2019 2:55:22 PM Page 21 of 21

Fund Summary

Fiscal
Activity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)Fund
Period

Activity
Current

Total Budget
Original

Total Budget

100 - GENERAL FUND -1,544,971.94-263,392.440.00 0.00 -1,544,971.94

205 - ROAD AND STREET FUND 11,866.1124,233.450.00 0.00 11,866.11

228 - POLICE LEVY FUND -180,370.28-54,057.380.00 0.00 -180,370.28

229 - FIRE LEVY FUND -56,564.37-19,694.740.00 0.00 -56,564.37

307 - CIVIC BUILDINGS CAPITAL FUND (NEW) -1,786,999.30-983,042.280.00 0.00 -1,786,999.30

390 - URBAN RENEWAL FUND -623,239.0626,951.400.00 0.00 -623,239.06

730 - SEWER FUND 215,431.9080,668.690.00 0.00 215,431.90

740 - WATER FUND 159,932.6168,945.800.00 0.00 159,932.61

750 - STORM WATER FUND 155,604.6531,715.830.00 0.00 155,604.65

801 - MUNICIPAL COURT TRUST FUND -6,572.202,310.150.00 0.00 -6,572.20

Report Surplus (Deficit): -1,085,361.52 -3,655,881.880.00 0.00 -3,655,881.88

3 - 21





4



Check Date Check No. Vendor Amount Line Item Description

09/04/2019 87782 - 87784 UB Refunds 104.34              UB Refunds - PW

09/06/2019 87785 Kristin Bowen 129.44              Reimbursement - Parade Supplies - PW

09/06/2019 87786 Christenson Electric Inc 6,168.00           Christmas Lighting - Admin

09/06/2019 87787 Clark's Lawn & Garden Equip 45.00                 Supplies - FD

09/06/2019 87788 David M. Corey 420.00              Post-Offer Evaluation - PD

09/06/2019 87789 Dick's Color Center 100.25              Paint - PW

09/06/2019 87790 Edginton Properties 375.00              Quarterly Parking Pmt - PD

09/06/2019 87791 Gold Wrench 1,587.95           Vehicle Maintenance - PD

09/06/2019 87792 Jacque Betz 84.00                 Per Diem/LOC Conference - Admin

09/06/2019 87793 League of Oregon Cities 1,610.00           Conference Reg/Betz/Tracy/Stempel - Admin

09/06/2019 87794 Maxwell Rentals 1,000.00           Apartment Rental - FD

09/06/2019 87795 Northside Ford 27,656.98         Vehicle Purchase - PD

09/06/2019 87796 Northwest Natural Gas 174.26              Natural Gas Usage - All Depts

09/06/2019 87797 Office Depot 785.47              Office Supplies - Admin/CT/PD/LIB

09/06/2019 87798 Oregon DMV 10.00                 Vehicle Registration - PD

09/06/2019 87799 Pacific Office Automation Inc 246.76              Copier Lease/Usage - CT/PW/IT

09/06/2019 87800 Portland General Electric 6,592.62           Electricity Usage - All Depts

09/06/2019 87801 Secure Pacific Corporation 220.00              Repairs - SC

09/06/2019 87802 Sign Guy 3,350.00           SRO Vehicle Signage - PD

09/06/2019 87803 SS Investigations 700.00              Pre-Employment Investigation - PD

09/06/2019 87804 Stitch n' Embroidery Inc. 237.00              Logo Embroidery - PD

09/06/2019 87805 Tamara Stempel 84.00                 Per Diem/LOC Conference - Admin

09/06/2019 87806 Target Solutions Learning, LLC 894.00              Annual Subscription - FD

09/06/2019 87807 Matt Tracy 84.00                 Per Diem/LOC Conference - Admin

09/06/2019 87808 Verizon Wireless 3,191.79           Cell Phones - All Depts

09/06/2019 87809 Payrol Check 706.04              Payroll Check

09/11/2019 87810 Linda Willett 1,750.00           Watts St. Deed Dedication - Civic

09/12/2019 87811 A & A Drilling Inc. 7,460.00           E. Clarendon Hydrant Taps - PW

09/12/2019 87812 A Act-Fast Locksmith 58.00                 Keys - PW

09/12/2019 87813 Accurate Electric of Oregon  I 895.53              Install Dedicated Circuit - FD

09/12/2019 87814 Alexin Analytical Laboratories 306.00              Drinking Water Test - PW

09/12/2019 87815 Aloha Produce Inc. 27.99                 Produce - SC

09/12/2019 87816 Aramark 60.56                 Mat/Coverall Rental - PW

09/12/2019 87817 Backflow Management Inc 2,411.00           Letters Mailed/Water Testing - PW

09/12/2019 87818 BMS Technologies 1,850.74           UB Billing/Mailing - PW

09/12/2019 87819 Brian Lowry Trucking LLC 1,986.00           Materials Deliver - PW

09/12/2019 87820 BridgePay Network Solutions, LLC 117.10              Online UB Pmt Fees - PW

09/12/2019 87821 Cascade Centers, Inc. 55.20                 Employee Assistance Plan - FD

09/12/2019 87822 Cascade Form Systems 835.50              Envelopes - Admin

09/12/2019 87823 Cintas First Aid Lockbox 395.66              First Aid Supplies - PW/LIB/SC/Admin

09/12/2019 87824 City Wide Tree Service Inc. 1,462.00           MB Tree Maintenance - PW

09/12/2019 87825 Clackamas County Finance Department 19,640.74         Ammo/Dispatch/Telecom - PD/FD

09/12/2019 87826 Comcast Business 270.62              Internet/Voice - PW

09/12/2019 87827 D.P. Nicoli, Inc. 584.22              Hydrant Plates -PW

09/12/2019 87828 David M. Corey 840.00              Post-Offer Evaluation - PD

09/12/2019 87829 Econorthwest 376.25              Professional Services - Admin

09/12/2019 87830 Extreme Products 72.44                 Uniform Accessories - PD

09/12/2019 87831 Galls, LLC 297.98              Uniform Accessories - PD

09/12/2019 87832 Greystone Tactical 600.00              Equipment - PD

09/12/2019 87833 Griffin Land Surveying Inc. 3,000.00           Surveying - Civic

09/12/2019 87834 Home Depot 27.54                 Supplies - FD

09/12/2019 87835 Home Depot Pro Institutional 53.98                 Supplies - SC

09/12/2019 87836 Houston, Marc R 990.00              Physician Advisor - FD

09/12/2019 87837 IJS Law, LLC 1,000.00           Indigent Defense - CT

CHECK REGISTER FOR SEPTEMBER 2019

4 - 1



Check Date Check No. Vendor Amount Line Item Description

CHECK REGISTER FOR SEPTEMBER 2019

09/12/2019 87838 League of Oregon Cities 8,855.74           Annual Dues - Admin

09/12/2019 87839 Lexipol LLC 7,071.00           Policy Update Subscription - PD

09/12/2019 87840 Lucy Heil, Attorney at Law 2,000.00           Indigent Defense - CT

09/12/2019 87841 Lundquist Legal, LLC 3,000.00           Prosecutor Services - CT

09/12/2019 87842 National Testing Network 750.00              Annual Membership - PD

09/12/2019 87843 Oak Lodge Water Services 1,654.32           Water Purchases - PW

09/12/2019 87844 Office Depot 242.10              Office Supplies - PD

09/12/2019 87845 Oregon DMV 6.00                   Record Inquiry - Admin

09/12/2019 87846 Oregon Patrol Service 570.00              Courtroom Security - CT

09/12/2019 87847 Pamplin Media Group 4,052.00           Newsletter Printing - Admin

09/12/2019 87848 Pitney Bowes Global Financial Svcs. 483.60              Postage Machine Lease - Admin

09/12/2019 87849 Police Training Consultants, LLC 400.00              Training - PD

09/12/2019 87850 PORAC Legal Defense Fund 300.00              Legal Defense Fund - PD

09/12/2019 87851 Portland Road & Driveway Co., Inc. 485.00              Dump Fees - PW

09/12/2019 87852 Satcom Global Ltd. 42.75                 Satellite Phone Access - PD

09/12/2019 87853 Les Schwab Tires 89.99                 Vehicle Maintenance - PD

09/12/2019 87854 Shred-it USA LLC 108.78              Shredding Service - PD

09/12/2019 87855 Smart Foodservice 302.49              Summer Program Supplies - Rec

09/12/2019 87856 Smith-Wagar Brucker Consulting Inc. 11,528.75         Financial Services - Admin

09/12/2019 87857 Solutions Yes 17.68                 Copier Usage - IT

09/12/2019 87858 John Southgate LLC 1,275.00           Professional Services - Admin

09/12/2019 87859 Stamp Connection.com 22.20                 Office Supplies - PD

09/12/2019 87860 Stein Oil Co. Inc. 4,525.34           Gasoline - PD/FD/PW/SC

09/12/2019 87861 Jill Tate 382.50              Transcription - Admin

09/12/2019 87862 TransUnion Risk and Alternative 50.10                 Data Research - PD

09/12/2019 87863 Uline Inc 45.78                 Evidence Storage Supplies - PD

09/12/2019 87864 Water Environment Services 101,010.92       Sewer Billing - PW

09/12/2019 87865 Wilsonville Lock & Security 345.00              Internet Transmitter - PW

09/12/2019 87828 Void (840.00)             David Corey - wrong amount

09/12/2019 87866 David M. Corey 420.00              Correction of Ck. 87828

09/13/2019 87867 Clackamas County Surveyor 400.00              Record Watts St. Deed - Civic

09/19/2019 87868 Accurate Electric of Oregon  I 3,792.24           FD Light Fixture/Ballast replacement - PW

09/19/2019 87869 American Medical Response 1,086.00           First Responder Supplies - FD

09/19/2019 87870 Ammi Brooks 225.00              Library Program - LIB

09/19/2019 87871 Aramark 30.28                 Mat/Coverall Rental - PW

09/19/2019 87872 Barney & Worth, Inc. 3,591.24           Professoinal Fees - PW

09/19/2019 87873 Bateman Community Living 280.80              Frozen Meals - SC

09/19/2019 87874 Beloof & Haines 3,000.00           Municipal Judge - CT

09/19/2019 87875 Canon Financial Services, Inc. 982.39              Copier Lease/Usage - FD/Admin

09/19/2019 87876 Clackamas County Business Alliance 610.00              Annual Membership - Admin

09/19/2019 87877 Clackamas County Finance Department 6,526.27           Planning Services - Admin

09/19/2019 87878 Clackamas Fire District #1 2,660.35           Fleet Labor/Uniforms - FD

09/19/2019 87879 Comcast 79.83                 TV/Internet - PD/IT

09/19/2019 87880 Cruise Master Prisms Inc 73.75                 Nametags - FD

09/19/2019 87881 Curtis, L. N. Co. 2,635.85           Uniforms/Supplies - FD/PD

09/19/2019 87882 Cycle Express 36.00                 Stickers - FD

09/19/2019 87883 Day Wireless Systems Inc 100.00              Radio Programming - FD

09/19/2019 87884 Demco 330.08              Office Supplies - LIB

09/19/2019 87885 Esther Beadwork 250.00              Library Program - LIB

09/19/2019 87886 Harbor Freight Tools 26.99                 Repair Parts - FD

09/19/2019 87887 Life-Assist Inc 76.50                 First Responder Supplies - FD

09/19/2019 87888 Metereaders 2,132.18           Metereading - PW

09/19/2019 87889 North Clackamas County Water 56,665.28         Water Purchases - PW

09/19/2019 87890 Northwest Entrance, Inc. 525.00              SC Door Mainteanance - PW

4 - 2



Check Date Check No. Vendor Amount Line Item Description

CHECK REGISTER FOR SEPTEMBER 2019

09/19/2019 87891 Oak Lodge Water Services 85,032.80         Sewer Billing - PW

09/19/2019 87892 One Call Concepts Inc 98.40                 Utility Notifications - PW

09/19/2019 87893 Pacific Office Automation 712.22              Copier Lease/Usage - LIB

09/19/2019 87894 Petty Cash  - Gladstone Sr. Center 39.53                 Tram/Office Supplies - SC

09/19/2019 87895 Portland General Electric 5,370.89           Street Light Electricity Usage - PW

09/19/2019 87896 Sierra Springs 225.02              Drinking Water - PD/Admin

09/19/2019 87897 Sisul Engineering 2,103.75           Professional Fees - PW

09/19/2019 87898 Tyler Technologies, Inc. 300.30              Software Maintenance - Admin

09/19/2019 87899 US Bank Equipment Finance 224.46              Copier Lease - IT

09/19/2019 87900 Val Codino Consulting 500.00              Profeesional Fees - FD

09/09/2019 87901 Ck. Voided -                     Misprint

09/19/2019 87891 Oak Lodge Water Services (85,032.80)        Voided due to wrong G/L Acct Charged

09/19/2019 87902 Oak Lodge Water Services 85,032.80         Reissue of above check

09/26/2019 87903 Allstream 1,233.06           Land Lines - All Depts.

09/26/2019 87904 Baker & Taylor Inc 3,698.18           New Books - LIB

09/26/2019 87905 Beery Elsner & Hammond LLP 9,996.52           Legal Fees - Admin/Civic

09/26/2019 87906 City of Oregon City 91.25                 GIS Services - PW

09/26/2019 87907 Comcast 73.45                 Internet/Voice - IT

09/26/2019 87908 Gold Wrench 908.15              Vehicle Maintenance - PD

09/26/2019 87909 Loy Clark Construction 16,959.51         Water Main Break Repair - PW

09/26/2019 87910 Midwest Tape 2,374.28           Non-Print Items - LIB

09/26/2019 87911 Pacific Mobile Structures, Inc. 466.00              Movile Office Rent - PW

09/26/2019 87912 Pitney Bowes 1,971.00           Postage - All Depts

09/26/2019 87913 Schumaker & Bernstein 1,950.00           Indigent Defense - CT

09/30/2019 87914 - 87918 Payroll Checks 9,049.02           Payroll Checks - All Depts.

09/27/2019 87919 Axa Equi-Vest 4595 Voluntary Payroll Deferred Comp

09/27/2019 87920 Axa EVLICO 106 Non-PERS Retirment Pmt

09/27/2019 87921 Axa RIA 1437.36 Non-PERS Retirment Pmt

09/27/2019 87922 CIS Trust 68997.16 Monthly Health Insurance

09/27/2019 87923 Clackamas Community Federal Credit Union 1034.88 GPA Union Dues

09/27/2019 87924 Gladstone Fire Department 625 Fire Members House Dues

09/27/2019 87925 Oregon AFSCME Council #75 1127.92 AFSCME Union Dues

09/27/2019 87926 City of Gladstone 93.38                 UB Pmt - PW

09/27/2019 87927 United States Postal Service 1,025.68           Newsletter Postage - Admin

Total General Fund Checks: 561,715.19       

Total Urban Renewal Checks -                     

September 2019 Checks 561,715.19       

4 - 3





5



Attorneys: July, 2019 Aug, 2019 Sept, 2019 Oct, 2019 Nov, 2019 Dec, 2019 Totals

City Charter -$                -$              -$                 

Elections -                   -                 -                   

Finance 305.50            141.73          447.23             

General 70.50              70.50               

Civic Center Project 258.50            1,833.00       2,091.50         

          Meeting Attendance -                   -                 -                   

Governance/City Council 376.00            70.50            446.50             

          Meeting Attendance 837.92            767.42          1,605.34         

Intergovernmental 94.00              2,453.00       2,547.00         

          Meeting Attendance 808.51            1,296.18       2,104.69         

Land Use/ Community Development 963.50            1,104.09       2,067.59         

          Meeting Attendance -                   -                 -                   

Parks & Recreation 23.50              -                 23.50               

Personnel/Labor 112.50            1,690.10       1,802.60         

          AFSCME -                   -                 -                   

         City Administration -                   -                 -                   

Public Records & Meetings -                   -                 -                   

Public Safety 180.00            -                 180.00             

Public Works -                   258.50          258.50             

Real Property Transactions -                   -                 -                   

Risk Management/Litigation 376.45            382.00          758.45             

Rights of Way-Telecommunications -                   -                   

Urban Renewal -                   -                   

Total 4,406.88$      9,996.52$    -$              -$                -$            -$            14,403.40$    

Attorneys: Jan, 2020 Feb, 2020 Mar, 2020 Apr, 2020 May, 2020 June, 2020

Totals for

 Year

City Charter -$                 

Elections -                   

Finance 447.23             

General 70.50               

Civic Center Project 2,091.50         

          Meeting Attendance -                   

Governance/City Council 446.50             

          Meeting Attendance 1,605.34         

Intergovernmental 2,547.00         

         Meeting Attendance 2,104.69         

Land Use/ Community Development 2,067.59         

          Meeting Attendance -                   

Parks & Recreation 23.50               

Personnel/Labor 1,802.60         

          AFSCME -                   

         City Administration -                   

Public Records & Meetings -                   

Public Safety 180.00             

Public Works 258.50             

Real Property Transactions -                   

Risk Management/Litigation 758.45             

Rights of Way-Telecommunications -                   

Urban Renewal -                   

Total -$                -$              -$              -$                -$            -$            14,403.40$    

ATTORNEY CHARGES

5 - 1





6



1 
 

     
 

 
   

Staff Report for the Month of  
 

October 2019 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Report Date : October 31, 2019 
To : Jacque M. Betz, City Administrator  
Copy : Mayor and City Council 
From : Jim Whynot, Public Works Director 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
   
 
 
 

WATER DIVISION had another busy month dealing with our 
increasingly problematic infrastructure.  The Public Works 
crew pulled another all-nighter on E. Clarendon during the 
water line tie-ins.  While the project was slated to be 
completed in one day, it ran over into a third day due to the 
contractor encountering multiple issues, including 
unexpected problems with the line connections, and having 
to drain over a mile of water out of the 24” line.   
 
 
 
 
 

 
Photo left shows our utility 
supervisor, Justin Poyser (far 
left in yellow hardhat) 
overseeing the progress at the 
intersection of Clarendon and 
Portland Avenue. 
 

6 - 1



2 
 

Once the water line tie-ins were completed, the City flushed the lines, which resulted in a 
considerable amount of stirred up sediment and “brown water” to parts of the city.  While the water 
was not contaminated by bacteria, it was temporarily unsightly and understandably troublesome 
for the residents impacted.  Public Works published multiple public notices via the city’s various 
social media accounts to notify and educate the public of the situation.  We also spoke personally 
to the businesses and residents affected by this event.   
 
Public Works also cut in the blow-offs on the 300 block of Clarendon.   
 
Clackamas Construction, the contractor working on the Community Development Block Grant 
project, has requested three extensions on this project.   In addition to social media posts, Public 
Works has also sent out multiple sets of door hangers, as well as meeting directly with the property 
owners many times to keep the residents apprised of the progress, delays, and extensions. We 
understand that these public improvement projects are inconvenient, but there is no way to get 
from where we are to where we need to be without going through the unwieldy and cumbersome 
construction phase.     
 
We have worked extensively with Utility Billing to address some concerns with our high-low meters 
to correct some inaccuracies in the billings.  The high-low meters (also known as combination 
meters) are used by customers who have large water services (three inches and greater), and 
therefore must also have a smaller meter to register any low-flow that will not trigger the larger 
meter.  We have 11 of these types of meters on our system and we are inspecting and verifying 
that all meters are working properly and that Utility Billing is correctly accounting for the water 
usage.    
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
We replaced a fire 
hydrant at W. 
Clackamas and Portland 
Avenue that was 
knocked out by an 
allegedly drunk driver in 
a stolen car. 
 

 

  

6 - 2



3 
 

 

 

SEWER DIVISION discovered a major I & I from our own water main.  We unknowingly had a 

broken water main which was leaking a lot of  water into a broken sewer lateral at 735 E. 

Clarendon.  In conjunction with the E. Clarendon Street business development project, we went 

ahead and abandoned both the water main and the sewer lateral which eliminated a significant 

amount of I & I that was getting into our sewer system.  It bears repeating that leaking water lines 

seeping into our leaking sewer lines creates a double loss to the city in both clean water loss as 

well as the resultant sewage treatment costs.    

  

6 - 3



4 
 

 

 

 

 

 

STORM DIVISION  has been getting 

ahead of the oncoming rainy season by 

getting our storm ditches prepared to 

handle the onslaught of rain that winter 

brings.  We finalized the drainage ditch 

that connects the Olson Wetlands to 

Rinearson Creek.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Northwest Housing Alternatives, 

Clackamas Soil and Water 

Conservation District, and North 

Clackamas Watersheds Council 

worked in partnership with us to 

improve drainage and erosion 

along  Rinearson Creek.   Our 

volunteer partners planted 300 

willow starts to help us establish 

bank stabilization for erosion 

control.   With our continued 

improvements, we anticipate 

another flood free winter here in the 

city.     

6 - 4



5 
 

 

The storm line along Watts Street has been completed.    

 

 

 

STREETS DIVISION 

continues to be busy 

with all the construction 

taking place within the 

city.  These photos are 

from the Civic Center 

project, and illustrate the 

fill and garbage that 

much of the city is built 

upon.  This debris and 

wood, buried long ago, 

will eventually rot and 

cause sink holes and 

road failure if not 

properly removed, and a 

proper road bed 

constructed.  

 Additionally, far too 

much of our roadways in 

the city were constructed 

over dirt with insufficient 

or no roadbed built 

underneath.  The lack of 

a proper roadbed 

foundation leaves the 

pavement with no 

footing for support and it 

will fail much earlier than 

a properly constructed 

street.       

6 - 5



6 
 

 

 

Streets is also monitoring the amount of 

rock excavation associated with the E. 

Clarendon Street CDBG project.  Rock 

excavation is extremely costly, so we are 

tracking what is absolutely necessary for 

the project.  This photo shows street 

inspection along Clarendon when the 

contractor hit solid rock. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Clarendon CDBG project requires 

that we oversee the construction process 

daily.  These photos show a natural gas 

line was that was not installed at proper 

depth and had to be lowered.   

 

    

 

6 - 6



7 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We relocated a radar speed sign to Arlington 

Street and Gloucester at the request of the Traffic 

Safety Committee.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Leaf pickup is in full swing.  

We have the street sweeper 

running full time.  In addition 

to running the sweeper full 

time, leaf pickup also  

requires another two full time 

Utility Workers, plus the 

loader and the dump truck 

running continuously during 

the work day, assigned to 

leaf season until completion 

in December.  This photo 

shows the leaf accumulation 

at the Public Works yard 

within just the first couple of 

hours of the leaf pickup 

season. 

6 - 7



8 
 

In connection with the 

Civic Center project, the 

photo left is an example 

of an issue that arose 

with the construction 

project on Watts Street.  

The contractor installed 

the geotech fabric before 

all the utilities were 

completed, and now we 

must devise a repair plan.  

You can see the portion 

of geotech fabric hanging 

into the trench, that had 

to be cut in order to install 

the new storm and sewer 

laterals and also the 

upcoming  water line 

next.   

 

 

 

Streets continues to work on 

street signage updates and 

corrections.  This photo shows an 

arrow, on which a No Parking sign 

is installed on the reverse.  The 

arrow sign is incorrect in this 

context, and is yet another 

example of our street signage 

being out of compliance.  We have 

been working to bring our street 

signs into conformity with the US 

DOT Federal Highway Control 

Manual on Uniform Traffic Control 

Devices (MUTCD).   

 

 

6 - 8



9 
 

 

 

PARKS DIVISION stays busy with weekly 

maintenance, weatherizing all facilities, the 

ongoing graffiti and vandalism that we 

regularly encounter, and the dumping of home 

trash in our parks.   This photo shows an 

automobile gas tank that was dumped at 

Meldrum Bar Park.   

 

 

 

 

 

Fall maintenance in the 

parks include cleaning up 

the boat dock and 

removing hazardous trees.  

Once again, Public Works 

thanks the Council for 

approving our five year 

equipment replacement 

plan.  Without this new 

equipment, Public Works 

would not have the 

means to perform these 

jobs as efficiently and 

cost effectively as we 

have been able to do.    

 

  

 

 

6 - 9



10 
 

 

 

Parks Division cleaned vegetation from 

our walking paths in our parks and 

greenways.   We have several miles of 

pathways to maintain.  As shown right, 

much of this project is labor intensive 

hand and shovel work.   

Photo below shows the improvement 

once the crew dug out the encroached 

vegetation. The crew deserves a hearty 

“job well done!”  

 

6 - 10



11 
 

 

 

Parks also cleaned the leaves from the pathways.  Photos below are before and after in various 

places at Meldrum Bar Park.  

 

 

   

 

 

6 - 11



12 
 

 

We  assisted with the 

FOGNAP cleanup at 

the Nature Park.  

This is another 

example of how we 

are putting our 

updated fleet to good 

use in the 

community. 

 

 

 

 

And, welcome to the world of Parks maintenance.  

Sadly, our Parks Division deals with such issues on a 

regular basis.   The picture speaks for itself, and we 

apologize for the indelicate photo, but feel it’s 

important for the public and the council to understand 

the issues that face us in the Parks.  This photo is 

actually one of the less disturbing that we felt we could 

share.         

 

 

 

 

 

 

FACILITIES AND FLEETS DIVISION is in market research for the Senior Center exterior repairs 

and paint project in preparation for soliciting quotes.    

 

 

6 - 12



13 
 

 

Fleet sold two trucks on GovDeals auction, 

the 1991 Dodge pickup and the 1994 

Chevrolet pickup. 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Once again, Public Works brought out our Spider Maze Cave for the annual Halloween festival 

along Portland Avenue.  We gave out 50 pounds of candy, and provided another year of our safe 

and spooky-fun attraction for this lively community event.  We did have one individual who entered 

our attraction and refused to leave, which required police assistance to escort him out.   

  

ADMINISTRATION continues to juggle multiple projects including: 

• Working with WES to update our IGA   

• Administering multiple contracts. 

• Registering the City in the federal System for Awards Management in preparation to 
receive federal funding for the ODFW grant, as well as to position us for any other 
potential federal funding opportunities that may arise.  

• Ongoing discourse with OSMB and Division of State Lands on the Meldrum Bar dredging 
grant, as well as working with Ross Island Dredging.  

• Administering the ODFW  portion of the Meldrum Bar dredging grant  

  

6 - 13



14 
 

• Ongoing Civic Center progress.  This includes daily onsite problem solving, inspections 
and unforeseen issues with the plans, and finalizing private property boundaries with 
Watts Street right of way, and issues associated with the overburden from the 
construction site.   

• Oak Lodge Water Services IGA 

• Monitor progress on DEQ MAO requirements 

• Trolley Trail Feasibility Study 

• Evaluating details of pay station at Meldrum Bar Park.   

• Working with Clackamas County Planning and Development to clarify and create process 
for private development projects.  

• Calculating SDCs for private development, which requires plan reviews.  

• Working with Clackamas County on private development. 

• Assisting Utility Billing in updating and correcting long standing billing discrepancies.  

• Compiling the NPDES Annual Report for the last water year for DEQ requirements.  

• Continuing to collect information on our water loss report, as require by the State.  

• Compiling market research data in preparation to solicit quotes for the exterior repairs and 
painting of the Gladstone Senior Center.    

                           

         
 We in America do not have government by the majority.                                                                                

We have government by the majority who participate. 
                                       ….   Attributed to Thomas Jefferson     

6 - 14



Gladstone Fire Department 
Monthly Report: October 2019 

 
 

 

Report Date:  November 5th, 2019 
To: City Administrator Jacque Betz  
Cc: City Council 
From: Fire Chief Rick Huffman 
 
 
October was another busy month for your Fire Department. Here is a snapshot of emergency 
responses this past month: 

 
Note: The response numbers vary slightly from station records and the data parameters are being adjusted.  

 
 

The following is a detailed breakdown of the call types (data provided by C-COM): 
 

Gladstone Fire Department - Emergency Responses for October, 2019. 

CALL TYPE CALL COUNT 

Fire & Hazmat Responses 

ALFC - COMMERCIAL FIRE ALAR 10 7.19% 

ALFR - RESIDENTIAL ALARM 2 1.44% 

BURN - ILLEGAL BURN 1 0.72% 

INFF - INFORMATION FIRE 1 0.72% 

MISCELLANEOUS - FIRE 2 1.44% 

MISCN - MISC NON FIRE 2 1.44% 

NGAS - NATURAL GAS LEAK 1 0.72% 

Rescue Responses 

HRU - HIT AND RUN UNK INJ 3 2.16% 

TAI - TRAFFIC ACCIDENT INJURY 1 0.72% 

TAU - TRAFFIC ACCIDENT UNK INJ 3 2.16% 

TRAFFIC/TRANSP INC BRAVO 1 0.72% 

TRAFFIC/TRANSP INC DELTA 1 0.72% 

6 - 15



EMS Responses 

ABDOMINAL PAIN ALPHA 3 2.16% 

ABDOMINAL PAIN CHARLIE 2 1.44% 

AMB1 - MEDICAL TRANSPORT CODE 5 3.60% 

BREATHING PROBLEMS CHARLIE 4 2.88% 

BREATHING PROBLEMS DELTA 9 6.47% 

CARDIAC/RESP ARREST BRAVO 1 0.72% 

CARDIAC/RESP ARREST ECHO 1 0.72% 

CHEST PAIN CHARLIE 2 1.44% 

CHEST PAIN DELTA 4 2.88% 

CONVULSIONS/SEIZURES DELTA 4 2.88% 

CPR - CARDIAC ARREST 1 0.72% 

DIABETIC PROBLEMS CHARLIE 6 4.32% 

DIABETIC PROBLEMS DELTA 1 0.72% 

FALLS ALPHA 9 6.47% 

FALLS BRAVO 9 6.47% 

FALLS DELTA 3 2.16% 

HEART PROBLEMS/AICD CHARLIE 1 0.72% 

HEART PROBLEMS/AICD DELTA 1 0.72% 

HEMORRHAGE/LACERATION BRAVO 1 0.72% 

HEMORRHAGE/LACERATION DELTA 1 0.72% 

OVERDOSE/POISONING DELTA 1 0.72% 

PA - PUBLIC ASSIST 3 2.16% 

SICK PERSON ALPHA 9 6.47% 

SICK PERSON BRAVO 2 1.44% 

SICK PERSON CHARLIE 7 5.04% 

SICK PERSON DELTA 4 2.88% 

STAB/GUNSHOT/PEN TRAUMA DELTA 1 0.72% 

STROKE/TIA CHARLIE 3 2.16% 

SUA - SUICIDE ATTEMPT 3 2.16% 

TRAUMATIC INJURIES ALPHA 1 0.72% 

TRAUMATIC INJURIES BRAVO 2 1.44% 

UNCONSCIOUS/FAINTING DELTA 3 2.16% 

UNKNOWN PROBLEM BRAVO 4 2.88% 

TOTAL 139 100.00% 

Start Time End Time 

2019-10-01 00:00:00 2019-10-31 23:59:59 

  
 
The 911 center (C-COM) categorizes each 911 call by interviewing the caller and determining the 
best response from pre-established response plans provided by each fire department. 911 
dispatchers also provide important information to the caller that may help them provide lifesaving 
care before professional responders arrive.  
 

6 - 16



 
The C-COM dispatch center also provides vital communication to responding crews by transmitting 
key information to the onboard computer and by radio. There are many communication topics that 
are important to safe and efficient fire department operations, this was why it was one of the 
topics of our new quarterly command training I initiated in October.   
 
Quarterly Command Training are formal training sessions to provide continuing education on 
command procedures and policies. I also present simulations and after action reports on recent 
responses in or around Gladstone. National reports on significant emergencies that resulted in 
firefighter fatalities are also shared. C-COM supervisors were our guest speakers and provided 
excellent information on the processes that affect us when we are responding and working at 
emergency scenes. This first command training session was a success and will continue. 
 
As always, I am available to discuss any aspect of emergency response with you. 
 
Rick Huffman, Fire Chief 
 
The following are reports from your Fire Department Command Staff: 
 

Michael Funk, Asst. Chief/Fire Marshal 
 
 

Construction, Review and Business Inspections 

 Completed code inspections, including access and water supply requirements 
for construction projects. 

 Business re-inspection completed and review of change of occupancy request 
done. 

 Completed and delivered a Residential Fire Safety Survey to two Gladstone residents.  
 

 Education events –  

 GFD personnel gave a fire safety talk at Rivergate School to a church group Oct. 
5th. Provided education to over 20 kids and their parents. Safety talk and fire 
engine tours were a hit with the whole group. 

 GFD crews hosted two pre-school classes for station and engine tours in 
October.  

 GFD personnel hosted a community open house at the station on Halloween for 
Gladstone residents. Stickers, bookmarks, fire safety tips, engine tours and of 
course, lots of candy to those dressed in costumes from 4-8 pm. Staff estimates 
contact with more than 700 children, as 
well as the equivalent number of parents.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

6 - 17



 
School district-  

 Provide fire extinguisher inspection guidance for janitorial staff. 

 Met with a few students regarding spirit week decorations. Provided 
coordination for teachers with a document outlining fire code requirements 
for displays. 

 

Meetings-  

 Met with Chief Huffman and OSFM to meet the new State Fire Marshal rep. Shawn 
Anderson that serves our area. 

 Attend Wildland/Urban Interface meeting at Sta. #305, hosted by OSFM office. 

 Attend City Staff meeting representing the FD in Chief Huffman’s absence. 
 

Miscellaneous:  

 Worked with IT dept. to bring our MDC laptops up to Window 10 -CJIS 
compliant. 

 Attended a code update class at DPSST in Salem. 
 

Deputy Chief Hopperstad 
 
Radio’s and Pagers: 
We had our radio install contractor install 2 new antennas on T-392 for the new radio and 
GPS capability to go into service when the switch is made. 
 
Repairs: There was an issue with the transmission on our utility pickup and stranded a couple 
of firefighters on the park place overpass. I had it towed to Clackamas fleet and it was 
diagnosed as needing a new transmission which was replaced and all is well. E 393 had a 
generator issue of shutting off during use and it was found to be overheating due to a 
plugged up radiator on the generator. R&R radiator and had it cleaned and all is now working 
well.  
   
Meetings: Attended CFIT meeting in Lake Oswego. Attended monthly Command staff 
meeting in City hall conference room. Met with Hughes Fire and discussed components for a 
new engine.  
 
Building Maintenance:  Discovered a small pin hole leak upstairs on the waterline for the ice 
maker in the kitchen and it appears it has been leaking for some time undetected. The leak 
was repaired and facilities is getting quotes for some minor sheetrock repair. We had a door 
closer replaced on the front entry door due to a leak and being old.  
 
Logistics: Completed the fence project at the Meldrum Training Facility. Re-contacted 
Overhead door co. to find out where our door parts are for Engine 391 bay and found that 
the manufacture did not get the correct parts made so they are now in production. Ordered 
some boots for our recruits to wear while training and other events. 
 
 
 

6 - 18



Captain Tighe Vroman 
Training and EMS Officer 
 
Training continues for the new on-call firefighter recruits and additional candidates are in the 
recruitment process. When the current recruits complete their initial training we may have 
another group of on-call firefighters ready to be hired in 2020. 
 
Firefighter survival training was delivered in October for additional 
practice with our new self-contained breathing apparatus (SCBA) 
equipment. Being able to perform escape maneuvers while 
entangled in collapsed debris is one of the evolutions.  

 
Training was also delivered at our 
training site at Meldrum Park to 
review national best practices 
developed by the UL Firefighter 
Safety Research Institute. These 
tactics focused on the flow of air 
and smoke and how controlling 
building doors can effect fire growth and our ability to extinguish 
the fire. 
 
Our Physician adviser (Dr. Marc Houston) delivered his monthly 
medical in-service training on airway anatomy, adjuncts and 
related respiratory disorders in October. Gladstone Fire EMT’s 

received an excellent class and sharpened their medical skills. 

  
Captain Patrick Brost 
A - Shift Operations 
 
A-Shift responded to 43 calls during October. Thank you all for your continued commitment to 
the department and the community. 
 
I modified the “rules” for how shifts are assigned in October based on some lessons learned in 
September. I will be making a recommendation early next month to Chief Huffman for an online 
scheduling application to try. 
 
 
Four of A-shifts calls this month were at John Wetten Elementary School. Three of these were 
false alarms for an accidental detector activation in the HVAC system. FM Funk is working with 
the school to correct this. 
 
We also responded to two false alarms to an adult day care facility. These were related to pest-
control activities happening on site. 

6 - 19



 
Out of two MVA’s during the month, one was a hit and run that 
happened at an intersection with several social events happening at the 
time. This lead to a large number of citizens watching the incident. 
Gladstone Fire and Gladstone PD worked together to secure the scene 
and remove hazards from people and the environment. GFD 
represented itself well in front of this group. 
 
October training was centered around airway management, hydrants, and trying to help our 
next generation of A/O’s and engineers meet their goals. I personally began course work for the 
Metro Fire Officer’s Academy, which I will be attending in November. 
 
 
Notable Events 
 
A-shift had a very difficult call this month for several GFD members and other responding 
emergency personnel. This created some disruption in schedules, and a couple of hard weeks for 
some individuals. Thank you to all of you who reached out to those of us affected this month. 
The peer support network was activated, as well as our access to chaplains.  
 
It is important we support each other and grow from every experience, and this call highlighted 
that necessity as well as our capabilities to be supportive as a work unit, an employer, and as a 
family.  Again, thank you to everyone for all you do. Some of it may be more important than you 
know. 

  
 
 
 
 
 

Fire Chief’s note: Emergencies that result in critical injury or death can be very difficult experiences. 
Being trained to perform technical firefighting and rescue skills or provide emergency medicine is 
challenging in “normal” environments. Performing under extreme stress is even more challenging. 
Quality training along with the physical and mental health of every firefighter is a priority for me. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 - 20



 

Captain Kirk Stempel 
B - Shift Operations 
 
SPECIAL OPERATIONS / TECH RESCUE  
 
The month of October B Shift spent considerable time fine tuning rope 
skills. One of the skills we worked on was building and utilizing low angle 
rope systems. Even though this is a non-technician level skill, it is one 
that can be used on numerous occasions.  For instance, when you need 
to haul a patient up a slight incline. This form of rope system is the most 
widely used within the fire service. Department wide, we spent a 
Wednesday drill performing the setup and use of this system. 
 

OTHER ITEMS OF INTEREST 
 
The month of October was a special 
month for us up at the Gladstone High 
School. It is when we teach Hands Only CPR to all of the seniors. Even 
though it is a high school requirement for graduation, it has become a very 
valuable tool for these students to have. Not only was I excited to be 
teaching, but the students were also excited to learn a skill that they could 
possibly use to save a life. 
 

 

This past month, B Shift was involved with teaching a portion of 

the recruit academy, assisting them with hose line deployment 

and usage. This is a skill that is the “bread and butter” of the fire 

service, and not only did they have a good time, but it is always 

nice to improve on this skill. The recruits found out that moving 

a charged hoseline can be a bit tricky at times. 

 
SIGNIFICANT CALLS 
 
October had its tragedies. We responded on an infant cardiac arrest. Every crew member performed to the 
highest professional level possible. Even with the best equipment, and the highly trained professionals, 
sometimes the result turns out to be the one that no one is prepared for. With this outcome, all the resonders 
were reminded that not only do we need to care for our patients, but we need to care for ourselves. This 
type of call is traumatic not only to the families, but everyone involved. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 - 21



Captain Richard Newton 
C - Shift Operations 
 
It has been a busy month here at Gladstone Fire Department 

(GFD) there were 143 calls 

for the month.  On C-shift 

we assisted with the 

academy and instructed a 

section of it.  On October 

31st, 2019 several hundred 

Halloween trick-or-treaters 

stopped by the fire station.   

  

Projects: 

Pre-incident plans: 

The Pre-fire plan project is an ongoing project, with about 62% of the business done.  Currently 

there’s 373 Pre-plans in the system.  With every FLP plan there’s a drawing that has been sent to 

CCOM.  CCOM attaches the drawings to the address and this information can be retrieved by the 

Captain while on the emergency scene.   

Operation: 

GFD is currently has an apparatus committee working on a new fire engine to rotate into our fleet 

as our reserve fire engine is approaching the end of its life span.  Chief Huffman will be presenting 

at the December 10th City council. 

Call: 

On Monday October 7th, 2019 GFD responded on a C-STAT positive Stroke. 

### 

6 - 22



GLADSTONE PUBLIC LIBRARY DIRECTOR’S REPORT   
October 2019 

 

People Counter: 5311.5 
 
Social Media: 

 Facebook followers: 683 

 Twitter followers: 210 

 Instagram followers: 965 
 
Volunteer hours: 121.75 
 
 
 

Library Statistics: October 1 - 31, 2019 
 

 

New Library 
Cards 

Registered 
Borrowers 

Items 
Owned 

Total 
Circulations 

Self-check 
outs 

Holds 
Placed 

Internet 
Sessions 

40 4,933 45,890 15,359 5,885 3,776 833 
 

 
 

 

1
6

,3
2

4

1
6

,4
7

4

1
6

,3
7

9

1
7

,4
2

6

1
5

,9
4

3

1
5

,3
0

8

1
5

,3
5

9

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

Circulations

Circulations Self Check-Out

4861 4950 4875 4933

4079

5311.5

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

May June July August September October

People Counter*

 

Reference 
Questions:  

 
207 

 
Technology 
Questions:  

 
159 

 
 

257 244
289

246 237
207

158 137 154 163 167 159

0

100

200

300

400

May June July August September October

Reference Questions

Reference Technology

*It should be noted that the 
people counter does not 
currently capture attendees to 
storytimes, since they occur 
before the Library is open, and 
enter through the staff door 

6 - 23



GLADSTONE PUBLIC LIBRARY DIRECTOR’S REPORT   
October 2019 

 

Updates: 
 

 With all of our fun events in October, the Library experienced a 30% increase in patronage! 
 Our Harvest Festival and Trick-Or-Treat night was a huge success! Many adorable kids participated 

in our costume contest.  On Halloween, the Library Foundation gave away over 600 books! 
 November is NaNoWriMo (National Novel Writing Month).  Every week space is reserved for all 

community members participating in NaNoWriMo.  Prompts, icebreakers, tips, snacks and 
conversation are always provided! 

 We are looking forward to November’s craft project! On Monday, November 4th, master quiller 
Heidi Bishop will be coming from 2:00-5:00 PM to help our patrons make a beautiful fall card 
decorated with paper quilling.   
 
 

 

 

 

6 - 24



 

 GLADSTONE MUNICIPAL COURT OCTOBER 2019 
 

General Court Information for October 2019 

 101 violation filed 
 14-violations closed 
 11 misdemeanors filed 
 4 misdemeanors closed 
 2 violations were dismissed through the fixit program 
 86 cases were placed on a payment plan 
 15 warrants were issued 
 14 overdue payment letters were mailed 
 757 driver’s licenses were requested suspended  
 46 cases were sent to collections 
 0 cases sent to Department of Revenue 
 0 Jury trial was held  
 $13,528.00 in violation fees assessed 
 $19,153.57 in violation fees paid 
 $9,066.34 in misdemeanor fees assessed 
 $7,588.17 in misdemeanor fees paid 
 $7283.63 was collected by collection agency 
 393 charges were administratively written off as they are over 20 years old.  

 

 Viol. Filed Viol. Disposed Misd. Filed Misd. Disposed Parking filed 
Jan. 2018 116 187 31 34 10 
Jan. 2019 122 174 19 17 4 
Feb. 2018 255 206 19 14 5 
Feb. 2019 151 133 17 9 2 
Mar. 2018 218 178 8 14 11 
Mar. 2019 78 95 17 17 5 
Apr. 2018 227 113 14 3 3 
Apr. 2019 66 71 20 6 6 
May. 2018 174 30 8 11 6 
May. 2019 58 37 19 13 2 
Jun. 2018 133 184 23 14 2 
Jun. 2019 64 35 18 2 1 
Jul. 2018 168 93 17 6 14 
Jul. 2019 103 76 16 10 7 

Aug. 2018 88 156 15 5 6 
Aug. 2019 63 52 19 13 8 
Sept. 2018 170 44 17 8 4 
Sept. 2019 69 60 11 16 3 
Oct. 2018 109 57 11 3 4 
Oct, 2019 101 44 11 15 9 
Nov. 2018 55 90 14 8 4 
Dec. 2018 176 57 32 2 2 

 

6 - 25



 

 GLADSTONE MUNICIPAL COURT OCTOBER 2019 
 

 

 Viol. Fee assessed Viol. Fees Paid Misd. Fine Assessed Misd. Fees Paid 
Jan. 2018 $  82,695.26 $    31,475.75 $  41,340.50 $          11,583.12 
Jan. 2019 $  62,173.00 $    28,973.67 $  16,748.50 $          10,315.17 
Feb. 2018 $  84,425.75 $    28,879.41 $  20,820.00 $          10,649.57 
Feb. 2019 $  33,666.05 $    24,608.32 $  10,875.25 $            9,955.57 
Mar. 2018 $  36,815.08 $    42,146.18 $  14,588.00 $            9,977.53 
Mar. 2019 $  22,064.00 $    20,162.83 $  28,158.17 $            9,856.19 
Apr. 2018 $  44,254.00 $    39,299.22 $  10,547.00 $            8,528.31 
Apr. 2019 $  16,306.00 $    30,546.05 $    7,019.95 $            8,667.79 
May. 2018 $  38,926.00 $    34,218.09 $  11,427.50 $          13,873.70 
May. 2019 $  32,791.91 $    19,997.76 $    6,620.32 $            7,002.92 
Jun. 2018 $  50,968.00 $    38,467.85 $  13,796.00 $          12,249.84 
Jun. 2019 $  18,497.75 $    18,540.84 $    5,178.05 $          12,325.76 
Jul. 2019 $  18,739.12 $    19,663.75 $  11,949.16 $            6,553.99 

Aug. 2018 $  45,548.00 $    33,676.39 $  11,334.67 $          14,979.08 
Aug. 2019 $  10,945.79 $    14,700.39 $    8,637.73 $            5,527.01 
Sept. 2018 $  20,374.00 $    26,286.79 $    4,206.75 $          10,884.78 
Sept. 2019 $  14,670.00 $    14,280.38 $  11,491.97 $          10,621.29 
Oct. 2018 $  31,177.00 $    26,884.79 $    3,424.00 $          13,550.47 
Oct. 2019 $  13,528.00 $    19,153.57 $    9,066.34 $            7,588.17 
Nov. 2018 $  36,566.53 $    24,234.34 $    4,728.25 $          14,619.54 
Dec. 2018 $  21,961.50 $    20,534.13 $        446.00 $            4,765.81 

 

6 - 26



1 | P a g e  
 

Gladstone Senior Center 

Monthly Report 

October 2019 

 

Report Date:  November 4, 2019 

To:  City Administrator, Jacque Betz 

From:  Senior Center Manager, Colin Black 

The Senior Center had a wonderful October. We ended on a very positive note for September 
due to our 50th Wedding Anniversary luncheon. Again, thank you to those that participated. 
Business continues as normal at the Center. Gladstone Community School classes continue and 
will do so into the end of November.  

Our lunches continue to see a small increase with their current levels. Our patrons are very 
happy to have the soup back again! As a reminder, the public is welcome, regardless of age, to 
enjoy lunch with us Tuesday through Thursday starting at 11:45 am. We are seeing more people 
from outside of Gladstone participating in our lunch program, which is positive. This shift brings 
more exposure to the Senior Center and of course revenue increases as we see more 
participants. Additionally, it shows the work of Senior Center staff on outreach is working.  

This month we also worked with Clackamas County Sustainability & Solid Waste department on 
the Food Scraps program. Senior Center staff spent a day working with County advisors on how 
we operate currently and what the Food Scraps program will mean for the Senior Center. As we 
are not a meal production site, the Senior Center is in a grey area regarding this program and 
its’ applicability to us. Regardless of program applicability, the Senior Center will undertake 
every effort to work in good faith with the core elements of the program.  

As mentioned in the weekly report by CA Betz, the Gladstone Senior Center is entering into an 
agreement with Clackamas County to reinstate the Senior Companion Program. In this 
program, senior citizens residing in Clackamas County can request a senior companion. This is 
not a care-giving position. The companion provides transportation for personal appointments, 
goes to lunches, or simply just visits for a minimum of 5 hours each week. In this unique 
program, those seniors that are serving as the companion can receive a small hourly stipend 
and mileage reimbursement for work performed under the guidelines of the program. This 
income is non-taxable and will not interfere with other received benefits such as SNAP or 
Section 8 Housing Assistance. There will be no financial impact for the City under this program. 
Please feel free to contact me for more information on this program.  

 

6 - 27



2 | P a g e  
 

  

As the leaves fell this October, your Senior Center staff: 

 On 10/1, SCM Black attended the Tipping Point seminar at PDX. 
 In coordination with our Fire and Police Chief’s, facilitated the Internal City Staff EM 

tabletop exercise held at the Senior Center on 10/2. 
 SCM Black attended the Quarterly Contractors meeting on 10/15 at the Molalla 

Community Center.  
 10/16, SCM Black participated in webcast training on Eviction Defense 2.0: Challenging 

Issues Facing Older Tenants At Risk of Eviction, put on by hhs.gov. This is an issue we are 
hearing about more and more in Gladstone and the surrounding area. 

 On 10/17, Senior Center staff worked with Clackamas County Sustainability & Waste 
staff.  

 On 10/21, SCM Black met with Clackamas County Social Services dept. to discuss the 
reinstatement of the Senior Companion program in Gladstone.  

 On 10/23, Nutrition Coordinator Debbie Ferren participated in the quarterly menu 
planning conference call.  

 The Senior Center hosted an Estate Planning seminar on 10/23, presented by our pro-
bono Elder Law attorney Michael Rose. There will be another presentation from our 
pro-bono attorney on Medicare planning this Wednesday, 11/6. 

 Additionally, on 10/29, the Senior Center hosted Clackamas County Tax Assessors 
annual Town Hall. This year, we had more participants than in the last 4 years 
combined. On this note, the topic of discussion for the attendees was the Bond concern 
that the North Clackamas School District is proposing. There was no mention of 
Gladstone during this Town Hall.  

 10/30, SCM Black attended a Point of Distribution (P.O.D.) training focusing on medical 
countermeasures. If you are not aware, the Senior Center is a P.O.D. in Clackamas 
County for medical counter measures. For more information on this, please feel free to 
contact me at any time.  

 10/31- Halloween Spooktacular!!!! A great time had by all!  

As always, your Senior Center staff look forward to working with you in making Gladstone even 
better. If you have any questions or concerns, please feel free to contact us at any time.  

Respectfully,  

Colin Black 

Senior Center Manager 

 

6 - 28



 

City of Gladstone Monthly Report|October 2019 

PUBLIC CONTACTS/PLANNING ACTIONS 

CUSTOMER CONTACT/ 
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct 

YEAR 
TOTALS Planning Actions 

Customer Service 
Counter Contacts 

8 4 5 10 6 17 15 7 4 4 80 

Customer phone/email 
48 42 35 45 52 73 68 56 62 68 547 

contacts 

Building Permits with 
Land Use Review 

0 1 1 1 0 4 3 3 0 10 23 

Pre-application 
conferences 

3 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 

Administrative 
Decisions 

0 0 1 3 4 2 0 1 1  3 15 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION ACTIONS/DECISIONS 

 Z0044-19 – CARZ PLANET DESIGN REVIEW. APPROVED WITH CONDITIONS. 

CITY COUNCIL LAND USE ACTIONS/DECISIONS 

 NONE 

PRE-APPLICATION CONFERENCES 

 NONE 

ADMINISTRATIVE PERMITS 

 Approval of sign permit associated with Z0401-19; Hyundai. 

 Approval of Land Use Compatibility Statement associated with ZINFO0197-19; Harley Davidson. 

 Approval of Land Use Compatibility Statement associated with ZINFO0240-19; JCCD 

Gladstone LLC. 

 

 

6 - 29



Page 2 

BUILDING PERMITS WITH LAND USE REVIEW 

OCTOBER 

Date Address Building Permit # Description 

10/8/2019 7660 Cason Ln B0529619 Replace Existing Deck 

10/10/2019 6285 Caldwell Rd 
B0535319 
B0535219 
B0535419 

Tenant Improvements 

10/11/2019 12748 SE 23rd Ave B0538619 
New Single Family 
Residence 

10/18/2019 200 W. Jersey St B0552819 
New Single Family 
Residence 

10/24/2019 
18905 Portland 
Ave 

B0440319 Tenant Improvement 

10/28/2019 165 E. Exeter St B0193219 Triplex 

10/29/2019 810 E Arlington B0544019 Sign Replacement 

 

FUTURE ITEMS/PROPERTY UPDATES 

Location Topic Contact 

420 West Arlington. Proposed new commercial building on current 

vacant lot. Public Hearing Scheduled for November.  

Richard Barbis Architect 

 

6 - 30



6 - 31



6 - 32



6 - 33



6 - 34



6 - 35



6 - 36



6 - 37



6 - 38



6 - 39



6 - 40



6 - 41



6 - 42



6 - 43



6 - 44



6 - 45



6 - 46



6 - 47





7



7 - 1



7 - 2



RESOLUTION # 1167 
 

A Resolution Adopting the City of Gladstone Representation in the Updates to 
the Clackamas County Multi-Jurisdictional Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan 

 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Gladstone recognizes the threat that natural hazards pose to 

people, property and infrastructure within our community; and 
 
WHEREAS, undertaking hazard mitigation actions will reduce the potential for harm to 

people, property and infrastructure from future hazard occurrences; and 
 
WHEREAS, an adopted Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan is required as a condition of 

future funding for mitigation projects under multiple FEMA pre- and post-
disaster mitigation grant programs; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Gladstone has fully participated in the FEMA prescribed 

mitigation planning process to prepare the Clackamas County, Multi-
Jurisdictional Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan, which has established a 
comprehensive, coordinated planning process to eliminate or minimize 
these vulnerabilities; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Gladstone has identified natural hazard risks and prioritized a 

number of proposed actions and programs needed to mitigate the 
vulnerabilities of the City of Gladstone to the impacts of future disasters 
within the Clackamas County, Multi-Jurisdictional Natural Hazard 
Mitigation Plan; and  

 
WHEREAS, these proposed projects and programs have been incorporated into the 

Clackamas County, Multi-Jurisdictional Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan 
that has been prepared and promulgated for consideration and 
implementation by the cities of Clackamas County; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Oregon Office of Emergency Management and Federal Emergency 

Management Agency, Region X officials have reviewed the City of 
Gladstone addendum to the Clackamas County Multi-Jurisdictional 
Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan and pre-approved it (dated, October 3, 
2019) contingent upon this official adoption of the participating 
governments and entities; 

 
WHEREAS, the NHMP is comprised of comprised of three volumes: Volume I: Basic 

Plan, Volume II: Jurisdictional Addenda, and Volume III: Appendices, 
collectively referred to herein as the NHMP; and 

 
WHEREAS, the NHMP is in an on-going cycle of development and revision to improve 

it’s effectiveness; and  

7 - 3



 
WHEREAS, City of Gladstone adopts the NHMP and directs the City Administrator to 

develop, approve, and implement the mitigation strategies and any 
administrative changes to the NHMP. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Gladstone adopts the 
Clackamas County Multi-Jurisdictional Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan as an official 
plan; and 
 
BE IT FUTURE RESOLVED, that the City of Gladstone will submit this Adoption 
Resolution to the Oregon Office of Emergency Management and Federal Emergency 
Management Agency, Region X officials to enable final approval of the Clackamas County 
Multi-Jurisdictional Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan. 
 
This Resolution is adopted by the Gladstone City Council and approved by the Mayor this 
________ day of __________, 2019. 
 
   
       ATTEST: 

 
 

_______________________________          ______________________________ 
Tamara Stempel, Mayor    Tami Bannick, City Recorder 
 
 

7 - 4



 

Ity of   

City of Gladstone Addendum to the 

Clackamas County Multi-Jurisdictional  

 Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 

 

 

March 2019 Volume II: Gladstone Addendum 

Prepared for: 

City of Gladstone 
 

Prepared by: 

University of Oregon 
Institute for Policy Research and Engagement 

Oregon Partnership for Disaster Resilience 

Photo Credit: City of Gladstone 

 

7 - 5



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planning grant funding provided by: 

 

Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA)  
Pre-Disaster Mitigation Program 

Grant: EMS-2017-PC-0005  
Sub-grant Application Reference: PDMC-PL-10-OR-2016-001, and 

Additional Support Provided by: 

 

 

  

 

 

 

This material is a result of tax-supported research and, as such, is not copyrightable.  
It may be freely reprinted with the customary crediting of the source. 

 

 

7 - 6



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

Purpose, Mission, and Goals ............................................................................. GA-1 

NHMP Process, Participation, and Adoption ...................................................... GA-3 

NHMP Implementation and Maintenance ......................................................... GA-4 

Mitigation Strategy ........................................................................................... GA-7 

Risk Assessment 

Hazard Analysis ........................................................................................ GA-11 

Community Characteristics ....................................................................... GA-13 

Community Assets.................................................................................... GA-15 

Hazard Characteristics 

Drought ................................................................................................... GA-21 

Earthquake .............................................................................................. GA-21 

Flood ....................................................................................................... GA-28 

Landslide .................................................................................................. GA-31 

Severe Weather (Extreme Heat, Windstorm, Winter Storm) ..................... GA-33 

Volcanic Event .......................................................................................... GA-35 

Wildfire .................................................................................................... GA-35 

 

Attachment A: Action Items ............................................................................ GA-39 

Attachment B: Public Involvement Summary ................................................... GA-57 

 

 

  

7 - 7



This page intentionally left blank. 

7 - 8



Clackamas County NHMP March 2019  Page GA-1 

Purpose 

This is an update of the Gladstone addendum to the Clackamas County Multi-Jurisdictional 
Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan (NHMP). This addendum supplements information contained 
in Volume I (Basic Plan) which serves as the NHMP foundation and Volume III (Appendices) 
which provide additional information. This addendum meets the following requirements:  

• Multi-Jurisdictional Plan Adoption §201.6(c)(5),  

• Multi-Jurisdictional Participation §201.6(a)(3),  

• Multi-Jurisdictional Mitigation Strategy §201.6(c)(3)(iv) and  

• Multi-Jurisdictional Risk Assessment §201.6(c)(2)(iii). 

Updates to Gladstone’s addendum are further discussed throughout the NHMP and within 
Volume III, Appendix B, which provides an overview of alterations to the document that 
took place during the update process.  

Gladstone adopted their addendum to the Clackamas County Multi-jurisdictional NHMP on 
[Month] [Day]. 2019. FEMA Region X approved the Clackamas County NHMP on April 12, 
2019 and the City’s addendum on [Month] [Day], 2019. With approval of this NHMP the 
City is now eligible to apply for the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency 
Assistance Act’s hazard mitigation project grants through April 11, 2024.  

Mitigation Plan Mission 

The NHMP mission states the purpose and defines the primary functions of the NHMP. It is 
intended to be adaptable to any future changes made to the NHMP and need not change 
unless the community’s environment or priorities change.  

The City concurs with the mission statement developed during the Clackamas County 
planning process (Volume I, Section 3): 

Promote sound public policy designed to protect citizens, critical facilities, 

infrastructure, private property, and the environment from natural hazards. 

This can be achieved by increasing public awareness, documenting the resources for risk 
reduction and loss-prevention, and identifying activities to guide the county towards 
building a safer, more sustainable community. 

Mitigation Plan Goals 

Mitigation plan goals are more specific statements of direction that Clackamas County 
citizens and public and private partners can take while working to reduce the City’s risk from 
natural hazards. These statements of direction form a bridge between the broad mission 
statement and action items. The goals listed here serve as checkpoints as agencies and 
organizations begin implementing mitigation action items. 

The City concurs with the goals developed during the Clackamas County planning process 
(Volume I, Section 3). All NHMP goals are important and are listed below in no order of 
priority. Establishing community priorities within action items neither negates nor 
eliminates any goals, but it establishes which action items to consider implementing first, 
should funding become available.  

7 - 9



Page GA-2 March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

Below is a list of the NHMP goals: 

GOAL #1: PROTECT LIFE AND PROPERTY 

• Implement activities that assist in protecting lives by making homes, businesses, 
infrastructure, critical facilities, and other property more resistant to natural 
hazards. 

• Reduce losses and repetitive damages for chronic hazard events while promoting 
insurance coverage for catastrophic hazards. 

• Improve hazard assessment information to make recommendations for discouraging 
new development and encouraging preventative measures for existing development 
in areas vulnerable to natural hazards.  

GOAL #2: ENHANCE NATURAL SYSTEMS 

• Balance watershed planning, natural resource management, and land use planning 
with natural hazards mitigation to protect life, property, and the environment. 

• Preserve, rehabilitate, and enhance natural systems to serve natural hazard 
mitigation functions.  

GOAL #3: AUGMENT EMERGENCY SERVICES 

• Establish policy to ensure mitigation projects for critical facilities, services, and 
infrastructure. 

• Strengthen emergency operations by increasing collaboration and coordination 
among public agencies, non-profit organizations, and business, and industry. 

• Coordinate and integrate natural hazards mitigation activities, where appropriate, 
with emergency operations plans and procedures.  

GOAL #4: ENCOURAGE PARTNERSHIPS FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

• Strengthen communication and coordinate participation among and within public 
agencies, citizens, non-profit organizations, business, and industry to gain a vested 
interest in implementation. 

• Encourage leadership within public and private sector organizations to prioritize and 
implement local, county, and regional hazard mitigation activities.  

GOAL #5: PROMOTE PUBLIC AWARENESS 

• Develop and implement education and outreach programs to increase public 
awareness of the risks associated with natural hazards. 

• Provide information on tools, partnership opportunities, and funding resources to 
assist in implementing mitigation activities.  

  

7 - 10



Clackamas County NHMP March 2019  Page GA-3 

NHMP Process, Participation and Adoption 

This section of the NHMP addendum addresses 44 CFR 201.6(c)(5), Plan Adoption, and 44 
CFR 201.6(a)(3), Participation.  

Gladstone first developed an addendum to Clackamas County’s Natural Hazards Mitigation 
Plan in 2003. This plan was updated in 2009, 2012/2013, and in 2018/2019. The most recent 
previous update of the Gladstone addendum to the Clackamas County NHMP was approved 
by FEMA on April 8, 2013.  

In addition to establishing a comprehensive community-level mitigation strategy, the 
Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000 (DMA2K), and the regulations contained in 44 CFR 201, 
require that jurisdictions maintain an approved NHMP to receive federal funds for 
mitigation projects. Local adoption, and federal approval of this NHMP ensures that the city 
will remain eligible for pre-, and post-disaster mitigation project grants. 

The Oregon Partnership for Disaster Resilience (OPDR) at the University of Oregon’s 
Institute for Policy Research, and Engagement (IPRE) collaborated with the Oregon Office of 
Emergency Management (OEM), Clackamas County, and Gladstone to update their NHMP. 
This project is funded through the Federal Emergency Management Agency’s (FEMA) Fiscal-
Year 2016 (FY16) Pre-Disaster Mitigation (PDM) Competitive Grant Program EMS-2017-PC-
0005 (PDMC-PL-10-OR-2016-001). Members of the Gladstone NHMP Hazard Mitigation 
Advisory Committee (HMAC) also participated in the County NHMP update process (Volume 
III, Appendix B). 

The Clackamas County NHMP, and Gladstone addendum, are the result of a collaborative 
effort between citizens, public agencies, non-profit organizations, the private sector, and 
regional organizations. The Gladstone HMAC guided the process of developing the NHMP.  

Convener 

The Gladstone City Administrator serves as the NHMP addendum convener. The convener of 
the NHMP will take the lead in implementing, maintaining and updating the addendum to 
the Clackamas County NHMP in collaboration with the designated convener of the 
Clackamas County NHMP (Clackamas County Resilience Coordinator). 

Representatives from the City of Gladstone HMAC met formally and informally, to discuss 
updates to their addendum (Volume III, Appendix B). The HMAC reviewed and revised the 
City’s addendum, with focus on the NHMP’s risk assessment and mitigation strategy (action 
items).  

This addendum reflects decisions made at the designated meetings and during subsequent 
work and communication with Clackamas County Resilience Coordinator, and the OPDR. The 
changes are highlighted with more detail throughout this document and within Volume III, 
Appendix B. Other documented changes include a revision of the City’s risk assessment and 
hazard identification sections, NHMP mission and goals, action items, and community 
profile.  

The Gladstone HMAC was comprised of the following representatives: 

• Convener, Jacque Betz, City Administrator 

• Colin Black, Senior Center Manager 

7 - 11



Page GA-4 March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

• Jim Whynot, Public Works Director 

• Jeff Smith, Interim Fire Chief 

• Rick Huffman, Fire Chief 

• John Schmerber, Police Chief 

Public participation was achieved with the establishment of the HMAC, which was 
comprised of City officials representing different departments and sectors and members of 
the public. The HMAC served as the local review body for the NHMP’s development. 
Community members were provided an opportunity for comment via the NHMP review 
process, and through a survey administered by Clackamas County (Volume III, Appendix G).  

NHMP Implementation and Maintenance 

The City Council will be responsible for adopting the Gladstone addendum to the Clackamas 
County NHMP. This addendum designates a HMAC and a convener to oversee the 
development and implementation of action items. Because the City addendum is part of the 
County’s multi-jurisdictional NHMP, the City will look for opportunities to partner with the 
County. The City’s HMAC will convene after re-adoption of the Gladstone NHMP addendum 
on an annual schedule. The County is meeting on a semi-annual basis and will provide 
opportunities for the cities to report on NHMP implementation and maintenance during 
their meetings. The City Administrator will serve as the convener and will be responsible for 
assembling the HMAC. The HMAC will be responsible for: 

• Reviewing existing action items to determine suitability of funding;  

• Reviewing existing and new risk assessment data to identify issues that may not 
have been identified at NHMP creation;  

• Educating and training new HMAC members on the NHMP and mitigation actions in 
general; 

• Assisting in the development of funding proposals for priority action items;  

• Discussing methods for continued public involvement; and 

• Documenting successes and lessons learned during the year. 

The convener will also remain active in the County’s implementation and maintenance 
process (Volume I, Section 4). 

The City will utilize the same action item prioritization process as the County (Volume I, 
Section 4). 

Implementation through Existing Programs  

This NHMP is strategic and non-regulatory in nature, meaning that it does not necessarily 
set forth any new policy. It does, however, provide: (1) a foundation for coordination and 
collaboration among agencies and the public in the city; (2) identification and prioritization 
of future mitigation activities; and (3) aid in meeting federal planning requirements and 
qualifying for assistance programs. The mitigation plan works in conjunction with other city 
plans and programs including the Comprehensive Land Use Plan, Capital Improvements 
Plan, and Building Codes, as well as the Clackamas County NHMP, and the State of Oregon 
NHMP.  

The mitigation actions described herein (and in Attachment A) are intended to be 
implemented through existing plans and programs within the city. Plans and policies already 

7 - 12



Clackamas County NHMP March 2019  Page GA-5 

in existence have support from residents, businesses and policy makers. Where possible, 
Gladstone will implement the NHMP’s recommended actions through existing plans and 
policies. Many land-use, comprehensive and strategic plans get updated regularly, allowing 
them to adapt to changing conditions and needs. Implementing the NHMP’s action items 
through such plans and policies increases their likelihood of being supported and 
implemented. Implementation opportunities are further defined in action items when 
applicable.  

Future development without proper planning may result in worsening problems associated 
with natural hazards. Gladstone’s acknowledged comprehensive plan is the City of 
Gladstone Comprehensive Plan (1980, updated September 2014). The Oregon Land 
Conservation and Development Commission first acknowledged the plan in 1980. The City 
implements the plan through the Development Code. 

Gladstone currently has the following plans, regulations, and projects that relate to natural 
hazard mitigation. For a complete list visit the City’s website: 

• Comprehensive Plan  

• Zoning Map 

• Municipal Code 
▪ Chapter 08.04 Nuisances  
▪ Chapter 13.05 Water Supply Cross Connections 
▪ Chapter 13.14 Industrial Waste Requirements 
▪ Chapter 15.06 Earthwork and Erosion Control Standards 
▪ Chapter 17.25 HCAD-Habitat Conservation Area District 
▪ Chapter 17.27 WQ-Water Quality Resource Area District 
▪ Chapter 17.29 FM-Flood Management Area District 
▪ Chapter 17.56 Drainage 
▪ Chapter 17.57 Flood Hazard Regulations*  

• Transportation Systems Plan  

• Water System Master Plan 

• Stormwater Master Plan 

• Sanitary Sewer Master Plan 

• Parks Master Plan  

• Gladstone Projects 

• Capital Improvement Program 

• Emergency Management Page 

Other plans: 

• Clackamas County Community Wildfire Protection Plan 
o Gladstone Fire Department 

Government Structure 

The City of Gladstone has a council-mayoral form of government. The City Council consists 
of seven members; a mayor and six councilors. The mayor presides over Council meetings. 
The mayor and City Council members are elected to four-year terms of office through a 
general election. The City Council is responsible for identifying problems and needs within 

7 - 13



Page GA-6 March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

the community and then addressing those problems through community goals and 
objectives.  

Code Enforcement is responsible to maintaining community safety and neighborhood 
livability using various municipal codes. They prioritize gaining voluntary compliance 
through education and assistance, with civil or criminal penalties if that does not work.  

The public works department, in addition to maintaining streets, water, sewer, and parks, 
offers sand bags to residents during flood events.  The city also maintains the water supply 
and the wastewater treatment system.   

Additionally, the City of Gladstone administers a Volunteer Emergency Management 
Program.  The program realizes that Gladstone has limited personnel and equipment 
resources for a sustained medium to large scale natural or human caused emergency.  
Continued Public Participation  

An open public involvement process is essential to the development of an effective NHMP. 
To develop a comprehensive approach to reducing the effects of natural disasters, the 
planning process shall include opportunity for the public, neighboring communities, local 
and regional agencies, as well as, private and non-profit entities to comment on the NHMP 
during review.1 Keeping the public informed of the City’s efforts to reduce its risk to future 
natural hazard events is important for successful NHMP implementation and maintenance. 
The City is committed to involving the public in the NHMP review and updated process 
(Volume I, Section 4). The City posted the plan update for public comment before FEMA 
approval, and after approval will maintain the plan on the City’s website: 
https://www.ci.gladstone.or.us/ 

NHMP Maintenance  

The Clackamas County NHMP and City addendum will be updated every five years in 
accordance with the update schedule outlined in the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000. During 
the County NHMP update process, the City will also review and update its addendum 
(Volume I, Section 4). The convener will be responsible for convening the HMAC to address 
the questions outlined below. 

• Are there new partners that should be brought to the table?  

• Are there new local, regional, state or federal policies influencing natural hazards 
that should be addressed?  

• Has the community successfully implemented any mitigation activities since the 
NHMP was last updated?  

• Have new issues or problems related to hazards been identified in the community?  

• Are the actions still appropriate given current resources?  

• Have there been any changes in development patterns that could influence the 
effects of hazards?  

• Have there been any significant changes in the community’s demographics that 
could influence the effects of hazards?  

• Are there new studies or data available that would enhance the risk assessment?  

                                                           

1 Code of Federal Regulations, Chapter 44. Section 201.6, subsection (b). 2015 

7 - 14



Clackamas County NHMP March 2019  Page GA-7 

• Has the community been affected by any disasters? Did the NHMP accurately 
address the impacts of this event?  

These questions will help the HMAC determine what components of the mitigation plan 
need updating. The HMAC will be responsible for updating any deficiencies found in the 
NHMP. 

Mitigation Strategy  

This section of the NHMP addendum addresses 44 CFR 201.6(c)(3(iv), Mitigation Strategy.  

The City’s mitigation strategy (action items) were first developed during the 2009 NHMP 
planning process and revised during subsequent NHMP updates. During these processes, 
the HMAC assessed the City’s risk, identified potential issues, and developed a mitigation 
strategy (action items). 

During the 2018/2019 update process the City re-evaluated their mitigation strategy (action 
items). During this process action items were updated, noting what accomplishments had 
been made and whether the actions were still relevant; any new action items were 
identified at this time (see Volume III, Appendix B for more information on changes to action 
items).  

Priority Action Items 

Table GA-1 presents a list of mitigation actions. The HMAC decided to modify the 
prioritization of action items in this update to reflect current conditions (risk assessment), 
needs, and capacity. High priority actions are shown in bold text with grey highlight. The City 
will focus their attention, and resource availability, upon these achievable, high leverage, 
activities over the next five-years. Although this methodology provides a guide for the 
HMAC in terms of implementation, the HMAC has the option to implement any of the action 
items at any time. This option to consider all action items for implementation allows the 
committee to consider mitigation strategies as new opportunities arise, such as capitalizing 
on funding sources that could pertain to an action item that is not currently listed as the 
highest priority. Refer to Attachment A for detailed information for each action. Full text of 
the plan goals referenced in Table GA-1 is located on page GA-2. 

  

7 - 15



Page GA-8 March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 

  

7 - 16



 

Clackamas County NHMP  March 2019  Page GA-9 

Table GA-1 Gladstone Action Items 

Natural 
Hazard 

Action ID 
Action Item 

Coordinating  
Organization  

(Lead) 

Internal  
Partners 

Timing 

Plan Goals Addressed 

G
o

al
 1

 

G
o

al
 2

 

G
o

al
 3

 

G
o

al
 4

 

G
o

al
 5

 

MH #1 

Integrate the goals and mitigation actions from the 
Gladstone Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan into 
existing regulatory documents and programs, 
where appropriate. 

Planning 
Planning 

Commission 
Ongoing ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

MH #2 
Develop, enhance, and implement education 
programs designed to reduce the losses from 
natural hazards. 

Gladstone 
Emergency 

Management and 
Support (GEMS) 

Police, Fire Ongoing ✓  ✓ ✓ ✓ 

MH #3 
Improve vegetation management throughout the 
city.   

Public Works Fire Ongoing ✓ ✓  ✓ ✓ 

MH #4 
Enhance strategies for debris management for all 
hazards. 

Public Works 
City 

Administrator’s 
Office 

Ongoing ✓ ✓  ✓  

MH #5  
Maintain the Gladstone Emergency Operations 
Plan. 

Police 

Public Works, 
Fire, City 

Administrator’s 
Office 

Ongoing ✓  ✓ ✓  

MH #6 
Evaluate and upgrade stormwater management 
infrastructure and identify appropriate mitigation 
strategies. 

Public Works 
City 

Administrator’s 
Office 

Long    
Term ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓  

MH #7 Update failing water distribution system Public Works 
Fire, City 

Administrator’s 
Office 

Long     
Term ✓ ✓   ✓ 

7 - 17



 

Page GA-10  March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

Natural 
Hazard 

Action ID 
Action Item 

Coordinating  
Organization  

(Lead) 

Internal  
Partners 

Timing 

Plan Goals Addressed 

G
o

al
 1

 

G
o

al
 2

 

G
o

al
 3

 

G
o

al
 4

 

G
o

al
 5

 

EQ #1 

Conduct seismic evaluations on identified 
critical/essential facilities and infrastructure for 
implementing appropriate structural and non-
structural mitigation strategies. 

City 
Administrator’s 

Office 

Fire, Police, 
GEMS, Public 

Works 

Long  
Term ✓  ✓   

FL #1 
Ensure continued compliance in the National Flood 
Insurance Program through enforcement of local 
floodplain management ordinances. 

City 
Administrator’s 

Office 

Fire, Public 
Works 

Ongoing ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓  

FL #2 

Coordinate with Clackamas County to address the 
flooding issues on Glen Echo that stem from the 
two-way diversion on Hull Avenue put in by 
Clackamas County. 

Public Works 
City 

Administrator’s 
Office 

Ongoing ✓ ✓  ✓  

FL #3 
Maintain and Implement the Gladstone Stormwater 
Master Plan. 

Public Works 
City 

Administrator’s 
Office 

Ongoing ✓ ✓ ✓   

LS #1 
Reduce the vulnerability of property owners in 
landslide-prone areas. 

City 
Administrator’s 

Office 
Public Works Ongoing ✓ ✓  ✓ ✓ 

SW #1 
Reduce negative effects from severe windstorm 
and severe winter storm events. 

Public Works 

City 
Administrator’s 

Office, Fire, 
Police 

Ongoing ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

WF #1 
Coordinate wildfire mitigation action items 
through the Clackamas County Community 
Wildfire Protection Plan. 

Fire 
City 

Administrator’s 
Office, Planning 

Ongoing ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Source: City of Gladstone HMAC, 2018 
Note: Full text of the plan goals referenced in this table is located on page GA-2. 

7 - 18



 

Clackamas County NHMP March 2019  Page GA-11 

Risk Assessment  

This section of the NHMP addendum addresses 44 CFR 201.6(b)(2) - Risk Assessment. In 
addition, this chapter can serve as the factual basis for addressing Oregon Statewide 
Planning Goal 7 – Areas Subject to Natural Hazards. Assessing natural hazard risk has three 
phases:  

• Phase 1: Identify hazards that can impact the jurisdiction. This includes an 
evaluation of potential hazard impacts – type, location, extent, etc.  

• Phase 2: Identify important community assets and system vulnerabilities. Example 
vulnerabilities include people, businesses, homes, roads, historic places and drinking 
water sources.  

• Phase 3: Evaluate the extent to which the identified hazards overlap with or have an 
impact on, the important assets identified by the community. 

The local level rationale for the identified mitigation strategies (action items) is presented 
herein and within Volume I, Section 2 and Volume III, Appendix C. The risk assessment 
process is graphically depicted in Figure GA-1. Ultimately, the goal of hazard mitigation is to 
reduce the area of risk, where hazards overlap vulnerable systems. 

Figure GA-1 Understanding Risk 

 

Hazard Analysis 

The Gladstone HMAC developed their hazard vulnerability assessment (HVA), using their 
previous HVA and the County’s HVA as a reference. Changes from their previous HVA and 
the County’s HVA were made where appropriate to reflect distinctions in vulnerability and 
risk from natural hazards unique to Gladstone, which are discussed throughout this 
addendum.  

7 - 19



 

Page GA-12 March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

Table GA-2 shows the HVA matrix for Gladstone listing each hazard in order of rank from 
high to low. For local governments, conducting the hazard analysis is a useful step in 
planning for hazard mitigation, response and recovery. The method provides the jurisdiction 
with a sense of hazard priorities but does not predict the occurrence of a hazard.  

Two catastrophic hazards (Cascadia Subduction Zone earthquake and Crustal earthquake) 
and two chronic hazards (flood and winter storm) rank as the top hazard threats to the City 
(Top Tier). Windstorm, wildfire, and extreme heat comprise the next highest ranked hazards 
(Middle Tier), while landslide, drought, and volcanic event comprise the lowest ranked 
hazards (Bottom Tier). 

Table GA-2 Hazard Analysis Matrix – Gladstone  

  
Source: Gladstone HMAC, 2018. 

Table GA-3 categorizes the probability and vulnerability scores from the hazard analysis for 
the City and compares the results to the assessment completed by the Clackamas County 
HMAC. Variations between the City and County are noted in bold text within the city ratings.  

Table GA-3 Probability and Vulnerability Comparison 

 
 Source: Gladstone and Clackamas County HMAC, 2018. 

  

Hazard History Vulnerability

Maximum

Threat Probability

Total Threat 

Score

Hazard 

Rank

Hazard 

Tiers

Earthquake - Cascadia 4 45 100 49 198 #1

Flood 16 40 80 56 192 #2

Earthquake - Crustal 6 50 100 21 177 #3

Winter Storm 14 30 70 56 170 #4

Windstorm 10 35 50 42 137 #5

Wildfire 6 25 50 35 116 #6

Extreme Heat Event 8 20 50 28 106 #7

Landslide 2 25 20 35 82 #8

Drought 10 10 30 28 78 #9

Volcanic Event 2 20 40 14 76 #10

Top 

Tier

Bottom 

Tier

Middle 

Tier

Hazard Probability Vulnerability Probability Vulnerability

Drought Moderate Low High Low

Earthquake - Cascadia Moderate High Moderate High

Earthquake - Crustal Low High Low High

Extreme Heat Moderate Moderate Low High

Flood High High High Moderate

Landslide Moderate Moderate High Low

Volcanic Event Low Low Low Moderate

Wildfire Moderate Moderate High Moderate

Windstorm Moderate Moderate Moderate Low

Winter Storm High Moderate Moderate Moderate

Gladstone Clackamas County

7 - 20



 

Clackamas County NHMP March 2019  Page GA-13 

Community Characteristics 

Table GA-4 and the following section provides information on City specific demographics 
and assets. Many of these community characteristics can affect how natural hazards impact 
communities and how communities choose to plan for natural hazard mitigation. 
Considering the City specific assets during the planning process can assist in identifying 
appropriate measures for natural hazard mitigation. Between 2010 and 2016 the City grew 
by 319 people (1%; as of 2018 the population was 11,880) and median household income 
increased by about 8%.2 Between 2018 and 2040 the population is forecast to grow by 2% to 
12,083.3 New development has complied with the standards of the Oregon Building Code 
and the city’s development code.  

Transportation/Infrastructure 

Gladstone is roughly 12 miles south from Portland and adjacent to Milwaukie, Oregon City, 
and West Linn. It is located within the Portland Metro with Highway 99E, otherwise known 
as McLoughlin Blvd, running north to south through the southwestern corner of Gladstone. 
The majority of Gladstone lies west of Interstate 205 and Highway 212/224 is located just 
north of the city boundary. The Union Pacific Railroad main line, which carries both 
passengers and freight, crosses through Gladstone east of Interstate 205 and west of the 
Clackamas River.    

Motor vehicles represent the dominant mode of travel through and within Gladstone. 
Portland Tri-Met has a light-rail line in Milwaukie and is the bus service that provides public 
transit to the City. There are no port services available on Willamette and Clackamas Rivers 
near Gladstone, but there are recreational areas along the river. 

Economy 

Gladstone’s proximity to major transportation routes and access to rail has made it a 
desirable place for commercial and industrial development. Gladstone is a mature 
community that is mostly a bedroom community. The city’s residents work in a variety of 
industries, with “office and administrative support” (about 18% of workforce) and 
“professional and related occupations” (around 15%) accounting for the top two 
occupations.4 

Gladstone has an economic advantage due to its location at the north end of the Willamette 
Valley and its proximity to Portland. There are four areas of concentrated commercial 
zoning in the southern part of the city as well as a few areas zoned for light industrial. The 
commercial and light industrial areas are located along Highway 99E, Portland Avenue, and 
the interface between Interstate 205 and SE 82nd.   

                                                           

2Portland State University, Population Research Center, "Annual Population Estimates", 2016 & 2018 and Social 
Explorer, Table T57, U.S. Census Bureau, 2012-2016 and 2006-2010 American Community Survey Estimates. 
3Metro, 2040 Distributed Forecast (2016). 
4Social Explorer, Table 50, U.S. Census Bureau, 2012-2016 American Community Survey Estimates 

7 - 21



 

Page GA-14 March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

Table GA-4 Community Characteristics

 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2012-2016 American 
Community Survey; Portland State University, 
Population Research Center, "Annual Population 
Estimates", 2016 & 2018. Metro, 2040 Distributed 
Forecast. Note: * = Population forecast within Metro 
UGB 
 

                                                           

5 “Monthly Average for Gladstone, OR” The Weather Channel Interactive, Inc. Retrieved May 1, 2019. 

 

Gladstone has grown substantially since its 
incorporation in 1911 and has an area today 
of 2.5 square miles. It is in the south-central 
region of Clackamas County, located 
approximately 12 miles south of the City of 
Portland. Gladstone is part of the Clackamas 
River Water Providers, which is a coalition 
that gets its water from the Clackamas River. 

Located at 57 feet above sea level, 
Gladstone’s climate is consistent with a 
Mediterranean climate zone, with warm 
summers and cool, wet winters. Gladstone 
receives most of its rainfall between October 
and May, and averages 46 inches of rain, and 
less than a couple inches of snow, per year.5 

According to the Comprehensive Plan, land 
has been designated for single-family 
residential, medium-density residential, multi-
family residential, central commercial, 
general commercial, and light industrial. The 
plan incorporates natural hazard 
considerations, resulting in slopes of 25% or 
greater being considered unbuildable for 
future housing needs.  

Population Characteristics

2010 Population 11,495

2016 Population [2018 Population] 11,660 11,880

2040 Forecasted Population* 12,083

White 83%

Black/ African American 1%

American Indian and Alaska Native < 1%

Asian 3%

< 1%

Some Other Race 0%

Two or More Races 2%

Hispanic or Latino 11%

Limited or No English Spoken 5%

Vulnerable Age Groups

Less than 15 Years 2,189 18%

65 Years and Over 1,796 15%

Disability Status

Total Population 1,833 16%

Children 344 13%

Seniors 703 40%

Income Characteristics

Households by Income Category
Less than $15,000 414       9%

$15,000-$29,999 922       20%
$30,000-$44,999 498       11%

$45,000-$59,999 692       15%
$60,000-$74,999 587       13%

$75,000-$99,999 618       13%

$100,000-$199,999 860       18%
$200,000 or more 107       2%

Median Household Income $57,169

Poverty Rates

Total Population 1,948 17%

Children 455 17%

Seniors 141 8%

Housing Cost Burden

Owners with Mortgage 1,024 36%

Renters 1,148 61%

Race (non-Hispanic) and Ethnicity (Hispanic)

Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander

Housing Characteristics

Housing Units
Single-Family 3,490 69%

Multi-Family 1,179 23%
Mobile Homes 356 7%

Year Structure Built

Pre-1970 1,899 38%
1970-1989 2,106 42%

1990 or later 1,029 21%

Housing Tenure and Vacancy
Owner-occupied 2,814 56%

Renter-occupied 1,884 37%

Seasonal 0 0%
Vacant 336 7%

7 - 22



 

Clackamas County NHMP March 2019  Page GA-15 

Community Assets 

This section outlines the resources, facilities, and infrastructure that, if damaged, could 
significantly impact the public safety, economic conditions, and environmental integrity of 
Gladstone. It is important to note that the facilities identified as “critical” and “essential” are 
characterized differently than the structural code that identifies buildings as “essential” and 
“non-essential.” The structural code uses different language and criteria and therefore have 
completely different meanings than the buildings identified in this addendum. 

Critical Facilities 

Facilities that are critical to government response, and recovery activities (i.e. life, safety, 
property, and environmental protection). These facilities include: 911 Centers, Emergency 
Operations Centers, Police, and Fire Stations, Public Works facilities, sewer, and water 
facilities, hospitals, bridges, roads, shelters, and more.  

Table GA-5 Critical Facilities in Gladstone 

Facility D
ro

u
gh

t 

Ea
rt

h
q

u
ak

e 

Ex
tr

e
m

e
 H

e
at

 

Fl
o

o
d

 

La
n

d
sl

id
e 

V
o

lc
an

ic
 E

ve
n

t 

W
ild

fi
re

 

W
in

d
st

o
rm

 

W
in

te
r 

St
o

rm
 

Critical Facilities 

City Hall      X               

Gladstone Senior Center (EOC)   X               

Police Station  X        

Public Works  X        

Fire Stations          

Main Fire Station  X        

Potential Shelter Sites          
Gladstone Christian Church - Red Cross 
shelter 

 X        

Tri-City Baptist – Red Cross shelter 
(backup EOC) 

 X        

 

Hazardous Materials: 

Facilities that, if damaged, could cause serious secondary impacts may also be considered 
“critical.” A hazardous material facility is one example of this type of critical facility. Those 
sites that store, manufacture, or use potentially hazardous materials include: Cal Spas 
Chemical Storage, Classic Pool and Spa, First Student Bus Barn, Gas Stations, and Gladstone 
Public Works.   

7 - 23



 

Page GA-16 March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

Essential Facilities 

Facilities that are essential to the continued delivery of key government services, and/or 
that may significantly impact the public’s ability to recover from the emergency. These 
facilities may include: City buildings such as the Public Services Building, the City Hall, and 
other public facilities such as schools. 

Table GA-6 Essential Facilities in Gladstone 

Facility D
ro

u
gh

t 

Ea
rt

h
q

u
ak

e 

Ex
tr

e
m

e
 H

e
at

 

Fl
o

o
d

 

La
n

d
sl

id
e 

V
o

lc
an

ic
 E

ve
n

t 

W
ild

fi
re

 

W
in

d
st

o
rm

 

W
in

te
r 

St
o

rm
 

Essential Facilities 

Schools                   

Gladstone High School  X       X     

John Wetten Elementary  X       X     

Kraxberger Middle School  X       X     

Churches              

Assembly of God              

Church of Christ              

Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day 
Saints 

             

Faith and Life Center Free Methodist 
Church 

         

First Baptist Church          

Seventh-Day Adventist          

St. Stephen Lutheran Church          

Food Providers                   

Safeway               

Other Essential Facilities                   

Avamere Rehabilitation of Clackamas                   

Gladstone Children and Family Services                   

Holiday Inn Express                   

Somerset Assisted Living                   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7 - 24



 

Clackamas County NHMP March 2019  Page GA-17 

Critical Infrastructure: 

Infrastructure that provides necessary services for emergency response include:  

Table GA-7 Critical Infrastructure in Gladstone 

Facility D
ro

u
gh

t 

Ea
rt

h
q

u
ak

e 

Ex
tr

e
m

e
 H

e
at

 

Fl
o

o
d

 

La
n

d
sl

id
e 

V
o

lc
an

ic
 E

ve
n

t 

W
ild

fi
re

 

W
in

d
st

o
rm

 

W
in

te
r 

St
o

rm
 

Critical Infrastructure 

Bridges                   
Oregon City Bridge  X           

82nd Bridge (pedestrian and sewer)  X           

Transportation Networks             

Communication Towers  X        

Highway 205  X  X         

McLoughlin Blvd Corridor (Highway 99E)  X  X         

NW Natural Pipelines off McLoughlin 
Blvd 

 X        

Power Substation on Jennings  X        

Railroad  X  X      

Other Critical Infrastructure          

Clackamas River Water  X             

Oak Lodge Water  X             

Pump Stations  X        

Sanitary Sewer Collection System and 
Pump Station 

 X             

Stormwater Infrastructure  X        

Water Lines  X        

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7 - 25



 

Page GA-18 March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

Environmental Assets: 

Environmental assets are those parks, green spaces, wetlands, and rivers that provide an 
aesthetic, and functional ecosystem services for the community include:  

Table GA-8 Environmental Assets in Gladstone 

Facility D
ro

u
gh

t 

Ea
rt

h
q

u
ak

e 

Ex
tr

e
m

e
 H

e
at

 

Fl
o

o
d

 

La
n

d
sl

id
e 

V
o

lc
an

ic
 E

ve
n

t 

W
ild

fi
re

 

W
in

d
st

o
rm

 

W
in

te
r 

St
o

rm
 

Environmental Assets 

Billy Goat Island    X   X   

Detention Ponds          

Gladstone High School Bio-swale          

McLoughlin/Risley Wetland    X X  X   

Olsen Wetland    X      

Willamette and Clackamas Rivers and 
Riparian Corridors 

   X      

Parks          

Abernathy Lane Trail               

Cross Park      X    X     

Dahl Beach  X  X X  X   

Diecrick Field               

Gladstone Nature Park          

Glen Echo Wetland          

High Rock Park     X     

Max Patterson Memorial City Park          

Meldrum Bar Park  X  X X  X   

Nick Shannon Park       X   

Ridgegate Tracts          

Robin Hood Park          

Salty Acres Wetlands          

Stocker Park          

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7 - 26



 

Clackamas County NHMP March 2019  Page GA-19 

Economic Assets/Population Centers: 

Economic assets include businesses that employ large numbers of people and provide an 
economic resource to the city of Gladstone. If damaged, the loss of these economic assets 
could significantly affect economic stability, and prosperity. Population Centers usually are 
aligned with economic centers, and are a concern during evacuation/notification during a 
hazard event include:  

Table GA-9 Economic Assets/Population Centers in Gladstone 

Facility D
ro

u
gh

t 

Ea
rt

h
q

u
ak

e 

Ex
tr

e
m

e
 H

e
at

 

Fl
o

o
d

 

La
n

d
sl

id
e 

V
o

lc
an

ic
 E

ve
n

t 

W
ild

fi
re

 

W
in

d
st

o
rm

 

W
in

te
r 

St
o

rm
 

Economic Assets / Population Centers 

Economic Centers                

82nd/Arlington Corridor  X        

Budget Inn                

Holiday Inn – Essential Facility                

McLoughlin Blvd Corridor (Highway 99E)  X              

Oatfield/Oakridge Corridor  X    X    X      

Safeway  X              

Apartment Complexes                

Autumn Oaks                

Brook Side                

Fairway Village                

River Green     X           

River Place                

River Run                

Tall Oaks       X         

  

7 - 27



 

Page GA-20 March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

 
Vulnerable Populations: 

Vulnerable populations, including seniors, disabled citizens, women, and children, as well 
those people living in poverty, often experience the impacts of natural hazards and disasters 
more acutely. Populations that have special needs or require special consideration include:  

Table GA-10 Vulnerable Populations in Gladstone 

Facility D
ro

u
gh

t 

Ea
rt

h
q

u
ak

e 

Ex
tr

e
m

e
 H

e
at

 

Fl
o

o
d

 

La
n

d
sl

id
e 

V
o

lc
an

ic
 E

ve
n

t 

W
ild

fi
re

 

W
in

d
st

o
rm

 

W
in

te
r 

St
o

rm
 

Vulnerable Populations 

Assisted Living Facilities          

Avamere Rehabilitation of Clackamas – 
Essential Facility 

         

Gladstone Senior Center – Critical 
Facility 

         

Somerset Assisted Living – Essential 
Facility 

         

Somerset Lodge          

Child Care Centers          

Assembly of God Daycare          

Gladstone Center for Children and 
Families (GCCF) 

         

St. Stephen’s Church Daycare          

YMCA Gladstone          

Mobile Home Parks          

Tri-City Mobile Home Park  X  X      

Two Rivers Coop Home Park  X  X      

Other Vulnerable Populations          

7th Day Adventist Annual Conference 
(Gladstone Park) 

         

Schools – see Essential Facility          

  

7 - 28



 

Clackamas County NHMP March 2019  Page GA-21 

Hazard Characteristics 

Drought  

The HMAC determined that the City’s probability for drought is moderate and that their 
vulnerability to drought is low. These ratings did not change, since the previous version of 
this NHMP addendum. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the characteristics of drought hazards, history, as well as the 
location, extent and probability of a potential event. Due to the climate of Clackamas 
County, past and present weather conditions have shown an increasing potential for 
drought.  

The City of Gladstone Public Works Department manages Gladstone’s water supply. 
Gladstone maintains a local system of three water tanks, two pump stations, and almost 40 
miles of pipelines. These pipelines and other water infrastructure has not been updated or 
repaired properly, so the City Council approved water and sewer rate increases for 2018 and 
2019 to help with maintenance costs. The City is also part of a regional water treatment 
provider, the North Clackamas County Water Commission. The City draws its water supply 
from the Clackamas River. There is potential contamination sources within the Clackamas 
Watershed area from agriculture, managed forest land, wastewater treatment plans, and 
other sources.6   

Vulnerability Assessment 

Due to insufficient data and resources, Gladstone is currently unable to perform a 
quantitative risk assessment, or exposure analysis, for this hazard. For a list of facilities and 
infrastructure vulnerable to this hazard see the Community Assets section and Tables GA-5 
through GA-10. 

Mitigation Activities 

The existing drought hazard mitigation activities are conducted at the county, regional, 
state, and federal levels and are described in the Clackamas County NHMP. 

Please review Volume I, Section 2 for additional information on this hazard. 

Earthquake (Cascadia Subduction Zone) 

The HMAC determined that the City’s probability for a Cascadia Subduction Zone (CSZ) 
earthquake is moderate and that their vulnerability to a CSZ earthquake is high. The 
probability rating decreased, and the vulnerability rating did not change, since the previous 
version of this NHMP addendum. Previously, the earthquake hazard profile was a single risk 
assessment, which is now divided into two separate earthquake hazards: Cascadia 
Subduction Zone (CSZ) earthquake and Crustal earthquake.  

Volume I, Section 2 describes the characteristics of earthquake hazards, history, as well as 
the location, extent and probability of a potential event. Generally, an event that affects the 
County is likely to affect Gladstone as well. The causes and characteristics of an earthquake 
event are appropriately described within the Volume I, Section 2 as well as the location and 

                                                           

6 Profita, C. Clackamas Watershed Collects Pollutants and Drinking Water (2013). OPB.org.  

7 - 29



 

Page GA-22 March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

extent of potential hazards. Previous occurrences are well documented within Volume I, 
Section 2 and the community impacts described by the County would generally be the same 
for Gladstone as well.  

Within the Northern Willamette Valley/Portland Metro Region, three potential faults and/or 
zones can generate high-magnitude earthquakes. These include the Cascadia Subduction 
Zone, Gales Creek-Newberg-Mt Angel Structural Zone, Portland Hills Fault Zone, and the 
Oatfield Fault Zone (discussed in the crustal earthquake section).  

Figure GA-2 displays relative shaking hazards from a Cascadia Subduction Zone earthquake 
event. As shown in the figure, most of the city is expected to experience very strong shaking 
(orange), while areas around the rivers will experience severe shaking (light red) in a CSZ 
event.  

Figure GA-2 Cascadia Subduction Zone Expected Shaking 

Source: Oregon HazVu: Statewide Geohazards Viewer (DOGAMI) 
Note: To view detail click the link above to access Oregon HazVu. 

Cascadia Subduction Zone 

The Cascadia Subduction Zone is a 680-mile-long zone of active tectonic convergence where 
oceanic crust of the Juan de Fuca Plate is subducting beneath the North American continent 
at a rate of 4 cm per year. Scientists have found evidence that 11 large, tsunami-producing 
earthquakes have occurred off the Pacific Northwest coast in the past 6,000 years. These 

7 - 30



 

Clackamas County NHMP March 2019  Page GA-23 

earthquakes took place roughly between 300 and 5,400 years ago with an average 
occurrence interval of about 510 years. The most recent of these large earthquakes took 
place in approximately 1700 A.D.7 

The city’s proximity to the Cascadia Subduction Zone, potential slope instability and the 
prevalence of certain soils subject to liquefaction and amplification combine to give the city 
a high-risk profile. Due to the expected pattern of damage resulting from a CSZ event, the 
Oregon Resilience Plan divides the State into four distinct zones and places the city 
predominately within the “Valley Zone” (Valley Zone, from the summit of the Coast Range 
to the summit of the Cascades). Within the Northwest Oregon region, damage and shaking 
is expected to be strong and widespread - an event will be disruptive to daily life and 
commerce and the main priority is expected to be restoring services to business and 
residents.  

The City is not within the severe shaking area, though there is significant area around the 
City that have severe and very severe shaking if a large earthquake were to occur. These 
areas include Interstate 205 and Highway 99E, which could result in Gladstone having access 
issues from emergency vehicles and other response efforts.  

Earthquake (Crustal) 

The HMAC determined that the City’s probability for a crustal earthquake is low and that 
their vulnerability to crustal earthquake is high. The probability rating decreased, and the 
vulnerability rating did not change, since the previous version of this NHMP addendum. 
Previously, the earthquake hazard profile was a single risk assessment, which is now divided 
into two separate earthquake hazards: Cascadia Subduction Zone (CSZ) earthquake and 
Crustal earthquake.  

Volume I, Section 2 describes the causes and characteristics of earthquake hazards, history, 
as well as the location, extent, and probability of a potential event. Generally, an event that 
affects the County is likely to affect Gladstone as well. Figure GA-3 shows a generalized 
geologic map of the Gladstone area that includes the areas for potential regional active 
faults, earthquake history (1971-2008), and soft soils (liquefaction) hazard. The figure shows 
the areas of greatest concern within the City limits as red and orange. 

Earthquake-induced damages are difficult to predict, and depend on the size, type, and 
location of the earthquake, as well as site-specific building, and soil characteristics. 
Presently, it is not possible to accurately forecast the location or size of earthquakes, but it 
is possible to predict the behavior of soil at any site. In many major earthquakes, damages 
have primarily been caused by the behavior of the soil.  

Gladstone has the Oatfield and Portland Hills Faults running through the city, which can 
generate high-magnitude earthquakes. Historical records count over 56 earthquakes in the 
Portland-metro area. The more severe ones occurred in 1877, 1880, 1953 and 1962. The 
most recent severe earthquake was the March 25, 1993 Scotts Mills quake. It was a 5.6 
magnitude quake with aftershocks continuing at least through April 8.  

                                                           

7 The Cascadia Region Earthquake Workgroup, 2005. Cascadia Subduction Zone Earthquakes: A magnitude 9.0 
earthquake scenario. http://www.crew.org/PDFs/CREWSubductionZoneSmall.pdf  

7 - 31



 

Page GA-24 March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

Figure GA-3 Active Crustal Faults, Epicenters (1971-2008), and Soft Soils 

 
Source: Oregon HazVu: Statewide Geohazards Viewer (DOGAMI) 
Note: To view detail click the link above to access Oregon HazVu 

Oatfield Fault Zone 

The Oatfield Fault Zone is a series of NE-trending fault lines that may be part of the Portland 
Hills-Clackamas River structural zone. The fault forms linear magnetic anomalies and 
southwest-facing escarpments in volcanic rocks of the Miocene Columbia River Basalt 
Group. The fault zone extends for approximately 18 miles through Portland and down past 
Gladstone in northern Oregon.  

Portland Hills Fault Zone 

The Portland Hills Fault Zone is a series of NW-trending faults that vertically displace the 
Columbia River Basalt by 1,130 feet and appear to control thickness changes in late 
Pleistocene (approx. 780,000 years ago) sediment. The fault zone extends along the eastern 
margin of the Portland Hills for 25 miles and lies about 15 miles northeast of Gladstone.  

Vulnerability Assessment 

Due to insufficient data and resources, Gladstone is currently unable to perform a 
quantitative risk assessment for this hazard. However, in 2018 the Department of Geology 
and Mineral Industries (DOGAMI) completed a regional impact analysis for earthquakes 
originating from the Cascadia Subduction Zone and Portland Hills faults (O-18-02), findings 
from that report are provided at the end of the crustal earthquakes hazard section. 

7 - 32



 

Clackamas County NHMP March 2019  Page GA-25 

Seismic building codes were implemented in Oregon in the 1970s, however, stricter 
standards did not take effect until 1991 and early 2000s. As noted in the community profile, 
approximately 80% of residential buildings were built prior to 1990, which increases the 
City’s vulnerability to the earthquake hazard. Information on specific public buildings’ 
(schools and public safety) estimated seismic resistance, determined by DOGAMI in 2007, is 
shown in Table GA-11; each “X” represents one building within that ranking category. Of the 
facilities evaluated by DOGAMI using their Rapid Visual Survey (RVS), zero (0) have a very 
high (100% chance) collapse potential and two (2) have a high (greater than 10% chance) 
collapse potential.  

For a list of facilities and infrastructure vulnerable to this hazard see the Community Assets 
section and Tables GA-5 through GA-10.  

Table GA-11 Rapid Visual Survey Scores 

Facility Site ID* 

Level of Collapse Potential 

Low 
(<1%) 

Moderate 
(>1%) 

High 
(>10%) 

Very 
High 

(100%) 

Schools           
Gladstone High 
(18800 Portland Ave) 

Clac_sch64 X X, X   

John Wetten Elementary 
(250 E Exeter St) 

Clac_sch63 X X X  

Walter L Kraxberger Middle 
(17777 Webster Rd) 

Clac_sch90 X X, X X  

Gladstone City Buildings      

Gladstone Fire Main Station (EOC) 
(555 Portland Ave) 

Clac_fir44 X    

Police Station (formerly fire) 
(535 Portland Ave) 

Clac_fir 40 X    

City Hall (formerly police) 
(525 Portland Ave) 

Clac_pol09  X   

Source: DOGAMI 2007. Open File Report 0-07-02. Statewide Seismic Needs Assessment Using Rapid Visual 
Assessment. “*” – Site ID is referenced on the RVS Clackamas County Map 
Note: Bold indicates facilities that have been seismically retrofitted or rebuilt. 

In addition to building damages, utility (electric power, water, wastewater, natural gas) and 
transportation systems (bridges, pipelines) are also likely to experience significant damage. 
There is a low probability that a major earthquake will result in failure of upstream dams. 

Utility systems will be significantly damaged, including damaged buildings and damage to 
utility infrastructure, including water treatment plants and equipment at high voltage 
substations (especially 230 kV or higher which are more vulnerable than lower voltage 
substations). Buried pipe systems will suffer extensive damage with approximately one 
break per mile in soft soil areas. There would be a much lower rate of pipe breaks in other 
areas. Restoration of utility services will require substantial mutual aid from utilities outside 
of the affected area.  

  

7 - 33



 

Page GA-26 March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

Mitigation Activities 

Gladstone has taken mitigation steps to reduce the city’s vulnerably in earthquake events. 
The city’s reservoir was seismically upgraded in the 1990s following the Scotts Mills Quake 
and the Gladstone High School has a new building and seismic work done in 2009. The 
Gladstone Fire Department received a grant for seismic retrofits that was completed in 
2010. Seismic retrofit grant awards per the Seismic Rehabilitation Grant Program8 have been 
funded to retrofit the Police Department (2013-2014 grant award, $360,729). The City is 
also building a new Civic Center to house City Hall and the Police Station at 18505 Portland 
Ave, which will be completed in 2020.  

Earthquake Regional Impact Analysis 

In 2018 DOGAMI completed a regional impact analysis for earthquakes originating from the 
Cascadia Subduction Zone and Portland Hills faults (O-18-02). Their study focused on 
damage to buildings, and the people that occupy them, and to two key infrastructure 
sectors: electric power transmission and emergency transportation routes. Each earthquake 
was studied with wet and dry soil conditions and for events that occur during the daytime (2 
PM) and night time (2 AM). Impacts to buildings and people were tabulated at the county, 
jurisdictional (city), and neighborhood unit level. Estimated damaged varied widely across 
the study area depending on local geology, soil moisture conditions, type of building, and 
distance from the studied faults. In general, damage from the Cascadia Subduction Zone 
scenario was greater in the western portion of the study area, however, damage could still 
be significant in some areas east of the Willamette River. The report found that damage to 
high-value commercial and industrial buildings was high since many of these facilities are in 
areas of high to very high liquefaction hazard. Casualties were higher during the daytime 
scenario (generally double) since more people would be at work and occupying non-wood 
structures that fare worse in an earthquake. The Portland Hills fault scenario created greater 
damages than the Cascade Subduction Zone scenario due primarily to its placement relative 
to population centers and regional assets; however, at distances 15 or more miles from the 
Portland Hills fault the damages from the Cascadia Subduction Zone scenario generally were 
higher. In both the Cascadia Subduction Zone and Portland Hills Fault scenarios it is 
forecasted that emergency transportation routes will be fragmented, affecting the 
distribution of goods and services, conditions are worse under the Portland Hills Fault 
scenario. Portions of the electric distribution system are also expected to be impacted under 
both scenarios, however, the impact is considerably less than it is to the transportation 
routes. Additional, capacity or redundancy within the electric distribution network may be 
beneficial in select areas that are likely to have greater impacts. 

Table GA-12 shows the permanent resident population that are vulnerable to injury or 
death (casualty) and the buildings in the City that are susceptible to liquefaction and 
landslides, it does not predict that damage will occur in specific areas due to either 
liquefaction or landslide. More population and property are exposed to higher degrees of 
expected damage or casualty under the Portland Hills Fault “wet” scenario than in any other 
scenario. 

                                                           

8 The Seismic Rehabilitation Grant Program (SRGP) is a state of Oregon competitive grant program that provides 
funding for the seismic rehabilitation of critical public buildings, particularly public schools and emergency 
services facilities. 

7 - 34



 

Clackamas County NHMP March 2019  Page GA-27 

Table GA-12 Expected damages and casualties for the CSZ fault and Portland 

Hills fault: earthquake, soil moisture, and event time scenarios  

 
Source: DOGAMI, Earthquake regional impact analysis for Clackamas, Multnomah, and Washington Counties, 
Oregon (2018, O-18-02), Tables 12-8, 12-9, 12-10, and 12-11.  

Cascadia Subduction Zone Scenario 

The City of Gladstone is expected to have a 5% building loss ratio with a repair cost of $51 
million under the CSZ “dry” scenario, and 6% building loss ration with a repair cost of $69 
million under the CSZ “wet” scenario.9 The city is expected to have around 48 daytime or 13 
nighttime casualties during the CSZ “dry” scenario and 61 daytime or 26 nighttime casualties 
during the CSZ “wet” scenario. It is expected that there will be a long-term displaced 
population of around 63 for the CSZ “dry” scenario and 235 for the CSZ “wet” scenario.10  

Portland Hills Fault Scenario 

The City of Gladstone is expected to have a 39% building loss ratio with a repair cost of $437 
million under the CSZ “dry” scenario, and 45% building loss ration with a repair cost of $504 
million under the CSZ “wet” scenario.11 The long-term displaced population and casualties 
are greatly increased for all the Portland Hills Fault scenarios. The city is expected to have 
around 351 daytime or 197 nighttime casualties during the Portland Hills Fault “dry” 
scenario and 394 daytime or 258 nighttime casualties during the Portland Hills Fault “wet” 
scenario. It is expected that there will be a long-term displaced population of around 1,816 
for the Portland Hills Fault “dry” scenario and 2,656 for the Portland Hills Fault “wet” 
scenario.12  

Recommendations from the report included topics within Planning, Recovery, Resiliency: 
Buildings, Resiliency: Infrastructure Improvements, Resiliency: Essential and Critical 
Facilities, Enhanced Emergency Management Tools, Database Improvements, Public 
Awareness, and Future Reports. The recommendations of this study are largely incorporated 
within this NHMPs mitigation strategies (Table GA-1 and Volume I, Section 3).  

                                                           

9 DOGAMI, Earthquake regional impact analysis for Clackamas, Multnomah, and Washington Counties, Oregon 
(2018, O-18-02), Tables 12-8 and 12-9. 
10 Ibid, Tables 12-8 and 12-9. 
11 Ibid, Tables 12-10 and 12-11 
12 Ibid, Tables 12-10 and 12-11. 

"Dry" Soil "Wet" Saturated Soil "Dry" Soil "Wet" Saturated Soil

Number of Buildings 4,022 4,022 4,022 4,022

Building Value ($ Million) 1,129 1,129 1,129 1,129

Building Repair Cost ($ Million) 51 69 437 504

Building Loss Ratio 5% 6% 39% 45%

Debris (Thousands of Tons) 27 32 139 157

Long-Term Displaced Population 63 235 1,816 2,656

Total Casualties (Daytime) 48 61 351 394

Level 4 (Killed) 3 3 11 24

Total Casualties (NIghttime) 13 26 197 258

Level 4 (Killed) 0 1 5 7

Cascadia Subduction Zone (M9.0) Portland Hills Fault (M6.8)

7 - 35



 

Page GA-28 March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

For more detailed information on the report, the damage estimates, and the 
recommendations see: Earthquake regional impact analysis for Clackamas, Multnomah, and 
Washington Counties, Oregon (2018, O-18-02). 

Please review Volume I, Section 2 for additional information on this hazard. 

Flood 

The HMAC determined that the City’s probability for flood is high and that their vulnerability 
to flood is high. These ratings did not change since the previous version of this NHMP 
addendum. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the characteristics of flood hazards, history, as well as the 
location, extent, and probability of a potential event. Figure GA-4 illustrates the flood hazard 
area for Gladstone.  

Figure GA-4 Special Flood Hazard Area 

 
Source: Oregon HazVu: Statewide Geohazards Viewer (DOGAMI) 

Note: To view detail click the link above to access Oregon HazVu 

While Gladstone does not show many areas within the FEMA mapped special flood hazard 
areas (100-year flood vulnerability), with roughly 274 acres (21% of the total land within the 
city) is located within the 100-year floodplain. A larger flooding event, such as the 500-year 
flood, could cause serious damage. The city can experience urban flooding which is primarily 
due to inadequate storm drain pipes, and culverts that are too small. Additionally, the 
extent of flooding will vary depending on climatic conditions and precipitation levels.  
Typically, roads are covered with water in urban flooding events, and water will occasionally 

7 - 36



 

Clackamas County NHMP March 2019  Page GA-29 

overflow manholes in some parts of the city. Newer homes are built on higher ground to 
avoid flooding issues, and many older homes have pumps within their crawlspaces to avoid 
flood events.  

Vulnerability Assessment  

Due to insufficient data and resources, Gladstone is currently unable to perform a 
quantitative risk assessment for this hazard. There are no critical facilities in the 100-year 
floodplain. The only essential facility exposed to flooding is the river View Care Center as 
well as sewer, water lines, and roads. These roads include Clackamas Blvd, Edgewater Rd, 
River Ln, Evergreen Ln, south end of Rinearson Rd, and the south end of Rivergreens Rd.  

Floods can have a devastating impact on almost every aspect of the community, including 
private property damage, public infrastructure damage, and economic loss from business 
interruption. It is important for the City to be aware of flooding impacts and assess its level 
of risk.  

The economic losses due to business closures often total more than the initial property 
losses that result from flood events. Business owners, and their employees are significantly 
impacted by flood events. Direct damages from flooding are the most common impacts, but 
indirect damages, such as diminished clientele, can be just as debilitating to a business.  

For mitigation planning purposes, it is important to recognize that flood risk for a 
community is not limited only to areas of mapped floodplains. Other portions of Gladstone 
outside of the mapped floodplains may also be at relatively high risk from over bank 
flooding from streams too small to be mapped by FEMA or from local storm water drainage. 

The extent of flooding hazards in Gladstone primarily depends on climate and precipitation 
levels. Additionally, withdrawals for irrigation and drinking water, as well as stream and 
wetland modifications or vegetation removal can influence water flow. In the past flooding 
has occurred along Edgewater Rd, Evergreen Ln, and Portland Ave. For a list of facilities and 
infrastructure vulnerable to this hazard see the Community Assets section and Tables GA-5 
through GA-10. 

Mitigation Activities 

Gladstone employs several mitigation strategies to reduce the city’s risk to flood events. The 
city development code includes policies and regulations for flood prone areas including the 
Water Quality Resources area district, Habitat Conservation area district, and Flood 
Management area district. Development review practices and conditions of development 
require developers to account for all stormwater management onsite to reduce the risks of 
urban flooding in the future. Gladstone regularly inspects and maintains the stormwater 
facilities. Enclosed pipe sections and catch basins are routinely cleaned and inspected using 
the combination truck, and a regular street sweeping program reduces the amount of debris 
and contaminants entering the stormwater system. The Stormwater Master Plan and Water 
System Mater Plan both address the potential for urban flooding and actions to avoid it in 
the future.  

National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) 

FEMA’s Flood Insurance Study (FIS), and Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRMs) are effective as 
of June 17, 2008. Table GA-13 shows that as of July 2018, Gladstone has 51 National Flood 
Insurance Program (NFIP) policies in force. Of those, 18 are for properties that were 

7 - 37



 

Page GA-30 March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

constructed before the initial FIRMs. Gladstone had a Community Assistance Visit (CAV) 
recently in June 2015, though it does not participate in the Community Rating System (CRS). 
The table shows that all flood insurance policies are for residential structures, primarily 
single-family homes. There has been a total of 11 paid claims for $152,331. The City 
complies with the NFIP through enforcement of their flood management area district and 
flood hazard regulations within their development code.  

The Community Repetitive Loss record for Gladstone identifies no Repetitive Loss 
Properties13 or Severe Repetitive Loss Properties14.  

Table GA-13 Flood Insurance Detail 

 
Source: Information compiled by Department of Land Conservation, and Development, July 2018. 
Note: The portion of the cities of Portland and Tualatin that are within Clackamas County are not  
included in this table. 
NP = Not Participating 

Please review Volume I, Section 2 for additional information on this hazard. 

                                                           

13 A Repetitive Loss (RL) property is any insurable building for which two or more claims of more than $1,000 
were paid by the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) within any rolling ten-year period, since 1978. A RL 
property may or may not be currently insured by the NFIP. 
14 A Severe Repetitive Loss (SRL) property is a single family property (consisting of 1 to 4 residences) that is 
covered under flood insurance by the NFIP, and has incurred flood-related damage for which 4 or more separate 
claims payments have been paid under flood insurance coverage, with the amount of each claim payment 
exceeding $5,000, and with cumulative amount of such claims payments exceeding $20,000; or for which at least 
2 separate claims payments have been made with the cumulative amount of such claims exceeding the reported 
value of the property. 

Clackamas County Gladstone

Effective FIRM and FIS 6/17/2008 6/17/2008

Initial FIRM Date  - 3/15/1977

Total Policies 1,957 51

Pre-FIRM Policies 1,086 18

Single  Family 1,761 42

2 to 4  Family 30 3

Other Residential 58 0

Non-Residential 9 0

Minus Rated A Zone 123 8

Insurance in Force $541,833,400 $15,276,400

Total  Paid Claims 590 11

Pre-FIRM Claims Paid 450 6

Substantial Damage Claims 83 0

Total Paid Amount $20,830,662 $152,331

Repetitive Loss Structures 51 0

Severe Repetitive Loss Properties 4 0

CRS Class Rating  - NP

Last Community Assistance Visit  - 6/1/2015

Policies by Building Type

7 - 38



 

Clackamas County NHMP March 2019  Page GA-31 

Landslide 

The HMAC determined that the City’s probability for landslide is moderate and that their 
vulnerability to landslide is moderate. These ratings did not change since the previous 
version of this NHMP addendum. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the characteristics of landslide hazards, history, as well as the 
location, extent, and probability of a potential event within the region. Gladstone does not 
have a history of landslides. This is due to the relatively flat topography within the UGB as 
well as the City’s requirements of geological analysis on slopes of 20% or greater, usually 
located along stream embankments, before extensive tree removal, excavation, or 
construction occurs.  

The biggest landslide threat is in the residential Oatfield/Oakridge corridor. This area has 
several steep slopes and slow ground movement. A home on Oakridge Drive slowly slid over 
the years and was eventually removed from the property. Ground movement is also 
common on Parkway and Caldwell, as several homeowners on these streets have put pilings 
under their homes.  

Landslide susceptibility exposure for Gladstone is shown in Figure GA-5. Most of Gladstone 
demonstrates a low landslide susceptibility exposure. Steep slopes are primarily located 
along the Willamette and Clackamas Rivers, some of these locations are in High Rocks Park, 
Cross Park, Dahl Park, and Meldrum Park. The McLoughlin/Risley Wetland, a tributary to the 
Willamette River, has small areas of steep slopes as well. There is approximately 7% within 
Gladstone that have very high or high landslide susceptibility exposure, while approximately 
22% show moderate landslide susceptibility exposure.15  

Note that even if a jurisdiction has a high percentage of area in a high or very high landslide 
exposure susceptibility zone, this does not mean there is a high risk, because risk is the 
intersection of hazard, and assets. 

Vulnerability Assessment  

Due to insufficient data and resources, Gladstone is currently unable to perform a 
quantitative risk assessment for this hazard. However, DOGAMI completed a statewide 
landslide susceptibility assessment in 2016 (O-16-02), general findings from that report are 
provided above and within Figure GA-5. 

Potential landslide-related impacts are adequately described within Volume I, Section 2, and 
include infrastructure damages, economic impacts (due to isolation, and/or arterial road 
closures), property damages, and obstruction to evacuation routes. Rain-induced landslides, 
and debris flows can potentially occur during any winter, and thoroughfares beyond City 
limits are susceptible to obstruction as well. For a list of facilities and infrastructure 
vulnerable to this hazard see the Community Assets section and Tables GA-5 through GA-10. 

The most common type of landslides are slides caused by erosion. Slides move in contact 
with the underlying surface, are generally slow moving, and can be deep. Rainfall-initiated 
landslides tend to be smaller; while earthquake induced landslides may be quite large. All 
soil types can be affected by natural landslide triggering conditions. 

                                                           

15 DOGAMI. Open-File Report, O-16-02, Landslide Susceptibility Overview Map of Oregon (2016) 

7 - 39



 

Page GA-32 March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

Figure GA-5 Landslide Susceptibility Exposure 

 
Source: Oregon HazVu: Statewide Geohazards Viewer (DOGAMI) 
Note: To view detail click the link above to access Oregon HazVu 

Mitigation Activities 

Gladstone works to mitigate future landslide hazards. The city development code includes 
several policies and regulations to protect slopes. Within the Comprehensive Plan there is 
language that make slopes of 25% or greater as unbuildable. The Municipal Code has 
surface and subsurface drainage requirements (17.56) to limit the potential of changes to 
surface drainage on slopes.     

Please review Volume I, Section 2 for additional information on this hazard. 

  

7 - 40



 

Clackamas County NHMP March 2019  Page GA-33 

Severe Weather 

Severe weather can account for a variety of intense, and potentially damaging hazard 
events. These events include extreme heat, windstorms, and winter storms. The following 
section describes the unique probability, and vulnerability of each identified weather 
hazard.  

Extreme Heat 

The HMAC determined that the City’s probability for extreme heat events is moderate and 
that their vulnerability is moderate. The probability rating increased, and the vulnerability 
rating did not change, since the previous version of this NHMP addendum. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the characteristics of extreme heat, history, as well as the 
location, extent, and probability of a potential event within the region. Generally, an event 
that affects the County is likely to affect the City as well.  

A severe heat episode or "heat wave" occurs about every two to three years, and typically 
lasting two to three days but can last as many as five days. A severe heat episode can be 
defined as consecutive days of upper 90s to around 100. Severe heat hazard in the Portland 
metro region can be described as the average number of days with temperatures greater 
than or equal to 90-degrees, or 100-degrees, Fahrenheit. On average the region experiences 
13.6 days with temperatures above 90-degrees Fahrenheit, and 1.4 days above 100-degrees 
Fahrenheit, based on new 30-year climate averages (1981-2010) from the National Weather 
Service – Portland Weather Forecast Office. 

The City of Gladstone has not experienced any life-threatening consequences from the few 
historical extreme heat events, although changes in climate indicate that the area should 
expect to see more extreme heat events. 

Please review Volume I, Section 2 for additional information on this hazard. 

Windstorm 

The HMAC determined that the City’s probability for windstorm is moderate and that their 
vulnerability to windstorm is moderate. The probability rating decreased and vulnerability 
rating did not change, since the previous version of this NHMP addendum. Previously, the 
severe storm hazard profile was a single risk assessment, which is now divided into three 
separate severe weather hazards: Extreme Heat, Windstorm, and Winter Storm. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the characteristics of windstorm hazards, history, as well as 
the location, extent, and probability of a potential event within the region. Because 
windstorms typically occur during winter months, they are sometimes accompanied by 
flooding and winter storms (ice, freezing rain, and very rarely, snow). Other severe weather 
events that may accompany windstorms, including thunderstorms, hail, lightning strikes, 
and tornadoes are generally negligible for Gladstone. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the impacts caused by windstorms, including power outages, 
downed trees, heavy precipitation, building damages, and storm-related debris. 
Additionally, transportation, and economic disruptions result as well.  

Damage from high winds generally has resulted in downed utility lines, and trees usually 
limited to several localized areas. Electrical power can be out anywhere from a few hours to 

7 - 41



 

Page GA-34 March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

several days. Outdoor signs have also suffered damage. If the high winds are accompanied 
by rain (which they often are), blowing leaves, and debris clog drainage-ways, which in turn 
may cause localized urban flooding.  

Please review Volume I, Section 2 for additional information on this hazard. 

Winter Storm (Snow/Ice) 

The HMAC determined that the City’s probability for winter storm is high and that their 
vulnerability to winter storm is moderate. These ratings did not change, since the previous 
version of this NHMP addendum. Previously, the severe storm hazard profile was a single risk 
assessment, which is now divided into three separate severe weather hazards: Extreme Heat, 
Windstorm, and Winter Storm. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the characteristics of winter storm hazards, history, as well as 
the location, extent, and probability of a potential event within the region. Severe winter 
storms can consist of rain, freezing rain, ice, snow, cold temperatures, and wind. They 
originate from troughs of low pressure offshore that ride along the jet stream during fall, 
winter, and early spring months. Severe winter storms affecting the City typically originate 
in the Gulf of Alaska or in the central Pacific Ocean. These storms are most common from 
November through March. 

The biggest impact of winter storms is congestion on roadways. In 2016 and 2017 the 
Governor declared a state of emergency for the county, though no major damage was 
reported in city limits.  

Most winter storms typically do not cause significant damage, they are frequent, and have 
the potential to impact economic activity. Road, and rail closures due to winter weather are 
an uncommon occurrence but can interrupt commuter, and commercial traffic as noted 
above.  

Vulnerability Assessment 

Due to insufficient data and resources, Gladstone is currently unable to perform a 
quantitative risk assessment, or exposure analysis, for the extreme heat, windstorm, and 
winter storm hazards. For a list of facilities and infrastructure vulnerable to these hazards 
see the Community Assets section and Tables GA-5 through GA-10. 

Mitigation Activities 

Mitigating severe weather can be difficult because storms affect all areas of the city, but 
Gladstone has made progress to reduce the effects of storms. Most utilities are above 
ground, though all new utilities are required to be undergrounded. All water, phone and 
sewer lines have been placed underground. Gladstone also has snowplows and clears 
arterials first to help expedite snow removal. 

Please review Volume I, Section 2 for additional information on this hazard. 

  

7 - 42



 

Clackamas County NHMP March 2019  Page GA-35 

Volcanic Event 

The HMAC determined that the City’s probability for a volcanic event is low and that their 
vulnerability to a volcanic event is low. The probability rating did not change, while the 
vulnerability decreased since the previous version of this NHMP addendum. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the characteristics of volcanic hazards, history, as well as the 
location, extent, and probability of a potential event within the region. Generally, an event 
that affects the western portion of the County is likely to affect Gladstone as well. Several 
volcanoes are located near Gladstone, the closest of which are Mount Hood, Mount Adams, 
Mount Saint Helens, Mount Rainier, and the Three Sisters. 

Vulnerability Assessment 

Due to insufficient data and resources, Gladstone is currently unable to perform a 
quantitative risk assessment, or exposure analysis, for this hazard. For a list of facilities and 
infrastructure vulnerable to this hazard see the Community Assets section and Tables GA-5 
through GA-10. 

Due to Gladstone’s relative distance from volcanoes, the city is unlikely to experience the 
immediate effects that eruptions have on surrounding areas (i.e., mud and debris flows, or 
lahars). Depending on wind patterns and which volcano erupts, however, the city may 
experience ashfall. The eruption of Mount St. Helens in 1980, for example, coated the 
Willamette Valley with a fine layer of ash. If Mount Hood erupts, however, the city could 
experience a heavier coating of ash. 

Mitigation Activities 

The existing volcano hazard mitigation activities are conducted at the county, regional, 
state, and federal levels and are described in the Clackamas County NHMP. 

Please review Volume I, Section 2 for additional information on this hazard. 

Wildfire 

The HMAC determined that the City’s probability for wildfire is moderate, and that their 
vulnerability to wildfire is moderate. These ratings did not change since the previous version 
of this NHMP addendum. 

The 2017 Clackamas County Community Wildfire Protection Plan (CWPP) was completed in 
May 2018. The CWPP is hereby incorporated into this NHMP addendum by reference, and it 
will serve as the wildfire section for this addendum. The following presents a summary of 
key information; refer to the full CWPP for a complete description, and evaluation of the 
wildfire hazard: https://www.clackamas.us/dm/CWPP.html. Information specific to 
Gladstone is found in the following chapter: Chapter 10.6: Gladstone Fire Department. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the characteristics of wildland fire hazards, history, as well as 
the location, extent, and probability of a potential event within the region. The location, and 
extent of a wildland fire vary depending on fuel, topography, and weather conditions. 
Weather, and urbanization conditions are primarily at cause for the hazard level. Gladstone 
has not experienced a wildfire within City limits, but the city has abundant wooded areas 
that are a concern in the case of a wildfire event. Figure GA-6 shows overall wildfire risk in 
Gladstone. 

7 - 43



 

Page GA-36 March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

Clackamas County has two major physiographic regions: the Willamette River Valley in 
western Clackamas County and the Cascade Range Mountains in eastern and southern 
Clackamas County. The Willamette River Valley, which includes Gladstone, is the most 
heavily populated portion of the county and is characterized by flat or gently hilly 
topography. The Cascade Range has a relatively small population and is characterized by 
heavily forested slopes. Eastern Clackamas County is at higher risk to wildfire than western 
portions of the county due to its dense forest land. Human caused fires are responsible for 
most fires in Clackamas County. In Gladstone most instances the fires have been small 
enough to contain quickly and easily.  

Figure GA-6 Overall Wildfire Risk 

Source: Oregon Wildfire Risk Explorer, date accessed November 9, 2018. 

Gladstone is surrounded mostly by urban areas which creates a buffer from the forested 
areas. There are some areas of heavy tree coverage and other fuel supplies include the open 
field along Webster Rd, Billy Goat Island, Meldrum Bar, and Nick Shannon Park. Additionally, 
these areas are located adjacent to potential wildfire hazard zones: the business corridor 
along Highway 99E, area between Ridgegate Dr and Parkway Dr, area near Bird Song Way, 
Rinearson Creek wetlands, and the Oatfield/Oakridge corridor. Identified High and Medium 
Priority Communities at Risk (CARs) located within the City are: (High) Billy Goat Island, Dahl 
Beach, Parkway Woods, and (Medium) Risley Wetlands.16 Wildfires are not a frequent 
occurrence within the city, but regional wildfires occasionally introduce pollutants within 

                                                           

16 Clackamas County Community Wildfire Protection Plan, Molalla Fire Department (2018), Table 10.13-1. 

7 - 44



 

Clackamas County NHMP March 2019  Page GA-37 

the city. Gladstone sits in the bottom of a valley, and pollution from regional fires settles in 
the area, causing health concerns for residents. 

Most of the city has less severe (moderate or less) wildfire burn probability that includes 
expected flame lengths less than four-feet under normal weather conditions.17 However, 
conditions vary widely and with local topography, fuels, and local weather (including wind) 
conditions. Under warm, dry, windy, and drought conditions expect higher likelihood of fire 
starts, higher intensity, more ember activity, and a more difficult to control wildfire that will 
include more fire effects and impacts. 

Vulnerability Assessment 

Due to insufficient data and resources, Gladstone is currently unable to perform a 
quantitative risk assessment, or exposure analysis, for this hazard. For a list of facilities and 
infrastructure vulnerable to this hazard see the Community Assets section and Tables GA-5 
through GA-10. 

The potential community impacts, and vulnerabilities described in Volume I, Section 2 are 
generally accurate for the City as well. Gladstone’s fire response is addressed within the 
CWPP which assesses wildfire risk, maps wildland urban interface areas, and includes 
actions to mitigate wildfire risk. The City will update the City’s wildfire risk assessment if the 
fire plan presents better data during future updates (an action item is included to 
participate in future updates to the CWPP).  

Property can be damaged or destroyed with one fire as structures, vegetation, and other 
flammables easily merge to become unpredictable, and hard to manage. Other factors that 
affect ability to effectively respond to a wildfire include access to the location, and to water, 
response time from the fire station, availability of personnel, and equipment, and weather 
(e.g., heat, low humidity, high winds, and drought). 

Mitigation Activities 

Gladstone uses several mitigation tools to reduce the city’s risk to wildfires. Gladstone Fire 
Department adopted a district-wide wildland map that governs new construction, and an 
active public education program for high risk-wildfire areas (including information on fire 
prevention and defensible space). 

Please review the 2017 Clackamas Community Wildfire Protection Plan (CWPP) and  
Volume I, Section 2 for additional information on this hazard.  

                                                           

17 Oregon Wildfire Risk Explorer, date accessed November 9, 2018. 

7 - 45



 

Page GA-38 March 2019  Gladstone Addendum 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

7 - 46



Clackamas County NHMP March 2019 Page GA-39 

ATTACHMENT A: 

ACTION ITEM FORMS 

ACTION ITEM FORMS 

Multi-Hazard #1 ........................................................................................................................... 43 
Multi-Hazard #2 ........................................................................................................................... 44 
Multi-Hazard #3 ........................................................................................................................... 45 
Multi-Hazard #4 ........................................................................................................................... 46 
Multi-Hazard #5 ........................................................................................................................... 47 
Multi-Hazard #6* ......................................................................................................................... 48 
Multi-Hazard #7* ......................................................................................................................... 49 
Earthquake #1 .............................................................................................................................. 50 
Flood #1........................................................................................................................................ 51 
Flood #2........................................................................................................................................ 52 
Flood #3........................................................................................................................................ 53 
Landslide #1 ................................................................................................................................. 54 
Severe Weather #1 ...................................................................................................................... 55 
Wildfire #1* .................................................................................................................................. 56 

 
* - Priority Action Item  

Note: The HMAC decided to modify the prioritization of action items in this update to reflect current 
conditions (risk assessment), needs, and capacity. 

Summary of Action Changes 

Below is a list of changes to the action items since the previous plan.  

Previous NHMP Actions Completed:  

Multi-Hazard #6 (2012/2013): “Update and revise the Gladstone Emergency Operations Plan” was 
updated. In 2014 the City updated the Emergency Operations Plan and is now transitioning this 
action item into maintaining the plan. 

Flood Action #3 (2012/2013): “Develop a Stormwater Master Plan” was updated. In 2014 the City 
completed its Stormwater Master Plan and is now transitioning this action item into maintaining and 
implementing the plan they completed.  

See 2018 status identified in each action for activities that have been completed since the previous 
plan. 

  

7 - 47



Page GA-40 March 2019 Gladstone Addendum 

New NHMP Actions added to this version (2019):  

Multi-Hazard #5 (2018/2019): “Maintain the Gladstone Emergency Operations Plan” revised the 
2012 MH#6. In 2014 the City updated the Emergency Operations Plan and is now transitioning this 
action item into maintaining the plan. 

Multi-Hazard #7 (2018/2019): “Update failing water distribution system” was added.  

Flood Action #3 (2018/2019): “Maintain and implement the Gladstone Stormwater Master Plan” 
revised the 2012 FL#3. In 2014 the City completed its Stormwater Master Plan and is now 
transitioning this action item into maintaining and implementing the plan they completed.  

Wildfire Action #1 (2018/2019): “Coordinate wildfire mitigation action items through the Clackamas 
County Community Wildfire Protection Plan” was added and replaced 2012 WF#1 and WF#2.  

Previous NHMP Actions Removed from this version:  

Multi-Hazard Action #3 (2012/2013): “Continue to update and improve hazard assessments in the 
Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan as new information becomes available” was removed from the list 
since it was determined by the steering committee that this is a function of their Implementation 
and Maintenance Plan and considered during the five-year plan updates and did not need to be 
included as an action. 

Multi-Hazard Action #8 (2012/2013): “Identify and pursue funding opportunities to develop and 
implement hazard mitigation activities” was removed from the list since it was determined by the 
steering committee that this is a function of their Implementation and Maintenance Plan and did 
not need to be included as an action.  

Wildfire Action #1 (2012/2013): “Conduct community based fuel reduction demonstration projects 
in the wildland urban interface” was removed from the list since it was determined by the steering 
committee that this is a function of the Clackamas County Wildfire Protection Plan, which is a new 
action item, and did not need to be separated out as an individual action.  

Wildfire Action #2 (2012/2013): “Promote fire resistant strategies for new and existing 
developments” was removed from the list since it was determined by the steering committee that 
this is a function of the Clackamas County Wildfire Protection Plan, which is a new action item, and 
did not need to be separated out as an individual action.  

Note: 2012/2013 Actions MH#4, MH#5, MH#6 and MH#7 were renumbered to 2018/2019 Actions 
MH#3, MH#4, MH#5, and MH#6.  
 

  

7 - 48



Clackamas County NHMP March 2019 Page GA-41 

Action Item Forms 

Each action item has a corresponding action item worksheet describing the activity, 
identifying the rationale for the project, identifying potential ideas for implementation, and 
assigning coordinating and partner organizations. The action item worksheets can assist the 
community in pre-packaging potential projects for grant funding. The worksheet 
components are described below. 

ALIGNMENT WITH EXISTING PLANS/POLICIES 

The Clackamas County NHMP includes a range of action items that, when implemented, will 
reduce loss from hazard events in the County, participating cities, and special districts. 
Within the plan, FEMA requires the identification of existing programs that might be used to 
implement these action items. The City addresses statewide planning goals and legislative 
requirements through its comprehensive land use plan, capital improvements plan, 
mandated standards and building codes. To the extent possible, the City will work to 
incorporate the recommended mitigation action items into existing programs and 
procedures. Each action item identifies related existing plans and policies. 

STATUS/RATIONALE FOR PROPOSED ACTION ITEM 

Action items should be fact-based and tied directly to issues or needs identified throughout 
the planning process. Action items can be developed at any time during the planning 
process and can come from several sources, including participants in the planning process, 
noted deficiencies in local capability, or issues identified through the risk assessment. The 
rationale for proposed action items is based on the information documented in Section 2. 
The worksheet provides information on the activities that have occurred since the previous 
plan for each action item. 

IDEAS FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

The ideas for implementation offer a transition from theory to practice and serve as a 
starting point for this plan. This component of the action item is dynamic, since some ideas 
may prove to not be feasible, and new ideas may be added during the plan maintenance 
process. Ideas for implementation include such things as collaboration with relevant 
organizations, grant programs, tax incentives, human resources, education and outreach, 
research, and physical manipulation of buildings and infrastructure.  

COORDINATING (LEAD) ORGANIZATION: 

The coordinating organization is the public agency with the regulatory responsibility to 
address natural hazards, or that is willing and able to organize resources, find appropriate 
funding, or oversee activity implementation, monitoring and evaluation. 

INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL PARTNERS: 

The internal and external partner organizations listed in the Action Item Worksheets are 
potential partners recommended by the project HMAC but not necessarily contacted during 
the development of the plan. The coordinating organization should contact the identified 
partner organizations to see if they are capable of and interested in participation. This initial 
contact is also to gain a commitment of time and/or resources toward completion of the 
action items. 

7 - 49



Page GA-42 March 2019 Gladstone Addendum 

Internal partner organizations are departments within the City or other participating 
jurisdiction that may be able to assist in the implementation of action items by providing 
relevant resources to the coordinating organization. 

External partner organizations can assist the coordinating organization in implementing the 
action items in various functions and may include local, regional, state, or federal agencies, 
as well as local and regional public and private sector organizations. 

PLAN GOALS ADDRESSED: 

The plan goals addressed by each action item are identified as a means for monitoring and 
evaluating how well the mitigation plan is achieving its goals, following implementation. 

TIMELINE: 

All broad scale action items have been determined to be ongoing, as opposed to short-term 
(0 to 2 years) or long-term (3 or more years). This is because the action items are broad 
ideas, and although actions may be implemented to address the broad ideas, the efforts 
should be ongoing.  

POTENTIAL FUNDING SOURCE 

Where possible potential funding sources have been identified. Example funding sources 
may include: Federal Hazard Mitigation Assistance programs, state funding sources such as 
the Oregon Seismic Rehabilitation Grant Program, or local funding sources such as capital 
improvement or general funds. An action item may include several potential funding 
sources. 

ESTIMATED COST 

A rough estimate of the cost for implementing each action item is included. Costs are shown 
in general categories showing low, medium, or high cost. The estimated cost for each 
category is outlined below: 

Low - Less than $50,000 
Medium - $50,000 – $100,000 
High - More than $100,000 

  

7 - 50



Clackamas County NHMP March 2019 Page GA-43 

Multi-Hazard #1 

Proposed Action Item Alignment with Plan Goals:  

Integrate the goals and mitigation actions from the Gladstone 
Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan into existing regulatory 
documents and programs, where appropriate. 

Protect Life and Property; Enhance 
Natural Systems; Augment 
Emergency Services; Encourage 
Partnerships for Implementation; 
Promote Public Awareness 

Alignment with Existing Plans/Policies: 

Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan; Comprehensive Plan 

2018 Status/Rationale for Proposed Action Item:   

• The Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000 requires communities to identify actions and projects that 
reduce the effects of hazards on the community [201.6(c)(3)(ii)].  Incorporating natural hazards 
plans into comprehensive plans, local ordinances, and land-use regulations will ensure that 
communities implement the proper mitigation measures for their community. 

• 2012 Status: The city adopted the 2008 FEMA maps and studies, and the updated areas of the 
development code that require stormwater detention on lots before releasing it to waterways 
(approved by the Planning Commission and City Council in September, 2009). Metro is now an 
external partner instead of a coordinating organization. The 2009 update expanded the action 
item to include ideas for implementation. 

• 2018 Status: Several plans have been updated – Water System Master Plan (2014), Stormwater 
Master Plan (2014), Sanitary Sewer Master Plan (2017). Parks Master Plan (2017), Transportation 
Master Plan (2017). The comprehensive plan has not been updated since 2006. The City could use 
technical assistance on comprehensive plan/code review and updates (potential funding: DLCD 
Technical Assistance Grant). 

Ideas for Implementation:  

• Use the mitigation plan to help the update the Goal 7 section within Gladstone’s Comprehensive 
Land Use Plan;  

• Integrate mitigation actions into current plans and policies where appropriate in order to ensure 
that mitigation becomes an integral component of the city’s long term priorities; and 

• Use the natural hazard mitigation planning resources provided by the Oregon Partnership for 
Disaster Resilience to learn how to better integrate the NHMP into existing documents and 
programs (to be released Spring, 2010). 

• Look into technical assistance on comprehensive plan or municipal code review and updates 

Coordinating Organization: Planning  

Internal Partners:  External Partners: 

Planning Commission Metro, Clackamas County Emergency Management, 
Oregon Office of Emergency Management, FEMA 

Potential Funding Sources:  Estimated cost: Timeline: 

General Fund; DLCD Technical Assistance 
Grant 

Low  
  Short Term (0-2 years) 

  Long Term (2-4+ years) 
X  Ongoing 

Form Submitted by: Added during the 2009 plan development process 

Priority: Medium 

  

7 - 51



Page GA-44 March 2019 Gladstone Addendum 

Multi-Hazard #2 

Proposed Action Item:  Alignment with Plan Goals:  

Develop, enhance, and implement education programs 
designed to reduce the losses from natural hazards. 

Protect Life and Property; Augment 
Emergency Services; Encourage 
Partnerships for Implementation; 
Promote Public Awareness 

Alignment with Existing Plans/Policies: 

 

2018 Status/Rationale for Proposed Action Item:   

• The Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000 requires that communities continue to involve the public 
beyond the original planning process [201.6(c)(4)(ii)]. Developing public education programs for 
hazard risk mitigation would be a way to keep the public informed of, and involved in, the 
county’s actions to mitigate hazards. 

• 2012 Status: The City Newsletter regularly includes articles about emergency preparedness and 
hazard mitigation, especially as hazard seasons approach. GEMS canvasses the city and passes out 
emergency preparedness/mitigation information at community events such as Chautauqua and 
National Night Out. A GEMS subcommittee focuses on one type of hazard at a time and targets 
educational pieces about that hazard. Events include an “Emergency Preparedness 101” class at 
the senior center, preparedness presentations at the LDS church, and fire and police booths every 
August at the Chautauqua Festival. The city plans to have a rehearsal shelter exercise in fall 2012. 

• 2018 Status: Continue to utilize the resources noted above, particularly city newsletter, social 
media (twitter, facebook, next door, Instagram) 

Ideas for Implementation:  

• Gather hazard related information and public information materials, and disseminate to the public 
through the Gladstone City Newsletter and city website;  

• Identify property owners in the flood, landslide, and wildfire hazard zones, and conduct a targeted 
mailing to disseminate hazard information; 

• Encourage local businesses to develop business continuity plans;  

• Partner with Clackamas County and other jurisdictions to develop education outreach for all 
hazards; 

• Conduct public education as hazard seasons approach. Provide information for earthquake 
awareness month in April, wildfire prevention in summer, and flood and severe storm information 
in winter; 

• Post hazard information on the Gladstone Fire Department website;  

• Prepare and distribute an informational brochure on unstable slopes, historical landslide areas, 
and mitigation strategies; and 

• Encourage individual homeowners to implement mitigation practices. 

Coordinating Organization: Gladstone Emergency Management and Support (GEMS) 

Internal Partners:  External Partners: 

Police, Fire Clackamas County Emergency Management 

Potential Funding Sources:  Estimated cost: Timeline: 

General Fund, DLCD Technical Assistance 
Grant 

Low  
  Short Term (0-2 years) 

  Long Term (2-4+ years) 
X  Ongoing 

Form Submitted by: Added during the 2009 plan development process 

Priority: Medium 

7 - 52



Clackamas County NHMP March 2019 Page GA-45 

 

Multi-Hazard #3  

Proposed Action Item:  Alignment with Plan Goals:  

Improve vegetation management throughout the city.   Protect Life and Property; Enhance 
Natural Systems; Encourage 
Partnerships for Implementation; 
Promote Public Awareness 

Alignment with Existing Plans/Policies: 

 

2018 Status/Rationale for Proposed Action Item:   

• The Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000 requires communities to identify actions and projects that 
reduce the effects of hazards on the community [201.6(c)(3)(ii)].  Incorporating vegetation 
management into comprehensive plans, local ordinances, and land-use regulations will ensure 
that communities implement the proper mitigation measures for their community. 

• 2012 Status: The city continues to clear fueling vegetation in green spaces, utilizes the jail work 
crew for work around the city, and continues hazardous tree removal efforts. Several volunteer 
and local service clubs and organizations continue to be committed to removing invasive species 
and replacing them with native species.  

• 2018 Status: Includes codes enforcement, education, utilities manage vegetation around their 
infrastructure. 

Ideas for Implementation:  

• Partner with Clackamas County, Oregon Department of Forestry, US Forestry Service, ODOT, and 
citizens to control vegetation along transportation corridors;  

• Identify appropriate practices for eliminating invasive species such as blackberry and English Ivy;  

• Maintain vegetation coverage for slope stability;  

• Provide education to the public about justifications for, and benefits of vegetation mitigation 
practices; and  

• Encourage fuels reduction on private property by providing education for pruning and remove 
trees and using native vegetation  

Coordinating Organization: Public Works 

Internal Partners:  External Partners: 

Fire Clackamas Soil and Water Conservation District, Fire 
Co-op, Oregon Department of Forestry, US Forestry 
Service, Clackamas County, Clackamas River Basin 
Council, ODOT 

Potential Funding Sources:  Estimated cost: Timeline: 

General Fund Low 
  Short Term (0-2 years) 

  Long Term (2-4+ years) 
X  Ongoing 

Form Submitted by: Added during the 2009 plan development process 

Priority: Medium 

  

7 - 53



Page GA-46 March 2019 Gladstone Addendum 

Multi-Hazard #4 

Proposed Action Item:  Alignment with Plan Goals:  

Enhance strategies for debris management for all hazards. Protect Life and Property; Enhance 
Natural Systems; Encourage 
Partnerships for Implementation 

Alignment with Existing Plans/Policies: 

 

2018 Status/Rationale for Proposed Action Item:   

• Landscaping and vegetation make a difference in mitigating the impacts of natural hazards.  Trees 
break the force of the wind and stabilize the soil.  Wetlands absorb much of the overflow from 
stream channels. Fire-resistant vegetation can retard the spread of wildfires toward vulnerable 
buildings. Limiting or regulating the amount of vegetation cleared off a hillside lot reduces the risk 
of increasing the number of landslide-prone areas in a community. Planting vegetation or 
maintaining slope terraces can also reduce slope- runoff. Planners can use landscaping 
requirements to preserve or enhance he protection such natural features afford. These 
requirements may be part of site plan reviews or a separate set of zoning regulations and 
environmental performance standards. 

• 2012 Status: Action was not implemented due to limited staff time and resources. The 2009 
update added ideas for implementation. As of 2012, the city continues leaf pickup in the fall to 
prevent streets from clogging and buildup.  

• 2018 Status: City worked with County to create the regional Disaster Debris Management Plan. 
Local site for debris deposition identified (9090 McLoughlin Blvd). 

Ideas for Implementation:  

• Research debris management strategies used by other jurisdictions;  

• Develop a debris management plan;  

• Obtain funding for better equipment to handle debris; and  

• Partner with neighboring jurisdictions and organizations to manage debris during disasters. 

Coordinating Organization: Public Works 

Internal Partners:  External Partners: 

City Administrator’s Office Gladstone Disposal, Clackamas County, Metro 

Potential Funding Sources:  Estimated cost: Timeline: 

General Fund Low 
  Short Term (0-2 years) 

  Long Term (2-4+ years) 
X  Ongoing 

Form Submitted by: Added during the 2009 plan development process 

Priority: Medium 

  

7 - 54



Clackamas County NHMP March 2019 Page GA-47 

Multi-Hazard #5 

Proposed Action Item:  Alignment with Plan Goals:  

Maintain the Gladstone Emergency Operations Plan. Protect Life and Property; Augment 
Emergency Services; Encourage 
Partnerships for Implementation 

Alignment with Existing Plans/Policies: 

Emergency Operations Plan 

2018 Status/Rationale for Proposed Action Item:   

• Mapping out evacuation routes for all hazards before those hazards occur help first responders 
and residents know the routes to take when a situation arises.  

• 2012 Status: Action was not implemented due to limited staff time and resources. The EOP was 
last updated in 2005 and GEMS works with it the plan on a regular basis. Public Works receives 
updates from PGE when their EOP has changes. As of 2012, the Emergency Operations Plan is 
currently in the process of being updated. The GEMS group meets 3 times a quarter and continues 
to work to get the public involved and aware. 

• 2018 Status: EOP updated in 2014. 

Ideas for Implementation:  

• Consult and integrate appropriate information from neighboring jurisdictions’ emergency 
operations plans such as the Clackamas County Emergency Operations Plan and the PGE 
Emergency Operations Plan  

Coordinating Organization: Police 

Internal Partners:  External Partners: 

Public Works; Fire; City Administrator’s 
Office 

Clackamas County, Oregon City, Milwaukie, West Linn  

Potential Funding Sources:  Estimated cost: Timeline: 

General Fund Low 

X  Short Term (0-2 years) 

  Long Term (2-4+ years) 

  Ongoing 

Form Submitted by: Added during the 2005 plan update process 

Priority: Medium 

  

7 - 55



Page GA-48 March 2019 Gladstone Addendum 

Multi-Hazard #6* 

Proposed Action Item:  Alignment with Plan Goals:  

Evaluate and upgrade stormwater management 
infrastructure and identify appropriate mitigation strategies. 

Protect Life and Property; Enhance 
Natural Systems; Augment 
Emergency Services; Encourage 
Partnerships for Implementation 

Alignment with Existing Plans/Policies: 

Stormwater Management Plan; Capital Improvement Plan 

2018 Status/Rationale for Proposed Action Item:   

• Stormwater management infrastructure is very important for various types of hazards.  

• 2012 Status: Gladstone has mapped the water system using GPS units and continues to map 
surface water management areas. The city has tentative plans for updating the stormwater 
system in Municipal Separate Storm Sewer (MS4) plans. Funding to replace the asbestos concrete 
water lines is ongoing. The 2009 update now lists Oak Lodge Sanitary District as an external 
partner instead of a coordinating organization.  

• 2018 Status: MOU with DEQ regarding stormwater/sanitary sewer overflow concerns. Stormwater 
Master Plan updated in 2014. Gladstone has completed water, sewer, and stormwater master 
plans. Gladstone is currently working on sustainable funding for its utilities to address its 
infrastructure needs. 

Ideas for Implementation:  

• Identify culverts that are insufficient for handling high flows and obtain funding for upgrades;  

• Obtain funding to replace or line antiquated clay sewer lines in the downtown area 

• Obtain funding to replace 16 miles of asbestos concrete water lines in Oak Ridge area (landslide 
prone) with ductile iron. 

Coordinating Organization: Public Works 

Internal Partners:  External Partners: 

City Administrator’s Office Oak Lodge Sanitary District, URS Corporation 
(engineering firm), WES 

Potential Funding Sources:  Estimated cost: Timeline: 

General Fund High 
  Short Term (0-2 years) 
X   Long Term (2-4+ years) 

  Ongoing 

Form Submitted by: Added during the 2009 plan update process 

Priority: High  

* Indicates High Priority Action Item 
  

7 - 56



Clackamas County NHMP March 2019 Page GA-49 

Multi-Hazard #7* 

Proposed Action Item:  Alignment with Plan Goals:  

Update failing water distribution system. Protect Life and Property; Enhance 
Natural Systems; Promote Public 
Awareness 

Alignment with Existing Plans/Policies: 

Water System Management Plan; Gladstone Projects; Capital Improvement Plan 

2018 Status/Rationale for Proposed Action Item:   

• Water infrastructure is very important for various types of hazards.  

Ideas for Implementation:  

 

Coordinating Organization: Public Works 

Internal Partners:  External Partners: 

Fire; City Administrator’s Office URS Corporation 

Potential Funding Sources:  Estimated cost: Timeline: 

General Fund Medium to High 
  Short Term (0-2 years) 
X  Long Term (2-4+ years) 

  Ongoing 

Form Submitted by: New Action Item 

Priority: High  

* Indicates High Priority Action Item 
  

7 - 57



Page GA-50 March 2019 Gladstone Addendum 

Earthquake #1 

Proposed Action Item:  Alignment with Plan Goals:  

Conduct seismic evaluations on identified critical/essential 
facilities and infrastructure for implementing appropriate 
structural and non-structural mitigation strategies. 

Protect Life and Property; Augment 
Emergency Services 

Alignment with Existing Plans/Policies: 

Comprehensive Plan 

2018 Status/Rationale for Proposed Action Item:   

• Pre-disaster mitigation strategies will reduce post-disaster response needs by lessening life loss, 
injury, damage, and disruption. 

• 2012 Status: Partially Complete/Deferred: The Gladstone Fire Station received a grant for seismic 
upgrades. An engineering firm has been hired but the project will not be fully completed for a 
couple more years. In 1996 the upper reservoir had seismic upgrades done, and all new reservoirs 
are seismically upgraded. GEMS educate citizens on nonstructural mitigation projects and 
distribute Red Cross information pamphlets at community events. As of 2012, the seismic upgrade 
to the fire department has been completed. The city of Gladstone is seeking funding for the 
possible upgrade to police and city hall. This project is still in the decision phase. 

• 2018 Status: Police Department retrofit via 2013-2014 SRGP grant. The City is building a new Civic 
Center to house City Hall and the Police Station at 18505 Portland Ave to be completed in 2020: 
https://www.ci.gladstone.or.us/generalnews/project/gladstone-civic-center  

Ideas for Implementation:  

• Obtain funding to perform evaluations; 

• Obtain funding to retrofit/replace the Police and Fire Station (City Hall) as a model project for 
other critical facilities in Gladstone. 

• Prioritize seismic upgrades based on criticality of need and population served; and 

• Partner with agencies responsible for maintaining the 205 Bridge, Oregon City Bridge, and the 
sewerage treatment walking bridge to upgrade these bridges.  

 

Coordinating Organization: City Administrator’s Office 

Internal Partners:  External Partners: 

Fire, Police, Gladstone Emergency 
Management and Support, Public Works 

ODOT, Clackamas County, WES, Oak Lodge Sanitary, 
DOGAMI, FEMA 

Potential Funding Sources:  Estimated cost: Timeline: 

General Fund, Seismic Rehabilitation Grant 
Program, Hazard Mitigation Assistance 
Grants 

Moderate to High 
  Short Term (0-2 years) 
X  Long Term (2-4+ years) 

  Ongoing 

Form Submitted by: Added during the 2009 plan development process 

Priority: Medium 

  

7 - 58



Clackamas County NHMP March 2019 Page GA-51 

Flood #1 

Proposed Action Item:  Alignment with Plan Goals:  

Ensure continued compliance in the National Flood Insurance 
Program through enforcement of local floodplain 
management ordinances. 

Protect Life and Property; Enhance 
Natural Systems; Augment 
Emergency Services; Encourage 
Partnerships for Implementation 

Alignment with Existing Plans/Policies: 

Stormwater Master Plan 

2018 Status/Rationale for Proposed Action Item:   

• The Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000 requires communities to identify mitigation actions that 
address new and existing buildings and infrastructure [201.6(c)(3)(ii)]. The Stormwater Master 
Plan addresses the issues around urban flooding that Molalla is currently vulnerable to.  

• 2018 Status: The Dahl Beach project was completed in 2016 and is still in its 5 year monitoring 
phase to make sure that it will mitigate or improve environmental conditions as well as decrease 
flooding. The City continues to have flooding issues along the Clackamas River and during rain 
events due to inadequate storm drainage. The City Council passed utility increases for 2018-2019 
for improving the water and sewage infrastructure.  

Ideas for Implementation:  

• Community Assistance Visits (CAV) are scheduled visits to communities participating in the NFIP 
for: 1) conducting a comprehensive assessment of the community's floodplain management 
program; 2) assisting the community and its staff in understanding the NFIP and its requirements; 
and 3) assisting the community in implementing effective flood loss reduction measures when 
program deficiencies or violations are discovered. Actively participate with DLCD and FEMA during 
Community Assistance Visits;  

• Assess the floodplain ordinances to ensure they reflect current flood hazards and situations, and 
meet NFIP requirements; 

• Coordinate with the county to ensure that floodplain ordinances and NFIP regulations are 
maintained and enforced; and  

• Mitigate areas that are prone to flooding and/or have the potential to flood. These areas include 
Clackamas Blvd., Edgewater Road, River Lane, Evergreen Lane, Rivergreen Golf Course, Dahl Park, 
Meldrum Bar Park, south end of Rivergreens Road (Rivergreens Apartments), complex on River 
Road south of Rivergreens Apartment, south end of Jensen Road (golf course), bottom of 
Rinearson Road, and Glen Echo between Addie and Portland Avenue. 

 

Coordinating Organization: City Administrator’s Office 

Internal Partners:  External Partners: 

Fire, Public Works FEMA, DLCD, Clackamas County Planning Department 

Potential Funding Sources:  Estimated cost: Timeline: 

General Fund Low 
  Short Term (0-2 years) 

  Long Term (2-4+ years) 
X  Ongoing 

Form Submitted by: Added during the 2009 plan development process 

Priority: Medium 

7 - 59



Page GA-52 March 2019 Gladstone Addendum 

Flood #2 

Proposed Action Item:  Alignment with Plan Goals:  

Coordinate with Clackamas County to address the flooding 
issues on Glen Echo that stem from the two-way diversion on 
Hull Avenue put in by Clackamas County. 

Protect Life and Property; Enhance 
Natural Systems; Encourage 
Partnerships for Implementation 

Alignment with Existing Plans/Policies: 

Stormwater Master Plan;  

2018 Status/Rationale for Proposed Action Item:   

• Glen Echo Wetland is 2.97 acres and was dedicated to the city in 1988. There are issues around 
the two way diversion on Hull Avenue. 

• 2018 Status: The City replaced the pump at Glen Echo, though there are still bottlenecks and 
floods in the area.  

Ideas for Implementation:  

• Hire an engineering firm to conduct a study on areas that have flooded since the two-way 
diversion was put in, including Glen Echo and Rinearson Road;  

• Identify appropriate staff members to present the flooding issues to Clackamas County; 

• Develop an Intergovernmental Agreement with Clackamas County; and  

• Work with county staff to develop mitigation projects to alleviate the flooding problems. 
 

Coordinating Organization: Public Works 

Internal Partners:  External Partners: 

City Administrator’s Office FEMA, DLCD, Clackamas County Planning Department, 
URS Corporation, Oak Lodge Sanitary 

Potential Funding Sources:  Estimated cost: Timeline: 

General Fund Medium to High 
  Short Term (0-2 years) 

  Long Term (2-4+ years) 
X  Ongoing 

Form Submitted by: Added during the 2009 plan development process 

Priority: Medium 

  

7 - 60



Clackamas County NHMP March 2019 Page GA-53 

Flood #3 

Proposed Action Item:  Alignment with Plan Goals:  

Maintain and Implement the Gladstone Stormwater Master 
Plan. 

Protect Life and Property; Enhance 
Natural Systems; Augment 
Emergency Services 

Alignment with Existing Plans/Policies: 

Stormwater Master Plan 

2018 Status/Rationale for Proposed Action Item:   

• Stormwater management infrastructure is very important to reduce risk related to the flood 
hazard.  

• 2018 Status: The City completed the Plan in 2014 and regularly completes projects identified in 
the plan.   

Ideas for Implementation:  

• Identify appropriate staff members to work on maintaining a stormwater management plan; 

• Identify funding to implement the plan; and  

• Identify mitigation action items that reduce the city’s vulnerability to flood and landslide related 
hazards 

 

Coordinating Organization: Public Works 

Internal Partners:  External Partners: 

City Administrator’s Office Clackamas County Water Environment Services, 
Department of Environmental Quality, Metro 

 

Potential Funding Sources:  Estimated cost: Timeline: 

General Fund Medium to High 
  Short Term (0-2 years) 

  Long Term (2-4+ years) 
X  Ongoing 

Form Submitted by: Added during the 2009 plan development process 

Priority: Medium 

  

7 - 61



Page GA-54 March 2019 Gladstone Addendum 

Landslide #1 

Proposed Action Item:  Alignment with Plan Goals:  

Reduce the vulnerability of property owners in landslide-
prone areas. 

Protect Life and Property; Enhance 
Natural Systems; Encourage 
Partnerships for Implementation; 
Promote Public Awareness 

Alignment with Existing Plans/Policies: 

Comprehensive Plan, Development Code 

2018 Status/Rationale for Proposed Action Item:   

• The Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000 requires communities to identify and analyze a 
comprehensive range of specific mitigation actions and projects being considered to reduce the 
effects of each hazard, with particular emphasis on new and existing buildings and infrastructure 
[201.6(c)(3)(ii)].  

• 2018 Status: The city does not currently regulate landslides or geologic hazards. The 
Comprehensive Plan includes a Geologic Hazards Map, goal, and policies that relate to geologic 
hazards. Non-regulatory landslide maps exist (DOGAMI Bulletin 99), which have been revised via 
DOGAM Report O-16-02. 

Ideas for Implementation: CWPP Identified Focus Areas and Priority Actions  

• The City of Gladstone should update their comprehensive plan and implementing codes to 
respond to changes in state law or regulatory streamlining. 

• Focus efforts on Oatfield Road, Oakridge, Parkway, Caldwell and the area from Jennings to Glen 
Echo;  

• Develop public information to emphasize economic risk when building on potential or historical 
landslide areas; 

• Update the landslide hazard map when LIDAR data becomes available; and  

• Review the planning and building codes and make updates or changes, if necessary. 
 

Coordinating Organization: City Administrator’s Office 

Internal Partners:  External Partners: 

Public Works DOGAMI, Clackamas County, Metro 

Potential Funding Sources:  Estimated cost: Timeline: 

General fund Medium to High 
  Short Term (0-2 years) 
X  Long Term (2-4+ years) 

  Ongoing 

Form Submitted by: Added during the 2012 plan development process 

Priority: Medium 

  

7 - 62



Clackamas County NHMP March 2019 Page GA-55 

Severe Weather #1 

Proposed Action Item:  Alignment with Plan Goals:  

Reduce negative effects from severe windstorm and severe 
winter storm events. 

Protect Life and Property; Enhance 
Natural Systems; Augment 
Emergency Services; Encourage 
Partnerships & Implementation; 
Promote Public Awareness 

Alignment with Existing Plans/Policies: 

Stormwater Master Plan 

2018 Status/Rationale for Proposed Action Item:   

• The Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000 requires communities to identify and analyze a 
comprehensive range of specific mitigation actions and projects being considered to reduce the 
effects of each hazard, with particular emphasis on new and existing buildings and 
infrastructure[201.6(c)(3)(ii)]. Developing and implementing programs to reduce the potential for 
wind and winter storms to cause power outages can assist a community in mitigating its overall 
risk to wind and winter storms. 

• 2018 Status: The city is continually looking for ways to reduce negative effects from storms.  
 

Ideas for Implementation:  

• Reduce power outages by partnering with PGE to obtain funding to bury power lines subject to 
frequent failures; 

• Continue regular tree trimming practices;  

• Partner with PGE to continue hazardous tree inventory and mitigation programs; and 

• Continue to require that new developments place utilities underground. 
 

Coordinating Organization: Public Works 

Internal Partners:  External Partners: 

City Administrator’s Office, Gladstone Fire, 
Police 

PGE; ODOT; private landowners 

Potential Funding Sources:  Estimated cost: Timeline: 

Capital Funds Low to High 
  Short Term (0-2 years) 

  Long Term (2-4+ years) 
X  Ongoing 

Form Submitted by: Added during the 2009 plan development process 

Priority: Medium 

 
  

7 - 63



Page GA-56 March 2019 Gladstone Addendum 

Wildfire #1* 

Proposed Action Item:  Alignment with Plan Goals:  

Coordinate wildfire mitigation action items through the 
Clackamas County Community Wildfire Protection Plan. 

Protect Life and Property; Enhance 
Natural Systems; Augment 
Emergency Services; Encourage 
Partnerships & Implementation; 
Promote Public Awareness 

Alignment with Existing Plans/Policies: 

Clackamas County Community Wildfire Protection Plan (2018) 

2018 Status/Rationale for Proposed Action Item:   

The wildfire mitigation action items provide direction on specific activities that organizations and 
residents in Gladstone can take to reduce wildfire hazards.   

Ideas for Implementation: CWPP Identified Focus Areas and Priority Actions  

Wildfire Risk Assessment (Ch. 4): 
1. Maintain and update the Fuels Reduction (FR) and Communities at Risk (CAR) maps and 

databases. 
2. Continue to track structure vulnerability data throughout the County through structural triage 

assessments. 
3. Update the Overall Wildfire Risk Assessment as new data becomes available. 

Hazardous Fuels Reduction and Biomass Utilization (Ch. 5): 
1. Develop and maintain an inventory of potential and successful FR projects by meeting with 

parks and natural lands managers quarterly. 
2. Continue securing funding to implement projects/hire seasonal ODF staff. 

Emergency Operations (Ch. 6): 
1. Develop and FDB Communications Works Group. 
2. Conduct a Conflagration Exercise. 

Education and Community Outreach (Ch. 7): 
1. Develop Firewise toolkit for CAR’s. 
2. Create incentives for fuels reduction. 
3. Update and distribute the Burn Permitting and Fire Restrictions Brochure. 
4. Continue to improve address signage throughout the County. 

Structural Ignitability Policies and Programs (Ch. 8): 
1. Identify a DTD representative for the WFEPC. 
2. Improve coordination with Rural Fire Agencies. 
3. Integrate WU into Plan Map and include a public outreach strategy. 

Coordinating Organization: Gladstone Fire Department 

Internal Partners:  External Partners: 

City Administrator’s Office, Planning Clackamas Fire Defense Board, Oregon Department of 
Forestry, U.S. Forest Service, U.S. Bureau of Land 
Management, public land management agencies 

Potential Funding Sources:  Estimated cost: Timeline: 

ODF, operating budgets Low to High 
  Short Term (0-2 years) 

  Long Term (2-4+ years) 
X  Ongoing 

Form Submitted by: New Action Item (replaced WF #1 and WF #2) 

Priority: High (CWPP identified priority actions listed above) 

* Indicates High Priority Action Item 

7 - 64



Clackamas County NHMP March 2019 Page GA-57 

ATTACHMENT B: 

PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT SUMMARY 

Members of the HMAC provided edits and updates to the NHMP prior to the public review 
period as reflected in the final document. 

To provide the public information regarding the draft NHMP addendum, and provide an 
opportunity for comment, an announcement (see text below) was provided on the city’s 
website and social media pages including a method for the public to provide comment.  

The public review period was open from August 1 through August 16. During the public 
review period there were no comments provided.  

Press Release 

 

 
  

7 - 65



Page GA-58 March 2019 Gladstone Addendum 

Social Media 

 
 

7 - 66



U.S. Department of Homeland Security 
FEMA Region 10 
130 – 228th Street, SW 
Bothell, Washington 98021 

 
 

 
October 3, 2019 

 
 
Mr. Joseph Murray 
State Hazard Mitigation Planner 
Oregon Military Department 
Office of Emergency Management 
P.O. Box 14370 
Salem, Oregon 97309 
 
 
Dear Mr. Murray: 
 
The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Region 10 completed a pre-adoption review 
of the draft City of Gladstone addendum to the Clackamas County Hazard Mitigation Plan.  The 
attached Mitigation Plan Review Tool documents the Region’s review and compliance with all 
required elements of 44 CFR Part 201.6, as well as identifies the jurisdictions participating in the 
planning process. This letter serves as Region 10’s commitment to approve the plan upon receiving 
documentation of its adoption by participating jurisdictions. 
 
Formal adoption documentation must be submitted to FEMA Region 10 by at least one jurisdiction 
within one calendar year of the date of this letter, or the entire plan must be updated and resubmitted 
for review.  Once FEMA approves the plan, the jurisdictions are eligible to apply for FEMA Hazard 
Mitigation Assistance grants. 
 
Please contact Jake Grabowsky, Oregon FIT Hazard Mitigation Community Planner, at (202) 856-
1901 or james.grabowsky@fema.dhs.gov with any questions. 
 

Sincerely, 
 

X

 
 
Tamra Biasco 
Chief, Risk Analysis Branch 
Mitigation Division 

 
JG 
 

7 - 67





8



City of Gladstone 
Staff Report  

              
 
Report Date: November 5, 2019  
Meeting Date: November 12, 2019  
To:    Gladstone City Council 
From:   Jacque M. Betz, City Administrator    
 

AGENDA ITEM 
 
Approve resolution 1168 authorizing the City of Gladstone to submit a request for funding 
assistance from the Oregon Development of Land Conservation and Development to 
continue the City’s endeavors to create more affordable housing options in Gladstone. 
 

History/Background 
 
The Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) accepted 
“Technical Assistance” grants for funding assistance from cities and counties to update 
land use regulations to increase the affordability and supply of housing in the state. The 
City of Gladstone qualifies for funding assistance to implement the City’s Housing Code 
Audit; incorporate housing code-related provisions of the Downtown Revitalization Plan 
(2017), calling for higher density, mixed use and mixed income development in our 
Downtown; and to bring the City ‘s code into compliance with recent State legislation 
intended to increase affordable housing choices in Oregon Cities (HB 2001 and HB 2003). 
 
During the 2018 legislative session, the legislature adopted HB 4006 and appropriated 
funds to DLCD for purposes of providing technical assistance to local governments to 
increase the affordability of housing within city limits. Funding priority is given to cities and 
counties where 25% or more of the renters pay more than 50% of household income on 
rent. DLCD identified Gladstone as having households with severe rent where more than 
35.2% of renter households experience rent burden. This qualifies the City for funding 
assistance. 

 
PROPOSAL: 
 
The City of Gladstone has requested technical assistance in the amount of $89,800, for 
the purpose of several related initiatives intended to create more affordable housing 
options in Gladstone. Specifically, if awarded the funds would be used for technical 
assistance to create a Gladstone Housing Needs Analysis, and to create and adopt 
revisions to our Comprehensive Plan and Development Code relating to housing. A copy 
of the full application is included in the packet (Attachment A).  Note that our application 
calls for a thorough community engagement effort as part of this work, in accordance with 
the recommendations of the Housing Code Audit Advisory Committee. 
 
DLCD specifically asks for local governing bodies to also submit a resolution authorizing 
the submission of requests for funding; and it is permissible for the City Council to approve 
the resolution after the submittal of the grant application.  

 
 
 

8 - 1



8 - 2



RESOLUTION #1168  

 

A resolution authorizing the City of Gladstone to submit a request 

 for funding assistance from the Oregon Department of Land  

Conservation and Development to continue the City’s endeavors to create more  

affordable housing options in Gladstone.  
 

 

WHEREAS, The Oregon Legislature appropriated funds to the Oregon Department of Land 

Conservation and Development (DLCD) for the purpose of providing technical 

assistance to local governments in increasing the affordability of housing within 

the city limits; and 

 

WHEREAS,  DLCD identified the City of Gladstone as having households with severe rent 

burden where more than 25% of renters in the City pay more than 50% of 

household income on rent; and 

 

WHEREAS, according to the Oregon Housing and Community Services Department 

approximately 35.2% of renter households in Gladstone experience severe rent 

burden; and 

 

WHEREAS, this severe rent burden qualifies the City for funding assistance from the DLCD 

to further the City’s initiatives intended to create more affordable housing 

options for Gladstone; and 

 

WHEREAS, The City of Gladstone desires to partner with DLCD to advance three inter-

related purposes: 

1. Complete the work begun as part of the City’s Housing Code Audit 

(completed earlier this year, funded by DLCD). 

2. Incorporate housing code-related provisions of the Downtown 

Revitalization Plan (2017), calling for higher density, mixed use and 

mixed income development in our Downtown. 

3. Bring the City’s code into compliance with recent State Legislation 

intended to increase affordable housing choices in Oregon cities 

(HB 2001 and HB 2003). 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED as follows: 

 

Section 1. The City of Gladstone City Council supports a request for funding assistance 

(Exhibit A) from DLCD in the amount of $89,800 to fulfill the obligations set forth above. 

 

Section 2.  The City Administrator is hereby authorized to submit the request for funding 

assistance to DLCD on behalf of the City of Gladstone. 

 

Section 3. The resolution is effective immediately upon its enactment by the City Council.  

 

8 - 3



 

 

 

This Resolution is adopted by the Gladstone City Council and approved by the Mayor this 

________ day of __________, 2019. 

 

   

       ATTEST: 

 

 

_______________________________          ______________________________ 

Tamara Stempel, Mayor    Tami Bannick, City Recorder 

 

8 - 4



8 - 5

bannick
Typewritten Text
Attachment "A"



8 - 6



Department of Land Conservation and Development 
2019-2021 DLCD Technical Assistance Grant Application Page 1 of 3 

 

Department of Land Conservation and Development 

2019-21 TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE GRANT APPLICATION 

Please complete each section in the form below. Type or write requested information in the spaces 
provided. Submit completed applications by October 1, 2019. 

Date of Application:  September 27, 2019 

Applicant:    City of Gladstone 
(If council of governments, please also include the recipient jurisdiction name if applicable) 

 
Street Address:   525 Portland Avenue 
City:    Gladstone, Oregon  
Zip:     97027 

 
Contact name and title: Jacque, Betz, City Administrator 

 

Contact e-mail address: betz@ci.gladstone.or.us 
 

Contact phone number: (503) 557-2767 
 

Grant request amount (in whole dollars): $89,800 
 

Local Contribution (recommended but not required): $14,000 
 

Project Title:   Gladstone Housing Needs Analysis & Code Amendments 

 

Project summary:   The City of Gladstone seeks to amend its Code to promote more housing 
choices at all income levels, building on the Housing Code Audit (Spring, 2019; funded by DLCD) and 
the City’s Downtown Revitalization Strategy (2017); and to comply with recent State legislation.  This 
work includes a refined Housing Needs Analysis, and a comprehensive community engagement effort. 

 

Project Description & Work Program 

Please describe the proposed project, addressing each of the following in an attachment. 
 

A. Goals and Objectives. State the goals or overall purpose of the project. Describe particular 
objective(s) the community hopes to accomplish. Please indicate whether this is a stand-alone project 
or is part of a longer multi-year program. If it is the latter, describe any previous work completed, 
subsequent phases and expected results, and how work beyond this project will be funded. 

 
B. Products and Outcomes. Clearly describe the product(s) and outcome(s) expected from the 
proposed project. Briefly describe any anticipated significant effect the project would have on 
development, livability, regulatory streamlining, and compliance with federal requirements, 
socioeconomic gains, and other relevant factors. 

8 - 7



Department of Land Conservation and Development 
2019-2021 DLCD Technical Assistance Grant Application Page 2 of 3 

 

C. Work Program, Timeline & Payment. 
 

1. Tasks and Products: List and describe the major tasks and subtasks, with: 
 

• The title of the task 

• Steps to complete task 

• The interim and final products for each task 
 

2. Timeline: List all dates for the project including tentative start date after the contract is 
signed, task completion dates, and project completion date. If the project is part of a multi- 
year program, provide an overview of the expected timelines in sequence of expected start 
dates and completion date for each phase and describe subsequent phases to be completed. 

 

3. Payment Schedule: Develop a requested payment schedule showing amount of interim and 
final payments. Include the products that will be provided with each payment request. The 
payment schedule should generally include no more than two payments – an interim and final 
payment. 

 

D. Evaluation Criteria. Include a statement in the narrative that addresses the program priorities 
and evaluation criteria presented in the application instructions (“Eligible Projects and Evaluation 
Criteria”). 

 
E. Project Partners. List any other public or private entities that will participate in the project, 

including federal and state agencies, council of governments, city and county governments, and 
special districts. Briefly describe the role of each (e.g., will perform work under the grant; will 
advise; will contribute information or services, etc.). 

 

F. Advisory Committees. List any advisory committee or other committees that will participate in 
the project to satisfy the local citizen involvement program. 

 
G. Cost-Sharing and Local Contribution. DLCD funds are only a part of overall project costs; please 

identify sources and amounts of other funds or services that will contribute to the project’s 
success. Cost-sharing (match) is not required, but could be a contributing factor to the success of 
the application. 

 

Will a consultant be retained to assist in completing grant products? Yes x No ☐ 

 
Local Official Support 

The application must include a resolution or letter from the governing body of the city, county, 
district, or tribe demonstrating support for the project. If the applicant is a council of governments on 
behalf of a city, a letter or resolution from the city council supporting the application must be 
included. The application will not be complete if it does not include this item. The letter of support 
may be received by DLCD after the application submittal deadline, but it must be received before a 
grant is awarded. 

8 - 8



Department of Land Conservation and Development 
2019-2021 DLCD Technical Assistance Grant Application Page 3 of 3 

 

Product Request Summary 
 

Product Grant Request Local Contribution Total Budget 
1 $  0  $  3000  $  3000  

2 $  400  $  4000  $  4400  

3 $  4000  $  1000  $  5000  

4 $  6160  $  1000  $  7160  

5 $  20,000  $  1000  $  21,000  

6 $  52,000  $  3000  $  55,000  

7 $  7240  $  1000  $  8240  

TOTAL $  89,800  $  14,000  $  $103,800  

 
Note the Grant Request would fund $87,000 in consultant costs, and $2800 in 

Clackamas County planning costs.  City Match includes staff and its Development 

Consultant. 

 

Submit your application with all supplemental information to: 

Gordon Howard, Community Services Division Manager 

E-mail (preferred): DLCD.GFGrant@state.or.us 
 

Mail: Department of Land Conservation and Development 
635 Capitol Street N.E., Suite 150 

Salem, OR 97301 
 

Phone: 503-503-934-0034 
 

 
APPLICATION DEADLINE: October 1, 2019 

 
 
 

8 - 9



 

Gladstone Housing Needs Analysis & Code Amendments 

Attachment A 

Project Description & Work Program 

 

 

 

A. Goals and Objectives. State the goals or overall purpose of the project. Describe particular 
objective(s) the community hopes to accomplish. Please indicate whether this is a stand-alone project 
or is part of a longer multi-year program. If it is the latter, describe any previous work completed, 
subsequent phases and expected results, and how work beyond this project will be funded. 

 
Goals/Overall Purposes:  

• To amend housing-related provisions in Gladstone’s Development Code (Title 16), to provide more 
housing choices for all residents 

• Conduct a thorough community engagement effort as the City considers its amendments to the 
Code 

 

Objectives: 

• Implement the Housing Code Audit: Draft and adopt recommendations set forth in the DLCD-
funded Housing Code Audit (completed June, 2019), while acknowledging that the actual code 
amendments may not implement every specific recommendation in the Audit (i.e., it is possible 
that either compliance with State law and/or the results of the community engagement process 
will warrant revisions to specific recommendations in the Code Audit) 

• Engage the Community: In accordance with the recommendation of the Housing Code Audit 
Advisory Committee, conduct a thorough community engagement effort as part of this overall 
project.  This effort will focus on:  

o Education: Educate and inform people on such critical issues as the legal and policy 
constraints affecting housing-related regulations, the economic/market dynamics that 
constrain housing choices, and the risks if Gladstone were to fail to act 

o Choices & Obligations: Help participants in the process understand what the City’s 
choices and obligations are – particularly in the context of HB 2001 & HB 2003 

o Respect: Listen respectfully to the input of participants in the process; don’t summarily 
dismiss community feedback; even when participants’ feedback is determined to be at 
odds with the law or sound policy, respectfully explain the City’s position 

o Early Direction: At the outset of the process, form a Stakeholder Advisory Committee 
representing a diverse and broad variety of perspectives; solicit their input on the design 
of all community engagement efforts 

o Equity: Strive to specifically engage historically marginalized communities in the overall 
effort – the economically disadvantaged, communities of color, the elderly, the 
handicapped, renters, mobile home park residents, etc.  To optimize our effectiveness in 
outreach to all residents, employ a variety of means, including but not limited to the 
City’s website, the City’s monthly newsletter, community open houses, as well as the 
Stakeholder Advisory Committee 

8 - 10



 

• Comply with State Law: Assure that the City’s housing-related Comprehensive Plan and Zoning 
Code comply with the letter and the spirit of applicable State law, including HB 2001 and HB 
2003 (enacted in 2019).  These two laws call for more housing choice, particularly serving those 
with limited incomes, through a greater variety of housing types and densities. 

• Complete a Housing Needs Analysis:  Clackamas County recently completed (with a consultant) a 
Housing Needs Analysis for most of the cities in the County, including Gladstone.  As such, 
Gladstone does not need to “start from scratch” with an HNA, but it does need to update the 
County HNA (including the Buildable Lands Inventory) to reflect recent development activity, 
Statewide legislation affecting housing regulations, and to incorporate information gathered 
through the City’s recent Housing Code Audit.  The fundamental purposes of the Gladstone 
Housing Needs Analysis (“Gladstone HNA”) are to determine (1) what type, mix, and density of 
housing is needed; (2) what housing costs and rents are affordable given local incomes; (3) the 
amount of needed land to accommodate projected population growth; and (4) whether available 
land within the UGB will be sufficient to meet housing needs for 20 years.  The City’s intention is 
that the HNA comply with the requirements of LCDC Goal 10 and OAR 660.010.  

• Implement Aspects of the Downtown Revitalization Plan:  The Gladstone City Council adopted the 
Downtown Revitalization Plan in September, 2017.  The Plan identifies a number of policy 
measures, programs, and capital improvement projects which collectively are intended to 
promote a walkable, more economically robust, safe and attractive Downtown of which all of 
Gladstone’s residents can be proud.  The policy measures include recommended modifications 
to the zoning regulations affecting downtown, some of which bear directly on the City’s housing 
agenda, including maximum density, mixed use, and minimum parking standards.  The code 
amendments portion of the proposed project will incorporate these housing-related elements of 
the Downtown Plan. 

 

This request is for a “stand-alone” project, but as already noted it builds on three closely-related 

initiatives from the recent past – the Downtown Revitalization Plan; the Housing Code Audit; and the 

County-wide Housing Needs Analysis.  No further work is anticipated after completion of the work 

proposed in this project, so the questions on the grant application form about subsequent phases are 

irrelevant. 

 
B. Products and Outcomes. Clearly describe the product(s) and outcome(s) expected from the 
proposed project. Briefly describe any anticipated significant effect the project would have on 
development, livability, regulatory streamlining, and compliance with federal requirements, 
socioeconomic gains, and other relevant factors. 

 

Our proposed project will result in three major products or outcomes:  

• Refined Housing Needs Analysis.  Clackamas County recently completed a County-wide Housing 
Needs Analysis.  The work assembles an impressive array of data, research, and analysis 
regarding housing needs, growth projections, as well as policy recommendations for much of 
Clackamas County, including Gladstone.  As substantial as this work is, the County-wide work 
does not represent a complete Housing Needs Analysis for Gladstone and its recommendations 
are broad and more of a framework than specific policy actions.  In particular, the baseline HNA 
for Gladstone is not informed by discussions with decision-makers in Gladstone and does not 

8 - 11



 

take into account recommendations from the Housing Code Audit.  The Gladstone-specific HNA 
proposed as part of the current funding request represents a refinement to the earlier County-
wide work, and as such is an important precursor to any housing-related code changes. 

• Housing-Related Comprehensive Plan & Code Amendments.  The heart of the project is to 
significantly amend housing-related provisions in the Gladstone Comprehensive Plan and 
Development Code.  These amendments will fulfill a number of high priority objectives of the 
City, including implementation of the City’s Housing Code Audit (June, 2019); promotion of a 
more robust, diverse, and dense Downtown as called for in the Downtown Revitalization Plan 
(September, 2017); and compliance with HB 2001 and 2003. 

• Thorough Community Engagement Process.  This is very important to the City Council and to the 
citizens of Gladstone.  As noted earlier, an Advisory Committee was formed to provide 
community oversight of the Housing Code Audit.  That Committee was aware of the City’s 
intentions to pursue further DLCD funding to actually amend the code along the lines of the 
recommendations set forth in the Code Audit.  More than anything else, the Committee 
members (particularly those representing neighborhood interests) stressed the importance of a 
robust public engagement process for the actual code amendments.  We intend to honor this 
community desire.  We propose to appoint a diverse Advisory Committee for the Code 
Amendment effort; and to seek their counsel in crafting and implementing a thorough 
community engagement plan for the overall project. 

 

Building on these observations about outcomes, we would offer the following additional thoughts on 

the significant effects that the project is anticipated to have on Gladstone: 

• Development: We anticipate that the project will result in substantial new development that 
aligns with the City’s, Region’s, and State’s growth agenda.   

o For instance, the current regulations for Downtown Gladstone are very conservative – 
essentially, stand-alone residential development is not allowed; maximum residential 
density in mixed use projects is very low; and minimum parking requirements are high 
(affecting financial feasibility).  Interviews conducted earlier this year with local for-profit 
and non-profit developers substantiated these challenges.  By adopting new zoning 
regulations for Downtown, we are aware of significant developer interest in Downtown 
Gladstone as is already happening in nearby cities (Milwaukie, Oregon City, Canby). 

o Beyond Downtown, we recognize that there is limited development capacity for 
Gladstone’s growth need given existing zoning.  However, as is the case with Downtown, 
we anticipate new development providing housing for a variety of income levels will 
occur if the project is funded.  A variety of slightly higher densities (duplexes, cottage 
clusters, accessory dwelling units) in areas currently zoned single family, will create more 
housing opportunities that are affordable to low income and workforce households. 

• Livability: One of the primary reasons that the City is pursuing this project lies in its various 
benefits to the entire City.  More housing, serving a variety of income levels, will help to keep 
Gladstone’s schools filled – helping to sustain and strengthen our neighborhoods.  Affordable 
housing choices means that businesses will have more customers – so that Gladstone can keep 
business services local (services including grocery stores, medical and dental professionals, 
entertainment, etc.). More housing choices also promotes our economic well-being in a variety 
of ways.  Currently, more than 90% of Gladstone residents work elsewhere; and more than 90% 
of the jobs in Gladstone are held by residents of other jurisdictions.  A variety of housing choices 
will make it easier for workers to live near their jobs, saving on commute times and travel/fuel 

8 - 12



 

costs.  Coupled with the improvements identified in the Downtown Revitalization Plan, it will be 
easier for more residents of Gladstone to utilize alternative modes of transportation (mass 
transit, biking, walking), in accordance with the City’s and Region’s climate efforts. 

• Regulatory Streamlining: One of the primary objectives of the Housing Code Audit is to 
streamline its housing regulations, where appropriate.  One of the factors that deters 
investment in new housing supply (across the income spectrum) is the risk associated with 
regulatory uncertainty.  The Housing Code Audit identified a number of modifications to the 
code and entitlement processes to make it easier to get new/rehabbed housing permitted and 
built.  For instance, the Audit (as well as the earlier Downtown Revitalization Plan) called for 
allowing housing to be built as a matter of right, rather than as a conditional use.  Taken 
together, we intend to make it easier to get to early certainty on housing development. 

• Socioeconomic gains: To augment an earlier point, a primary aim of the project is to help lower 
income (including workforce) families, individuals, and retirees find housing that they can afford.  
Gladstone is a severely rent-burdened City.  Providing these households affordable choices 
necessarily entails some increases in density and housing typologies (e.g. small plexes, cottage 
clusters, Accessory Dwelling Units).  Providing more housing that is affordable to all of 
Gladstone’s residents will benefit not only those on limited incomes (seniors, veterans, working 
poor, the disabled); it will benefit all residents, insofar as those on low incomes will have more 
discretionary income to support local businesses.  They will also be better able to afford the 
other essentials – medical care, utilities, clothing, and food.  “A rising tide lifts all boats”.  Finally, 
the proposed code changes, by promoting more affordable housing choices, will support our 
equity agenda – allowing people from a diverse variety of backgrounds and income levels to 
afford to live in Gladstone. 

• Complement to City’s Other Downtown Initiatives:  As referenced elsewhere in this application, 
the City’s Downtown Revitalization Plan calls for several major policy, program, and project 
initiatives intended to promote Downtown Gladstone (specifically, the southern stretch of the 
Portland Avenue Corridor) as a robust and vital place, with medium-density mixed use 
development serving a variety of incomes, all in a walkable, pedestrian- and transit-friendly 
environment.  The DRP includes provisions calling for some of the zoning code amendments 
(related to maximum density, mix of uses, minimum parking, etc.) that we anticipate including in 
the proposed Code Amendment project.  These code amendments, by promoting medium 
density, pedestrian/transit-oriented development, will complement the other initiatives that we 
intend to undertake to strengthen our Downtown.  These include major new infrastructure 
investments (including the reconstruction of the Trolley Trail Bridge connecting Gladstone with 
Oregon City; also including a multi-modal upgrade to Portland Avenue, with wide sidewalks, 
angled parking, trees, curb extensions, and other features to accommodate pedestrians and 
cyclists).  They also include activities to promote a Downtown Main Street organization.  Simply 
put, the code revisions envisioned in our current funding request are part of a large package of 
initiatives that will make Downtown Gladstone a successful corridor, aligned with the region’s 
climate and equity agenda. 

  

 

8 - 13



 

C. Work Program, Timeline & Payment. 
 

1. Tasks and Products: List and describe the major tasks and subtasks: 

 

• Task 1: Organize Oversight Committees (Month 1-2) 
• Steps to Complete this Task 

• Appoint Technical Oversight Committee (City Administrator, 
City Development Consultant, County Planning, DLCD 
Regional Representative, Planning Commission Liaison) 

• Appoint Stakeholder Advisory Committee (Neighborhood 
Representatives, Property Owners, Professionals with 
Expertise in Housing Policy and Development, Community 
Advocates, School District, Downtown Stakeholders, etc.) 

• Interim and Final Products for this Task 
• City Council Resolution appointing the membership roll of 

the Technical Oversight Committee (TOC) and the 
Stakeholder Advisory Committee (SAC). (Lead for this 
Product: City Administrator) 

• Task 2: Consultant Selection (Months 2-4) 
• Steps to Complete this Task 

• Prepare Draft Request for Proposals (RFP), for consultant 
teams to perform the tasks as indicated below (related to 
the drafting and implementation of the Community 
Engagement Strategy, the Housing Needs Analysis, and the 
Zoning Code Amendments) 

• Consult with TOC and SAC; refine draft RFP to reflect input 
• Form Consultant Selection Subcommittee 
• Issue RFP 
• Evaluate Consultant Team Responses to RFP 
• Interview Short List of highest-ranking Consultant Teams 
• Award Contract; Council Authorize Contract 
• Execute Contract with Lead on Selected Consultant Team 

• Interim and Final Products for this Task  
• Draft RFP (Lead: City Development Consultant) 
• Final RFP (Lead: City Development Consultant) 
• Evaluation of Consultant Responses to RFP (Lead: City 

Development Consultant) 
• Interviews of Consultant Teams by Consultant Selection 

Subcommittee (Lead: City Development Consultant) 
• Draft Contract (Lead: City Administrator) 
• Council Resolution Authorizing Contract (Lead: City 

Administrator) 
• Executed Contract with Lead on Selected Consultant Team 

(Lead: City Administrator) 

8 - 14



 

• Task 3: Project Kick-Off (Month 4) 
• Steps to Complete this Task 

• Convene meeting of Consultant team and TOC. Purpose of 
meeting is to discuss purposes of the project, share 
background documents, and refine project scope 

• Interim and Final Products for this Task 
• Revised Scope & Schedule (Lead: Consultant) 

• Task 4: Community Engagement Strategy (Months 4-5) 
• Steps to Complete this Task 

• Consultant drafts Strategy in consultation with TOC 
• Consultant meets with TOC and SAC, and revises draft 

Strategy to reflect their input (this may entail more than 
one set of meetings) 

• Consultant presents final Community Engagement Strategy 
to SAC for their endorsement 

• Interim and Final Products for this Task  
• Draft Community Engagement Strategy (Lead: Consultant) 
• Final Community Engagement Strategy (Lead: Consultant) 

• Task 5: Housing Needs Analysis (Months 5-7) 
• Steps to Complete this Task 

• Consultant Reviews Clackamas County HNA 
• Consultant performs refined data analysis and research.  

This data and research will represent a refinement to the 
Clackamas County HNA, addressing such issues as Buildable 
Lands Inventory (completed as part of the County HNA, but 
needing slight update to reflect recent construction 
activity), refined analysis of future population growth across 
income sectors and other characteristics (age, household 
size, etc.) 

• Consultant presents draft HNA to TOC and SAC 
• Consultant presents draft HNA findings at Community 

Workshop #1 
• Consultant revises draft HNA in response to community 

feedback 
• (ongoing implementation of Community Engagement 

Strategy – website, newsletter, etc.) 
• Interim and Final Products for this Task  

• Draft Housing Needs Analysis (Lead: Consultant) 
• Final Housing Needs Analysis (Lead: Consultant) 

• Task 6: Comprehensive Plan & Zoning Code Amendments (Months 5-8)  
• Steps to Complete this Task: 

• Consultant Review Housing Code Audit; Clackamas County 
Housing Needs Analysis; Gladstone Housing Needs Analysis; 
Downtown Revitalization Plan; and HB 2001 and HB 2003. 

8 - 15



 

• Consultant Prepare Summary of aforementioned 
background documents; brief TOC and SAC and findings, 
and solicits their feedback on subsequent direction 

• Consultant prepares Draft 1 of Comprehensive Plan & 
Zoning Code amendments (“Draft 1 Report”) 

• Consultant briefs TOC and SAC on Draft 1 Report, and 
revises in response to their feedback, creating “Draft 2 
Report” 

• Consultant presents Draft 2 Report at Community 
Workshop #2 

• Consultant revises proposed Comprehensive Plan and 
Zoning Code amendments in response to community 
feedback, creating “Draft 3 Report” 

• Final TOC and SAC meetings to review Draft 3 Report 
(including summary of community feedback); Consultant 
revises report to incorporate final TOC and SAC feedback, 
creating “Proposed Comprehensive Plan & Zoning Code 
Amendments – PC Draft” (“PC Draft”) 

• (ongoing implementation of Community Engagement 
Strategy – website, newsletter, etc.) 

• Interim and Final Products for this Task  
• Memo Summarizing Background Materials (Lead: 

Consultant) 
• Draft Comprehensive Plan & Code Amendments – “Draft 1, 

Draft 2, and Draft 3 Report” (Lead: Consultant) 
• Proposed Comprehensive Plan & Zoning Code Amendments 

– PC Draft Report (Lead: Consultant) 

• Task 7: Adoption (Months 9-10) 
• Steps to Complete Task 

• PC Draft presented to Planning Commission in a public 
hearing; PC provides feedback 

• Consultant in consultation with PMT makes revisions to PC 
Draft in response to Planning Commission feedback 

• Second Planning Commission hearing – adoption of revised 
version of recommendations, creating the “Council Draft” 
proposed Comprehensive Plan & Zoning Code amendments. 

• Presentation of Council Draft to City Council in a public 
hearing. 

• Consultant in consultation with PMT makes revisions to 
Council Draft. 

• Second City Council hearing – adoption of final 
“Comprehensive Plan & Zoning Code Amendments” 

• (ongoing implementation of Community Engagement 
Strategy – website, newsletter, etc.) 

8 - 16



 

• Interim and Final Products for this Task 
• “Council Draft” report (reflecting PC input) (Lead: 

Consultant) 
• Final Report (Lead: Consultant) 

 
2. Timeline: List all dates for the project including tentative start date after the 

contract is signed, task completion dates, and project completion date. If the project 
is part of a multi- year program, provide an overview of the expected timelines in 
sequence of expected start dates and completion date for each phase and describe 
subsequent phases to be completed. 

 

The timeline for each of the tasks is indicated in response to C.1, above.  To reiterate the schedule 
(which is tentative – subject to review and authorization by DLCD, which we realize may request 
changes to task timelines, deliverables, and sequence): 

 

• Task 1, Organize Oversight Committees (Months 1-2)  

• Task 2, Consultant Selection (Months 2-4) 

• Task 3, Project Kickoff (Month 4) 

• Task 4, Community Engagement Strategy (Months 4-5) 

• Task 5, Housing Needs Analysis (Months 5-7) 

• Task 6, Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Code Amendments (Months 5-8) 

• Task 7, Adoption (Months 9-10) 

 
The City is prepared to commence work immediately upon grant award.  If, for instance, the grant is 
awarded and the Intergovernmental Agreement is executed by January 31, 2020, we could begin 
Task 1 at the beginning of February, 2020.  Under this scenario, this 10 month project would be 
complete by the end of November, 2020. 

 

3. Payment Schedule: Develop a requested payment schedule showing amount of 
interim and final payments. Include the products that will be provided with each 
payment request. The payment schedule should generally include no more than two 
payments – an interim and final payment. 

 

Proposed Payment Schedule (subject to concurrence by DLCD): 

 

• Interim Payment, upon completion of Task 4 (Community Engagement Strategy), in the 
amount of $30,000.  By this point, the City will have appointed its Technical Oversight and 
Stakeholder Advisory Committees; it will have selected the consultant team; it will have 
held the project kick-off; and the Community Engagement Strategy will have been 
completed and adopted.  Also at this point (the end of Task 4), our consultant team will 
have commenced the HNA and Draft Comprehensive Plan & Zoning Code amendments. 

• Final Payment, upon adoption of the project deliverables (HNA and Amendment document), 
i.e. at the end of Task 7, in the amount of $57,000.  

 

8 - 17



 

D. Evaluation Criteria. Include a statement in the narrative that addresses the program 
priorities and evaluation criteria presented in the application instructions (“Eligible 
Projects and Evaluation Criteria”). 

 
The following is our response to the seven sub-sections in the Evaluation Criteria: 
 

1. Project Objectives 
 
The project objectives are clearly stated; address the problem, need, opportunity, and issues; 
are defined in a manner consistent with the statewide planning goals; and directly relate to a 
clear statement of expected outcomes. The project objectives need to be reasonably achievable. 
 
Response: 
 
We trust that DLCD will find that this narrative adequately demonstrates the clarity and efficacy 
of our project objectives; their relevance to clearly stated outcomes; and that they are 
“reasonably achievable”.  To reiterate the high points of our application, Gladstone faces a 
significant challenge in providing adequate options for affordable and workforce housing; we 
are a “severely rent-burdened city”.  This challenge severely impacts too many of our residents, 
and the social fabric of our community.  Too many of our workers find themselves priced out of 
the community.  Our schools are losing enrolment as families relocate to less costly areas far 
away.  Those who remain are forced to choose between rent or mortgage payments vs other 
essentials – health care, utilities, food. 
 
We take this challenge seriously.  With DLCD funding, we performed a Housing Code Audit 
earlier this year, which identified a wide array of suggested code amendments that would allow 
for more housing options across the City, in our single-family zones, in our Downtown core, and 
elsewhere.  In the meanwhile, the Governor has signed legislation (HB 2001 and HB 2003) 
which calls for cities like Gladstone to provide more affordable and workforce housing options; 
we are pleased to comply with the law, not only because we obligated to, but because our 
citizens need and want us to. 
 
Gladstone is not a rich community; we have very limited resources and staff capacity.  We 
therefore urge DLCD to assist us by providing funding for this project. 
 

2. Program Priorities 
 
The project addresses the program priorities as follows: 

1. The project promotes economic development. This priority is for planning or implementation 

projects that establish or further a community’s economic or community development 

objectives. This may include completing an economic opportunities analysis or a main street 

plan, establishing an urban renewal district, completing public facilities plans for employment 

8 - 18



 

lands, or a variety of other projects that directly increase economic development opportunities 

or benefit economic and community development efforts.  

2. The project updates a plan or code to promote the provision of affordable and workforce 

housing. This priority includes comprehensive plan or development code amendments or other 

provisions that are expected to result in an enhanced supply of housing for low- and moderate-

income residents. This may include permitting additional housing types, increasing efficiency of 

land use, or other actions to implement a housing needs analysis. Completing a housing needs 

analysis may qualify under this priority if the applicant demonstrates that it is needed in order 

to implement subsequent affordability measures.  

NOTE: For the 2019-2021 biennium the department has grant funds available for 

implementation of HB 2001 and HB 2003, adopted by the 2019 Legislature. These bills involve 

provision of needed housing in Oregon’s medium and large cities, as well as Metro area 

counties. Those grant funds are available for a more limited scope of housing projects. If your 

proposal qualifies for one of these sources of grant funding DLCD staff will contact you to 

provide information and discuss the matter. 

3. (not applicable) 

4. (not applicable) 

5. The project updates a comprehensive plan or implementing code to respond to changes in 

state law or advance regulatory streamlining. Many local codes haven’t been updated in years, 

and this is an opportunity for assistance in modernizing local regulations, including procedures 

sections that could impose barriers to appropriate development.  

 
Response: 

The project that we are proposing for DLCD funding is supportive of the following “Program 

Priorities” set forth in the grant application manual (listed in the order of DLCD priorities): 

• Promote economic development 

• Promote provision of affordable and workforce housing 

• Update comprehensive plans and implementing codes to respond to changes in state 
law or advance regulatory streamlining 

 

All three of these DLCD priorities are at the core of our intentions with the present project.  

Hopefully, this narrative has already made our alignment with these three priorities clear, but 

to briefly reiterate: 

• Economic Development.  The project is highly supportive of Gladstone’s economic 
development agenda in at least two important regards.  First, by promoting higher 
densities and (relatedly) more affordable housing options (cottage clusters, plexes, 
ADUs, higher density multi-family development), the project will make it easier for 

8 - 19



 

households and individuals to live and work in Gladstone.  Currently, more than 90% of 
workers in Gladstone live in other communities, in part because they have few if any 
options for affordable, workforce housing.  Higher density, smaller units that meet the 
needs of the workforce will be more common under the code changes anticipated with 
our effort.  Second, an important component of the proposed code changes affects 
development in Downtown.  Currently, our downtown core places strict limits on 
development.  Residential densities in mixed use development are capped at about 17 
units/acre; and exclusively residential uses (i.e. no commercial uses) are prohibited.  
Minimum parking requirements are high, driving up costs.  The Housing Code Audit 
reiterated recommendations from the Downtown Revitalization Plan calling for higher 
allowed densities, allowing housing, reducing parking minimum, and other measures 
that will support mixed use, medium density development serving a variety of incomes – 
not only supporting the City’s affordable housing agenda, but also supporting a much 
more robust and economically vital Downtown. 

• Affordable & Workforce Housing.  Once again, an important focus of the proposed code 
changes is to create more housing choices for low income and workforce households in 
our severely rent-burdened City.  This will be achieved by allowing more development 
typologies (cottage clusters, plexes, ADUs, etc.) and by streamlining the entitlement 
processes for medium density and mixed use development in Downtown and elsewhere 
in the City.  Also, as noted throughout this narrative, a major driver in this project is the 
City’s intention to fully comply with the spirit and the letter of HB 2001 and 2003.  We 
would therefore welcome the opportunity to discuss the special funding referenced 
above with DLCD staff and others as appropriate. 

• State Law & Regulatory Streamlining. Again, one of the primary drivers in our request 
for funding for this project is the desire to comply with recently adopted State law (HB 
2001 and HB 2003), which generally require expanded housing typologies in currently 
single family residential zones; the intent being to create more affordable housing 
options for affordable and workforce households.  In addition, as already addressed, 
another important driver of our effort is to streamline the regulations affecting housing, 
to provide greater certainty to developers, thereby encouraging developers to 
undertake projects where regulatory uncertainties are diminished or removed. 

 

3. Project Description 
 

The approach, budget and products are defined for every task and are reasonable considering 

the benefits of the project and the work proposed is reasonably likely to achieve the project 

objectives. 

Response: 

We trust that those reviewing our application will concur with our convictions that our 

proposed approach, budget and products are clearly laid out for each task.  We believe that our 

proposal is reasonable relative to the benefits of this endeavor, and we believe that the 

8 - 20



 

proposed work is “reasonably likely to achieve the project objectives”.  Our experience with the 

Housing Code Audit earlier this year has been extremely informative, both in building the case 

for what codes we need to revise and (more importantly) why we need to do this; and also in 

understanding the importance of engaging our community in a broad and equitable outreach 

effort.  The people who will be affected by this effort need to understand what is being 

proposed, why it is important, and what the risks are should we fail to act. 

4. Grantee Capacity 
 

The application and past performance on grant-funded projects (where applicable) demonstrate 

that there is adequate local capability to successfully manage the project. 

Response: 

Gladstone has had a highly successful track record on recent grant-funded projects, 

demonstrating that we have the capacity and capability to successfully manage this project.  

The three most recent grant projects are: 

• Downtown Revitalization Plan (2017).  Metro funded this project, using its 2040 grant 
fund (intended to fund plans and strategies to advance Metro’s 2040 growth plan, 
focused on the promotion of higher density, walkable, equitable centers and corridors).  
The Plan was completed on time and under budget, and adopted by the Gladstone City 
Council in September, 2017.  The DRP serves as the framework for the City’s future 
intentions to create a more robust and vital downtown.  As noted elsewhere, the DRP 
includes a recommendation to amend the downtown zoning regulations to allow for 
higher density, mixed use, mixed income development.  Completed on time and within 
budget. 

• Trolley Bridge Feasibility Study (2019).  Gladstone received Metro Regional Flexible 
Fund dollars to do study the feasibility of building a new Trolley Bridge, replacing an 
historic wooden bridge at the foot of Portland Avenue crossing the Clackamas River to 
Oregon CIty.  Anticipated completion December, 2019 (on time and within budget). 

• Housing Code Audit (2019).  DLCD funded this effort to thoroughly assess current zoning 
regulations and land use processes affecting housing development in Gladstone.  The 
ultimate goal of this study was to increase the supply and affordability of housing in the 
CIty.  Completed on time and within budget.   

 

5. RST Priorities 
 

The project advances Regional Solutions Team (RST) priorities. Each regional advisory 

committee sets priorities for the region, and grant applications will be assessed to determine 

whether the project furthers one or more of these priorities. This is not mandatory. That is, 

8 - 21



 

projects that do not closely align with RST priorities are eligible for a grant award. However, 

those that clearly advance an RST priority will score better than those that do not. 

Response: 

It is our understanding that the related issues of affordable/workforce housing or downtown 

revitalization are not among the Regional Solutions Team’s official priorities.  We know that 

these issues are nonetheless of considerable importance to the Portland Regional Solutions 

Team, and we hope we can engage Team members in the project. 

6. Multiple Jurisdictions 
 

The project benefits multiple jurisdictions or entities. This can be accomplished through a joint 

application by more than one local government, tribe, or service district, with the grant 

products benefitting each. Or the products of the grant may include a guidebook, template, or 

toolbox that will benefit the public or local governments or regions that did not receive the 

grant. This is not mandatory. Grantees are encouraged to work regionally or to create products 

with broad application, while DLCD recognizes that the products of many projects will benefit 

only the grantee. 

Response: 

Our request formally concerns the City of Gladstone alone.  However, we are well aware of the 

fact that the challenges we face in Gladstone related to affordable and workforce housing are 

common around the State.  We would of course be happy to share the results of this project 

with other jurisdictions.  We would be honored if they are able to use any of our work as a 

template for their efforts in this regard. 

7. Leverage 
 

The applicant demonstrates commitment to the project through contribution of matching funds. 

Matching funds are not mandatory for an application to be successful, but a demonstration of 

local commitment can tip the balance in favor of some proposals. Matching funds do not need 

to be from the applicant’s budget – they could come from another state agency (particularly 

through the Regional Solutions Team), a federal agency, or a foundation. In-kind and other non-

cash match are considered, but matching funds will boost the application’s rating more. 

Response: 

The City intends to provide matching funding for the project, in the form of staff time from City 
Administrator Jacque Betz, and the City’s Development Consultant John Southgate.  The total 
value of this match is $14,000. 
 

E. Project Partners. List any other public or private entities that will participate in the 

8 - 22



 

project, including federal and state agencies, council of governments, city and county 
governments, and special districts. Briefly describe the role of each (e.g., will perform 
work under the grant; will advise; will contribute information or services, etc.). 

 

Gladstone recognizes that it can only be successful in its mission to create more housing 

choices for all its residents (current and future) if it engages with a broad array of partners.  

For our Housing Code Audit, we formed an Advisory Committee with representatives from 

the general community, housing/mixed use developers from the for-profit and non-profit 

sectors, owners of strategically located properties in our Downtown and elsewhere, as well 

as representatives from the Clackamas County Housing Authority, Clackamas County 

Planning, and the State’s Department of Land Conservation & Development.  We intend to 

welcome all of these partners to the Advisory Committee for this next project, assuming it is 

funded.  We will also engage Metro’s Development and Equitable Housing staff. 

We intend for all of these partners to advise us and our broader community, through 

membership on the project Technical Oversight Committee and/or the Stakeholder 

Advisory Committee.  These partners will also contribute information, bringing their 

expertise and knowledge to the effort. 

Also see our response to “Advisory Committees”, below. 

 
F. Advisory Committees. List any advisory committee or other committees that will 

participate in the project to satisfy the local citizen involvement program. 
 

As noted elsewhere in this narrative, we intend to form two committees to play prominent 

roles in the project.  The first is the Technical Oversight Committee, composed of the City 

Administrator, the City’s Development Consultant, a representative from the Clackamas 

County Planning Office (who also serves as the City’s contracted planner), a representative 

from the DLCD, and the consultant team lead.  The TOC will assure compliance with the 

project budget and schedule; it will also assure adherence to the project goals and 

objectives (including compliance with HB 2001 and HB 2003).  TOC members will review 

draft documents prior to broader dissemination. 

The second Committee is the Stakeholder Advisory Committee.  Similar to the Housing 

Code Audit Advisory Committee earlier this year, the SAC will be composed of a broad 

membership of community representative, for-profit and non-profit developers, 

professionals with expertise in housing policy and development, and representatives from 

critical public entities including Metro, Clackamas County Housing, and DLCD. 

 
G. Cost-Sharing and Local Contribution. DLCD funds are only a part of overall project costs; 

please identify sources and amounts of other funds or services that will contribute to 

8 - 23



 

the project’s success. Cost-sharing (match) is not required, but could be a contributing 
factor to the success of the application. 

 

If we are successful in securing DLCD funds for this project (potentially including the special 

fund for HB 2001/HB 2003 compliance noted in the grant application instructions and cited 

above), we intend to provide match in the form of the City Administrator Jacque Betz’ time, 

as well as the City’s Development Consultant, John Southgate.  The total estimated value of 

this match is $14,000. 

 

8 - 24







9



City of Gladstone 
Staff Report  

              
 
Report Date: November 5, 2019  
Meeting Date: November 12, 2019  
To:    Gladstone City Council 
From:   Jacque Betz, City Administrator    
 
AGENDA ITEM 
 
Intergovernmental agreement (IGA) between Clackamas County and the City of 
Gladstone regarding the new Gladstone Library. 
 

A. Consider approval of the Library Construction and Operation Intergovernmental 
Agreement between Clackamas County and the City of Gladstone with the 
following documents: 

 
 Exhibits 1 and 2 – Oak Lodge Service Area and Gladstone Library Service Area 

maps. 
 Exhibit 3- Concept Option 1 
 Exhibit 4- Intergovernmental Agreement between Clackamas County and the 

City of Gladstone, and AFSCME council 75, Local 350-03 (Gladstone) 
 Exhibit 5- Property Description 

 
B. Library Facilities Agreement for use of the current library building. 

 
History/Background 
 
City Attorney Ashley Driscoll has prepared a memo to update the Gladstone City Council 
on the recommended intergovernmental agreement between the City and Clackamas 
County regarding the construction of the new Gladstone Library and is attached to this 
staff report. 
 
Cost Impacts 
 
The City agrees to contribute $200,000 per year (indexed to increases in the City’s 
permanent tax rate) per the settlement agreement entered into with Clackamas County 
in October 2017, and also agrees to split the demolition costs for the current City Hall 
building (price to be determined). Because the current city hall/police department property 
and new buildings are in the adopted urban renewal agency plan, demolition would be an 
extension of the Gladstone Civic Center project. Therefore, costs for demolition of the 
current site will come from the Gladstone Urban Renewal Agency and paid through the 
project budget. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9 - 1



9 - 2



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: Gladstone City Council 
  
FROM: Ashley O. Driscoll  
 
SUBJECT: Library Construction and Operation IGA with Clackamas County   
 
DATE: November 5, 2019 
 
 
This memorandum serves to update the Gladstone City Council on the recommended 
intergovernmental agreement between the City and Clackamas County regarding the 
construction and operation of the New Gladstone Library Branch (Recommended IGA).   
 
Background 
 
In October 2017, the City and County entered into a settlement agreement pursuant to a lawsuit 
the City filed against the County regarding implementation and interpretation of an 
intergovernmental agreement, which contemplates the County providing funds for the City to 
construct a new library to serve City residents and residents of the unincorporated Oak Lodge 
area.  As part of the settlement agreement, the parties agreed to a “One Library, Two Branches” 
solution wherein the County would construct and operate two libraries (one in the City of 
Gladstone and one in Oak Lodge) to serve the current Gladstone Service Area population.  In 
order to close the gap between the funding from the Clackamas County Library District revenue 
(“District Revenue”) and the actual costs of operating the New Gladstone City Library, the City 
agreed to contribute $200,000 per year (indexed to increases in the City’s permanent tax rate) to 
the County for library operations, referred to as the “General Fund Contribution.” 
 
The solution contemplated that the City and County would enter into a new intergovernmental 
agreement regarding operation and construction.  The Recommended IGA fulfills this 
commitment.  
 
Recommended IGA 
 
The key provisions of the Recommended IGA are as follows: 
 

- The County will take over operation and control of the current Gladstone City Library on 
December 1, 2019.  The City will maintain ownership of the facility.  The City will 
contribute a prorated General Fund Contribution for fiscal year 19/20.  The City will also 

9 - 3



November 5, 2019   
Page 2 
 
 
 

 

 

begin providing the County the District Revenue for the Gladstone Library Service Area 
on December 1, 2019. 
 

- Current library employees will transfer from City employment to County employment 
pursuant to the provision in state law for transfer of government employees on December 
1, 2019.  
 

- The County will assume all construction costs for a new 6,000 square foot Gladstone 
Library (“New Gladstone Library Branch”) to be located at the current City Hall location. 

 
- The City and County have agreed to split the demolition costs for current City Hall 

building. 
 

- The County agreed to a set timeline for construction penalties for failing to reach 
milestones, with allowances for up to six months of extensions. 
 

- The County agreed that if construction of the Oak Lodge Library Branch unduly delays 
construction of the New Gladstone Library Branch, the County will “decouple” the two 
projects and move forward with the New Gladstone Library Branch. 
 

- Within a year, the City must dissolve the Gladstone Library Board; however, the City 
will be able to appoint members to the new Library Board of Trustees, which will advise 
the County’s Board of Commissioners on matters concerning library services, policies, 
and general library-related issues at the Gladstone and Oak Lodge Library locations.  The 
City will also continue to appoint a member to the Library District Advisory Committee 
from the Library Board. 

 
The Recommended IGA also contemplates how the City and County will respond to unexpected 
situations, such as if the current library building becomes unavailable prior to the County 
completing the New Gladstone Library Branch and what will happen if either the City or County 
terminate the IGA.   
 
It should be noted if the City terminates the Recommended IGA prior to the County closing on 
debt associated with constructing the New Gladstone Library Branch (“Construction Debt”), the 
City will forfeit its right to County assistance in providing a new library facility.  Some of the 
other importation termination provisions are as follows: 
 

- If either party terminates the Recommended IGA prior to the County closing on 
Construction Debt: 

- Operation and control of the current Library will transfer back to the City. 
- The current service areas and District Revenue provisions will stay the same— 

i.e. the City will continue to serve the Gladstone and unincorporated population 
and receive the District Revenue for that service area. 

- Employees will transfer back to the City. 

9 - 4



November 5, 2019   
Page 3 
 
 
 

 

 

- Library assets will transfer back to the City. 
- The City will stop paying the General Fund Contributions. 

 
- If the County terminates prior to the County closing on Construction Debt, the County 

will pay the City $360,000, but will also not have to construct a new library in Gladstone.   
- As stated above, if the City terminates prior to the County closing on Construction Debt, 

the City will forfeit its right to County assistance in providing a new library facility 
 

- If either party terminates the Recommended IGA any time after the County closes on 
Construction Debt: 

o The County will transfer operation and control of the New Gladstone Library 
Branch to the City. 

o The City will provide library services to the City’s population only and receive 
the District Revenue from the City’s population only. 

o Library employees and assets will transfer back to the City. 
o The City will stop paying the General Fund Contribution.  

 
- If the County terminates after the County closes on Construction Debt: 

o The County will transfer operational control of the New Gladstone Library 
Branch to the City and continue to make debt payments until the Construction 
Debt is retired.  Once the Construction Debt is retired, the County will transfer 
ownership of the New Gladstone Library Branch to the City.  If no Construction 
Debt exists, the County will immediately transfer ownership.  
 

- If the City terminates after the County closes on Construction Debt: 
o The City will pay the County any outstanding Construction Debt, if any. 
o Once the City pays the County, the City will take over operational control and 

ownership of the Library. 
 

 

9 - 5



1 – Gladstone Library Intergovernmental Agreement 
 

 
LIBRARY CONSTRUCTION AND OPERATION 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN CLACKAMAS COUNTY AND THE 

CITY OF GLADSTONE 
 
THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (this "Agreement"), is entered into by 
and between Clackamas County (the "County") a political subdivision of the State of 
Oregon, and the City of Gladstone, a municipal corporation (the "City"). 
 
Oregon Revised Statutes Chapter 190.010 confers authority upon local governments to 
enter into agreements for the performance of any and all functions and activities that a 
party to the agreement, its officers or agencies have authority to perform.  
 
The City currently operates a library within the Gladstone Library Service Area of the 
Library District of Clackamas County.  The County currently operates a library within the 
Oak Lodge Library Service Area of the Library District of Clackamas County.   
 
The City and County are entering into this Intergovernmental Agreement for the County 
to operate both the Gladstone and Oak Lodge libraries, and to build two new libraries 
pursuant to a settlement agreement in the case Gladstone v. Clackamas County, 
Clackamas County Circuit Court Case No. 16CV27287. 
 
The Cooperative Intergovernmental Agreement between the Library District of 
Clackamas County and Member Cities (“Master IGA”) allows for the use of reserves 
accumulated by the Oak Lodge Service Area, and held by the Library District, by 
Clackamas County for the construction of new library buildings to serve both the Oak 
Lodge Library Service Area and Gladstone Library Service Area, as shown on the 
attached maps as Exhibits 1 and 2. 
 
In consideration of the mutual promises set forth below and other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the 
Parties hereby agree as follows: 
 
1. Obligations of the County 
 

A. Oak Lodge Public Library. The County currently operates the Oak 
Lodge Library serving the Oak Lodge Library Service Area. 

 
B. Gladstone Public Library.  The County shall assume operation and control of 

the Gladstone Public Library located at 135 E. Dartmouth St (“Gladstone 
Library”) to serve the Gladstone Library Service Area as of December 1, 
2019, subject to receiving the funding from City described in Section 2 
below, and subject to entering into a facilities agreement as described in 
Section 2.C below.  The County will operate the Gladstone Library as a 
branch of the Oak Lodge Public Library.  The branch of the Oak Lodge 

9 - A - 1



2 – Gladstone Library Intergovernmental Agreement 
 

Library will be known as the Gladstone Public Library.  The County as a 
Library City under the District IGA shall strive to operate the Gladstone 
Library in accordance with the Service Standards as defined in the District 
IGA.  If a majority of the public use portion of the current Gladstone Library 
facility becomes unavailable due to the physical condition of the facility, the 
City shall make space available at another facility for a circulation desk to 
provide limited services for library material returns and the pick-up of 
reserved library materials for a period of up to six months (“Temporary 
Circulation Desk”).  After six months the County shall provide a suitable 
facility for the same circulation desk services until the New Gladstone Library 
Branch as required by section 1.D.ii is completed. 
 

C. Library Board. The County agrees to create a new Library Board of 
Trustees, to institute a single committee or similar body (a "Library Board") to 
advise the Board of County Commissioners in matters concerning library 
services, policies, and general library-related issues at both library locations. 
The Library Board shall include proportionate membership for the 
unincorporated portion of the Oak Lodge Library Service Area, the 
unincorporated portion of the Gladstone Library Service Area, and the City 
of Gladstone. The County shall create the Library Board and appoint the 
new members to the Library Board as soon as reasonably practicable after 
this agreement is fully executed.  Recruitments for the Library Board will be 
managed by the County, and appointments to this Library Board will be 
made by the Board of County Commissioners. 

 
D. Future New Library Buildings.  The County will construct or renovate two 

library buildings to serve both the Oak Lodge Library Service Area and the 
Gladstone Library Service Area consistent with Concept Option A, attached 
hereto as Exhibit 3, as described in the Settlement Agreement between The 
City of Gladstone and Clackamas County as described below: 

 
i. County will construct and/or renovate a facility to house a new Oak Lodge 

Library of approximately 19,500 square feet to serve the Oak Lodge Library 
Service Area.  The final size of the facility may be adjusted based on a 
feasibility study and community needs assessment.    
 

ii. County will construct a library building of approximately 6,000 square feet to 
serve the Gladstone Library Service Area (“New Gladstone Library Branch”).  
The County may construct a larger library at its option. 
 

iii. The design and programming of each facility will be informed by the 
recommendations of citizen advisory bodies, including but not limited to the 
Gladstone Community Library Planning Task Force and the Concord 
Property and Library Planning Task Force and their successors.  The County 
may also undertake other public involvement/engagement efforts.  
 

9 - A - 2



3 – Gladstone Library Intergovernmental Agreement 
 

E. Gladstone Library Construction.  Upon execution of this Agreement the 
County shall commence the planning and construction process.  The 
County intends to follow the timeline outlined in the table below: 

 
MILESTONE # DESCRIPTION DATE 
1 Decision on location 

of Oak Lodge 
Library 

7/30/2020 

2 Project Master Plan 
finalized 
 

11/30/2020  

3 Design and 
construction 
documents 
finalized. 
 
All personal 
property removed 
from City Hall 
building in 
preparation for 
demolition  
 

11/30/2021 (12 
months after 

milestone #2)  

4 Permits obtained. 
Contractor 
procurement 
finalized and 
contract approved 
by Board 

5/30/2022  (6 
months after 

milestone #3) 

5 Various milestones 
for Gladstone 
Library construction. 

Various, per 
contract 

 
F. The County agrees that if the County has not selected a location for the Oak 

Lodge Library by July 30, 2020 the County will “decouple” the Oak Lodge 
Library construction process from the New Gladstone Library Branch 
construction process, so that construction of the New Gladstone Library 
Branch is not unreasonably delayed. The County shall continue the 
construction process as outlined in the table above.  The County shall be 
allowed one (1) thirty (30) day extension; however, the County must provide 
notice to the City in writing (via email to the City contact designated in 
section 4.G below) at least ten (10) days prior to July 30, 2020 of its intent to 
use a thirty (30) day extension.  The County may be allowed a second thirty 
(30) day extension with City written approval, which will not be unreasonably 
withheld.  Extension(s) used pursuant to this Section will count toward the 
total extensions allowed pursuant to Section 1.G and 1.H. 

9 - A - 3



4 – Gladstone Library Intergovernmental Agreement 
 

 
G. Extensions.  The County will be allowed a total of six (6) thirty (30) day 

extensions that may be applied to milestones # 1 through #4 above. Before 
utilizing an extension, the County must provide notice to the City in writing 
(via email to the City contact designated in section 4.G below) at least ten 
(10) days prior to the milestone deadline of its intent to use a thirty (30) day 
extension.  If the County requires more than six (6) thirty (30) day 
extensions, the County shall obtain the City’s written agreement (sent via 
email by the by the City contact designated in section 4.G below), which the 
City will not unreasonably withhold.  The City may, at its discretion, impose a 
penalty for each additional extension beyond the initial six (6) as described in 
1.H below.  All requests for extension must be for thirty (30) day increments.  
Penalties for milestone #5 shall be incorporated into the eventual contract 
with a Contractor, and any contractual penalties imposed on Contractor 
related to missed milestones on the New Gladstone Library Branch 
construction schedule shall be split equally between the County and the 
City. 

 
H. Penalties for additional extensions.  If the County requests more than a total 

of six (6) thirty (30) day extensions, the City may (at its discretion) impose a 
penalty according to the penalty schedule below. 

 
EXTENSION REQUESTED  PENALTY PER EXTENSION 
Extension #1 through #6 No penalty (per 1.G) 
Extension #7 through #9 $5,000 
Extension #10 through #12 $7,500 
Extension #13 and beyond $10,000 
 

I. Additional Capital.  Should organizations or individuals raise additional 
capital to increase the size of either library, enhance the service level of 
either library, or provide additional amenities at either library, the County will 
solicit recommendations from citizen advisory bodies, including but not 
limited to the Gladstone Community Library Planning Task Force, the 
Concord Property and Library Planning Task Force, and the single Library 
Board outlined in Section 1.C as to how to best utilize the funds raised.  
Funds raised may be spent by the County to enhance either facility, unless 
the gift specifies otherwise. 

 
J. City as Library City.  County agrees that City is and shall continue to be 

considered a “Library City” under the Master IGA and specifically retains all 
rights and privileges associated with being a Library City related to 
nomination and appointment of a City of Gladstone representative to the 
Library District Advisory Committee (“LDAC”).  The City’s LDAC 
representative shall be a member of the Library Board contemplated in 1.C 
drawn from the unincorporated portion of the Gladstone Library Service 
Area or the City of Gladstone. 

9 - A - 4



5 – Gladstone Library Intergovernmental Agreement 

K. Reporting to Gladstone City Council.  The Library Director for the Oak Lodge
and Gladstone Libraries shall prepare a monthly written report on the
operations, similar in nature as other reports provided by City department
directors, of the Oak Lodge Library and the branch library known as the
Gladstone Library.  The report will be provided to the contact designated in
this Agreement for the City. The County further agrees that the Library
Director shall be available for one annual in-person presentation to the
Gladstone City Council on a mutually agreeable date and time.

L. Demolition of City Hall Building.  The current location of Gladstone City Hall
is the parcel of land provided by City to County for the construction of the
library referenced in section 1.D.ii above.  The City and County shall split
equally costs associated with demolition, clearance of debris, disposal of all
environmental pollutants and hazardous substances or materials on the City
Hall demolition site in accordance with all applicable laws.

2. Obligations of the City

A. Gladstone Library District Distributions. Upon execution of this agreement,
the City authorizes the direct payment of the Gladstone Library Service
Area’s distributions from the Library Service District be paid directly to
County.  A copy of the distribution memos will be provided to the City of
Gladstone when distributions are made.  For FY 19/20, these payments will
be prorated, based upon the number of months each party operates the
Gladstone Library, with seven months’ portion of the City’s FY 19/20 Library
District distributions paid to the County, and five months’ portion paid directly
to the City to pay for library operational expenses incurred by the City prior to
execution of this agreement.

B. City General Fund Contributions.  Effective July 1, 2020 the City agrees to
pay $200,000 annually from the City General fund (“Base General Fund
Contribution”).  Starting with FY 21/22 (July 1, 2021).  The City will add to the
General Fund Contribution an amount equal to the rate of increase of the
City’s permanent rate property tax revenue from the previous fiscal year
(“Indexed Increase”).  The City’s annual payment to the County (“General
Fund Contribution”) shall include both the Base General Fund Contribution
and the Indexed Increase.  The current year’s total General Fund
Contribution will become the next year’s Base General Fund Contribution, to
which the Indexed Increase will be added.  A sample schedule showing 5
years’ worth of hypothetical General Fund Contributions and Indexed
Increases (based on an assumed annual 3% increase in City property tax
revenues) is shown below for illustrative purposes.

9 - A - 5



6 – Gladstone Library Intergovernmental Agreement 

FISCAL 
YEAR 

BASE GENERAL 
FUND 
CONTRIBUTION 

ESTIMATED 
INDEXED 
INCREASE 

ESTIMATED 
GENERAL 
FUND 
CONTRIBUTION 

FY 20/21 $200,000 $0 $200,000 
FY 21/22 $200,000 $6,000 $206,000 
FY 22/23 $206,000 $6,180 $212,180 
FY 23/24 $212,180 $6,365 $218,545 
FY 24/25 $218,545 $6,556 $225,101 

The payment of the General Fund Contribution shall be paid no later than 
December 31st each year.  In the event payment is not received by 
December 31st, as a remedy for late payment, interest shall accrue at the 
interest rate of four percent (4%) per annum. In the event of a decrease in 
property tax revenues, the total annual General Fund Contribution payment 
shall not decrease to less than $200,000.  In addition, the City agrees to pay 
$116,666 as the General Fund Contribution for FY 19/20.  This payment shall 
be paid no later than 60 days after the execution of this Agreement. 

C. Current Library Building. The City and County agree to enter into in a
separate Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) pursuant to ORS Chapter 190,
to set forth the terms relating to the operation of the current Gladstone
Library facility.  The IGA shall continue until the County completely moves
Gladstone Library operations to the New Gladstone Library Branch building
as described above in section 1.D.ii.

D. Demolition of City Hall Building.  The current location of Gladstone City Hall
is the parcel of land provided by City to County for the construction of the
library referenced in section 1.D.ii above.  The City and County shall split
equally all costs associated with demolition, clearance of debris, disposal of
all environmental pollutants and hazardous substances or materials on the
City Hall demolition site in accordance with all applicable laws.  City will
prepare the building for demolition by removing all personal property
necessary for demolition contractor to start work before the completion of
milestone 3 in section 1.E above.

E. Ground Lease for new Library Building.  The City shall lease a parcel of land
(“City Parcel”) to the County for the annual rate of $1 on which to construct
the library building described above in section 1.D.ii above.  The lease
described above shall be in force as long as the County operates the
Gladstone Public Library under this Agreement.

F. City Cooperation with Land Use and Zoning.  City staff will cooperate with
County on all land use or zoning changes, permits, applications or other
actions necessary to construct or renovate a library building and to provide

9 - A - 6



7 – Gladstone Library Intergovernmental Agreement 

adequate parking for said building to accommodate the building of a new 
Gladstone library as described in Exhibit 3, and section 1.D.ii herein. Both 
parties understand that this section shall not be construed as an obligation or 
guarantee regarding approval of any required land use decisions.  

G. Transfer of Operations. The Parties hereto acknowledge that City currently 
operates the Gladstone Library for the benefit of residents in the Gladstone 
Library Service Area as defined in the District IGA. The City by this 
Agreement assigns this responsibility to the County effective December 1, 
2019.

H. Gladstone Library Board. Effective upon the creation of the Library Board as 
described in section 1.C. and upon the Gladstone City Council implementing 
the necessary changes to the Gladstone Municipal Code, the Gladstone 
Library Board will be dissolved.  Gladstone City Council shall complete the 
dissolution of the Gladstone Library Board within one year of signing this 
agreement. Gladstone representatives on the new Library Board will report to 
the Gladstone City Council on a quarterly basis, as requested by the City.

I. Transfer of Assets. In consideration of the County's agreement to assume 
operation of the Gladstone Library, the City shall and hereby does transfer 
and/or assign, as appropriate, to the County as of December 1, 2019, all 
assets related to the operation of the Gladstone Library, with the exception of 
items listed in Exhibit 5.

J. Transfer of Contracts. Effective December 1, 2019, the City shall assign, 
transfer, or otherwise convey to the County all contracts, and the County may 
accept, agreements, and other arrangements regarding the Gladstone Public 
Library, including but not limited to all performer contracts. County is only 
obligated to accept assignment or transfer of contracts to the extent contracts 
and agreements comply with County codes and State laws applicable to 
public contracts.  Further, the City and the County shall arrange for all utility 
bills such as phone, water, electricity, garbage service, recycling, sewer and 
others to be transferred into the name of the County as of December 1, 2019. 
The City shall remain solely liable for all amounts owed on the foregoing for 
services through November 30, 2019. This transfer does not include a 
transfer of any collective bargaining agreements that the City has entered 
into with respect to any Gladstone Library employees.

K. City Facilities.  City will not unreasonably deny County requests to use other 
City facilities and resources to support programming and promotion of the 
Gladstone Library branch of the Oak Lodge Library.  This will include but is 
not limited to the use of meeting rooms, presentation equipment, display 
spaces in City-owned facilities, and advertising/promotion on City websites

9 - A - 7



8 – Gladstone Library Intergovernmental Agreement 
 

and in City publications. 
 
3. Transfer of Employees 

 
The City's employees of the Gladstone Library as of November 30, 2019 
("Transferring Employees") shall be transferred to the employ of the County 
pursuant to ORS 236.605-640 on  December 1, 2019, as further agreed to between 
the City, AFSCME Council 75, Local 350.03 and the County, attached as Exhibit 4.   
 
4. General Provisions 

 
A. Term. This Agreement shall commence on December 1, 2019 and 

automatically renew annually thereafter, unless otherwise terminated as 
set forth herein. 
 

B. Termination. 
 

i. Either the City or the County may terminate this Agreement at any time 
with One Hundred Eighty (180) days written notice to the other party. 
 

ii. If City or County terminates the Agreement, or the County ceases to 
operate the New Gladstone Library Branch, payment of Gladstone’s 
annual Library District Distribution and General Fund Contribution to the 
County will be prorated based on the final date of transfer of operations 
from the County to the City, and after such time General Fund 
Contributions will cease and the Library District Distribution will be 
distributed according to this Section.    

 
iii. Any termination of this Agreement shall not prejudice any rights or 

obligations accrued to the Parties prior to termination.  
 

iv. Either the County or the City may terminate this Agreement in the event of 
a breach of the Agreement by the other.  Prior to such termination 
however, the Party seeking the termination shall give the other Party 
written notice of the breach and of the Party’s intent to terminate.  If the 
breaching Party has not entirely cured the breach within fifteen (15) days 
of deemed or actual receipt of the notice, then the Party giving notice may 
terminate the Agreement at any time thereafter by giving written notice of 
termination stating the effective date of the termination. If the default is of 
such a nature that it cannot be completely remedied within such fifteen 
(15) day period, this provision shall be complied with if the breaching Party 
begins correction of the default within the fifteen (15) day period and 
thereafter proceeds with reasonable diligence and in good faith to effect 
the remedy as soon as practicable. 

 
v. Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, a defaulting party shall be 

9 - A - 8



9 – Gladstone Library Intergovernmental Agreement 

treated as if that party terminated this Agreement. 

vi. If this Agreement is terminated prior to the County closing on any debt
incurred for the purposes of constructing the New Gladstone Library
Branch (“Construction Debt” as defined below):

a. Service Area and District Revenue. The City will resume operational
control of the Gladstone Library and providing service for the existing
Gladstone Library Service Area population under the Master IGA and
continue to receive the Library District revenue for the existing Gladstone
Library Service Area, subject to proration of Library District Distributions
through the final date of transfer of operations per 4.B.ii above.

b. Library Employees.  The County will transfer employees back to the City
pursuant to its obligations under ORS 236.605-640.

c. Library Assets.  The County will transfer to the City all assets related to
the operation of the Gladstone Library  excluding any assets provided
by County internal service providers in the provision of required/cost-
allocated services, for example, a county Technology Services
Department owned switch for telephones or computers, or any assets
mutually agreed upon by parties.

d. Facilities IGA. The “Facilities” IGA drafted pursuant to Section 2.C of this
Agreement terminates pursuant to the terms of that agreement.

e. General Fund Contributions. The City’s obligation to make General Fund
Contributions pursuant to Section 2.B terminates, subject to proration
through the final date of transfer of operations per 4.B.ii above.

f. County Terminates.  If the County terminates pursuant to this Section
4.B.vi, County agrees to pay the City Three Hundred and Sixty Thousand
Dollars ($360,000) and such payment shall be considered satisfaction of
the Settlement Agreement, this Agreement, and allow the County to
remove the restrictions on the Capital Contribution under the Settlement
Agreement.

g. City Terminates. If the City terminates pursuant to this Section 4.B.vi, the
County is not obligated under the Settlement Agreement or any other
agreement to fund or provide for the construction and operation of a new
library in Gladstone, and the restrictions on the Capital Contribution under
the Settlement Agreement shall be removed.

9 - A - 9



10 – Gladstone Library Intergovernmental Agreement 
 

vii. If this Agreement is terminated after the County closes on Construction 
Debt: 

 
a. Service Area and District Revenue. Current year District 

Distributions will be prorated through the final date of transfer of 
operations as per 4.ii.b above.  After the transfer of operations, the 
City will provide library services for the then existing City of 
Gladstone population only and will transfer the percentage of the 
Library District revenue distribution for the then existing 
unincorporated area of the Gladstone Library Service Area to the 
County.  In such a situation, City will also support the amendment 
of the Master IGA to redefine the boundaries of the Oak Lodge 
Library Service Area to include any unincorporated areas located in 
the Gladstone Library Service Area, and to redefine the boundaries 
of the Gladstone Library Service Area to be the then existing City of 
Gladstone population only.  In the event the Master IGA is not 
amended as stated above, the City agrees to continue transferring 
the portion of its annual Library District revenue distributions 
attributed to the then existing unincorporated area of the Gladstone 
Library Service Area to the County and to continue serving the then 
existing City of Gladstone population only. 

 
b. Library Employees.  City is obligated pursuant to ORS 236.605-

.640 to accept the transfer of the number of County employees 
necessary for the operation of the New Gladstone Library Branch.  
This percentage is to be determined as the percentage that the 
then population of the City of Gladstone as compared to the entire 
population of the combined Oak Lodge Library Service Area and 
the Gladstone Library Service Area.  That same percentage of 
County library employees shall be transferred to the City as further 
agreed by the County, the City and any applicable unions. 

 
c. General Fund Contributions. The City’s obligation to make General 

Fund Contributions pursuant to Section 2.B terminates, subject to 
proration through the final date of transfer per 4.B.ii above. 

 
d. County Terminates. If the County terminates pursuant to this 

Section 4.B.vii: 
 

i. Construction Debt Existing at Termination: County shall 
transfer the operation of the New Gladstone Library Branch, 
to the City and lease the building to the City for $1 per year 
until such time as the outstanding balance of the 
Construction Debt has been retired by the County. Once the 
County retires the Construction Debt, the County shall 
transfer ownership of the New Gladstone Library Branch to 

9 - A - 10



11 – Gladstone Library Intergovernmental Agreement 
 

City free and clear of any debt or encumbrances.   
 
ii. No Construction Debt Existing at Termination:  County shall 

transfer the operation and ownership of the New Gladstone 
Library Branch to the City free and clear of any debt or 
encumbrances.  

 
e. City Terminates.  If the City terminates pursuant to this Section 

4.B.vii: 
 

i. Construction Debt Existing at Termination: City shall pay to 
the County the outstanding balance of the Construction Debt 
existing on the date of termination (“Outstanding 
Construction Debt.”). Construction debt includes: money 
borrowed by County specifically for the construction of the 
New Gladstone Library Branch, bond funds received by 
County specifically for the New Gladstone Library Branch, 
costs incurred during debt issuance, and any bondholder 
guarantee, arbitrage, prepayment penalty specifically related 
to the New Gladstone Library Branch and/or the City’s 
termination pursuant to this section. The City will assume 
operational control of the Gladstone Library Branch upon 
payment which shall be due to the County within one 
hundred eighty (180) days after the notice of termination.  . 
The City may request one (1), one hundred eighty (180) day, 
extension of the transfer of ownership to secure funding to 
complete the payment.  During any extension, during which 
the County is operating the New Gladstone Library Branch, 
the City shall continue the General Fund Contribution and 
Gladstone Library District distributions. During any extension 
the City may at its’ option request the transfer of operations 
from the County so long as the City makes payment to 
County during any extension period for all debt service 
County incurs during any extension period. Once the City 
makes the payment for all of the Outstanding Construction 
Debt to the County, the County shall transfer ownership and 
operation of the New Gladstone Library Branch to the City 
free and clear of any debt or encumbrances of County. 

 
ii. No Construction Debt Existing at Termination:  County shall 

transfer the operation and ownership of the New Gladstone 
Library Branch to the City free and clear of any debt or 
encumbrances. 

 
f. If the Agreement is terminated pursuant to this Section 4.B.vii and 

construction on the New Gladstone Library Branch has not been 

9 - A - 11



12 – Gladstone Library Intergovernmental Agreement 

completed, the County shall complete construction, and transfer 
operational control of the New Gladstone Library Branch to the City 
upon issuance of the later of the certificate of occupancy or the end 
of the period described above in paragraph 4B.vii.e.i as 
appropriate.    Construction Debt will be retired pursuant to Section 
4.B.vii.d or e.

g. Library Assets.  The County will transfer to the City all assets
related to the operation of the New Gladstone Library Branch,
excluding any assets provided by County internal service
providers in the provision of required/cost-allocated services, for
example, a county Technology Services Department owned
switch for telephones or computers, or any assets mutually
agreed upon by parties.

viii. The County or the City shall not be deemed to have waived any breach of
this Agreement by the other Party except by an express waiver in writing.
An express written waiver as to one breach shall not be deemed a waiver
of any other breach not expressly identified, even though the other breach
is of the same nature as that waived.

C. Representations and Warranties.

i. City Representations and Warranties: City represents and warrants to County
that City has the power and authority to enter into and perform this
Agreement, and this Agreement, when executed and delivered, shall be a
valid and binding obligation of City enforceable in accordance with its terms.

ii. County Representations and Warranties: County represents and warrants to
City has the power and authority to enter into and perform this Agreement,
and this Agreement, when executed and delivered, shall be a valid and
binding obligation of County enforceable in accordance with its terms.

iii. The warranties set forth in this section are in addition to, and not in lieu of,
any other warranties provided.

D. Indemnification.

i. Subject to the limits of the Oregon Constitution and the Oregon Tort Claims
Act or successor statute, the County agrees to indemnify, save harmless and
defend the City, its officers, elected officials, agents and employees from and
against all costs, (excluding attorney’s fees), losses, damages, claims or
actions and all expenses incidental to the investigation and defense thereof
arising out of or based upon damages or injuries to persons or property
caused by the acts or omissions under this Agreement of the County or its
officers, elected officials, owners, employees, agents, or its subcontractors or

9 - A - 12



13 – Gladstone Library Intergovernmental Agreement 
 

anyone over which the County has a right to control. The exclusion of 
attorney’s fees does not negate the obligation to defend.  

 
ii. Subject to the limits of the Oregon Constitution and the Oregon Tort 

Claims Act or successor statute, the City agrees to indemnify, save 
harmless and defend the County, its officers, elected officials, agents and 
employees from and against all costs, (excluding attorney’s fees), losses, 
damages, claims or actions and all expenses incidental to the 
investigation and defense thereof arising out of or based upon damages or 
injuries to persons or property caused by the acts or omissions under this 
Agreement of the City or its officers, elected officials, owners, employees, 
agents, or its subcontractors or anyone over which the City has a right to 
control. The exclusion of attorney’s fees does not negate the obligation to 
defend. 

 
E. Insurance.  Both Parties agree to furnish the other Party with evidence of 

commercial general liability insurance with a combined single limit of not less 
than the applicable tort claim limit for bodily injury and property damage for the 
protection of the other Party, and their officers, elected officials, agents, and 
employees against liability for damages because of personal injury, bodily injury, 
death or damage to property, including loss of use thereof, in any way related to 
this Agreement.  If self-insured, the Party shall provide documentation to the 
other Party of their self-insured status. 
 

F. Notices; Contacts. Legal notice provided under this Agreement shall be delivered 
personally, by email, by certified mail or any other manner mutually agreed by 
the parties to the individuals identified below. Any communication or notice so 
addressed and mailed shall be deemed to be given upon receipt.  Any 
communication or notice sent by electronic mail to an address indicated herein is 
deemed to be received 2 hours after the time sent (as recorded on the device 
from which the sender sent the email), unless the sender receives an automated 
message or other indication that the email has not been delivered. Any 
communication or notice by personal delivery shall be deemed to be given when 
actually delivered. Either Party may change the Party contact information, or the 
invoice or payment addresses by giving prior written notice thereof to the other 
Party at its then current notice address. 

 
i. The Director of Clackamas County’s Business and Community Services 

(BCS) department, acting as the County Administrator’s designee, will act as 
liaison for the County. 

 
Contact Information: 
 
Laura Zentner 
Director, Business and Community Services 
150 Beavercreek Rd., #419 
Oregon City, OR  97045 

9 - A - 13



14 – Gladstone Library Intergovernmental Agreement 
 

(503) 742-4351 
lzentner@clackamas.us 
 
Gary Schmidt 
County Administrator  
2051 Kaen Rd. 
Oregon City, OR 97045 
(503) 655-8581 
Bcc@clackamas.us 

 
ii. City Administrator, or their designee will act as liaison for the City. 

 
Contact Information: 
Jacque Betz 
City Administrator 
525 Portland Avenue 
Gladstone, OR 97027 
(503) 557-2769 
betz@ci.gladstone.or.us 

 
G. Oregon Law and Forum.  This Agreement, and all rights, obligations, and 

disputes arising out of it will be governed by and construed in accordance with 
the laws of the State of Oregon and the ordinances of Clackamas County without 
giving effect to the conflict of law provisions thereof.  Any claim between County 
and City that arises from or relates to this Agreement shall be brought and 
conducted solely and exclusively within the Circuit Court of Clackamas County 
for the State of Oregon; provided, however, if a claim must be brought in a 
federal forum, then it shall be brought and conducted solely and exclusively 
within the United States District Court for the District of Oregon.  In no event shall 
this section be construed as a waiver by either Party of any form of defense or 
immunity, whether sovereign immunity, governmental immunity, immunity based 
on the Eleventh Amendment to the Constitution of the United States or 
otherwise, from any claim or from the jurisdiction of any court.   
 

H. Compliance with Applicable Law. Both Parties shall comply with all applicable 
local, state and federal ordinances, statutes, laws and regulations. All provisions 
of law required to be a part of this Agreement, whether listed or otherwise, are 
hereby integrated and adopted herein. Failure to comply with such obligations is 
a material breach of this Agreement. 

 
I. Non-Exclusive Rights and Remedies. Except as otherwise expressly provided 

herein, the rights and remedies expressly afforded under the provisions of this 
Agreement shall not be deemed exclusive, and shall be in addition to and 
cumulative with any and all rights and remedies otherwise available at law or in 
equity.  The exercise by either Party of any one or more of such remedies shall 
not preclude the exercise by it, at the same or different times, of any other 
remedies for the same default or breach, or for any other default or breach, by 

9 - A - 14



15 – Gladstone Library Intergovernmental Agreement 
 

the other Party. 
 

J. Access to Records. Both Parties shall retain, maintain, and keep accessible all 
records relevant to this Agreement (“Records”) for a minimum of six (6) years, 
following Agreement termination or full performance or any longer period as may 
be required by applicable law, or until the conclusion of an audit, controversy or 
litigation arising out of or related to this Agreement, whichever is later. Both 
Parties shall maintain all financial records in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. All other Records shall be maintained to the extent 
necessary to clearly reflect actions taken. During this record retention period, 
each Party shall permit the other Party’s authorized representatives’ access to 
the Records at reasonable times and places for purposes of examining and 
copying. 

 
K. Debt Limitation. This Agreement is expressly subject to the limitations of the 

Oregon Constitution and Oregon Tort Claims Act, and is contingent upon 
appropriation of funds. Any provisions herein that conflict with the above 
referenced laws are deemed inoperative to that extent. 

 
L. Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement is found to be unconstitutional, 

illegal or unenforceable, this Agreement nevertheless shall remain in full force 
and effect and the offending provision shall be stricken.  The Court or other 
authorized body finding such provision unconstitutional, illegal or unenforceable 
shall construe this Agreement without such provision to give effect to the 
maximum extent possible the intentions of the Parties. 

 
M. Integration, Amendment and Waiver.  Except as otherwise set forth herein, this 

Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties.  There are no 
understandings, agreements, or representations, oral or written, not specified 
herein regarding this Agreement.  No waiver, consent, modification or change of 
terms of this Agreement shall bind either Party unless in writing and signed by 
both Parties and all necessary approvals have been obtained.  Such waiver, 
consent, modification or change, if made, shall be effective only in the specific 
instance and for the specific purpose given. The failure of either Party to enforce 
any provision of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver by such Party of that 
or any other provision. 

 
N. Interpretation. The titles of the sections of this Agreement are inserted for 

convenience of reference only and shall be disregarded in construing or 
interpreting any of its provisions. 

 
O. Relationship of Parties. Each of the Parties hereto shall be deemed an 

independent contractor for purposes of this Agreement.  No representative, 
agent, employee or contractor of one Party shall be deemed to be a 
representative, agent, employee or contractor of the other Party for any purpose, 
except to the extent specifically provided herein.  Nothing herein is intended, nor 
shall it be construed, to create between the Parties any relationship of principal 

9 - A - 15



16 – Gladstone Library Intergovernmental Agreement 
 

and agent, partnership, joint venture or any similar relationship, and each Party 
hereby specifically disclaims any such relationship. 

 
P. No Third-Party Beneficiary. City and County are the only parties to this 

Agreement and are the only parties entitled to enforce its terms.  Nothing in this 
Agreement gives, is intended to give, or shall be construed to give or provide any 
benefit or right, whether directly, indirectly or otherwise, to third persons unless 
such third persons are individually identified by name herein and expressly 
described as intended beneficiaries of the terms of this Agreement. 

 
Q. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts 

(electronic or otherwise), each of which shall be an original, all of which shall 
constitute the same instrument. 

 
R. Survival. All provisions in section 4 shall survive the termination of this 

Agreement.  
 

S. Necessary Acts.  Each Party shall execute and deliver to the others all such 
further instruments and documents as may be reasonably necessary to carry out 
this Agreement. 

 
T. Time is of the Essence. City and County agree that time is of the essence in the 

performance this Agreement. 
 

U. Successors in Interest. The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon 
and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, and their respective authorized 
successors and assigns. 

 
V. Force Majeure. Neither City nor County shall be held responsible for delay or 

default caused by events outside of the City or County’s reasonable control 
including, but not limited to, fire, terrorism, riot, acts of God, or war. However, 
City shall make all reasonable efforts to remove or eliminate such a cause of 
delay or default and shall upon the cessation of the cause, diligently pursue 
performance of its obligations under this Agreement. 

 
W. No Attorney Fees. In the event any arbitration, action or proceeding, including 

any bankruptcy proceeding, is instituted to enforce any term of this Agreement, 
each party shall be responsible for its own attorneys’ fees and expenses. 

 
 

[Signature Page Follows} 
  

9 - A - 16



17 – Gladstone Library Intergovernmental Agreement 

IN WITNESS HEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement by the date 
set forth opposite their names below. 

Clackamas County  City of Gladstone 

______________________________ ______________________________    
Chair, Board of County Commissioners Mayor 

______________________________ ______________________________    
Date  Date

9 - A - 17



Gladstone

Johnson
C ity

Lake Oswego

Lake
Oswego

West
L inn

Oregon City

Milwaukie

Happy
Valley

212

213

224

224

205

205

205

MANOR 
D

R

CHERRY 
CIR

EAST AVE

WEST A ST

WISTERIA RD

JUNIPER ST

BARBA
RY PL

33RD AVE

LA 

MESA WAY

KAPTEYNS ST

EL K ROCK RD

MAPLE LN

AMBLER RD

SADDLE CT

VIEW 
DR

ALDERWAY AVE

SWEET
BRIAR CIR

MIDHILL 
CIR

OETKIN DR

CALAROGA CIR

MANGAN 
DR

MERGANSER 

CT

SUN CIR

ST

ERLING CIR

COLONY CIR

ALDERHILL 
LOO

P

KELLOGG 
CRE E

K DR

THIESSEN 
RD

NELSON LN

MCVEY 
AVE

SUNCREST DR

JENNINGS AVE

MAI N 
ST

KUEHN RD

MCNARY RD

CYPRESS 
AVE

EVERGREEN 
RD

HILL 
RD

GLOUCESTER ST

RANDALL ST

COURTNEY 
AVE

STANLEY AVE

PINEHURST 
AVE

82ND AVE

PORTLAND AVE

CLACKAMAS 
RD

BE RG IS 
R D

G 
AVE

WALLACE RD

STRAWBERRY 
LN

K IRKWOOD RD

CLUB 
HOUSE CIR

CRE IGHT ON 
AV E

MIDVALE 
RD

BYRON DR

EVERGREEN 
ST

28TH AVE

BEATRICE AVE

CONCORD RD

WILLAMETTE DR

DEVO
NSHIRE DR

10TH ST

26TH AVE

HARMONY 
RD

CHESS I NGTON LN

TULANE ST

FAIROAKS AVE

HW
Y 

2 12

FRONT AVE

VALLEY VIEW RD

HALLINAN ST

TALB ERT 
ST

82ND 
DR

RUSK RD

A AVE

HULL AVE

OAK 
GROVE 

BLVD

HWY 213

CALDWELL RD

STOHLER RD

TAMARACK WAY

JOLIE 
POINTE 

RD

LAKE 
RD

RIVERSIDE DR

NORTH 
SHORE 

RD

WANDA DR

VISTA LN

BOARDMAN AVE

FIELDING RD

CLAYSON AVE

35TH AVE

TERWILLIGER BLVD

COUNTRY CLUB RD

JENNIFER 
ST

ASPEN 
ST

ABERNETHY 
LN

RISLEY AVE

NORMA RD

LICYNTRA LN

ORCHID AVE

GLEN ECHO 
AVE

DELREY AVE

CLACKAMA S 
TOWN 

CENTER

ADDIE ST

GREEN 
BLUFF 

DR

ANDREWS 
RD

STEVENS RD

WASHINGTON 
ST

PINE CREEK 
WAY

PIMLICO 

DR

PHEASANT CT

ALDERCREST RDHAROLD AVE

AMES 
ST

CLEVELAND 
ST

BRIGHTWOOD AVE

HILLSIDE 
DR

FURNACE ST

APOLLO 
R D

VERNIE AVE

HARVARD AVE

HIDDEN S PRINGS RD

SM ITHFIELD 
DR

HIGH ST

MELDRUM AVE

CASON RD

OLD RIVER DR

BAYBERRY R D

HWY 
224

FOOTHILLS 
RD

HEREFORD 
ST

M
IC HAEL 

DR

56TH AVE

HEMLOCK 
ST

MARYLHURST DR

ROOTS 
RD

SOMEWHERE DR

PACIFIC HWY

FULLER RD

LAUREL 
ST

MA DRONA DR

F AVE

B 
AVE

E 
AVE

BUCK 
ST

C 
AVE

D 
AVE

RINEARSON RD

84TH AVE

LA BONITA WAY

BO CA RATAN DR

BARLOW 
DR

ASPEN 
ST

81ST AVE

SU NNY SID E 
RD

IRIS 
ST

3RD ST

SUNNINGDAL E 
RD

ARMEL DR

80TH PL

LA MARQUITA WAY

SPRINGHILL 

DR

ARBOR 
DR

SUNNYBROOK 
BLVD

COLLINS CREST

RUPERT DR

GLENMOR RIE DR

SKYLAND DR

MONTEREY 
AVE

INTERNATIONAL 
WAY

LA CRESCENTA WAY

97TH AVE

APPERSON BLVD

ASH 
ST

BUCKINGHAM DR
WESTV IEW 

AVE

ROSEMONT RD

MAPLE 
ST

25TH AVE

RIVER FOREST RD

O
AKLAND 

AVE

DERBY 
ST

FORSYTHE 
RD

JANNSEN 
RD

BELLEVUE WAY

HOLCOMB 
BLVD

HUNTER AVE

BERKELEY ST

H EMLOCK 
S T

CHURC
HILL 

DOWNS 
DR

CHESTNUT 
ST

70TH AVE

NIXON AVE

CEDAR 
ST

ARLINGTON 
ST

24TH AVE

RAILROAD AVE

CLAYTON 
W

AY

W
ILLAMETTE 

AVE

RIVER 
DR

BLUEGRASS WAY

CASON 
LN

9TH ST

VINEYARD RD

Y ALE AVE

JOHNSON RD

CLACKAMAS RIVER DR

EL CE NTRO WAY

WINDSOR DR

WOODLAND WAY

NAEF RD

ANG

ELA WAY

DILLOW 
DR

OAK 
TREE 

TER

LARK 
ST

AP PALOOSA WAY

SWAIN AVE

BOSS LN

LAKE 
FRONT 

RD

INA 
AVE

LAWNF IE L D RD

GORDON ST

MELD RUM 
BAR 

PARK 
RD

BARCLAY AVE

NIXON AVE

MABEL 
AVE

RIDGEWOOD DR

CLARENDON 
ST

BENNINGTON CT

HOWELL ST
BLANTON ST

SOUTHGATE 
ST

STONEWOOD 

DR

LEE ST

LAUREL 
ST

CHICAGO AVE

CORNELL AVE

APPLE 
ST

COLUMBIA AVE

BELLEVUE AVE

STONEHAVEN 

DR

BARTON AVE

UNION AVE

COOK ST

ARISTA DR

LAKE 
FORE S T DR

4TH ST

MEADOWS 
DR

RIVER 
FO

REST PL

PARADISE DR

ASHTON LN

KAY ST

GLE NMORRIE LN
BRIGGS ST

ROBIN RD

WILDWOOD 
DR

LARCH 
ST

W
EBSTER 

LN

GARLAND LN

HORTON 
RD

EXETER ST

DESWELL 
ST

HIRAM AVE

TORBANK 
RD

MAPLE 
ST

BECKMAN AVE

ALLAN RD

ELDORADO 
ST

FIRST ST

PENNYWOOD 
DR

ELMRAN 

DR

ELLIS 
AVE

FERNRIDGE AVE

TROON 
D R

5TH ST

UPPER MIDHILL DR

MALOY LN

MULBERRY 

DR

RUSCLIFF RD

THURMAN 
ST

FAIRFIELD ST

19TH AVE

WINSTON DR

AZALEA 
DR

BRUNNER RD

ROSE ST

KELLOGG AVE

94TH AVE

HILLWOOD AVE WOOD AVE

SUNNYSIDE 
DR

FREEMAN WAY

ALDERCREST CT

OAK B LUFF RD

MCBRIDE 
ST

80TH AVE

VIEW ACRES RD

ROETHE RD

EDGEWATER RD

TRILLIUM DR

TWILIGHT TRL

WATER AVE

6TH ST

WALLI NG WAY

UPPER ALDERCREST DR

SWEETBRIAR RD

LEE AVE
MATHER 

RD

7TH ST

KRONBERG AVE

WHIPPLE AVE

8TH ST

1ST ST

CLACKAMAS 
BLVD

98TH CT

HAGER 
LN

IPSW ICH ST

JERSEY ST

OAK 
ST

SPRUCE 
ST

STONEHILL ST

WALNUT ST

HARLEY AVE

HUGH AVE

PINE 
LN

CAVALIER 
WAY

PINE 
ST

DUNIWAY 
AVE

106TH AVE

CAROL AVE

RIDGEBROOK DR

MOLT 
ST

OLD RIVER 
RD

CEDAR AVE

ROBERT AVE

RIVER ST

FRANCIS AVE
MEADOWLARK LN

BEECH ST

WILLOW LN

MARK 
LN

WHITTEN LN

GRAPEVINE RD

BOB SCHUMACHER RD

MINERVA 
RD

SUNSHINE 
LN

POPPY ST

RAINIER 
P L

ORVILLE AVE

W
ILDA 

RD

SAFEWAY RD

BRITTON AVE

MARYLHURST 
C

IR

EAS TBROOK 
DR

DEER 
C REEK 

LN

RIDGEWOOD WAY

AGNES AVE

SUN AVE

O
ETKIN WAY

EDGECLIFF RD

PIAZZA AVE

CREEKS IDE DR

SIERRA 
VISTA DR

DANA AVE

CRESWAIN AVE

SYLVAN 
WAY

WILLS WAY

INDUSTRIAL WAY

DAHL PARK RD

HILLWO OD C IR

DONCASTER DR

93RD AVE

SUNBURST 
TER

RUBY DR

MASON 
HEIGHTS DR

AQUATIC 
CENTER

FERNVIEW RD

PA

RK WAY

JENSEN RD

KENTHORPE 
WAY

MARY 
S 

YOUNG STATE PARK

MAPL ETON 
DR

HIGHLAND RD

CLEMATIS RD

OATFIELD 
RD

LAURIE AVE

MCLOUGHLIN BLVD

STATE ST

C ORNELL ST

GLEN RD

WEBSTER RD

82ND 
DR

BIR DSHILL RD

LINDEN LN

SKY
E PKWY

SUMMIT ST

RIVER RD

RIVER RD
I205 FWY

23RD AVE

GUILF ORD DR

BERWICK RD

HEARTHWOOD DR

LONGVIEW 
WAY

GERKMAN 
RD

CALAROGA DR

MCKINLEY AVE

FURMAN 
DR

GARNE
T WA Y

OETKIN RD

HILLCREST 
DR

WILDERNESS DR

22ND AVE

CRESTLINE DR

37TH AVE

SWAN AVE

RIDGE DR

FREEMAN RD

RIDGEW
AY 

RD

SEQUOIA AVE

PRIMROSE AVE

20TH AVE

VALLEY 
VIEW 

DR

TIARA DR

GROVE 
LO OP

RIVER FOREST DR

PARRISH ST

GREENVIEW AVE

KASLIN WAY

SERANGO DR

LAKE 
SHO R E R

D

BROOKHUR
S T DR

98TH AVE

RIDG E GATE DR

PLUM 
DR

LAKE 
BAY 

CT

CROWNVIEW DR

WHERE ELSE LN

IRON 
MOUNTAIN 

BLVD

CARRIAGE 
W

AYSANTA ANITA DR

PALOMINO 
W

AY

MALLARD WAY

BRAE 
ST

7 1ST AVE

FAIROAKS LN

UP
PER CHERR

Y 

LN
MONTICELLO DR

CAUFIELD ST

WHITE CLOUD CIR

MIDDLECREST RD

36TH AVE

BAY MEADO WS DR
BONNIE WAY

FAIRVIEW 
WAY

LARK AVE

PINE VA LL EY RD

WALTA VISTA DR

MILES DR

ROSEPARK DR

SKYLAN D S CIR

EVELYN ST

PALOMINO CIR

TOPAZ AVE

CEDAROAK 
DR

21ST AVE

CHAPIN WAY

92ND AVE

VINEYARD WAY

HUNTER WAY

HALLINAN CIR

THORNTON DR

TRBG = 0201002
Total Pop. =
1039

TRBG = 0215001
Total Pop. = 4309

TRBG = 0222041
Total Pop. = 2745

TRBG =
0222042

Total Pop. = 3547

TRBG
= 0222012
Total Pop. = 3948

TRBG = 0211002
Total Pop. = 1400

TRBG
= 0211001

Total Pop. = 3240
TRBG = 0208002

Total Pop. =
840

TRBG = 0208003
Total Pop. = 1645

TRBG =
0212001

Total Pop. = 2317

TRBG
= 0214003

T otal Pop. = 973

TRBG =
0201001

Total Pop. = 2042

TRBG = 0214001
Total Pop. = 2757

TRBG = 0221044
Total

P op. = 3549

TRBG = 0214002
Total

Pop. = 1058

TRBG = 0202003
Total Pop.
= 1418

TRBG = 0201003
Total Pop. = 797

TRBG = 0213003
Total Pop. = 1064

TRBG = 0202004
Total Pop. = 791

TRBG = 0202001
Total

Pop. = 2791

TRBG = 0213001
Total Pop. = 2282

TRBG = 0218011
Total Pop. = 1956

TRBG = 0213002
Total Pop. = 2103

TRBG = 0204021
Total Pop. =

2086
TRBG
= 0205032
T otal Pop. = 1012

TRBG = 0218021
Total Pop. =

1767
TRBG = 0205031
Total Pop. = 1259

TRBG = 0217001
Total Pop. = 2313

TRBG = 0204022
Total Pop.
= 1754

TRBG = 0205022
Total

Pop. = 6888

TRBG =
0219001

Total Pop. = 2062

TRBG = 0220002
Total Pop. = 816

TRBG = 0219002
Total Pop.

= 1195

TRBG = 0206001
Total Pop. = 1691

TRBG = 0221042
Total

Pop. = 773

TRBG = 0221045
Total Pop. = 5538

TRBG
= 0223001
T otal Pop. = 1318

TRBG =
0221012

Total Pop. = 3369
TRBG =
0220001
Total Pop. = 5581

TRBG =
0221041

Total Pop. = 973

TRBG
= 0205011

T otal Pop. = 4465

TRBG
= 0223003
T otal Pop. = 1259

TRBG =
0206002

T otal Pop. = 3221

TRBG = 0223002
Total Pop. = 864

TRBG =
0223004
Total Pop. = 1313

TRBG
= 0206003

T otal Pop. = 2207

TRBG = 0205021
Total Pop. = 1968

TRBG = 0205021
Total Pop. = 1968

TRBG = 0212002
Total Pop. = 1520

TRBG
= 0212002

Total Pop. = 1520

TRBG = 0215001
Total

Pop. = 4309

TRBG = 0216023
Total Pop.

= 1946
TRBG
= 0216022
Total Pop. = 1096

TRBG = 0216022
Total

Pop. = 1096

TRBG = 0216021
Total Pop.
= 1884

TRBG = 0216021
Total Pop.
= 1884

TRBG = 0217002
Total Pop. = 3828

TRBG = 0217002
Total

P op. = 3828

TRBG = 0218012
Total Pop.

= 3157

TRBG
= 0218012

Total Pop. = 3157

TRBG =
0218022

T otal Pop. = 2292

TRBG = 0218022
Total Pop.
= 2292

TRBG
= 0221011

Total Pop. = 3200

TRBG = 0221011
Total Pop.
= 3200

TRBG =
0221043

T otal Pop. = 1009

TRBG
= 0221043
Total Pop. = 1009

TRBG
= 0213003
Total Pop. = 1142

TRBG = 0213001
Total Pop. =

2687

TRBG = 0213002
Total

Pop. = 2108
TRBG

= 0214002
Total Pop. = 1137

TRBG = 0214001
Total Pop.
= 2620

TRBG = 0215002
Total Pop. = 3030

TRBG = 0206001
Total Pop.
=  1718

TRBG = 0205031
Total Pop. = 1326

TRBG = 0221081
Total Pop. = 964

TRBG =
0221081

Total Pop. = 964

TRBG = 0208003
Total Pop. = 1703

TRBG = 0211002
Total Pop. = 1308

TRBG
= 0214003

Total Pop. = 962

TRBG = 0216022
Total Pop. =
1029

TRBG
= 0202005

Total Pop. = 1101

TRBG = 0202004
Total Pop.

= 1791

TRBG
= 0205052
Total Pop. = 1237

TRBG = 0205052
Total Pop. = 1237

TRBG = 0205042
Total Pop. =

2 649

TRBG = 0205011
Total Pop. = 878

TRBG = 0221071
Total Pop. = 2185

TRBG = 0221071
Total Pop.
= 2185

TRBG =
0223013

T otal Pop. = 925

TRBG = 0221071
Total Pop.

= 2185

TRBG = 0221011
Total Pop. = 2143

TRBG = 0218021
Total Pop.
= 1775

TRBG
= 0218022

Total Pop. = 2525

TRBG =
0218011

Total Pop. = 2062

TRBG = 0222013
Total Pop. = 1843

TRBG = 0222051
Total Pop. = 1559

TRBG = 0221072
Total Pop. = 1500

TRBG = 0221053
Total Pop. = 2536

TRBG = 0217002
Total Pop. = 1511

TRBG =
0206002

T otal Pop. = 2988

TRBG = 0215001
Total Pop. =
1897

TRBG = 0211004
Total Pop.

= 1928

TRBG =
0218013

Total Pop. = 1981

TRBG = 0222012
Total
Pop. = 2318

TRBG = 0220001
Total Pop.

= 1970

TRBG = 0205032
Total Pop. = 1013

TRBG =
0201001
Total Pop. = 2084

TRBG = 0221014
Total Pop. = 1606

TRBG = 0221013
Total Pop.

= 1563

TRBG =
0202002
Total Pop. = 1362

TRBG = 0222061
Total Pop. =

2079

TRBG = 0223011
Total Pop.

=  1611

TRBG =
0223021

T otal Pop. = 1979

TRBG = 0204042
Total
P op. = 1729

TRBG
= 0206003

T otal Pop. = 3108

TRBG = 0212001
Total Pop. = 1672

TRBG
= 0212002

Total Pop. = 695

TRBG = 0221012
Total Pop. =

1280

TRBG = 0216023
Total Pop. = 1942

TRBG
= 0216021

Total Pop. = 1953

TRBG = 0217003
Total

P op. = 2248

TRBG =
0205013

T otal Pop. = 2904

TRBG = 0205012
Total

P op. = 3139

TRBG =
0218012

Total Pop. = 1569

TRBG
= 0205051

Total Pop. = 1424

TRBG = 0205043
Total Pop. = 2596

TRBG = 0205051
Total Pop. = 1424

TRBG
= 0205051
T otal Pop. = 1424

TRBG =
0205041
Total Pop. = 1071

TRBG = 0205041
Total

P op. = 1071

TRBG = 0221082
Total
Pop. = 1934

TRBG = 0220003
Total Pop.

=  1612

TRBG = 0220002
Total Pop. = 2830

TRBG = 0223012
Total

Pop. = 1331

TRBG = 0219001
Total Pop.

=  2252

TRBG = 0219002
Total Pop. = 1263

TRBG = 0217001
Total Pop. =

2323

TRBG
= 0201002

Total Pop. = 1003

TRBG = 0201003
Total Pop. = 783

TRBG = 0202003
Total Pop. =

848

TRBG = 0204041
Total Pop. = 1979

TRBG = 0212003
Total Pop.

=  1492

TRBG = 0208002
Total

Pop. = 955
Oak Lodge

Library Service Area
(Library District) -
No New GL Built

Legend

Boundaries

City Boundary

PlacesCity Not Included

County Courthouse
City Hall
Hospital
Airport
Park / Recreation
Golf Course
Boat Launch
Winter Recreation
Cemetery
Library
Ferry Crossing
Swimming
Oregon Trail 
Interp. Center

CLACKAMAS COUNTY | GIS | JIMLUG | \\navigator\jimlug$\ArcGIS_Beta\projects\Library\LibraryServiceAreaAnalysis2007\LibraryDistrict\GILibDistNoNewGL_org.mxd | Oct 17th, 2011

Year 2010
Tract Block Groups

Year 2000
Tract Block Groups

0
0.1

0.2
0.3

0.4
0.5Miles 9 - A - Exhibit 1 & 2 - 1

bannick
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT 1



Oregon
C ity

Gladstone

Happy
Valley

Happy Valley

West
Linn

Milwaukie

Johnson
C ity

212

2 12

213

224

224

205

205

205

CONCORD 
RD

JUNIPER ST

BARBA
RY PL

120TH AVE
RIVER ST

LA 
MESA WAY

MASA LN
CHARJAN 

ST

BURKSTROM RD

MAPLE LN

AMBLER RD

ALDERWAY AVE

124TH AVE

OETKIN DR

CARPENTER 
DR

CALAROGA CIR

MANGAN 
DR

MERGANSER 
CT

STERLING 

C
IR

COLONY CIR

ALD
ERHILL LOOP

SUNTERRA LOOP

KELLOGG 
CREEK D

R

HOLCOMB 
RD

THIESSEN RD

FORSYTHE RD

BRADLEY RD

NELSON LN

EVERGREEN 
ST

JENNINGS 
AVE

KUEHN RD

MCNARY RD

118TH DR

CYPRESS 
AVE

HILL 
RD

108TH AVE

GLOUCESTER 
ST

RANDALL ST

MCLOUGHLIN BLVD

PINEHURST 
AVE

PORTLAND AVE

HOLCOMB 
BLVD

CLACKAMAS 
RD

WALLACE RD

STRAWBERRY LN

HWY 212

K IRKWOOD RD

NORMANDY 
DR

HIRAM AVE

BYRON DR

142ND AVE

NATALYA ST

BEATRICE AVE

SWAIN 
AVEWILLAMETTE DR

DEVO
NSHIRE DR

26TH AVE

RIVER RD

HARMONY 
RD

CHESS I NGTON LN

TULANE 
ST

139TH AVE

VALLEY VIEW RD

FRONT AVE

VERLIE 
ST

TALBE R
T ST

82ND 
DR

RUSK RD

HULL AVE

OAK 
GROVE 

BLVD

MOUNTAIN 
GATE 

RD

SCENIC 
RIDG

E DR

CALDWELL RD STOHLER RD

TAMARACK WAY

JOLIE 
POINTE 

RD

R IVER RD

VALLEY VIEW TER

OLD RIVER DR

SPRING 
MOUNTAIN 

DR
LAKE 

RD

OAK VALLEY DR

WANDA DR

AZAR 
DR

VISTA LN

BOARDMAN AVE

SIEBEN 

P ARK WAY

ALTA VISTA DR

CLAYSON AVE

BL UFF 
DR

JENNIFER 
ST

CRANBERRY LOOP

ABERNETHY 
LN

RISLEY AVE

NORMA RD

LICYNTRA 
LN

ORCHID AVE

GLEN 
E

CHO AVE

126TH AVE

DELREY AVE

SUN N YS IDE 
RD

ADDIE ST

PINE 
CREEK WAY

PIM LICO DR

REGENCY 
VIEW 

ST

PHEASANT CT

ALDERCREST RD

HAROLD AVE

AMES 
ST

CLEVELAND 
ST

BRIGHTWOOD AVE

HILLSIDE 
DR

ALMOND 
DR

APOLLO 
RD

VERNIE AVE

TERRA 
CAS CADE DR

HARVARD AVE

SM ITHFIELD 
DR

HIGH ST

MELDRUM AVE

120TH 

PL

CASON RD

HWY 224

HEREFORD ST
STEVENS RD

MOUNTAIN RIDGE AVE

JENNINGS 
AVE

ROOTS 
RD

SOMEWHERE DR

ONE ROSA 
DR

FULLER RD

EASTHAMPTO N 
ST

LAUREL 
ST

M A DRONA DR

HUBBARD 
RD

BUCK 
ST

ALDRIDGE 
RD

RINEARSON 
RD

84TH AVE

LA BONITA WAY

WAGN

ER ST

COURTNEY 
AVE

SIERRA DR

APPERSON BLVD

BARLOW 
DR

ASPEN ST

81ST AVE

IRIS 
ST

ARMEL DR

80TH PL

LA MARQUITA WAY

WESTGATE WAY

SPRINGHILL 

DR

COLLINS CREST

RUPERT DR

LA CRESCENTA WAY

97TH AVE

BUCKINGHAM DR

WESTVIEW 
AVE

OUTLOOK RD

SUMMERS 
LN

CRANBERRY 
DR

25TH AVE

OAKL AND 
AVE

CLACKAMAS RIVER 
DR

OA KRIDG E DR

JANNSEN 
RD

STANLEY AVE

HUNTER AVE

VIOLA VINEYARD DR

DIAMOND 
DR

130TH AVE

MANOR 
DR

BERKELEY ST

HEM LOCK 
ST

CHESTNUT 
ST

NIXON AVE

ARLINGTON 
ST

24TH AVE

RAILROAD 
AVE

CLAYTON 
WAY

WILLAMETTE 
AVE

SAGEBRUSH 
DR

RIVER 
DR

IMPER IAL CREST ST

147TH AVE

CASON 
LN

SKYLINE 
DR VINEYARD 

RD

YALE AVE

JOHNSON RD

EL C

EN TRO WAY

WINDSOR DR

WOODLAND WAY

NAEF RD ANG

ELA WAY

DILLOW 
DR

KAITLIN 
WAY

BOSS LN

INA AVE

LAWNFIELD 
RD

GORDON STMELDRUM 
BAR 

PARK RD

BARCLAY AVE

NIXON AVE

MABEL 
AVE

RIDG EWOOD DR

CLARENDON ST

MA

THER RD

HOWELL ST

BLANTON ST

HURON 
ST

SOUTHGATE ST

SUNTERRA DR

STONEWOOD 

DR

MIA 
GARDEN 

DR

CHICAGO AVE

CORNELL AVE

APPLE ST

COLUMBIA AVE

BELLEVUE AVE

BARTON AVE

UNION AVE

VICTORY RD

SUNNYCREEK 
LN

COOK ST

ARISTA DR

PARADISE DR

ASHTON LN

KAY ST

BURNS 
ST

CAPPS 
RD

BRIGGS ST

131ST DR

ROBIN RD

130TH AVE

W
EBSTER 

LN

GARLAND LN

HORTON 
RD

MONTEREY 
AVE

EXETER ST

DESWELL 
ST

FREDERICK ST

BECKMAN AVE

ALLAN RD

ELDORADO ST

FIRST ST

M

OUNTAIN 
SUN 

DR

PENNYWOOD 
DR

ELM

R AN DR

FERNRIDGE AVE

SUMMERFIELD LOOP

MULBERRY 
DR

RU SCLIFF RD

THURMAN ST

FAIRF IELD 
ST

WINSTON DR

AZALEA 
DR

BRUNNER RD

ROSE ST

KELLOGG AVE

94TH AVE

HILLWOOD AVE

SUNNYSIDE 
DR

FREEMAN WAY
FALBROOK 

DR

EAGLE 
GLEN 

DR

ALDERCREST CT

OAK 

BLUFF RD

WAYNE DR

MCBRIDE 
ST

80TH AVE

VIEW ACRES RD

ROETHE RD

EDGEWATER RD

TRILLIUM DR

125TH AVE

WATER AVE

EASTBOURNE LN

SHANNON LN

UPPER ALDERCREST DR

130TH DR

KRONBERG AVE

WHIPPLE AVE

119TH DR

CLACKAMAS 
BLVD

98TH CT

HAGER 
LN

IPSWICH 
ST

CLIFFVIEW 
RD

JERSEY ST STONEHILL ST

WALNUT ST

HARLEY AVE

HUGH AVE

PINE 
LN

CAVALIER 
WAY

INTER NA TIONAL WAYDUNIWAY AVE

106TH AVE

CAROL AVE

MOLT 
ST

117TH AVE

ASHLE Y ST

ROBERT AVE

FRANCIS AVE
MEADOWLARK LN

BEECH ST

129TH AVE

WILLOW LN

W
ACHTMAN 

RD

MARK LN

WASHINGTON 
ST

MINERVA 
RD

POPPY ST

RAINIER 
P L

ORVILLE AVE

HILLTOP RD

SAFEWAY RD

BRITTON AVE

VISTA 
VIEW 

LN

SPRUCE 
VIEW 

LN

CRESWAIN AVE

EASTB
R OO K DR

D EER 
C REEK LN

RIDGEWOOD WAY

AGNES AVE

SUN AVE

OET
KIN WAY

STOLTZ RD

MAPLE 
ST

JAYBIRD WAY

PIAZZA AVE

CREEKSIDE CT

CREEKSIDE DR

SIERRA 
VISTA DR

KRAUSE LN

WILLS WAY

INDUSTRIAL WAY

DAHL PARK RD

HILLWO O D CI
R

DE
ERFIELD 

DR

WILDE RD

DONCASTER DR

93RD AVE

ARROW
HEAD DR

MASON 
HEIGHTS DR

AQUATIC 
CENTER

TRA IL RIDGE RD

P

ARK WAY

JENSEN RD

FORD 
ST

GRONLUND RD

KENTHORPE 

WAY

MARY 
S 

YOUNG 

STATE PARK

MAPLETON 
DR

HIGHLAND RD

37TH AVE

OATFIELD RD

OATFIELD 
RD

122ND AVE

82ND AVE

WEBSTER RD

WEBSTER RD

82ND 
DR

LINDEN LN

I205 FWY

23RD AVE

HWY 213

HEARTHWOOD DR

LONGVIEW 
WAY

GERKMAN 
RD

CALAROGA DR

MCKINLEY AVE

MAIN ST

GARNE
T WA Y

OETKIN 
RD

SWAN AVE

RIDGE DR

FREEMAN RD

SEQUOIA AVE

PRIMROSE AVE

TIARA DR

128TH AVE

22ND AVE

ELLEN 
DR

56TH AVE

GREENVIEW AVE

HIG HL AND 
LOOP

KASLIN WAY

SERANGO DR

98TH AVE

1 19TH AVE

SUNNYBROOK 
BLVD

RIDG E GATE DR

PLU M DR

ARCHER 
DR

CROWNVIEW DR

WHERE ELSE LN

SUMMIT ST

NELLA 
W

A Y

MALLARD 
WAY

WATERL EAF D R
132ND AVE

BRAE 
ST

7 1 ST AVE

140TH AVE

MONTICELLO DR

OAK TREE 
TER

CAUFIELD ST

WHITE CLOUD CIR

BEATON RD

BONNIE WAY

WEST 
A ST

LARK AVE

WALTA VISTA DR

SHANNON 
VW

CLAREMO
NT ST

ROSEPARK DR

EVELYN ST

PALOMINO CIR

TOPAZ AVE

CEDAROAK 
DR

MARCI WAY

LINWOOD AVE

21ST AVE

92ND AVE

135TH AVE

VINEYARD WAY

AERIE 
C

R ESCENT RD

EAST AVE

SUMMER 
PL

TRBG = 0215001
Total

Pop. = 4309

TRBG = 0214001
Total Pop.

= 2757

TRBG =
0222041
Total Pop. = 2745

TRBG = 0222042
Total Pop. = 3547

TRBG = 0222032
Total Pop.
= 4930

TRBG = 0222031
Total Pop. = 1069

TRBG = 0222012
Total Pop. = 3948

TRBG = 0211002
Total Pop. =

1400
TRBG
= 0211001
Total Pop. = 3240

TRBG = 0208002
Total Pop. = 840

TRBG = 0208003
Total Pop. =
1 645

TRBG = 0212001
Total Pop. =

2317

TRBG =
0214003
Total Pop. = 973

TRBG = 0221044
Total Pop. = 3549

TRBG = 0214002
Total Pop.

=  1058

TRBG = 0213003
Total Pop. =
1064

TRBG = 0213001
Total Pop.
= 2282

TRBG = 0218011
Total Pop.
= 1956

TRBG
=  0213002

Total Pop. = 2103
TRBG = 0218021
Total Pop.
= 1767

TRBG = 0217001
Total

Pop. = 2313

TRBG = 0205022
Total Pop. = 6888

TRBG = 0219001
Total Pop.

=  2062

TRBG =
0220002
Total Pop. = 816

TRBG =
0219002

T otal Pop. = 1195

TRBG = 0206001
Total

P op. = 1691

TRBG = 0221042
Total Pop. = 773

TRBG = 0221045
Total Pop. = 5538

TRBG = 0221031
Total Pop. =

4013

TRBG = 0232023
Total

Pop. = 1905

TRBG = 0223001
Total Pop. = 1318

TRBG = 0221012
Total Pop.

= 3369

TRBG
= 0220001

Total Pop. = 5581

TRBG = 0221041
Total Pop.

= 973

TRBG = 0231001
Total Pop. = 2324

TRBG = 0223003
Total

P op. = 1259

TRBG =
0206002

T otal Pop. = 3221

TRBG = 0223002
Total

P op. = 864
TRBG =
0223004

T otal Pop. = 1313
TRBG = 0206003
Total Pop.
=  2207

TRBG = 0205021
Total Pop. = 1968

TRBG =
0212002

Total Pop. = 1520

TRBG = 0212002
Total Pop.
= 1520

TRBG = 0215001
Total

Pop. = 4309

TRBG = 0216023
Total
Pop. = 1946

TRBG =
0216022

T otal Pop. = 1096

TRBG
= 0216022

Total Pop. = 1096

TRBG = 0216021
Total Pop.

= 1884

TRBG = 0216021
Total Pop.
= 1884

TRBG = 0217002
Total Pop.
=  3828

TRBG
= 0217002

T otal Pop. = 3828

TRBG = 0218012
Total Pop.

= 3157

TRBG = 0218012
Total Pop. =

3157

TRBG = 0218022
Total Pop. = 2292

TRBG = 0218022
Total Pop. =

2292

TRBG =
0221011

Total Pop. = 3200

TRBG = 0221011
Total Pop. = 3200

TRBG
= 0221043

Total Pop. = 1009

TRBG = 0221043
Total Pop. = 1009

TRBG = 0213003
T otal Pop. = 1142

TRBG = 0213001
Total Pop. =
2687

TRBG =
0213002
Total Pop. = 2108

TRBG
= 0214002

Total Pop. = 1137

TRBG = 0214001
Total

Pop. = 2620

TRBG = 0221072
Total

Pop. = 1500

TRBG = 0206001
Total Pop.
=  1718

TRBG =
0231001

T otal Pop. = 2362

TRBG = 0221081
Total Pop. = 964

TRBG = 0221081
Total Pop. = 964

TRBG = 0208003
Total Pop.
= 1703

TRBG = 0211002
Total Pop. = 1308

TRBG =
0214003

Total Pop. = 962

TRBG
= 0216022
Total Pop. = 1029

TRBG = 0205052
Total Pop.

= 1237

TRBG = 0205042
Total Pop.

= 2649

TRBG = 0221071
Total
Pop. = 2185

TRBG
= 0221071

T otal Pop. = 2185

TRBG = 0221071
Total
Pop. = 2185

TRBG = 0221011
Total Pop.

= 2143

TRBG =
0218021

Total Pop. = 1775

TRBG =
0223013

Total Pop. = 925

TRBG =
0218022

T otal Pop. = 2525 TRBG = 0218011
Total Pop.

= 2062

TRBG = 0215002
Total Pop.
= 3030

TRBG = 0222013
Total Pop. = 1843

TRBG = 0222051
Total Pop.

= 1559TRBG = 0221053
Total Pop. = 2536

TRBG
= 0217002
T otal Pop. = 1511

TRBG = 0206002
Total Pop. = 2988

TRBG =
0215001

Total Pop. = 1897

TRBG = 0211004
Total Pop.

= 1928
TRBG = 0222052

Total
Pop. = 1780

TRBG = 0221052
Total Pop. = 2395

TRBG = 0221051
Total Pop.

= 1123

TRBG = 0218013
Total

Pop. = 1981

TRBG = 0222012
Total Pop.
=  2318

TRBG = 0220001
Total Pop. =

1970
TRBG
= 0221014
Total Pop. = 1606

TRBG = 0221013
Total Pop.

= 1563

TRBG = 0222072
Total Pop.

= 1539

TRBG = 0222071
Total Pop. = 3556

TRBG
=  0222081
Total Pop. = 3506

TRBG
= 0221032

Total Pop. = 2906

TRBG
= 0222061

T otal Pop. = 2079

TRBG = 0223011
Total

P op. = 1611

TRBG =
0223021
T otal Pop. = 1979

TRBG = 0206003
Total Pop.

=  3108

TRBG = 0212001
Total Pop. =

1672

TRBG
= 0212002

Total Pop. = 695

TRBG = 0221012
Total

Pop. = 1280

TRBG = 0216023
Total

Pop. = 1942

TRBG = 0216021
Total

Pop. = 1953

TRBG = 0221082
Total Pop. = 1934

TRBG = 0217003
Total
Pop. = 2248

TRBG = 0218012
Total Pop.
= 1569

TRBG
= 0205051

Total Pop. = 1424
TRBG = 0205051

T otal Pop. =
1 424

TRBG =
0205051

Total Pop. = 1424

TRBG = 0205043
Total Pop. =
2596

TRBG = 0220003
Total Pop.

=  1612

TRBG = 0220002
Total Pop.
= 2830

TRBG =
0223012

T otal Pop. = 1331

TRBG = 0232023
Total Pop.
= 3811

TRBG =
0219001

Total Pop. = 2252

TRBG = 0219002
Total
Pop. = 1263

TRBG = 0217001
Total Pop.

= 2323

TRBG = 0221031
Total Pop.
= 2921

TRBG = 0212003
Total Pop. =

1492

TRBG =
0208002
Total Pop. = 955

Gladstone
Library Service Area
(Library District) -
No New GL Built

Legend

Boundaries

City Boundary

PlacesCity Not Included

County Courthouse
City Hall
Hospital
Airport
Park / Recreation
Golf Course
Boat Launch
Winter Recreation
Cemetery
Library
Ferry Crossing
Swimming
Oregon Trail 
Interp. Center

CLACKAMAS COUNTY | GIS | JIMLUG | \\navigator\jimlug$\ArcGIS_Beta\projects\Library\LibraryServiceAreaAnalysis2007\LibraryDistrict\GILibDistNoNewGL_org.mxd | Oct 17th, 2011

Year 2010
Tract Block Groups

Year 2000
Tract Block Groups

0
0.1

0.2
0.3

0.4
0.5Miles 9 - A - Exhibit 1 & 2 - 2

bannick
Typewritten Text

bannick
Typewritten Text

bannick
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT 2

bannick
Typewritten Text

bannick
Typewritten Text

bannick
Typewritten Text

bannick
Typewritten Text

bannick
Typewritten Text

bannick
Typewritten Text

bannick
Typewritten Text

bannick
Typewritten Text

bannick
Typewritten Text

bannick
Typewritten Text



Exhibit 3
9 - A - Exhibit 3 - 1

bannick
Typewritten Text
EXHBIT 3



1 – Exhibit 4 – Employee Transfer Agreement 

Exhibit 4 - TO THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT  
BETWEEN CLACKAMAS COUNTY AND THE CITY OF GLADSTONE, AND 

AFSCME COUNCIL 75, LOCAL 350-03 (GLADSTONE) 

EMPLOYEE TRANSFER AGREEMENT 

This Employee Transfer Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into by and between 
Clackamas County (“County”), the City of Gladstone (“City”),  and AFSCME Council 75, 
Local 350-03 (Gladstone. 

Section 1:  Transfer of Employees 

A. The City's employees of the Gladstone Library as of November 30, 2019
("Transferring Employees") shall be transferred to the employ of the County
pursuant to ORS 236.605-640 on December 1, 2019 (“Date of Transfer”)

B. No later than seven (7) days before the Date of Transfer, the City will
provide to County an electronic version of each Transferring Employees'
personnel file/employment records, as maintained by the City's Human
Resources Department.

Section 2: Wages 

A. County agrees to maintain the Transferring Employees' salary or hourly
wage rate as of the Date of Transfer for a period of twelve (12) months
immediately following the Date of Transfer, as long as the Transferring
Employee remains employed by County.

B. After the first twelve (12) months of employment with County following the
Date of Transfer have passed, County agrees to place the Transferring
Employee(s) who remains employed by the County at the closest salary
or hourly wage for the position, as designated under County's then current
classification and salary schedule.

Section 3:  Accrued Leaves 

A. At the option of the Transferring Employee, which must be made on or 
before November 22, 2019 ("Election Date"), the Transferring Employee 
may elect to transfer any accrued and unused sick leave and may retain 
accrued vacation leave up to a maximum of eighty (80) hours. Between the 
Election Date above and the Date of Transfer, any vacation leave hours 
or sick leave hours used by a Transferring Employee will result in a reduction 
of the transferred balance by an equivalent number of hours. During that 
period between the Election Date and the Date of Transfer,

9 - A - Exhibit 4 - 1



2 – Exhibit 4 – Employee Transfer Agreement 

an employee will not be permitted to exceed the number of accrued and 
unused vacation leave hours and/or accrued and unused sick leave 
hours; in such a circumstance, the employee will be in a leave without pay 
status for any vacation leave hours and/or sick leave hours that go beyond 
the accrued amount.  

B. On the Date of Transfer, the City will liquidate and pay out to the
Transferring Employee any accrued and unused compensatory time or
vacation time that the Transferring Employee has elected for payout,
consistent with any applicable statute and/or applicable Clackamas
County Employees Association collective bargaining agreement.

C. At the time of transfer, the City agrees to pay to County, by December 31,
2019 a sum equal to the number of hours of retained sick leave and
vacation leave by each transferred employee times the employee’s hourly
rate of pay as of December 31, 2019.

Section 4:  Seniority 

A. Seniority of Transferring Employees will be in accordance with ORS
236.620(1)(c). Transferring Employees shall retain the seniority they
accrued while employed by City.  Effective on the Date of Transfer and
pursuant to ORS 236.620 (1), Transferring Employees will be placed on
the County’s employee roster and the roster shall be consolidated into a
single seniority list. Subject to other provisions of this Agreement, the
crediting of seniority shall apply for all purposes, under the Clackamas
County collective bargaining agreement.

B. If a Transferring Employee and a current County employee have the same
classification seniority, seniority shall be determined by each employee’s
date of hire. If the dates of hire are the same, seniority shall be determined
by the date of job offer.  If the job offer dates are the same, the
Transferring Employee shall be placed below the Clackamas County
employee on the seniority list.

Section 5: Retirement 

A. The parties agree that both entities participate in PERS, and that pursuant
to ORS 236.620, all Transferring Employees are able to participate in the
same retirement system at the County that they are at the City. Therefore
no election need be made regarding participation in a retirement system.

B. The parties agree that all PERS employer assets and liabilities based on
PERS-covered service of the Transferring Employees from their date of
hire with the City through November 30, 2019, shall be attributable to and

9 - A - Exhibit 4 - 2



3 – Exhibit 4 – Employee Transfer Agreement 
 

the responsibility of the City, and all PERS employer assets and liabilities 
based on PERS-covered service of the Transferring Employees on and 
after December 1, 2019, shall be attributable to the County.  
 

Section 6:  Health Insurance Other Benefits 
 

A. County agrees to provide to Transferring Employees on the Date of 
Transfer, the health insurance and benefits, hours, conditions, and 
privileges, as its other similarly classified employees, subject to the same 
collective bargaining agreement. 

 
B. Nothing contained herein, either expressly or implied, shall confer upon 

any Transferred Employee or any other employee or legal representatives 
thereof any contractual rights of continued employment. 

 
Section 7:  Other Terms 
 

A. This Agreement represents the entire agreement of the parties and 
supersedes all prior oral or written understandings, statements, 
representations, or promises regarding the impact of the transfer of City 
employees to the County.  The parties expressly represent that there are 
no other understandings, representations, or agreements between them 
relative to the subject matter of this Agreement, except as set forth in the 
Intergovernmental Agreement referenced above.  This Agreement may 
be amended by the written consent of the parties. 
 

B. The parties agree that the transfer of employees from the City to the 
County, which is governed by ORS 236.605 through ORS 236.640, is 
fulfilled by the terms of this Agreement.  The parties further agree that 
they understand all of the provisions of this Agreement and execute it 
voluntarily with full knowledge of its significance and consequences. 

 
 

AFSCME Council 75, Local 350-03 
 
By: __________________________________ Date: ____________ 
 
CITY OF GLADSTONE 
 
By: __________________________________ Date: ____________ 
 
CLACKAMAS COUNTY 
 
By: __________________________________ Date: ____________ 

9 - A - Exhibit 4 - 3



18 – Gladstone Library Intergovernmental Agreement 

EXHIBIT 5 - Property Description 

(Need list of City property, or classes of property, in library to be retained) 

9 - A - Exhibit 5 - 1



Page 1 – Library Facility IGA 

LIBRARY FACILITY INTERGOVERNMENTAL 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN CLACKAMAS COUNTY 

AND THE CITY OF GLADSTONE 
 
THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (this "Library Facility Agreement" or 
“Agreement”), is entered into by and between Clackamas County (the "County") a political 
subdivision of the State of Oregon, and the City of Gladstone, a municipal corporation (the 
"City"). 
 
Oregon Revised Statutes Chapter 190.010 confers authority upon local governments to enter into 
agreements for the performance of any and all functions and activities that a party to the 
agreement, its officers or agencies have authority to perform.  
 
The City currently operates the Gladstone Public Library within the Gladstone Library Service 
Area.  The County currently operates a library within the Oak Lodge Service Area.   
 
The City and County entered into an Intergovernmental Agreement for the County to serve both 
the Gladstone and Oak Lodge Service Areas, and to build two new libraries pursuant to a 
settlement agreement in the case Gladstone v. Clackamas County, Clackamas County Circuit 
Court Case No. 16CV27287 (“Library Construction and Operation Agreement”). 
 
As part of the Library Construction and Operation Agreement, the County agreed to assume 
operation and control of the Gladstone Public Library, commencing on December 1, 2019, while 
the County constructs a new approximately 6,000 square foot Gladstone Public Library facility 
(“New Library”).  
 
Except as otherwise provided in the Library Construction and Operation Agreement, during the 
period from December 1, 2019 until the New Library is complete and occupied, the County shall 
operate the Gladstone Public Library out of the current Gladstone Public Library facility, located 
at 135 E Dartmouth St, Gladstone, OR 97027. 
 
During the term of this Library Facility Agreement, the County does not assume any property 
interest in the current Gladstone Public Library facility or underlying property.  The parties 
intend for this Agreement to grant the County a license to use the City’s facility for a limited 
purpose.     
 

1. LIBRARY FACILITY AGREEMENT TERM: 

This Library Facility Agreement shall commence simultaneously with the transfer of operation 
and control of the Gladstone Public Library from the City to the County under the Library 
Construction and Operation Agreement, currently slated for December 1, 2019 
(“Commencement Date”).  This Agreement shall remain in effect until the County vacates the 
Premises to relocate the Gladstone Public Library to the New Library location, unless terminated 
earlier pursuant to this Agreement.   

 

9 - B - 1



Page 2 – Library Facility IGA 

2. PREMISES: 

The premises subject to this Library Facility Agreement is situated at 135 E Dartmouth St, 
Gladstone, OR 97027 (“Premises”) 

3. USE: 

The County shall only use the Premises for the operation of the Gladstone Public Library and no 
other purpose.  

4. NO WASTE: 

County will not cause or permit any waste, damage, disfigurement, or injury to the Premises. 

5. PROPERTY TAXES: 

It is understood that County is a qualified Government Entity and, therefore, is entitled to an 
exemption of property taxes upon timely application and approval by the Clackamas County 
Assessor and Tax Collector’s Office. If an exemption from property taxes is not allowed, County 
is solely responsible for payment of property taxes. 

6. UTILITIES AND SERVICES  

County will pay, directly to the appropriate supplier, for all water, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, 
gas, electric, telephone, cable, garbage pickup, and all other utilities and services used by 
County on the Premises as they become due, from and after the Commencement Date.  
 

7. INSPECTION: 

City shall have the right personally and through City’s agents and workmen to enter into and 
upon the Premises at any reasonable time to inspect the Premises, and examine the condition 
thereof. 

8. ALTERATIONS: 

County accepts Premises in an “as is” condition. County will make no alterations to the Premises 
without express written consent of City which shall not be unreasonably withheld.  

All alterations undertaken by County shall be at County’s sole expense. Any alterations or 
improvements by County that cannot reasonably be removed by County without damaging the 
Premises shall become the property of the City upon termination of this Library Facility 
Agreement. 

9. SIGNS: 

No signs, awnings, antennas, or other apparatus shall be painted on or attached to the building, 
nor any thing placed on the exterior of the Premises without City’s written approval, which shall 
not be unreasonably withheld. All signs installed by County shall comply with City’s standards 
for signs and all applicable codes and ordinances, and all signs and sign hardware shall be 

9 - B - 2



Page 3 – Library Facility IGA 

removed upon termination of this Library Facility Agreement, with the sign location restored to 
its former state unless City elects to retain all or any portion thereof. 

10. MAINTENANCE: 

County shall maintain Premises in a neat condition, free of trash and debris, in good order and 
repair.  County’s obligations extend to both structural and non-structural items and to all 
maintenance, repair, landscaping and replacement work.  This obligation includes, but is not 
limited to, maintaining the roof, walls, ceilings, doors, windows, and related hardware; light 
fixtures, switches, and wiring; parking lot; heating and air conditioning system, fire suppression 
system; plumbing from the point of entry to the Gladstone Library area; access and security 
systems for Gladstone Library space, and all structural components within the Gladstone Library 
area. 

However, if total maintenance costs for the roof, exterior structural walls, parking lots, heating 
and air conditioning system, fire suppression system, and exterior common areas exceed $75,000 
at any point during the duration of this Agreement, the County may ask for City contributions to 
make the repairs.  If the City declines to contribute, the County at its option may establish and 
operate a temporary circulation desk until such time as the new Gladstone Library branch is 
completed. 

11. PLACE OF NOTICE: 

Any notice to which City shall be entitled under this Library Facility Agreement shall be 
delivered or sent to: 

Jacque Betz 
City Administrator 
525 Portland Avenue 
Gladstone, OR 97027 
(503) 557-2769 
betz@ci.gladstone.or.us 

 
Notice for County shall be mailed to:  
 

Laura Zentner 
Director, Business and Community Services 
150 Beavercreek Rd., #419 
Oregon City, OR  97045 
(503) 742-4399 
lzentner@clackamas.us 
 
Gary Schmidt 
County Administrator  
2051 Kaen Rd. 
Oregon City, OR 97045 

9 - B - 3



Page 4 – Library Facility IGA 

(503) 655-8581 
Bcc@clackamas.us 

12. CONTRIBUTION: 

If any third party makes any claim or brings any action, suit or proceeding alleging a tort as now 
or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260 ("Third Party Claim") against a party (the "Notified Party") 
with respect to which the other party ("Other Party") may have liability, the Notified Party must 
promptly notify the Other Party in writing of the Third Party Claim and deliver to the Other 
Party a copy of the claim, process, and all legal pleadings with respect to the Third Party Claim. 
Either party is entitled to participate in the defense of a Third Party Claim, and to defend a Third 
Party Claim with counsel of its own choosing. Receipt by the Other Party of the notice and 
copies required in this paragraph and meaningful opportunity for the Other Party to participate in 
the investigation, defense and settlement of the Third Party Claim with counsel of its own 
choosing are conditions precedent to the Other Party’s liability with respect to the Third Party 
Claim.  
 
With respect to a Third Party Claim for which the City is jointly liable with the County (or would 
be if joined in the Third Party Claim ), the City shall contribute to the amount of expenses 
(excluding attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and 
reasonably incurred and paid or payable by the County in such proportion as is appropriate to 
reflect the relative fault of the City on the one hand and of the County on the other hand in 
connection with the events which resulted in such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement 
amounts, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of the City on 
the one hand and of the County on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, among 
other things, the parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to 
correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement 
amounts. The City’s contribution amount in any instance is capped to the same extent it would 
have been capped under Oregon law if the City had sole liability in the proceeding.  
 
With respect to a Third Party Claim for which the County is jointly liable with the City (or would 
be if joined in the Third Party Claim), the County shall contribute to the amount of expenses 
(excluding attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and 
reasonably incurred and paid or payable by the City in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect 
the relative fault of the County on the one hand and of the City on the other hand in connection 
with the events which resulted in such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts, as well 
as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of the County on the one hand 
and of the City on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, among other things, the 
parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent 
the circumstances resulting in such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts. The 
County’s contribution amount in any instance is capped to the same extent it would have been 
capped under Oregon law if it had sole liability in the proceeding.  
 

13. ARBITRATION: 
 
Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be settled by 
arbitration in accordance with the following provisions: 

9 - B - 4



Page 5 – Library Facility IGA 

 
Disputes Covered. The parties agree to arbitrate disputes regarding interpretation of provisions 
of this Agreement.  

Forum. The forum for the arbitration shall be Clackamas County, Oregon. 
 
Law. The governing law for the arbitration shall be the law of the State of Oregon, without 
reference to its conflicts of laws provisions. 
 
Selection. There shall be three arbitrators, unless the parties are able to agree on a single 
arbitrator. In the absence of such agreement within ten (10) days after the initiation of an 
arbitration proceeding, County shall select one arbitrator and City shall select one arbitrator, and 
those two arbitrators shall then select, within ten (10) days, a third arbitrator. If those two 
arbitrators are unable to select a third arbitrator within such ten (10)-day period, a third arbitrator 
shall be appointed by the commercial panel of the Arbitration Service of Portland. The decision 
in writing of at least two of the three arbitrators shall be final and binding upon the parties. 
 
Administration. The arbitration shall be administered by the Arbitration Service of Portland. 
 
Rules. The rules of arbitration shall be the rules of the Arbitration Service of Portland, as 
modified by any other instructions that the parties may agree upon at the time, except that each 
party shall have the right to conduct discovery in any manner and to the extent authorized by the 
Rules of Civil Procedure as interpreted by the federal courts. If there is any conflict between 
those Rules and the provisions of this section, the provisions of this section shall prevail. 
 
Substantive Law. The arbitrators shall be bound by and shall strictly enforce the terms of this 
Agreement and may not limit, expand or otherwise modify its terms. The arbitrators shall make a 
good faith effort to apply substantive applicable law, but an arbitration decision shall not be 
subject to review because of errors of law. The arbitrators shall be bound to honor claims of 
privilege or work-product doctrine recognized at law, but the arbitrators shall have the discretion 
to determine whether any such claim of privilege or work product doctrine applies. 
 
Decision. The arbitrators’ decision shall provide a reasoned basis for the resolution of each 
dispute and for any award. The arbitrators shall not have power to award damages in connection 
with any dispute in excess of actual compensatory damages and shall not multiply actual 
damages or award consequential or punitive damages. 
 
Expenses. Each party shall bear its own fees and expenses with respect to the arbitration and any 
proceeding related thereto and the parties shall share equally the fees and expenses of the 
American Arbitration Association and the arbitrators. 
 
Remedies; Award. The arbitrators shall have power and authority to award any remedy or 
judgment that could be awarded by a court of law in the State of Oregon. The award rendered by 

9 - B - 5



Page 6 – Library Facility IGA 

arbitration shall be final and binding upon the parties, and judgment upon the award may be 
entered in any court of competent jurisdiction in the United States. 

14. INDEMNIFICATION: 

To the extent permitted under Oregon law, County agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold 
harmless the City, their officers, agents, and employees against all liability, loss, and costs, 
(except for attorney’s fees) arising from actions, suits, claims, or demands, except when due to 
City’s acts or omissions, arising from performance of this Library Facility Agreement and the 
use of the Premises. The exclusion of attorney’s fees does not negate the obligation to defend. 

To the extent permitted under Oregon law, City agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless 
the County, their officers, agents, and employees against all liability, loss, and costs (except for 
attorney’s fees,) arising from actions, suits, claims, or demands, except when due to County’s act 
or omissions,, arising from performance of this Library Facility Agreement and the use of the 
Premises. The exclusion of attorney’s fees does not negate the obligation to defend. 

County shall be responsible for insuring its personal property and trade fixtures located on the 
Premises and any alterations or improvements it has made to the Premises. 

15. INSURANCE: 

Liability and Workers’ Compensation: Clackamas County is self-insured for workers' 
compensation, and general, auto and professional liability, in accordance with the provisions of 
ORS 30.272 (Tort Claims Act) and ORS 656.403 (Workers' Compensation). The County 
maintains an insurance fund from which to pay all costs and expenses relating to claims for 
which it is self-insured. The County's exposure for general, auto and professional liability is 
limited by ORS 30.272(4) and ORS 30.273(3) for property damage. The City of Gladstone, its 
directors, officers, employees and agents are added as additionally insured on the General/Auto 
liability coverages.  Clackamas County will provide the City of Gladstone with a waiver of 
subrogation in City’s favor for Worker’s Compensation. 

Personal Property: County, will at its sole expense, procure and maintain insurance covering 
County’s personal property, including but not limited to inventory, fixtures, and equipment, 
located at the Premises, providing coverage on an all-risk basis, including coverage (as 
available), for the perils of fire, earthquake, flood, and windstorm.  

Real Property:  City agrees to insure the building on the premises against all losses with 
extended coverage. So long as this provision does not invalidate or limit the extent of City’s 
coverage under such insurance policies.   

If the building on the premises which is the subject of this Agreement so insured shall be 
damaged by some cause covered by such insurance to the extent that it is feasible to 
repair/rebuild the building to provide basic library service, City may, at its option, promptly 
remove all debris therefrom and repair and rebuild the same, restoring the Premises to the 
minimum extent necessary to provide basic library service to the extent the repairs/rebuilding are 
covered by the City’s insurance.  

9 - B - 6



Page 7 – Library Facility IGA 

If the structure shall be damaged to the extent that it is not feasible to repair/rebuild the building 
to provide basic library service, City shall not be required to build but may do so at City's option. 
Otherwise, County shall establish and operate a Temporary Circulation Desk until such time as 
the New Gladstone Library Branch is completed, with costs shared as outlined in section 1.B of 
the Library Construction and Operation IGA 

16. TOTAL OR PARTIAL DESTRUCTION: 

If the Gladstone Library property is damaged due to the County’s use, and it is feasible to 
repair/rebuild the building to provide basic library service prior to the completion of milestone 4 
in the Library Construction and Operation IGA, County shall promptly remove all debris 
therefrom and repair and rebuild the same, restoring the premises to the minimum extent 
necessary to provide basic library service. It is agreed that the feasibility of any repair/rebuild of 
the building is contingent upon insurance resources being available to cover the costs necessary 
to enable the Gladstone Library to function consistent with Section 1.B of the Library IGA.  

If the structure is damaged by County’s use to the extent that it is not feasible to repair/rebuild 
the building to provide basic library service, County shall move the Gladstone Library operations 
until the New Gladstone Library Branch is completed if insurance sufficient coverages or 
proceeds are available to the City and County to open a temporary library branch in Gladstone 
that provides at least public use space equivalent to a majority of the public use space available 
in the current Gladstone Library building (“Temporary Library Branch”). If, however, 
construction on the New Gladstone Library Branch has progressed to such a point that the City 
and County mutually agree it is imprudent or unfeasible to open a Temporary Library Branch, 
the County shall instead establish and operate a Temporary Circulation Desk at its sole expense 
until such time as the New Gladstone Library Branch is completed.   
 
If insurance coverages or proceeds are unavailable County shall establish and operate a 
Temporary Circulation Desk at its sole expense until such time as the New Gladstone Library 
Branch is completed.   

17. HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES: 

County shall not cause or permit any Hazardous Substance to be spilled, leaked, disposed or, or 
otherwise released on or under the Premises. County may use or otherwise handle on the 
Premises only those Hazardous Substances typically used in the prudent and safe operation of the 
Library. County may store such Hazardous Substances on the Premises only in quantities 
necessary to satisfy County’s reasonably anticipated needs. County shall comply with all 
Environmental Laws and exercise the highest degree of care in the use, handling, and storage of 
Hazardous Substances and shall take all practicable measures to minimize the quantity and 
toxicity of Hazardous Substances used, handled, or stored on the Premises. The term 
Environmental Law shall mean any federal, state, or local statute, regulation, or ordinance, or 
any judicial or other governmental order pertaining to the protection of health, safety, or the 
environment. The term Hazardous Substance shall mean any hazardous, toxic, infectious, or 

9 - B - 7



Page 8 – Library Facility IGA 

radioactive substance, waste, or material as defined or listed by any Environmental Law and 
shall include, without limitation, petroleum oil and its fractions. 

18. ASSIGNMENT  

County may not sell, assign, or transfer any rights under this Agreement without the prior written 
consent of the City.   

19. WAIVER: 

Any waiver of any breach of covenants herein contained to be kept and performed by County or 
City shall not be deemed or considered to be a continuing waiver, and shall not operate to bar or 
prevent the other party from declaring a forfeiture or exercising any other rights as to any 
succeeding breach, either of the same condition or covenant or otherwise. 

20. APPLICABLE LAW 

This Agreement will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of 
Oregon. 

21. BINDING EFFECT; AUTHORITY 

The covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement are binding on and inure to the 
benefit of the City and County.   Each Party warrants that the below signatory is authorized to 
enter into this agreement and bind that Party. 
 

22. TERMINATION AND DEFAULT: 
 

(1) This Library Facility Agreement can be terminated by mutual agreement of the parties 
with thirty (30) days’ written notice. 
 

(2) This Agreement automatically terminates if the Library Construction and Operation 
Agreement terminates, with the County permitted to continue operations until the 
mutually-agreed-upon date of final transfer of operations. 
 

(3) If County defaults in performing its obligations under this Library Facility Agreement 
City may make any payment or perform any obligation which County has failed to 
perform after not less than ten (10) days’ written notice to County of City’s intention to 
pursue this remedy (except in cases of emergency, where no such prior notice shall be 
required), in which case City shall be entitled to recover from County upon demand all 
amounts so expended. 
 

(4) If City defaults in performing its obligations under this Library Facility Agreement 
County may make any payment or perform any obligation which City has failed to 
perform after not less than ten (10) days’ written notice to City of County’s intention to 
pursue this remedy (except in cases of emergency, where no such prior notice shall be 

9 - B - 8



Page 9 – Library Facility IGA 

required), in which case County shall be entitled to recover from City upon demand all 
amounts so expended. 
 
23. PROPERTY AT EXPIRATION OR TERMINATION: 

On expiration or early termination of this Library Facility Agreement, County shall deliver all 
keys to City and turnover the Premises clean and in the same condition as at the commencement 
of the term subject only to reasonable wear and tear from ordinary use. County shall remove all 
of its furnishings and trade fixtures that remain its property and restore all damage resulting from 
such removal. Failure to remove shall be an abandonment of the property, and City may dispose 
of it in any manner without liability. 

24. NO ATTORNEY’S FEES: 

In the event any arbitration, action or proceeding, including any bankruptcy proceeding, is 
instituted to enforce any term of this Agreement, each party shall be responsible for its own 
attorneys’ fees and expenses. 
 
Clackamas County     City of Gladstone 
  
 
 
______________________________  ______________________________      
Chair, Board of County Commissioners    Mayor 
 
______________________________  ______________________________      
Date                Date
 

9 - B - 9



10



10 - 1



10 - 2



 

 
 

Library District Task Force  
 

BACKGROUND 
In October 2017, the City of Gladstone and Clackamas County entered into a Settlement Agreement 
which resolved ongoing litigation regarding construction of library facilities and provision of library 
services for the residents of the Gladstone and Oak Lodge library service areas. 
 
During discussions related to the implementation of the Settlement Agreement, the Board of County 
Commissioners considered certain changes to both the Library District Master Order and the Library 
District Master IGA.  Various library stakeholders expressed concerns regarding the consistency of these 
changes with the original purposes of the Library District, as well as the potential impact of these 
proposed changes on library services throughout the Library District.  During the same period, LINCC 
Library Directors identified concerns related to the long-term sufficiency of Library District funding and 
the long-term sustainability of library services throughout the County (please see Appendix A).   
 
In March 2018, the Board of County Commissioners authorized the creation of a Library District Task 
Force to examine these areas of concern, including (but not limited to) sufficiency and sustainability of 
library funding to address both capital and operational needs, permissible uses of District funds, and 
evaluation of service standards.  In subsequent discussions with the Library District Advisory Committee 
(LDAC), LINCC Library Directors, and City officials, additional topics to be discussed by the Library District 
Task Force were suggested, including (but not limited to) equity of the current District funding formula, 
challenges in capital funding, and evaluation of current service area boundaries.   
 

LIBRARY DISTRICT TASK FORCE CHARGES 
The Library District Task Force will be charged with the following purposes: 
 

1) To identify current and future challenges facing the Clackamas County Library District.  It is 
anticipated the Library District Task Force will focus on three primary areas: provision of library 
services, sufficiency and sustainability of library funding, and governance of the Library District. 
 

2) To develop the charges for and receive the reports and recommendations of three standing 
subcommittees, as follows. 
 

a. Library Services Subcommittee 
b. Library Funding Subcommittee 
c. District Governance Subcommittee 

 

Page 1 of 14 5/21/201910 - 3



 

 
 

3) To develop the charges for and receive the reports and recommendations of any additional 
subcommittees deemed necessary by the Library District Task Force. 
 

4) To submit a final report to the Board of County Commissioners (in their dual role as Board of 
County Commissioners and Library District Governing Board) containing recommendations to 
ensure the long-term, sustainable delivery of quality library service to the residents of the 
Clackamas County Library District.  
 

5) To determine and adopt such rules or procedures as are necessary to facilitate the work of the 
Library District Task Force and its subcommittees, consistent with the Clackamas County Advisory 
Body & Volunteer Code of Conduct Policy and Oregon Public Meetings Law.   
 

LIBRARY DISTRICT TASK FORCE MEMBERSHIP AND VOTING 
The Library District Task Force will consist of up to twenty-nine (29) members, appointed and voting as 
follows: 
 

• The Library Service Providers of Canby, Estacada, Gladstone, Happy Valley, Lake Oswego, 
Milwaukie, Molalla, Oak Lodge, Oregon City, Sandy, West Linn, and Wilsonville may appoint up 
to two members each. 

o Each Library Service Provider shall have one vote on the Task Force. 

• Unincorporated areas of Clackamas County will be represented by two members. 
o This stakeholder group shall have one vote on the Task Force. 

• LINCC Library Services (Network), as provider of centralized services and support to all District 
libraries, shall appoint one non-voting member. 

• The current Chair of the LINCC Directors Group shall serve as an ex-officio, non-voting member. 

• The current Chair of the Library District Advisory Committee (LDAC) shall serve as an ex-officio, 
non-voting member. 

 
Task Force membership and voting rights are summarized in the table below: 
 

STAKEHOLDER MAX # OF MEMBERS # OF VOTES 

Canby 2 1 

Estacada 2 1 

Gladstone 2 1 

Happy Valley 2 1 

Lake Oswego 2 1 

Milwaukie 2 1 

Molalla 2 1 

Oak Lodge 2 1 

Oregon City 2 1 

Page 2 of 14 5/21/201910 - 4



 

 
 

Sandy 2 1 

West Linn 2 1 

Wilsonville 2 1 

Unincorporated Clackamas 
County 

2 (residents of unincorporated 
Clackamas County) 

1 

LINCC Library Services (Library 
Network) 

1 Non-voting 

LINCC Directors Group 1 (LINCC Directors Group Chair) Non-voting 

LDAC 1 (LDAC Chair) Non-voting 

TOTAL 29 (max) 13 

 
 
Each Library Service Provider may appoint its own representatives to the Library District Task Force.  It 
is recommended that appointments are drawn from City Managers, Library Directors, LDAC 
Representatives, and/or Library Board Members. Per direction from the Board of County Commissioners, 
elected officials shall not be appointed to the Library District Task Force.  
 
Recruitment of residents from unincorporated Clackamas County will be coordinated by Public and 
Government Affairs (PGA) utilizing the County’s standard Advisory Board and Committee recruitment 
process.  Evaluation of candidates will be conducted by a Selection Committee consisting of the LDAC 
Chair, and two representatives from Clackamas County Business and Community Services.  The Selection 
Committee will forward recommended candidates to the Board of County Commissioners for evaluation 
and appointment. 
 

SUBCOMMITTEE CHARGES 
The Library District Task Force shall have three standing subcommittees: 
 

• Library Services Subcommittee 
While the Library District Task Force shall be empowered to develop the final charge(s) of the 
Library Services subcommittee, it is anticipated that this subcommittee would address topics 
such as: 
 

o What services do District residents need from their libraries, both now and in the future? 
o What are the core services and service levels all District residents should receive? 
o How should service levels and service delivery be measured? 
o What services are best provided locally, and what services should be provided/supported 

centrally? 
 
 
 

Page 3 of 14 5/21/201910 - 5



 

 
 

 
 

• Library Funding Subcommittee 
While the Library District Task Force shall be empowered to develop the final charge(s) of the 
Library Funding Subcommittee, it is anticipated that this subcommittee would address topics 
such as: 
 

o What levels of funding are required to sustainably address operational needs District-
wide? 

o What levels of funding are required to sustainably address capital needs District-wide? 
o Are current funding sources and levels (District and local) sufficient to address operational 

and capital needs, both now and in the future? 
o What are the mechanics and options for creating service area capital districts? 
o How can insufficient, unsustainable, or unequitable funding levels be addressed? 
o What should be permissible uses of District funds? 
o Do the current service area boundaries meet the needs of the District? 
o Does the current distribution formula meet the needs of the District? 

 
It is anticipated that this subcommittee would not convene until the work of the Library Services 
Subcommittee has been completed, and its work would be informed by the work of the Library 
Services Subcommittee. 
 
 

• District Governance Subcommittee 
While the Library District Task Force will be empowered to develop the final charge(s) of the 
District Governance Subcommittee, it is anticipated that this subcommittee would address topics 
such as: 
 

o Are changes to the Master Order, Master IGA, and/or Capital IGAs needed? 
o How do we ensure core services are provided and desired outcomes are achieved District-

wide? 
o How are issues of District-wide impact discussed and decisions made? 
o What should the role of the Library District Advisory Committee be? 
o Do suggested changes make voter approval necessary or desirable? 

 
It is anticipated that the District Governance Subcommittee would not convene until the work of 
the Library Funding Subcommittee has been completed, and its work would be informed by the 
recommendations of the Library Services Subcommittee and the Library Funding Subcommittee.   
 

SUBCOMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP AND VOTING 
Each subcommittee will consist of up to twenty-nine (29) members, appointed and voting as follows:  

Page 4 of 14 5/21/201910 - 6



 

 
 

 

• The Library Service Providers of Canby, Estacada, Gladstone, Happy Valley, Lake Oswego, 
Milwaukie, Molalla, Oak Lodge, Oregon City, Sandy, West Linn, and Wilsonville may appoint up 
to two members each. 

o Each Library Service Provider shall have one vote on each subcommittee. 

• Unincorporated areas of Clackamas County will be represented by two members. 
o This stakeholder group shall have one vote on each subcommittee. 

• LINCC Library Services (Library Network), as provider of centralized services and support to all 
District libraries, shall appoint one non-voting member. 

• The LINCC Directors Group shall appoint one non-voting member. 

• The Library District Advisory Committee (LDAC) shall appoint one non-voting member. 
 
Subcommittee membership and voting rights are summarized in the table below: 
 

STAKEHOLDER MAX # OF MEMBERS # OF VOTES 

Canby 2 1 

Estacada 2 1 

Gladstone 2 1 

Happy Valley 2 1 

Lake Oswego 2 1 

Milwaukie 2 1 

Molalla 2 1 

Oak Lodge 2 1 

Oregon City 2 1 

Sandy 2 1 

West Linn 2 1 

Wilsonville 2 1 

Unincorporated Clackamas 
County 

2 (residents of unincorporated 
Clackamas County) 

1 

LINCC Library Services (Library 
Network) 

1 Non-voting 

LDAC  1 (LDAC appointee) Non-voting 

LINCC Directors Group 1 (LINCC Directors Group 
appointee) 

Non-voting 

TOTAL 29 (max) 13 

 
Each Library Service Provider may appoint its own representatives to subcommittees.  It is recommended 
that appointments are drawn from City Managers, Library Directors, LDAC Representatives, Library 
Board Members, and/or District residents. Per direction from the Board of County Commissioners, 
elected officials shall not be appointed to the subcommittees.  
 

Page 5 of 14 5/21/201910 - 7



 

 
 

It is also recommended that stakeholders appoint members with particular subject matter expertise to 
individual subcommittees.  For example, Library Directors’ expertise in the provision and management 
of library services would likely be particularly useful on the Library Services Subcommittee. 
 
Recruitment of residents from unincorporated Clackamas County will be coordinated by Public and 
Government Affairs (PGA) utilizing the County’s standard Advisory Board and Committee recruitment 
process.  Evaluation of candidates will be conducted by a Selection Committee consisting of the LDAC 
Chair and two representatives from Clackamas County Business and Community Services.  The Selection 
Committee will forward recommended candidates to the Board of County Commissioners for evaluation 
and appointment. 
 

ANTICIPATED TIMELINE 
It is anticipated that the Library District Task Force process (including all preparatory work) will last 
approximately 18 months, with the Task Force and Subcommittees meeting periodically and regularly 
over a period of approximately 12 months.  The Library District Task Force process will be divided into 
four distinct phases, namely: 
 

• Phase 1 (approx. 5 months) – Preparation 

• Phase 2 (approx. 3 months) – Engagement and Outreach 

• Phase 3 (approx. 9 months) – Library District Task Force and Subcommittee Work 

• Phase 4 (approx. 3 months) – Preparation and Submission of Final Report 
 
Please see below for a more detailed timeline.  All timelines are estimates.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 6 of 14 5/21/201910 - 8



 

Jan - Apr 
2019 

FINALIZE PROPOSAL 

• Business and Community Services (BCS) will work with the Library District 
Advisory Committee (LDAC) and LINCC Directors Group to finalize the Library 
District Task Force proposal. 

 

May 
2019 

PRESENT PROPOSAL TO THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

• BCS will schedule a Policy Session to seek approval from the Board of County 
Commissioners (BCC) to proceed with the Library District Task Force proposal. 

Library District Task Force - Anticipated Timeline (dates subject to change) 

 PHASE 1 -  PREPARATION 

During this initial phase, the Library District Task Force proposal will be finalized, Board approval will be obtained, and various 

efforts to gather and produce information the Task Force will need to conduct its work will be completed. 

 

Mar - Jul 
2019 

2017 - 2018 ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORTS 

• LDAC will revise the Annual Progress Report (APR) form for collection of 2017 - 
2018 data. 

• LINCC Directors Group and Local Library Boards will prepare and submit 2017 -  
2018 APR data for LDAC evaluation. 

 

Feb - Jun 
2019 

LINCC STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 

• LINCC Directors Group and BCS will complete their work on a District-wide 
Strategic Priorities document.  

 PHASE 2 - ENGAGEMENT AND OUTREACH 

During this phase, engagement and outreach efforts will be conducted to solicit stakeholder feedback and educate potential 

Library District Task Force participants and the broader public about the Clackamas County Library District.   

 

Jul  - Aug 
2019 

ONLINE LIBRARY SERVICES SURVEY 

• BCS and Public and Government Affairs (PGA), in conjunction with LINCC 
Directors Group, will develop an online survey to get feedback from County 
residents on library services.  The survey will be distributed via multiple channels, 
including social media and the LINCC catalog.     

 

May - Jul 
2019 

CITY PARTNER OUTREACH 

• BCS will present information about the Library District Task Force to the City 
Managers Group. 

• As requested, BCS will present to individual Local Library Boards and City Councils 
about the Task Force. 

 

Jul - Sept 
2019 

EDUCATION/FEEDBACK SESSIONS 

• BCS, PGA, and LINCC Directors Group will develop and present two facilitated 
public information sessions designed to inform stakeholders about the District’s 
current structure and operation. 

• Sessions will also allow attendees to provide feedback to help inform the Library 
District Task Force’s future work. 

Page 8 of 14 5/21/201910 - 9



 

Jan - Mar 
2020 

LIBRARY FUNDING SUBCOMMITTEE 

• The Library Funding Subcommittee will meet a sufficient number of times to 
properly prepare recommendations for the Library District Task Force. 

• The Library District Task Force will meet at least once to receive and consider the 
recommendations/report of the Library Funding Subcommittee.  

 

Oct - Dec 
2019 

LIBRARY SERVICES SUBCOMMITTEE 

• The Library Services Subcommittee will meet a sufficient number of times to 
properly prepare recommendations for the Library District Task Force. 

• The Library District Task Force will meet at least once to receive and consider the 
recommendations/report of the Library Services Subcommittee.  

 

Sept - Oct 
 2019 

TASK FORCE KICKOFF 

• The Library District Task Force will meet at least once to develop rules and 
procedures, to finalize subcommittee charges, and to make initial subcommittee 
appointments. 

 PHASE 3 - LIBRARY DISTRICT TASK FORCE AND SUBCOMMITTEE WORK 

During this phase, the Library District Task Force and its subcommittees will conduct research, engage in discussions, and 

formulate the recommendations which will eventually be provided to the Board of County Commissioners.   

 

Apr - Jun 
2020 

DISTRICT GOVERNANCE SUBCOMMITTEE 

• The District Governance Subcommittee will meet a sufficient number of times to 
properly prepare recommendations for the Library District Task Force. 

• The Library District Task Force will meet at least once to receive and consider the 
recommendations/report of the District Governance Subcommittee.  

 

Jul - Aug 
2020 

PREPARATION OF FINAL REPORT 

• The Library District Task Force will meet at least once to synthesize and prepare 
final recommendations/report. 

• LDAC will  have an opportunity to review the final Library District Task Force 
report, and prepare a supplementary report, before the Task Force’s report is 
presented to the BCC. 

 

Sept 
2020 

PRESENTATION OF FINAL REPORT TO BCC 

• BCS will schedule a Policy Session during which the Library District Task Force’s 
final report/recommendations, as well as any supplemental report prepared by 
LDAC, will be presented to the Board of County Commissioners. 

 PHASE 4 - PREPARATION AND SUBMISSION OF FINAL REPORT 

During this phase, the Library District Task Force will produce a final report to be presented to the Board of County 

Commissioners.   

Page 9 of 14 5/21/201910 - 10



APPENDIX A 
On January 19, 2018, the LINCC Directors Group presented the following memo to the Library District 
Advisory Committee.  
 

Page 10 of 14 5/21/201910 - 11



TO: LDAC Representatives  
FR: Directors, Clackamas County Libraries (LINCC) 
DT: January 19, 2018 
RE: Library District 
 
Recently there has been a good deal of discussion within local public 
meetings and in the media about proposed changes to both the 
Clackamas County Library District Master Order and the Master 
Cooperative Intergovernmental Agreement.   
 
The Directors of Clackamas County Libraries fully support and welcome 
public discussion of these proposed changes.  We do not advocate for 
any particular outcome. We do, however, want to provide our 
perspective with a goal of informing public discussion and providing 
additional context for some of the issues and concerns that have 
emerged.  Specifically, we’d like to offer a brief assessment of the 
strengths of the current District structure, as well as some of the 
current and future challenges that concern us. 
 
LIBRARY DISTRICT STRENGTHS 
 

• A collaborative, supportive library cooperative 
While the governance and funding structures have changed over 
time, the libraries of the Clackamas County Library District have 
been successfully collaborating and supporting each other for 
decades.   

 
Our libraries have established committees that have worked to 
regularly refine guidelines and procedures to maximize 
consistency, efficiency, and patron-focused service across the 
District.  
 

Page 11 of 14 5/21/201910 - 12



One example of this cooperation is that libraries have agreed to 
collection development guidelines. This helps to ensure that 
libraries can share collections, and that no single library will bear 
an undue burden to provide materials for other libraries. There 
may be situations when the availability of a particular library’s 
collection is temporarily reduced, such as during construction or 
remodeling projects. The strength of our cooperative is most 
apparent in those situations: District libraries support each other 
and cooperate to minimize the impact to patrons. Each library is 
assured that it will have the support of the other District libraries 
if it encounters a similar situation.  

A key collaborator is the Library Network. With support provided 
by the County, the Network office creates, maintains, and 
improves systems and procedures which help keep LINCC working 
cohesively and smoothly. In turn that allows libraries to offer 
consistent, quality library services to the 400,000 citizens of 
Clackamas County. 

LIBRARY DISTRICT CHALLENGES 

• Every community has different resources
The Library District spans approximately 1,880 square miles of
both rural and urban areas.  Each of the 12 service providers in
the District (11 cities and Clackamas County) has a service area
population which is made up of both City residents and residents
of unincorporated areas.

The ratio of City residents to unincorporated residents differs for
each service provider, as does the amount of Library District
revenue raised in each service area.  It is important to note that
the tax base of each City differs widely. That can make it more

Page 12 of 14 5/21/201910 - 13



challenging to allocate scarce general fund dollars, especially 
when those dollars may have been contributed by a minority of 
patrons in the Library’s service area.  

 
• A very complex structure 

While the cooperative structure provides some significant 
benefits--especially being able to focus closely on local 
community needs--Library Directors frequently find themselves 
navigating a very complex environment of competing stakeholder 
needs and imperatives.  Library Directors must constantly balance 
local needs and expectations (as articulated by City Managers, 
City Councils, and local Library Boards), with considerations of 
District-wide imperatives (as articulated by LINCC committees, the 
Library District Board, and the Library District Advisory 
Committee), and with state and national service standards. 

 
• Library District revenues are insufficient 

Simply put, the permanent Library District rate of $0.3974 per 
thousand of assessed value approved by voters in 2008 is not 
sufficient to maintain service levels throughout the county.  This is 
true whether or not District funds are to be used only to fund 
operations, or can be used for capital purposes as well.  While 
growth in property values has resulted in some additional Library 
District revenues over the years, these increases have not kept 
pace with increases in expenses (especially those related to 
personnel).  
 
The LINCC Library Directors feel strongly that the revenue 
situation must be addressed.  We believe many of the concerns 
voiced in discussions about amendments to the Master Order and 
IGA are, in fact, symptoms of this deeper, systemic revenue 
problem.  We have serious concerns about our ability to maintain 
service levels going forward.   

Page 13 of 14 5/21/201910 - 14



LINCC is stronger now than it has ever been and LINCC Library Directors 
are absolutely committed to doing all we can within our communities 
and on a County-wide, cooperative basis to ensure that every citizen of 
Clackamas County has access to high-quality library services.  We are 
working together more efficiently and effectively than at any time in 
our past.   

That said, we do face significant challenges ahead, and we sincerely 
hope that some of the concerns sparked by recent discussion of 
amendments to the Master Order and Master IGA will continue to be 
addressed in future conversations about the long-term sustainability of 
the Clackamas County Library District.   

Page 14 of 14 5/21/201910 - 15





11



11 - 1



respondents prefer that Gladstone adopt increases above the “mandated minimum” 
needed to comply with regulations. 
 
Summary of options.  
 
Option A 
$7.68 monthly increase to a typical single family home. Mandated minimum to           
address regulatory requirements. Would generate approx. $535k per year in CY 2021. 
 
Option B 
$17.27 monthly increase to a typically single family home. More than the minimum and 
less than the master plan recommendations. Would generate approx. $1.7 million per 
year in CY 2021. 
 
Option C 
$65.11 monthly increase to a typical single family home. Master plan rate study 
recommendations. Would generate approximately $3.6 million per year in CY 2021. This 
does not include inflationary increases since the rates studies have been completed. 
 
On October 8th City Council gave staff direction to bring back Option B for approval. 
 
Water rate restructuring is also incorporated in the proposed Master Fee Schedule. There 
has been a lot of discussion about the unfairness in the way the city currently charges for 
water. Currently the city charges a base rate of $22.61 for ¾” water meter which includes 
6 units of water. The issue that many are having is for those using less than 6 units of 
water pay for water they are not using. Based on historical consumption reports there are 
55% (or 1,874 accounts) that use less water than they are paying for.  
 
The new water rates structure is a conservation block rate which has a base meter charge 
(covering fixed costs like personnel, system maintenance and repairs, contractual and 
professional services, etc.) and a consumption charge (covering variable costs like 
wholesale water, electricity, capital, etc.). Based on historical consumption a typical single 
family home utility bill (Water, Sewer, and Stormwater) increase will range from $11.56 to 
$19.06 (depending on usage) with the average increase at $17.27 for a total bill increase 
from $68.05 to $85.32, a 25% increase. Of that $32.72 (or 48%) is passed-through for 
treatment services (drinking water and sewage). This will leave the city with $52.60 a 
month to operate, maintain, and improve its infrastructure. This includes a $1.00/month 
stormwater fee increase for stormwater system maintenance and $10.08/month 
maintenance increase for sewer collection maintenance. Please see attached 
comparisons with neighboring jurisdictions which range from $101.44 to $129.21 per 
month.  
 
Added to the proposed Master Fee Schedule is a Water Meter Tampering Charge of 
$250. The city experiences customers attempting to turn their water back on themselves 
after it was shut off for non-payment by cutting the lock, damaging the meter or shut off 
valve. This would help discourage them from tampering with the city’s infrastructure and 
if they choose to tamper with the meter the city could recoup the cost for repair.  
 
Additional changes to the Master Fee Schedule include an increase to police report 
charges and eliminating charges for officer’s notes and radar certification; changing 
CCSD#1 (Clackamas County Service District) and Tri-Cities Services District to WES 
(Water Environment Services) and a 3% annual increase to Right-of-Way fees. 
 11 - 2



11 - 3



 

RESOLUTION NO. 1169 
CITY OF GLADSTONE, OREGON 

 
A Resolution Adopting a Revised Master Fee Schedule  

   
WHEREAS, The Gladstone City Council is authorized by the Gladstone Municipal Code to adopt 

certain fees; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City Council desires to adopt an updated Master Fee Schedule reflecting periodic 

updates; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City is implementing a new Water Rate Structure to include a conservation block rate 

which incorporates a new base meter charge and a new consumption based charge as 
shown in Exhibit A; and 

 
WHEREAS, Clackamas County Sewer District #1 (CCSD#1) and Tri-Cities Sewer District (TCSD) are 

now combined into Water Environment Services (WES); and 
 
WHEREAS, The City adopted a Right-of-Way Ordinance in 2016, the Master Fee Schedule stipulates 

the minimum annual Right-of-Way use fee will increase 3% every year; and 
 
WHEREAS, Changes in the sanitary sewer collection fee reflects a $10.08 increase per equivalent 

dwelling unit per month; and 
 
WHEREAS, Changes in the stormwater fee reflects a $1.00 increase per equivalent dwelling unit per 

month; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City is implementing a new water meter tampering charge of $250 to discourage 

residents from tampering with the City’s infrastructure; and 
 
WHEREAS, Changes in fees at the Police Department reflect the increase of costs associated with 

police reports, eliminating charges for officer’s notes and radar certification. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Gladstone, a 

municipal corporation of the State of Oregon, the following: 
 
 The City of Gladstone repeals the Master Fee Schedule adopted under Resolution 1163 

and replaces it by adopting the Revised Master Fee Schedule, as set forth in the attached 
Exhibit A.  Changes/additions are noted in highlight and deletions are noted in 
strikethrough.  

 
This Resolution is effective January 1, 2020. 
 
This Resolution adopted by the Gladstone City Council and approved by the Mayor this         day of 
_________, 2019. 

ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________          ___________________________________ 
Tamara Stempel, Mayor                       Tami Bannick 

11 - 4



Adopted Budget 45.00$                                                                    
Blasting Permit Fee 5,000.00$                                                               
Blasting Permit Inspections each (after first two inspections) 2,000.00$                                                               
Business License Base Fee 100.00$                                                                  
Business License Commencing July-December 50.00$                                                                    
Business License fee per employee over 3 FTE's 5.00$                                                                      
Business License for Rental Property in Gladstone - base fee plus tiered approach below 100.00$                                                                  
               1 rental unit 25.00$                                                                    
               2 - 5 rental units 50.00$                                                                    
               6 - 12 rental units 75.00$                                                                    
               13+ rental units 100.00$                                                                  
Business License Past Due Fee per month 10.00$                                                                    
Electronic Copy of a Recorded Meeting 20.00$                                                                    
Home Occupation - Intial Application Fee 50.00$                                                                    
Liquor License Review
       Original Application 100.00$                                                                  
       Change in ownership, location, or privilege 75.00$                                                                    
       Renewal or temporary application 35.00$                                                                    
Lien Search 30.00$                                                                    
Notary Fee (Non-Resident) 10.00$                                                                    
Notary Fee (Resident) 5.00$                                                                      
NSF Check Charge 35.00$                                                                    
Parking Permits 25.00$                                                                    
Penalty for work commencing before application approval Investigation fee equal to permit fee
Photocopies B&W up to 8 x 14 0.25$                                                                      
Postage and Handling Flat Fee + actual cost of postage 1.00$                                                                      
Public Records Administrative Research per hour (quarter hour increment charge) Based on hourly rate
Public Records Clerical Research per hour (quarter hour increment charge) Based on hourly rate
Public Records Legal Research per hour (quarter hour increment charge) Based on hourly rate

Resolution 1169  - Exhibit "A"
City of Gladstone Master Fee Schedule   Effective January 1, 2020

ADMINISTRATION

EXHIBIT A 
Master Fee Schedule 

Page 1

11 - 5



Public Records Request Deposit (large) toward hourly rate 100.00$                                                                  
Public Records Request Deposit (small) toward hourly rate 25.00$                                                                    
Returned Check Charge/processing 35.00$                                                                    
Road Re-naming 150.00$                                                                  
Special Event Application (plus actual staff costs for employees specifically 100.00$                                                                  
 needed to work the event and barricade fees if needed)
  

Fire Log Report 15.00$                                                                    

Annual Out-of-District Resident Library Card 95.00$                                                                    
Damaged Items Replacement Cost
Late Charge (per day); Maximum per item: $3 children/$5 adult 0.25$                                                                      
Lost Cultural Pass (varies from $15.00-$200.00) Replacement Cost
Lost Items Replacement Cost
Lost Library Card 1.00$                                                                      
Photocopies (first two pages of non-circulating materials are free)
       Black and White Copes (per page) 0.10$                                                                      
       Color Copies (per page) 0.40$                                                                      
Missing/Damaged Part (Barcode Replacement, CD Booklet or Missing Artwork, CD Case, 2.00$                                                                      

Softball/Baseball Tournaments (per day/per field) 55.00$                                                                    
Softball/Baseball Non-Gladstone Leagues Only (per team) 27.50$                                                                    
                                                                                                 (per field) 11.00$                                                                    
Softball/Baseball Picnic Use (per day/per field) 11.00$                                                                    
Soccer Field Reservation (per day/per field) 44.00$                                                                    
Soccer League Play for Gladstone Residents (per team/per field) 5.00$                                                                      
Soccer League Play for Non-Gladstone Residents (per team/per field) 20.00$                                                                    

The City of Gladstone contracts with Clackamas County for planning and building
       services, fees for those applications and services are set by the County

PLANNING AND BUILDING

PARKS AND RECREATION

FIRE

LIBRARY

EXHIBIT A 
Master Fee Schedule 

Page 2

11 - 6



A-Frame Sign Permit  (initial application fee) 100.00$                                                                  
Address Record Print (per address) 5.00$                                                                      
Alarm Permit 
       Initial Permit or Renewal 25.00
       Late Fee (after 30 days expiration or installation) 25.00
       Second False Alarm (within permit year) 50.00
       Third False Alarm (within permit year) 100.00
       Fourth and Each Subsequent Alarm (within permit year) 150.00
       Failure to obtain Alarm Permit 90.00
Animal Permit Application (per year) 25.00$                                                                    
Block Party 35.00$                                                                    
CD's including photos/videos 25.00$                                                                    
ID Theft Victim Free
Local History Printout (per record) 5.00$                                                                      
Noise variance 75.00$                                                                    
Nusiance Property Abatement Actual Cost 
Officer's Notes (per entry) 5.00$                                                                      
Police Report - No Charge for Victims 0.00
Police Report (first 5 2 pages) 15.00$                                                                    
Police Report (page 6 3 and over) each page 1.00$                                                                      
Radar Certification (per record) 5.00$                                                                      
Temporary/Portable Storage Container 50.00
Vehicle Impound (after business hours) 125.00$                                                                  
Vehicle Impound (during regular business hours) 100.00$                                                                  

Technical Plan Review-Development Engineering Fee
                  Review   $                     2.5% of the construction cost
                  Inspection   $                     2.5% of the construction cost
Barricade Delivery and Pickup Fee 50.00$                                                                    
Dye Test Residential/Commercial 100.00$                                                                  
Erosion Control Violation  300.00$                                                                  

POLICE 

PUBLIC WORKS

EXHIBIT A 
Master Fee Schedule 

Page 3

11 - 7



Hydrant Hook-Up Permit Fee (plus water usagae cost) 50.00$                                                                    
Registration Fee 50.00$                                                                    
Street Opening Inspection Fee 85.00$                                                                    
Street Opening Permit Fee 150.00$                                                                  
Street Opening Re-Inspection Fee (if necessary)  85.00$                                                                    
System Development Charges (SDC's)
  * Transportation $3,706 per (EDU) equivalent dwelling unit
  * Water: 3/4" meter -  $7,847

1" meter - $13,005
1 1/2" meter - $26,132

2" meter - $41,828
3" meter - $83,733

4" meter - $130,819
6" meter - $261,559

  * Sewer Collection (City System) $5,638 per (EDU) equivalent dwelling unit

  * Sewer Treatment provided by others (pass-through) to Oak Lodge Water Services or 
Tri-City (WES) based on the individual district rates that the property is served by.

  * Parks
 $7,836 per (RPE) residential population 

equivalent 
  * Stormwater $3,019 per (EDU) equivalent dwelling unit

Building Rental (per hour) Group 1: City of Gladstone Residents. Planton Room-$40.00 and Bloye Hall-$45.00
Building Rental (per hour) Group 2: Private Parties, individuals, groups, and  non-profits. Planton Room-$45.00 and Bloye Hall-$55.00
Building Rental (per hour)Group 3: Commercial, for-profit professional groups. Planton Room-$50.00 and Bloye Hall-$75.00
Kitchen Fee 50.00$                                                                    
Meal under 60 years 4.00$                                                                      
Meal (suggested donation) over 60 years 3.00$                                                                      
Fax (per page - staff only) 1.00$                                                                      
Photocopy (per page) 0.25$                                                                      
Van Donation (suggested donation) each way 1.00$                                                                      
Friday Excursions ($7-$25) varies

SENIOR CENTER

EXHIBIT A 
Master Fee Schedule 

Page 4

11 - 8



Billiards Room (suggested donation of per game played) 0.25$                                                                      
Notary Fee- Clackamas County resident age 60 or older  Free 
Notary Fee- Gladstone Resident $5.00
Notary Fee- Non Resident- Clackamas County $10.00

                     RIGHT-OF-WAY (ROW) RATES
Franchise Administrative Review 5,000.00$                                                               
ROW License Application Fee (Excluding Small Cell Wireless Facilities ****) 50.00$                                                                    
ROW License Fee (five year term), (Exculding Small Cell Wireless Facilities) 250.00$                                                                  

ROW Use Fee (Excluding Small Cell Wireless Facilities)
5% of gross revenues** or Minimum Annual 
Right-of-Way Use Fee, whichever is greater.

Minimum Annual Right-of-Way Use Fee ***
               TOTAL LINEAR FEET OF UTILITY FACILITIES IN RIGHT-OF-WAY January 1, 2019                         January 1, 2020
                               Up to 5,000 $5,464.00                                     $5,628.00     
                               5,001 to 10,000 $8,196.00                                     $8,442.00     
                               10,001 to 20,000 $10,927.00                                   $11,255.00     
                               More than 20,000 $16,391.00                                   $16,883.00     
ROW Attachment Fee (Exculding Small Cell Wireless Facilties) $5,150

ROW Application fee for Small Cell Wireless Facilities (1-5 sites) 500.00
                       Each additional Site 100.00

Small Cell Wireless Facility Attachment Fee 270.00

     SEWER RATES 
Sewer Inspection Fee, except mobile homes, motor homes and travel trailers 100.00$                                                                  
Sewer Insepction Fee for mobile homes, motor homes, and travel trailers 50.00$                                                                    
Oak Lodge Water Services Sewer Charge (Pass-through) 55.19 per month per EDU

Water Environment Services (WES) Sewer Treatment Charge (Pass-through) 25.36 per month
City of Gladstone Sanitary Sewer Collection Charge  $10.08     $20.16

Tri-Cities Services District & Clackamas County Sewer District #1 Sewer Charge (Pass through)

UTILITY BILLING RATES & UTILITY RIGHT OF WAY RATES

EXHIBIT A 
Master Fee Schedule 

Page 5

11 - 9



     STORMWATER RATES
Residential Stormwater Fee per EDU each month                       (Class 001 accounts) $10.00    $11.00
Non-Single Family Residential Stormwater Fee (Per 3,000 square feet of impervious area each month)
                                                                                                           (Class 002 and 003 accounts) $10.00     $11.00
                                           (Impervious area is calculated based on the city's GIS system data)

      WATER RATES 
minimum charges per month includes first 600 cubic feet of water: Base Meter Charge

Meter Size             Inside City     Outside City    (no water included)
   3/4"                           $22.61               $30.07                     $23.09
 1.0"                      $32.21                $45.40                    $36.72
1.5"                  $50.25               $66.93                     $57.29
2.0"                     $89.86              $119.54                   $102.44
3.0"                     $111.94           $148.17                   $127.61
4.0"                     $134.03           $178.30                   $152.79
6.0"                     $148.95           $198.07                   $169.80
8.0"                    $186.19           $247.63                   $212.26

Water in excess of the first 600 cubic feet, per each additional 100 cubic feet: $    2.50            $    3.26

Water Rate Unit Cost Per Hudred Cubic Feet Of Water (CCF) 748 gallons Usage Bracket           Rate
Block Rate 1 1 - 6 Units                  $1.25
Block Rate 2 7 - 10 Units                $2.00
Block Rate 3 11 Units and Up       $2.75

Water rates for properties outside the city limits Add 33% to above rates

     WATER UTILITY CHARGES
Low Income Rate Violation Fee As set forth in ORS 164.125
Mailed Late Notice/Shut Off Notification 7.00$                                                                      
Shut Off Door Hanger (2nd Late Fee) 25.00$                                                                    
Shut Off Water 25.00$                                                                    
Turn On Water (during business hours) 25.00$                                                                    
Turn On Water (after business hours) 175.00$                                                                  
Water Meter Tampering Charge 250.00$                                                                  

EXHIBIT A 
Master Fee Schedule 

Page 6

11 - 10



**         Gross revenues  shall have the meaning as defined in Chapter 12.24

**** Small Cell Wireless Facilities are defined as including an antenna of no more than three cubic feet and equipment totaling no more than 28 
cubic feet, placed on a structure that is either no more than 50 feet in height, no more than 10 percent taller than adjacent structure, or no more 

 ***      This rate shall increase   3% annually on January 1st of each year beginning January 1, 2017.

EXHIBIT A 
Master Fee Schedule 

Page 7

11 - 11



11 - 12



11 - 13



11 - 14



11 - 15



11 - 16



11 - 17



11 - 18



11 - 19



11 - 20



11 - 21



11 - 22



11 - 23



11 - 24



11 - 25



11 - 26



11 - 27



11 - 28



11 - 29



11 - 30



11 - 31



11 - 32



11 - 33



11 - 34



11 - 35



11 - 36



11 - 37





12



City of Gladstone 
Staff Report  

              
 
Report Date: November 5, 2019  
Meeting Date: November 12, 2019  
To:    Gladstone City Council 
From:   Jacque Betz, City Administrator    
 
AGENDA ITEM 
 
Approve Resolution 1170 establishing a policy regarding media in executive sessions.  
 
PROPOSAL 
The purpose of this policy is to provide guidelines for determining what is a news media 
organization and who is a representative of the news media according to ORS 192.610(2) and 
ORS 192.660(4). This policy applies to all executive session meetings held by the City Council 
and any other board or committee of the City. 
 
ORS 192.610(2) provides any meeting or part of a meeting of a governing body my deliberate in 
closed meetings on certain matters; and ORS 192.660(4) provides that representatives of the 
news media shall be allowed to attend executive sessions, but that the governing body may 
require that specified information be undisclosed.  This policy defines news media organizations 
and who is a representative of the news media for access into executive sessions.  
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
1. Definitions.   As used in Resolution 1170, the following definitions apply: 
 

A. News.  Means factual information that is about current events. 
 

B. News Media Organization.  Means an entity that is organized and operated to 
publish, broadcast or disseminate news to the public as determined by section 3 or 4 below. 
 

C. Representative of the News Media.  Means an employee, agent or contractor of 
a news media organization who is engaged in the act of gathering news for that news media 
organization as determined by Section 5 below. 
 
2. Policy that Information be Undisclosed.    It is the Council’s policy that all information 
discussed or considered in executive sessions of the Council may not be disclosed in any form, 
and/or to any other person so long as the information is properly within the scope of the statutory 
authorization of the executive session.  This policy extends to all statements made in executive 
sessions, to all documents considered, and all other information presented or considered 
regardless of the format, within the proper scope of the executive sessions of the Council.  To the 
extent this policy may be inconsistent with Oregon law, Oregon law shall control.  This policy shall 
apply regardless whether persons attending any particular executive session are reminded of the 
policy.  The Council, in its sole discretion, may make exceptions to this policy if it is in the public 
interest to do so, and if the majority of the members thereof vote to do so. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12 - 1



3. Recognized News Media Organizations.    The following entities are hereby 
recognized as news media organizations without requiring further proof because they 
have an established history of publishing, broadcasting or disseminating news in, 
affecting, or about Gladstone to the public: 
  
 Print Media Organizations: 
 

A. The Oregonian 
B. Clackamas Review 
 
Television Media Organizations: 
 
A. KATU 
B. KGW 
C. KOIN 
D. KPTV 

 
No other entity shall be recognized as a news media organization unless it is recognized through 
the process described in Section 4 below. 
 
4. Recognition of Other Entities. 
 

A.  In order to be recognized as a news media organization, an entity other than those 
recognized in Section 3 above must: (i) submit a written request for recognition as a 
new media organization to the Council; and (ii) provide evidence that the entity is 
organized and operated to publish, broadcast or disseminate news to the public. 
 

B. It shall be the entity’s burden to persuade the Council by a preponderance of the 
evidence that it is organized and operated to publish, broadcast or disseminate news 
to the public.  The entity may be a news component of a larger organization which isn’t 
necessarily a news media organization. 

 
C. The Council may consider any relevant evidence provided or gathered in making a 

decision whether to recognize an entity as a news media organization.  The Council 
shall make its determination whether to recognize the entity as a news media 
organization based on the following criteria: 

 
(i) Regular publication, regular broadcasts or regular updates (at least 

once weekly) of news;  
 

(ii) Publication, broadcast or website must contain a minimum of 25% 
news content, and include news produced by its own staff;  

 
(iii) The publication, broadcast or website must not serve primarily as a 

platform to promote the interest and/or opinions of a special interest 
group, individual or cause, or as a forum to air grievances, engage in 
gossip, or for personal attacks or character assassination. 

 
D. The request for permission shall be on a form provided by the Council (exhibit A).  The 

person requesting permission to attend an executive session must complete and sign 
the request form.  Forms must be submitted to the City Recorder twenty-four (24) 
hours before the date of an Executive Session. The request form shall include a space 
for the person to indicate his or her name and the entity for which he or she is an 
employee, agent or contractor.  The request form shall also include a space for the 
person to sign his or her signature certifying that he or she is gathering news for a 
news media organization; that the information submitted is true; and that he or she 
understands that it is the Council’s policy, and that he or she agrees to comply with 
the Council’s policy, that all information discussed or considered in executive sessions  12 - 2



12 - 3



RESOLUTION #1170  
 

A Resolution Establishing a Policy Regarding Media in Executive Sessions  
 
 
WHEREAS, ORS 192.610(2) provides: “Executive session’ means any meeting or part of a 

meeting of a governing body that is closed to certain persons for deliberation 
on certain matters”; and 

 
WHEREAS, ORS 192.660(4) provides: “Representatives of the news media shall be allowed 

to attend executive session… but the governing body may require that specified 
information be undisclosed;” and 

 
WHEREAS, it is in the public interest to establish a policy that defines “news media 

organization” and who is a “representative of the news media” in order to 
preserve the purposes of having executive sessions while safeguarding the 
rights of news media organizations; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council also desires to establish as its policy that it requires all 

information discussed or considered in executive sessions to be undisclosed. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED as follows: 
 
1. Definitions. As used in this resolution, the following definitions apply: 
 

A. “News” means factual information that is about current events. 
 
B. “News Media Organization” means an entity that is organized and operated to publish, 
broadcast or disseminate news to the public as determined by Section 3 or 4 below. 
 
C. “Representative of the news media” means an employee, agent or contractor of a news 
media organization who is engaged in the act of gathering news for that news media or 
contractor of a news media organization as determined by Section 5 below. 

 
2. Policy that Information Be Undisclosed. It is the Council’s policy that all information 
discussed or considered in executive session of the Council may not be disclosed in any form, 
and/or to any other person so long as the information is properly within the scope of statutory 
authorization of the executive session. This policy extends to all statements made in executive 
sessions, to all documents considered, and all other information presented or considered 
regardless of the format, within the proper scope of the executive sessions of the City Council. 
To the extent this policy may be inconsistent with Oregon law, Oregon law shall control. This 
policy shall apply regardless whether persons attending any particular executive session are 
reminded of the policy. The Council, in its sole discretion, may make exceptions to this policy 
if it is in the public interest to do so, and if a majority of the members thereof vote to do so. 
 
 

12 - 4



3. Recognized News Media Organizations. The following entities are hereby recognized as 
news media organizations without requiring further proof because they have an established 
history of publishing, broadcasting or disseminating news in, affecting, or about the City of 
Gladstone to the public: 
 
Print Media Organizations:  
 
 The Oregonian    The Clackamas Review 
  
Television Media Organizations: 
 
  KATU      KOIN 
  KGW      KPTV 
 
No other entity shall be recognized as a news media organization unless it is recognized 
through the process described in Section 4 below 
 
4. Recognition of Other Entities. 
 

A. In order to be recognized as a news media organization, an entity other than those 
recognized in Section 3 above must: (i) submit a written request for recognition as a news 
media organization to the Council; and (ii) provide evidence that the entity is organized 
and operated to publish, broadcast or disseminate news to the public. 
 
B. It shall be the entity’s burden to persuade the Council by a preponderance of the 
evidence that it is organized and operated to publish, broadcast or disseminate news to the 
public. The entity may be a news component of a larger organization which isn’t 
necessarily a news media organization. 
 
C. The Council may consider any relevant evidence provided or gathered in making a 
decision whether to recognize an entity as a news media organization. The Council shall 
make its determination whether to recognize the entity as a news media organization based 
on the following criteria: 
 

i. Regular publication, regular broadcasts or regular updates (at least once weekly) of 
news; 
 

ii. Publication, broadcast or website must contain a minimum of 25% news content. And 
include news produced by its own staff; 
 

iii.The publication, broadcast or website must not serve primarily as a platform to promote 
the interest and/or opinions of a special interest group, individual or cause, or as a forum 
to air grievances, engage in gossip, or for personal attacks or character assassination. 

 
D. The request for permission shall be on a form provided by the Council (exhibit 

A). The person requesting permission to attend an executive session must 
complete and sign the requested form. Forms must be submitted to the City 

12 - 5



Recorder twenty-four (24) hours before the date of an Executive Session. The 
requested form shall include a space for the person to indicate his or her name 
and the entity for which he or she is an employee, agent or contractor. The 
request form shall also include a space for the person to sign his or her signature 
certifying that he or she is gathering news for a news media organization; that 
the information submitted is true; and that they understand that it is the 
Council’s policy, and that they agree to comply with the Council’s policy, that 
all information discussed or considered in executive session of the Council shall 
not be disclosed in any form, and/or to any other person as long as it was 
properly within the scope of the announced statutory authorization of the 
executive session and as long as the media’s reporting has not independently 
verified it. 

 
E.  If the entity disclosed on the request for permission form is not recognized as 

a news media organization, the person shall not be allowed to attend an 
executive session until the entity is granted recognition. 
 

F.  If the executive session is for the purpose of discussing current litigation or 
litigation likely to be filed, and the member of the news media is a party to the 
litigation or is an employee, agent or contractor of a news media organization 
that is a party to the litigation, the person shall not be allowed to attend the 
executive session. If the Council has reason to believe that the person has 
submitted false information or has previously failed to comply with the 
Council’s policy regarding disclosure of information properly within the scope 
of previous executive sessions, it may refuse permission for the person to attend 
the executive session. 
 

G.  The Council may consider any relevant evidence provided or gathered in 
making a decision whether a person is a representative of the news media. The 
Council’s decision to recognize or not to recognize a person as a representative 
if the news media, and/or to grant permission to attend an executive session, is 
a quasi-judicial decision reviewable as provided by ORS 34.010 to 34.100 
 

5. Cameras and Other Recording Devices. Cameras, tape recorders and other recording 
devices may not be used in executive sessions, except the official executive session 
recordings made by City staff. 

 
This Resolution is adopted by the Gladstone City Council and approved by the Mayor this 
________ day of __________, 2019. 
 
       ATTEST: 

 
 

______________________________  ______________________________ 
Tamara Stempel, Mayor    Tami Bannick, City Recorder 

12 - 6



Approved 

By:__________________ 

Denied 

By:__________________ 

Application Complete 

Yes 

No 

City of Gladstone 
APPLICATION—MEDIA REQUEST TO  

ATTEND EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Please type or print clearly 

Media Personnel: 

Name News/Media Organization 

Street     City/State/Zip Phone 

Proof Provided by Applicant: 
 

One of the following three: 

Press identifications– press badge or identification issued by recognition news media organization, plus 
proof of identity (such as a driver’s license); or 

A recently published news article by a news media organization with the person’s byline, or masthead 
showing the person’s name as a member of the editorial staff of a recognized news media 
organization, plus proof of identity; or 

A letter on letterhead from the editor of a recognized news media organization in which the editor 
state that the reporter is covering the meeting for the news media organization, plus proof of identity 
(freelancers must provide clippings or proof of work with a recognized new media organization within 
the last six months) 

The following must also be provided: 

Proof, satisfactory to the Council, that the person is gathering news, even though the information 
discussed or considered in executive session may not be disclosed in any form, and/or to any other 
person. 

 If the executive session is for the purpose of discussing current litigation or litigation likely to be filed, and 

the member of the news media is a party to the litigation or is an employee, agent or contractor of a 
news media organization that is a party in the litigation, the person shall not be allowed to attend the 
executive session. _____________ (initial) 

 Cameras and other Recording Devices. Cameras, tape recorders and other recording devises 

may not be used in executive sessions, except by the official executive session recordings made by City 
staff. The Council, in its discretion, may prohibit representatives of the news media from taking notes or 
otherwise memorializing the contents of the executive sessions. _____________ (initial) 

Media Personnel By (Signature) 

Send completed application packet to: City Recorders Office 525 Portland Ave, Gladstone, OR 97027 
Or Email to the City Recorder at bannick@ci.gladstone.or.us. Questions? Call 503-557-2769 

Date of Signature 

12 - 7

bannick
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT "A"





13



13 - 1



 

ORDINANCE NO. _1497_ 

AN ORDINANCE ADDING CHAPTER 5.55 TO GLADSTONE MUNICIPAL CODE, TITLED 
BUSINESS FOOD WASTE REQUIRMENTS 

WHEREAS, the City of Gladstone is within Metro’s jurisdiction for Solid Waste Management; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, Metro has mandated the City adopt Business Food Waste Requirements effective 

July 31, 2019; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City finds it is in the public interest to adopt these requirements. 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the City of Gladstone ordains as follows: 

Section 1. The Gladstone City Council adds chapter 5.55, of the Gladstone Municipal Code 
as described in Exhibit A to this ordinance, which is attached and incorporated by 
reference.   

Section 2. This ordinance takes effect on November 8, 2019. 

 

Adopted by the Gladstone City Council this _    _ day of ___          _, 2019. 

 

      ATTEST: 

 

_________________________________ ____________________________________  
Tammy Stempel, Mayor    Tami Bannick, City Recorder 

13 - 2



ORIDNANCE 1497 

Exhibit A 

 

5.55 BUSINESS FOOD WASTE REQUIRMENTS 

All covered businesses in the City that fall within the Metro District boundary and Clackamas County 
shall comply as set forth in this Chapter and regulations promulgated hereunder. A business, for the 
purposes of this Chapter, is a business that cooks, assembles, processes, serves, or sells food or does so 
as service providers for other enterprises and generates more than 250 pounds per week of food waste. 

5.55.010 PURPOSE AND INTENT 

1. The purpose and intent of this Chapter is to: 
a. Source separate food waste and prevent that waste from entering the solid waste 
system; and 
b. Comply with applicable provisions of Metro’s Solid Waste Administrative Rules 
and Clackamas County’s Solid Waste Management Ordinances. 

5.55.020 DEFINITIONS 

“Business” means organizations that cook, assemble, process, serve or sell food or do so as 
service providers for other enterprises. 
 
“City staff, or Designee” means duly appointed representative of the City of Gladstone. 
“Food waste” means waste generated from the distribution, storage, preparation, cooking, 
handling, selling or serving of food for human consumption. Food waste includes but is not 
limited to excess, spoiled or unusable food and includes inedible parts commonly associated with 
food preparation such as pits, shells, bones, rinds, and peels. Food waste does not include liquids 
or large amounts of oils and meats which are collected for rendering, fuel production or other 
non-disposal applications, or any food fit for human consumption that has been set aside, stored 
properly and is accepted for donation by a charitable organization or any food collected to feed 
animals in compliance with applicable regulations.  

“Exempt” means liquids or large amounts of oils and meats which are collected for rendering, 
fuel production or other non-disposal applications, or any food fit for human consumption that 
has been set aside, stored properly and is accepted for donation by a charitable organization and 
any food collected to feed animals in compliance with applicable regulations. 
 

5.55.030  APPLICABILITY 
 1. This ordinance applies to all businesses.   
 2. Businesses subject to the business food waste requirement include without limitation: 

Cafeterias & buffets, Caterers, Correctional facilities, Food product manufacturing, Food 
service contractors, Full service restaurants, Grocery retail, Grocery wholesale, Limited service 

13 - 3



restaurants, Specialty food markets, Warehouse clubs: and those businesses with full-service 
restaurants or on-site food preparation or service, Colleges & universities, Drinking places, 
Bars, Taverns, Elementary and secondary schools, Hospitals, Hotels, Nursing & residential 
care, Retirement & assisted living. 

a. Only those with full-service restaurant or on-site food preparation or services are 
subject to this requirement.  

 
5.55.040 BUSINESS FOOD WASTE REQUIRMENTS 

1.  Businesses must collect food waste that is controlled by the business, agents, and employees. 
This requirement does not apply to food wastes controlled by customers or the public. At its 
discretion, a business may also collect food waste from customers or the public but must ensure 
that food wastes are free of non-food waste items. K-12 schools may also include student-
generated food waste from school cafeteria meals but must ensure that food wastes are free of 
non-food items. 

2.  Businesses must have correctly-labeled and easily-identifiable receptacles for internal 
maintenance or work areas where food waste may be collected, stored, or both. 

3.  Businesses must post accurate signs where food waste is collected and stored that identify the 
materials that the covered business must source separate. 

4.  All Businesses must comply with this section by September 30, 2023; 

a. Businesses, that are not schools, generating greater than 1,000 pounds/week must 
comply with this section by March 31, 2021; 
b. Businesses, that are not schools, generating greater than 500 pounds of food waste 
per week must comply with this section by September 30, 2022; 

5.  Persons and entities that own, manage or operate premises with business tenants, that are 
Businesses, and that provide garbage collection service to those business tenants, shall provide 
food waste collection systems adequate to enable those business tenants to comply with the 
requirements of subsections 1, 2, 3 and 4 of this sub-section. 

 
6.  A Business may seek a temporary compliance waiver issued by Clackamas County, subject to 
the following conditions: 

a. The temporary compliance waiver will not exceed twelve (12) months, and; 
b. The business provides access to City staff, or designee for a site visit to 
demonstrate that the covered business cannot comply with this section, and,  
c. City staff, or designee approves a temporary compliance waiver under this 
section, and; 
d. City staff, or designee performs periodic site visits to ensure the conditions 
allowing a temporary compliance waiver under this section are still in place and 
cannot be remedied, and;  

13 - 4



e City staff, or designee may determine a renewal of the temporary compliance 
waiver is warranted. 

7.  A business that does not comply with subsections 1-6 of the business food waste requirement: 

a. May receive a written notice of noncompliance from the City, or designee. The 
notice of noncompliance will: 

1. Describe the violation, and; 
2. Provide the business an opportunity, with a deadline, to cure the violation, 
and; 
3. Offer assistance with compliance. 

b. A business failing to cure a violation within the time specified in the notice of 
noncompliance, may receive a written citation that will: 

1. Provide an additional opportunity, with a deadline, to cure the violation; 
2. Notify the business that it may be subject to a fine. 

c. A business that does not cure a violation within the time specified in the citation 
may be subject to a fine. 

 

 

13 - 5





 
CITY COUNCIL 

MONTHLY 
ACTIVITY 
REPORTS 





 MAYOR TAMMY STEMPEL 

OCTOBER 2019 – CIVIC ACTIVITY DETAIL 

MEETINGS  ‐ ACTIVITIES  

10/1/2019  ‐      Agenda review with Jacque 
‐ Citizen Meeting | Halloween 
‐ Laura Pascoe | Adventist Community – CERT, COAD and Community Support 

 
10/2/2019  ‐       Food Pantry Prep 

‐ Forest Therapy | Gladstone Nature Park 
 
10/3/2019  ‐       Clackamas County Coordinating Committee Meeting 

‐ Citizen Meeting | Holidays 
 
10/4/2019  ‐      Gladstone Varsity Football Game 
 
10/5/2019  ‐       Citizen Meeting | Halloween 
 
10/8/2019  ‐       City Council Meeting 

‐ Riverglen Affordable Housing Site Walk 
 
10/9/2019  ‐      Food Pantry Stocking 
 
10/10/2019  ‐     WES Governance Meeting 

‐ Historical Society Meeting 
‐ Gladstone Varsity Football Game 

 
10/14/2019  ‐     Clackamas County C4 Executive Committee Meeting 

‐ Emergency Library Meeting 
‐ Parks and Rec Board Meeting 

 
10/15/2019  ‐     City Harassment Training 

‐ Gladstone Planning Commission Meeting 
‐ Gladstone Cub Scout Tour and Meeting 

 
10/16/2019  ‐     Clackamas County C4 Subcommittee Meeting – Transportation RFFA Grants 

‐ Food Pantry Stocking 
‐ Police Department Pizza Party 
‐ Joint City Council | Library Board Meeting 

 
10/17/2019  ‐      Citizen Meeting | Utility and Infrastructure 
                                       
10/18/2019  ‐      Research Press Credentials for Ethics Complaint 
 
10/19/2019  ‐        Review Ethics Complaint 
 

Council Activity Report - 1



2 

10/23/2019  ‐        Food Pantry Stocking 
 
10/24/2019  ‐        Women In Leadership Awards Luncheon 

‐  Food Pantry Shift 
 
10/25/2019  ‐        Meeting with Attorney for Ethics Complaint filed by Bill Osburn 

‐   Gladstone Varsity Football Game 
 
10/26/2019  ‐         Food Pantry Shift Leader Training 
 
10/27/2019  ‐         Halloween Planning Meeting 
 
10/29/2019  ‐          Webster Road Affordable Housing Outreach Event 
 
10/30/2019  ‐          Food Pantry Stocking 

‐    Trolley Trail Design Meeting 
 
10/31/2019  ‐          Halloween Event 
 
 
**Throughout the month review of social media, responses to email, Nextdoor Gladstone and direct 
phone calls. 
 
 
 

NOTES  

 
 

Council Activity Report - 2



COUNCILOR TOM MERSEREAU
OCTOBER 2019

START DATE -

DATE and/or 
TIME  MEETINGS - ACTIVITIES

10.07.2019  Monthy - Councilor Activity Report Completed and Turned In.

10.07.2019  Monthly Meeting with Jacque Betz

10.08.2019 Riverglen Site Afforable Housing Tour

10.08.2019  Gladstone Council Session

10.09.2019  GPD - Command Meeting as Liaison

10.14.2019 Library County Input Meeting 

10.15.2019 Harassment/Bullying Training

10.15.2019  Planning Commission Meeting as Liaison

10.16.2019 School Board Meeting

10.22.2019 GFD - Command Meeting as Liaison

10.23.2019 GPD - Command Meeting as Liaison

10.30.2019 Trolley Bridge Presentation

10.01.2019  10.31.2019 45

Received Messages, Read Memos & Attachments and Made Response 
to Jacque Betz, Tami Bannick, Chief John Schmerber, Haley Kratz, 
Nancy McDonald and Other Staff as Appropriate.

     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     

trm/TRM 1 

Council Activity Report - 3



COUNCILOR MATT TRACY 
OCTOBER 2019 – CIVIC ACTIVITY DETAIL 
MEETINGS - ACTIVITIES 

10/8/2019  Gladstone City Council Meeting 
 
10/14/2019  Gladstone Special Library Meeting 
 
10/16/2019  Gladstone-Gladstone School Board Combined Meeting 
 
10/25/2019  LO-Oak Grove Pedestrian/Bike Bridge Policy Committee Meeting 
 
10/??/2019  Clackamas County T2020 Task Force Meeting 
 
10/29/2019  Tour of WES Tri-Cities Plant 
 
10/30/2019  Trolley Trail Concept Meeting 
 
 

NOTES 

 

Council Activity Report - 4



 
 

PRELIMINARY 
CITY COUNCIL 

AGENDA 
PLANNING 
DOCUMENT 





Gladstone City Council Preliminary Agendas 
 
 

 November 26, 2019 

Work Session 

  

 No Meeting- Holiday week   

 December 10, 2019 

Regular City Council Meeting 

6:30 PM 

  

Consent  Financials 

 Legal costs on projects 

 Minutes from previous Council meetings 

 Department Head Monthly Reports (November) 

 Extend the sewer system IGA between the City 

of Gladstone and Oak Lodge Services 

  

Presentation Metro Councilor Christine Lewis  

 
 

 Authorize the City Administrator’s spending authority to 

replace fire apparatus  

 

Chief Huffman  

 Appointments to Boards, Commissions, and Committees 

 

CR Bannick  

 Award contract for Development of Gladstone Tourism 

Brand and Strategy 

 

CA Betz  

 Extend Judge Beloof’s contract for services 

 

City Council  

 January 14, 2020 

Regular City Council Meeting 

6:30 pm 

  

Consent  Financials 

 Legal costs on projects 

 Minutes from previous Council meetings 

 Department Head Monthly Reports (December) 

 

  

 Accept the 2018-19 Fiscal year audit 

 

IFD Brucker  

 City Liaison Appointments 

 

Mayor  

 Mayor Stempels’ State of the Cities Address 

 

Mayor  

 January 25, 2020 

Time to be determined 

  

 City Council/department head annual retreat at the 

Gladstone Senior Center 

  

 January 28, 2020 

Volunteer Orientation/Ethics Training 

6:00 pm 

  

 City Council Chambers 

 

 

  

Agenda Planning - 1



Gladstone City Council Preliminary Agendas 
 
 

 

 February 11, 2019 

Regular City Council Meeting  

6:30 pm 

  

Consent  Financials 

 Legal costs on projects 

 Minutes from previous Council meetings 

 Department Head Monthly Reports (January) 

 

  

 To Be Set 

 

  

    

Agenda Planning - 2




